10405 Merrill Road

Hamburg P.0O. Box 157
Township puiperdiou

www.hamburg.mi.us

a greal place to grow

Supervisor Jason Negri Clerk Mike Dolan Treasurer Jennifer Daniels Trustees Chuck Menzies, Patricia Hughes, Nick Miller, Joanna Hardesty

BOARD OF TRUSTEES REGULAR MEETING

Tuesday, December 02, 2025 at 2:30 PM
Hamburg Township Hall Board Room

AGENDA

CALL TO ORDER
PLEDGE TO THE FLAG
ROLL CALL OF THE BOARD

CALL TO THE PUBLIC

CONSENT AGENDA
1.  11-12-2025 Special Meeting Minutes
2. 11-18-2025 Work-Study Meeting Minutes
3.  11-18-2025 Regular Meeting Minutes
4.  Bills List(s) 12.02.2025
5.  Public Information: Draft 2026 Livingston County Master Plan (63-day review period)

APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA

UNFINISHED BUSINESS
6. Plante & Moran - Audit Report
7.  Hamburg Fireworks Ordinance
8.  Administrative Policies & Procedures
CURRENT BUSINESS
Annual Firefighter Physicals
Aguatic Plant Herbicide Treatment Contractor Renewal for Hamburg Aquatic Weed Control SAD
Amendment to Final Site Plan PMSP25-0001 The Crossing at Lakelands Trail
Gym Membership Reimbursement
Library Shared Maintenance Agreement
Agreement with AFF - revised
Township of Excellence
2026 Committee Meeting Schedule
Road Millage renewal language
Breach of Peace ordinance revisions
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CALL TO THE PUBLIC

BOARD COMMENTS




ADJOURNMENT
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November 12, 2025 — Special M¢

10405 Merrill Road
Hamburg
- Hamburg, M| 48139
Owns h l P (810) 2uB1g-1 000

a great place to grow www.hamburg.mi.us

Supervisor Jason Negri Clerk Mike Dolan Treasurer Jennifer Daniels Trustees Chuck Menzies, Patricia Hughes, Nick Miller, Joanna Hardesty

BOARD OF TRUSTEES SPECIAL MEETING
Wednesday, November 12, 2025 at 3:00 PM

Hamburg Township Hall Board Room

MINUTES

CALL TO ORDER

Negri called the meeting to order at 3:02 pm
PLEDGE TO THE FLAG

ROLL CALL OF THE BOARD

PRESENT

Jason Negri
Mike Dolan
Jennifer Daniels
Joanna Hardesty
Patricia Hughes
Chuck Menzies
Nick Miller

CALL TO THE PUBLIC
A call was made with no response.

CONSENT AGENDA

Motion made by Dolan, Seconded by Hardesty, to approve the Consent Agenda as presented.
Voting Yea: Negri, Dolan, Daniels, Hardesty, Hughes, Menzies, Miller

1. Email from Cindy Michniewicz

APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA

Motion made by Dolan, Seconded by Hardesty, to approve the Agenda with the addition of the Administrative
Policies and Procedures.

Voting Yea: Negri, Dolan, Daniels, Hardesty, Hughes, Menzies, Miller
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Iltem 1.

November 12, 2025 — Special M¢

UNFINISHED BUSINESS
None.

CURRENT BUSINESS

2. Closed Session - Discuss Legal opinion MCL 15.268(h) and MCL 15.243(1)(g)

Motion made by Dolan, Seconded by Hardesty, to go into Closed Session to discuss a written
opinion from Township Counsel regarding MCL 15.268(h) and MCL 15.243(1)(g).
Voting Yea: Negri, Dolan, Daniels, Hardesty, Hughes, Menzies, Miller

Closed Session started 3:05 pm
Closed Session ended 4:12 pm
No Action taken

3. Personnel Committee By-Laws

Motion made by Dolan, Seconded by Miller, to table the Personnel Committee By-Laws.
Voting Yea: Negri, Dolan, Daniels, Hardesty, Hughes, Menzies, Miller

4. Fire Department Invoice
Discussion Only - No Action Taken.
5. Emergency Sewer Repair - Hamburg Rd. Pump Station
Discussion Only - No Action Taken.
6. Regular Board Meeting Schedule Update
Motion made by Dolan, Seconded by Hardesty, to approve the Regular Board Meeting

Schedule with the changes presented, moving November 18, 2025 Work-Study Meeting to 5:00
pm and moving January 6, 2026 at 2:30 to January 8, 2026 at 2:30 and the packet to be sent out

by January 5.
Voting Yea: Negri, Dolan, Daniels, Hardesty, Hughes, Menzies, Miller

Added at the Table — Administrative Policies and Procedures Manutal

Motion made by Dolan, Seconded by Hardesty, to table the Administrative Policies and
Procedures Manual.
Voting Yea: Negri, Dolan, Daniels, Hardesty, Hughes, Menzies, Miller
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November 12, 2025 — Special M¢

CALL TO THE PUBLIC

A call was made with no response.
BOARD COMMENTS
ADJOURNMENT

Motion made by Miller, Seconded by Hughes, to adjourn.
Voting Yea: Negri, Dolan, Daniels, Hardesty, Hughes, Menzies, Miller

Meeting Adjourned at 4:37 pm

Respectfully submitted,

Mike Dolan
Township Clerk
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November 18, 2025 — Work-Study Me Item 2.

10405 Merrill Road
Hamburg
N Hamburg, M| 48139
OwnShlP (810) 2uB1-1 000

a great place to grow

www.hamburg.mi.us

Supervisor Jason Negri Clerk Mike Dolan Treasurer Jennifer Daniels Trustees Chuck Menzies, Patricia Hughes, Nick Miller, Joanna Hardesty

TOWNSHIP BOARD WORK-STUDY SESSION

Tuesday, November 18, 2025 at 5:00 PM
Hamburg Township Hall Board Room

MINUTES

CALL TO ORDER

Negri called the meeting to order at 5:04
PLEDGE TO THE FLAG

ROLL CALL OF THE BOARD

PRESENT

Jason Negri
Mike Dolan
Jennifer Daniels
Joanna Hardesty
Patricia Hughes
Chuck Menzies
Nick Miller

CALL TO THE PUBLIC

A call was made with no response.
CONSENT AGENDA

None.

APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA

Motion made by Hughes, Seconded by Hardesty, to approve the Agenda as presented.
Voting Yea: Negri, Dolan, Daniels, Hardesty, Hughes, Menzies, Miller
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November 18, 2025 — Work-Study M+

UNFINISHED BUSINESS

1. Township Hall Capital Improvements

Discussion was had about Township Hall Capital Improvement.

2. Administrative Policies & Procedure Manual

Discussion and edits were made to the APPM.
CURRENT BUSINESS
CALL TO THE PUBLIC
A call was made with no response.
BOARD COMMENTS
ADJOURNMENT

Motion made by Menzies, Seconded by Miller, to adjourn.
Voting Yea: Negri, Dolan, Daniels, Hardesty, Hughes, Menzies, Miller

Meeting Adjourned at 6:48 pm

Respectfully submitted,
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Item 2.

Courtney Paton Mike Dolan
Recording Secretary Township Clerk
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November 18, 2025 — Regular Me

Hamburg
ownship

a great place to grow

Item 3.

10405 Merrill Road
P.0. Box 157
Hamburg, M| 48139
(810) 231-1000
www.hamburg.mi.us

Supervisor Jason Negri Clerk Mike Dolan Treasurer Jennifer Daniels Trustees Chuck Menzies, Patricia Hughes, Nick Miller, Joanna Hardesty

BOARD OF TRUSTEES REGULAR MEETING

Tuesday, November 18, 2025 at 7:00 PM
Hamburg Township Hall Board Room

MINUTES

CALL TO ORDER

Negri called the meeting to order at 7:00 pm
PLEDGE TO THE FLAG

ROLL CALL OF THE BOARD

PRESENT

Jason Negri
Mike Dolan
Jennifer Daniels
Joanna Hardesty
Patricia Hughes
Chuck Menzies
Nick Miller

CALL TO THE PUBLIC

Jay Grusin, 6224 Cowell Rd, discussed his concerns for an law firm agreement.

CONSENT AGENDA

Motion made by Hardesty, Seconded by Menzies, to approve the consent agenda.

Voting Yea: Negri, Dolan, Daniels, Hardesty, Hughes, Menzies, Miller

Bills List(s) 11.18.2025

11-4-2025 Work Study Meeting Minutes

11-4-2025 Regular Meeting Minutes

Closed Session Meeting Minutes 11/12/2025
Approved MUC Meeting Minutes - October 14, 2025
DPW Monthly Report - October 2025
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Item 3.

November 18, 2025 — Regular Me

7. Public Safety Monthly Report October, 2025
APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA

Motion made by Hardesty, Seconded by Dolan, to amend the agenda with the removal of Administrative Policies &
Procedures and Flooring Purchase, and the addition of Close Session.
Voting Yea: Negri, Dolan, Daniels, Hardesty, Hughes, Menzies, Miller

UNFINISHED BUSINESS

8.  Administrative Policy & Procedures
Tabled.

CURRENT BUSINESS

9. Finance Control Book AUG 2025

Motion made by Daniels, Seconded by Hardesty, to receive, file and publish the Finance
Control Book for August 2025.
Voting Yea: Negri, Dolan, Daniels, Hardesty, Hughes, Menzies, Miller

10. Finance Control Book SEPT 2025

Motion made by Daniels, Seconded by Hardesty, to receive, file and publish the Finance Control
Book for September 2025.
Voting Yea: Negri, Dolan, Daniels, Hardesty, Hughes, Menzies, Miller

11. Videographer Position

Motion made by Negri, Seconded by Menzies, to approve the hiring of a videographer to
record Township meetings at a rate of $23.82 per hour, with a two hour minimum per meeting.
Voting Yea: Negri, Dolan, Daniels, Hardesty, Hughes, Menzies, Miller

12. Flooring Purchase
Tabled.
Added at Table — Closed Session — Fire Union Contract Negotiations Update
Motion made by Dolan, Seconded by Miller, to go into Closed Session to discuss Fire Union

Contract Negotiations.
Voting Yea: Negri, Dolan, Daniels, Hardesty, Hughes, Menzies, Miller

Closed Session began 7:10 pm
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November 18, 2025 — Regular Me

Open Session began 7:49 pm

Motion by Negri, Seconded by Miller, to proceed as discussed.
Voting Yea: Negri, Dolan, Daniels, Hardesty, Hughes, Menzies, Miller

CALL TO THE PUBLIC

A call was made with no response.
BOARD COMMENTS
ADJOURNMENT

Motion made by Negri, Seconded by Hardesty, to adjourn.
Voting Yea: Negri, Dolan, Daniels, Hardesty, Hughes, Menzies, Miller

Meeting Adjourned at 8:03 pm

Respectfully submitted,

/ /éﬁ%

784 2L

Courtney Paton Mike Dolan
Recording Secretary Township Clerk
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11/26/2025 02:02 PM INVOICE GL DISTRIBUTION REPORT FOR HAMBURG TOWNSHIP OFFICES Page: 1/8
User: MarcyM EXP CHECK RUN DATES 04/01/2025 - 12/31/2025 ema
DB: Hamburg UNJOURNALIZED OPEN em 4.

BANK CODE: GEN

GL Number Invoice Date Vendor Invoice Desc. Invoice Due Date Amountheck #

Fund 101 General Fund
Dept 000.000

101-000.000-073.002 11/18/25 AMERICAN UNITED LIFE INSURANCIG 00617291-0001-000 12/01-12/31/202 11242025 12/02/25 164.86
101-000.000-073.004 11/18/25 AMERICAN UNITED LIFE INSURANCIG 00617291-0001-000 12/01-12/31/202 11242025 12/02/25 25.00
101-000.000-231.420 11/18/25 AMERICAN UNITED LIFE INSURANCIG 00617291-0002-000 12/01-12/31/202 11242025 12/02/25 2,119.74
101-000.000-231.500 11/19/25 MUNICIPAL EMPLOYEE'S RETIRE- 2025-11 00173298-4 12/02/25 11,319.38
101-000.000-231.500 10/15/25 MUNICIPAL EMPLOYEE'S RETIRE- 2025-09 00172264-2 12/02/25 (4,141.70)
101-000.000-231.500 11/19/25 MUNICIPAL EMPLOYEE'S RETIRE- 2025-04 00172136-06-A 12/02/25 (196.27)
101-000.000-231.500 10/09/25 MUNICIPAL EMPLOYEE'S RETIRE- 2024-03 00172136-04-A 12/02/25 (192.25)
101-000.000-231.500 10/09/25 MUNICIPAL EMPLOYEE'S RETIRE- 2025-03 00172136-05-A 12/02/25 (111.27)
101-000.000-239.000 11/20/25 ALPINE FLORIST AND GIFTS, INC OCT B-DAYS -AUG & SEPT PD 11/04 CK 017475 12/02/25 47.50
101-000.000-239.000 11/25/25 ASPEN JENDRUSIK SEN CTR SOUND SYSTEM INSTALLATION 00012 12/02/25 50.00
101-000.000-279.985 11/19/25 IMEG CONSULTANTS CORP ZUKEY DR & REDDING DR ROAD IMP THRO 23008696.06-2 12/02/25 390.00
Total For Dept 000.000 9,474.99
Dept 101.000 Township Board
101-101.000-826.000 11/13/25 ROSATI, SCHULTZ, JOPPICH & MARY ANN & STEVEN LAMKING 1084592 12/02/25 4,272.50
101-101.000-826.000 11/13/25 ROSATI, SCHULTZ, JOPPICH & MICHIGAN TAX TRIBUNAL MARY ANN LAMK 1084529 12/02/25 680.00
101-101.000-826.000 11/13/25 ROSATI, SCHULTZ, JOPPICH & LABOR & EMPLOYMENT LAW 1084591 12/02/25 1,764.00
101-101.000-955.000 11/06/25 RJV ENTERPRISES, INC. FOOD-VARIOUS MEETINGS/EVENTS 11062025 12/02/25 73.68
Total For Dept 101.000 Township Board 6,790.18
Dept 171.000 Township Supervisor
101-171.000-725.100 11/18/25 AMERICAN UNITED LIFE INSURANCIG 00617291-0001-000 12/01-12/31/202 11242025 12/02/25 262.29
101-171.000-725.200 11/18/25 AMERICAN UNITED LIFE INSURANCIG 00617291-0001-000 12/01-12/31/202 11242025 12/02/25 38.28
101-171.000-955.000 11/06/25 RJV ENTERPRISES, INC. FOOD-VARIOUS MEETINGS/EVENTS 11062025 12/02/25 85.84
Total For Dept 171.000 Township Supervisor 386.41
Dept 201.000 ACCOUNTING
101-201.000-725.100 11/18/25 AMERICAN UNITED LIFE INSURANCIG 00617291-0001-000 12/01-12/31/202 11242025 12/02/25 119.23
101-201.000-725.200 11/18/25 AMERICAN UNITED LIFE INSURANCIG 00617291-0001-000 12/01-12/31/202 11242025 12/02/25 18.75
Total For Dept 201.000 ACCOUNTING 137.98
Dept 215.000 CLERK'S OFFICE
101-215.000-725.100 11/18/25 AMERICAN UNITED LIFE INSURANCIG 00617291-0001-000 12/01-12/31/202 11242025 12/02/25 83.75
101-215.000-725.200 11/18/25 AMERICAN UNITED LIFE INSURANCIG 00617291-0001-000 12/01-12/31/202 11242025 12/02/25 12.81
Total For Dept 215.000 CLERK'S OFFICE 96.56
Dept 228.000 TECHNICAL/UTILITIES SERVICES
101-228.000-725.100 11/18/25 AMERICAN UNITED LIFE INSURANCIG 00617291-0001-000 12/01-12/31/202 11242025 12/02/25 59.45
101-228.000-725.200 11/18/25 AMERICAN UNITED LIFE INSURANCIG 00617291-0001-000 12/01-12/31/202 11242025 12/02/25 8.75
Total For Dept 228.000 TECHNICAL/UTILITIES SERVIC! 68.20
Dept 229.000 COMPUTER/CABLE
101-229.000-933.000 11/12/25 ENVIRONMENTAL SYSTEMS RESEARCIARCGIS DESKTOP ADV CONCURRENT USE P 900134251 12/02/25 5,915.00
Total For Dept 229.000 COMPUTER/CABLE 5,915.00
Dept 253.000 Treasurer
101-253.000-725.100 11/18/25 AMERICAN UNITED LIFE INSURANCIG 00617291-0001-000 12/01-12/31/202 11242025 12/02/25 81.53
101-253.000-725.200 11/18/25 AMERICAN UNITED LIFE INSURANCIG 00617291-0001-000 12/01-12/31/202 11242025 12/02/25 12.50
Total For Dept 253.000 Treasurer 94.03

Dept 257.000 Assessing
101-257.000-801.000 11/19/25 WCA ASSESSING LLC ASSESSMENT SERVICES DECEMBER 2025 11192025 12/02/25 24,202.50

11

Total For Dept 257.000 Assessing 24,202.50




11/26/2025 02:02 PM INVOICE GL DISTRIBUTION REPORT FOR HAMBURG TOWNSHIP OFFICES Page: 2/8
User: MarcyM EXP CHECK RUN DATES 04/01/2025 - 12/31/2025 ltem 4
DB: Hamburg UNJOURNALIZED OPEN :
BANK CODE: GEN
GL Number Invoice Date Vendor Invoice Desc. Invoice Due Date Amountheck #
Fund 101 General Fund
Dept 262.000 Elections
101-262.000-725.100 11/18/25 AMERICAN UNITED LIFE INSURANCIG 00617291-0001-000 12/01-12/31/202 11242025 12/02/25 46.96
101-262.000-725.200 11/18/25 AMERICAN UNITED LIFE INSURANCIG 00617291-0001-000 12/01-12/31/202 11242025 12/02/25 7.81
101-262.000-955.000 11/06/25 RJV ENTERPRISES, INC. FOOD-VARIOUS MEETINGS/EVENTS 11062025 12/02/25 123.94
Total For Dept 262.000 Elections 178.71
Dept 265.000 Township Buildings
101-265.000-725.100 11/18/25 AMERICAN UNITED LIFE INSURANCIG 00617291-0001-000 12/01-12/31/202 11242025 12/02/25 67.00
101-265.000-725.200 11/18/25 AMERICAN UNITED LIFE INSURANCIG 00617291-0001-000 12/01-12/31/202 11242025 12/02/25 12.35
101-265.000-752.000 09/11/25 WARD'S EQUIPMENT RENTAL, LLC B&G LAWN EDGER REPAIR 6402 12/02/25 67.65
101-265.000-758.000 11/11/25 CORRIGAN TOWING DYED ULTRA LOW SULFUR MIX (217.9 GA 8530132-1IN 12/02/25 247.49
101-265.000-759.000 11/23/25 WEX BANK TWP FUEL 10/24-11/23/2025 108770969 12/02/25 383.47
101-265.000-801.000 11/04/25 JAYS ASSURED PEST CONTROL LLC MONTHLY SERVICE NOV 2025 8121 12/02/25 36.00
101-265.000-919.000 11/04/25 WM CORPORATE SERVICES, INC. 10/01/25-10/31/25 0137186-1389-9  12/02/25 90.40
101-265.000-921.000 11/07/25 CONSUMERS ENERGY 1030 4914 3862 10405 MERRILL 10/10 202967091160 12/05/25 282.28
101-265.000-921.000 11/07/25 CONSUMERS ENERGY 1030 4914 1122 10675 MERRILL 10/10- 202967091155 12/05/25 40.41
101-265.000-921.000 11/07/25 CONSUMERS ENERGY 1030 4914 1155 10675 MERRILL RD 10/ 202967091157 12/05/25 86.35
101-265.000-930.000 11/20/25 ARMOREX TWP SUPPLIES 0000043287 12/02/25 368.76
101-265.000-930.000 11/13/25 BJ'S HEATING & COOLING, INC TWP FURNCAE REMOVE AND UNBLOCK FLUE 133126 12/02/25 532.00
101-265.000-930.000 11/18/25 MYERS GROUP ENTERPRISES LLC FURNISH AND DELIVER 44.36 TONS BULK 2552 12/02/25 635.83
101-265.000-930.008 11/18/25 MYERS GROUP ENTERPRISES LLC FURNISH AND DELIVER 44.36 TONS BULK 2552 12/02/25 635.82
101-265.000-931.000 11/19/25 ADVANCE AUTO PARTS B7G FRAM ANT DEX 50/50 2749-532324 12/02/25 27.98
101-265.000-931.000 10/24/25 BOULLION SALES, INC. B&G KUBOTA CONNECTOR KIT 100-6107 12/02/25 207.44
101-265.000-931.000 11/18/25 BOULLION SALES, INC. B&G OIL FILTER/INNER AIR FILTER/OUT 100-73590 12/02/25 81.43
101-265.000-931.000 11/13/25 BOULLION SALES, INC. B&G CENTER PIN OFF/ PLOW RATTLE REP. 100-17997 12/02/25 395.44
101-265.000-931.000 11/17/25 CARLETON EQUIPMENT B&G MINI EXCAVATOR 08-744797 12/02/25 704.57
101-265.000-931.000 11/12/25 HUTSON, INC. B&G JOHM DEERE 1575 11093810 12/02/25 725.93
101-265.000-931.000 11/20/25 ROAD RUNNER TIRE B& G JOHN DEERE 1575 REAR TIRES 3938 12/02/25 245.00
Total For Dept 265.000 Township Buildings 5,873.60
Dept 275.000 OTHER EXPENSES
101-275.000-752.000 11/13/25 APPLIED INNOVATION CONTRACT BASE RATE 11/12-12/11/25 2985777 12/02/25 728.99
101-275.000-752.000 11/05/25 TOSHIBA BUSINESS SOLUTIONS CPC BILLING 10/06-11/05/25 6700078 12/02/25 43.75
101-275.000-759.000 11/23/25 WEX BANK TWP FUEL 10/24-11/23/2025 108770969 12/02/25 217.53
101-275.000-932.000 11/24/25 HAAS TRANSMISSION SERVICE, INC(TWP 2014 FORD EXPLORER 75193-TRANSM 62763 12/02/25 2,500.00
101-275.000-960.000 11/20/25 BIG PDQ FOIA BLUEPRINTS (4) 293600 12/02/25 13.00
Total For Dept 275.000 OTHER EXPENSES 3,503.27
Dept 448.000 Street Lighting
101-448.000-926.000 10/31/25 DTE ENERGY - STREET LIGHTS 9100 4056 2340 STREET LIGHTS 10/01- 11062025 12/10/25 1,717.71
Total For Dept 448.000 Street Lighting 1,717.71
Dept 567.000 CEMETERY
101-567.000-801.000 11/24/25 A27 LAWN SERVICES, LLC FALL YARD CLEAN-UP PLACEWAY/NORTH H 004116 12/02/25 3,890.00
101-567.000-930.000 11/06/25 HIGHLAND TIMBER FRAMING LLC TRIMMING SOUTH HAMBURG CEMETERY 202511065HCT 12/02/25 2,250.00
101-567.000-930.000 11/06/25 HIGHLAND TIMBER FRAMING LLC  REMOVE LG ROTTED MAPLE, GRING STUMP 20251106SHC2 12/02/25 4,625.00
101-567.000-930.000 11/06/25 HIGHLAND TIMBER FRAMING LLC  REMOVE CEDAT TREE, GRIND STUMP PLAC 20251106PC1 12/02/25 925.00
Total For Dept 567.000 CEMETERY 11,690.00
Dept 702.000 PLANNING AND ZONING
101-702.000-725.100 11/18/25 AMERICAN UNITED LIFE INSURANCIG 00617291-0001-000 12/01-12/31/202 11242025 12/02/25 77.50
101-702.000-725.200 11/18/25 AMERICAN UNITED LIFE INSURANCIG 00617291-0001-000 12/01-12/31/202 11242025 12/02/25 12.50
101-702.000-826.000 11/13/25 ROSATI, SCHULTZ, JOPPICH & GRACE & DAVID GRIESE PLAT AMMENDMEN 1084590 12/02/25 204.00 12
Total For Dept 702.000 PLANNING AND ZONING 294.00




11/26/2025 02:02 PM INVOICE GL DISTRIBUTION REPORT FOR HAMBURG TOWNSHIP OFFICES Page: 3/8
User: MarcyM EXP CHECK RUN DATES 04/01/2025 - 12/31/2025 ema
DB: Hamburg UNJOURNALIZED OPEN em 4.

BANK CODE: GEN

GL Number Invoice Date Vendor Invoice Desc. Invoice Due Date Amountheck #

Fund 101 General Fund
Dept 703.000 LAKES, RIVERS & STREAMS

101-703.000-967.000 11/07/25 LIVINGSTON CO. DRAIN COMMISSI(PHASE II IMPLEMENTATION-LIV CO WATE 4050 12/02/25 554.13
Total For Dept 703.000 LAKES, RIVERS & STREAMS 554.13
Dept 751.000 Recreation Board
101-751.000-725.100 11/18/25 AMERICAN UNITED LIFE INSURANCIG 00617291-0001-000 12/01-12/31/202 11242025 12/02/25 26.56
101-751.000-725.200 11/18/25 AMERICAN UNITED LIFE INSURANCIG 00617291-0001-000 12/01-12/31/202 11242025 12/02/25 4.38
101-751.000-758.000 11/11/25 CORRIGAN TOWING DYED ULTRA LOW SULFUR MIX (217.9 GA 8530132-1IN 12/02/25 247.51
101-751.000-919.000 11/04/25 WM CORPORATE SERVICES, INC. 10/01/25-10/31/25 0137186-1389-9 12/02/25 143.77
101-751.000-943.001 11/10/25 CLASSIC TENT & EVENT LLC CHRISTMAS IN THE VILLAGE TENT/LIGHT 24817 12/02/25 5,510.62
101-751.000-943.001 10/23/25 LABADIE FARM LLC CHRISTMAS IN THE VILLAGE-NATIVITY A 20219 12/02/25 425.00
101-751.000-955.000 11/06/25 RJV ENTERPRISES, INC. FOOD-VARIOUS MEETINGS/EVENTS 11062025 12/02/25 310.07
101-751.000-975.300 11/18/25 SPICER GROUP, INC. PROF SERVICES THROUGH 11.15.25 HAMB 242071 12/02/25 11,746.00
101-751.000-980.000 11/20/25 L.J. CONSTRUCTION, INC. MANLEY BENNETT PARK ADD'L 5' WIDE S 22010240 12/02/25 1,942.52
Total For Dept 751.000 Recreation Board 20,356.43
Dept 800.000 LAKELAND TRAIL
101-800.000-938.000 11/11/25 CORRIGAN TOWING DYED ULTRA LOW SULFUR MIX (217.9 GA 8530132-1IN 12/02/25 247.49
101-800.000-938.000 11/20/25 N. A. MANS & SONS, INC. TREATED #2 LUMBER (20) 3222930 12/02/25 1,155.20
Total For Dept 800.000 LAKELAND TRAIL 1,402.69
Dept 820.000 SENIOR CENTER
101-820.000-725.100 11/18/25 AMERICAN UNITED LIFE INSURANCIG 00617291-0001-000 12/01-12/31/202 11242025 12/02/25 39.13
101-820.000-725.200 11/18/25 AMERICAN UNITED LIFE INSURANCIG 00617291-0001-000 12/01-12/31/202 11242025 12/02/25 6.25
101-820.000-801.000 11/04/25 JAYS ASSURED PEST CONTROL LLC MONTHLY SERVICE NOV 2025 8121 12/02/25 36.00
101-820.000-853.000 11/22/25 CHARTER COMMUNICATIONS SEN CTR 11/22-12/21/2025 0103913112225 12/09/25 208.63
101-820.000-900.200 11/17/25 APPLIED INNOVATION SEN CTR CONTRACT BASE 11/21-12/20/2 2988565 12/02/25 256.36
101-820.000-919.000 11/04/25 WM CORPORATE SERVICES, INC. 10/01/25-10/31/25 0137186-1389-9 12/02/25 130.47
101-820.000-921.000 11/07/25 CONSUMERS ENERGY 1030 4914 0694 10407 MERRILL 10/10- 202967091154 12/05/25 139.24
101-820.000-930.001 11/20/25 ARMOREX SEN CTR SUPPLIES 0000043286 12/02/25 464.17
101-820.000-930.001 11/25/25 ARMOREX SEN CTR SUPPLIES 0000043362 12/02/25 112.76
101-820.000-930.001 11/18/25 MYERS GROUP ENTERPRISES LLC FURNISH AND DELIVER 44.36 TONS BULK 2552 12/02/25 635.83
Total For Dept 820.000 SENIOR CENTER 2,028.84
Total For Fund 101 General Fund 94,765.23

Fund 206 Fire Fund
Dept 000.000

206-000.000-725.100 11/18/25 AMERICAN UNITED LIFE INSURANCIG 00617291-0001-000 12/01-12/31/202 11242025 12/02/25 639.88
206-000.000-725.200 11/18/25 AMERICAN UNITED LIFE INSURANCIG 00617291-0001-000 12/01-12/31/202 11242025 12/02/25 92.50
206-000.000-752.000 10/14/25 AUTOZONE INC FD - GLASS CLEANER AND KIT #0432062 04320626222 12/02/25 20.35
206-000.000-754.000 11/20/25 MOBILE COMMUNICATIONS AMERICA FD - MOTOROLA TIER 7 DEPOT REPAIR R 398001663-1 12/02/25 802.00
206-000.000-768.000 11/17/25 J. J. JINKLEHEIMER & CO. INC. FD - UNIFORM CAPS AND EMBROIDERY #9 96545 12/02/25 506.25
206-000.000-853.000 11/11/25 AT&T MOBILITY PD/FD CELL PHONE CHARGES OCT 12 - N 287318496818x112 12/04/25 189.94
206-000.000-919.000 11/04/25 WM CORPORATE SERVICES, INC. 10/01/25-10/31/25 0137186-1389-9  12/02/25 212.24
206-000.000-920.100 11/19/25 DTE ENERGY 9200 279 0884 6 7201 WINANS LAKE 10 11242025 12/11/25 22.02
206-000.000-920.100 11/19/25 DTE ENERGY 9200 279 0885 3 2952 SHEHAN RD 10/2 11242025 12/11/25 22.02
206-000.000-920.100 11/20/25 DTE ENERGY 9100 167 2020 3 7701 HAMBURG 10/23- 11242025 12/12/25 23.34
206-000.000-921.000 11/06/25 CONSUMERS ENERGY 1000 3979 7285 10100 VETERANS MEM 1 205191825654 12/04/25 330.67
206-000.000-921.000 11/10/25 CONSUMERS ENERGY 1030 4914 0645 3666 E. M-36 10/14-1 202967091153 12/05/25 374.72
206-000.000-930.003 11/19/25 LAKELAND ACE HARDWARE, INC. FD - MOP SINK HOSE FOR STA 11 #1415 14154 12/02/25 23.99
206-000.000-930.003 11/18/25 MYERS GROUP ENTERPRISES LLC FURNISH AND DELIVER 44.36 TONS BULK 2552 12/02/25 1,271.65
206-000.000-930.003 11/24/25 RESCOM DOOR LLC FD - STA 11 2 NE DOORS REPAIR #6909 6909 12/02/25 295.00 13
206-000.000-931.000 11/12/25 GREAT LAKES BREATHING AIR FD - HAMBURG FD BREATHING COMPRESSO 1231 12/02/25 821.12
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Fund 206 Fire Fund
Dept 000.000

206-000.000-932.000 10/31/25 BOB MAXEY FORD OF HOWELL, INC. FD UTIL 11 VEH MAIN 11 FOR F-350 80 303151 12/02/25 768.12
206-000.000-958.000 11/24/25 MICHIGAN STATE FIREMEN'S AS- FD - MI STATE FIREMEN'S ASSOC 2026 11242025 12/02/25 100.00
Total For Dept 000.000 6,515.81
Total For Fund 206 Fire Fund 6,515.81

Fund 207 Police Fund
Dept 000.000

207-000.000-716.000 11/19/25 MUNICIPAL EMPLOYEE'S RETIRE- 2025-11 00173298-4 12/02/25 38,758.95
207-000.000-725.100 11/18/25 AMERICAN UNITED LIFE INSURANCIG 00617291-0001-000 12/01-12/31/202 11242025 12/02/25 319.20
207-000.000-725.200 11/18/25 AMERICAN UNITED LIFE INSURANCIG 00617291-0001-000 12/01-12/31/202 11242025 12/02/25 102.81
207-000.000-752.000 11/14/25 IMAGE BUSINESS SOLUTIONS, INC COVERAGE 10/09-11/08/25 293253 12/02/25 66.79
207-000.000-752.000 11/25/25 OFFICE EXPRESS, INC. PD COPY PAPER (4) 582351 12/02/25 295.80
207-000.000-768.000 11/10/25 HURON VALLEY GUNS, LLC PD UNIFORM PANTS - STOEHR 253590 12/02/25 189.98
207-000.000-768.000 11/13/25 HURON VALLEY GUNS, LLC PD UNIFORM SHIRT & ALTERATIONS FOR 253953 12/02/25 320.97
207-000.000-801.000 11/04/25 JAYS ASSURED PEST CONTROL LLC MONTHLY SERVICE NOV 2025 8121 12/02/25 85.00
207-000.000-801.000 11/04/25 WM CORPORATE SERVICES, INC. 10/01/25-10/31/25 0137186-1389-9 12/02/25 124.34
207-000.000-826.000 11/13/25 ROSATI, SCHULTZ, JOPPICH & DISTRICT COURT PROSECUTIONS 1084594 12/02/25 1,526.00
207-000.000-826.000 11/13/25 ROSATI, SCHULTZ, JOPPICH & GENERAL MATTERS BERG 1084589 12/02/25 68.00
207-000.000-853.000 11/11/25 AT&T MOBILITY PD NEGOT TEAM BRIC BALL SIM CARD SE 287348028837X112 12/04/25 127.22
207-000.000-853.000 11/11/25 AT&T MOBILITY PD/FD CELL PHONE CHARGES OCT 12 - N 287318496818X112 12/04/25 597.50
207-000.000-916.000 11/17/25 DEWOLF & ASSOCIATES PD FTO BASIC - KOZOWICZ 4069 12/02/25 845.00
207-000.000-921.000 11/07/25 CONSUMERS ENERGY 1030 4914 2971 10405 MERRILL RD 10/ 202967091159 12/05/25 176.08
207-000.000-930.002 11/21/25 MASTERCRAFT PLUMBING INC. PD REPAIRED THE SEWER LINE 32133 12/02/25 1,895.00
207-000.000-930.002 11/18/25 MYERS GROUP ENTERPRISES LLC FURNISH AND DELIVER 44.36 TONS BULK 2552 12/02/25 635.83
207-000.000-932.000 11/17/25 CAPITAL TIRE INC. PD4 TIRES #203324 (4) 215/70R15 1060207813 12/02/25 247.96
207-000.000-932.000 11/18/25 CAPITAL TIRE INC. PD 8 TIRES-WRANGLER WORKHORSE 265/6 1060208084 12/02/25 1,338.36
207-000.000-932.000 11/13/25 CRUISERS, INC. PD SMART FOBS PROGRAMMED & CUT 700 48583 12/02/25 1,800.00
207-000.000-932.000 11/18/25 GENESIS CDJR OF PINCKNEY LLC PD REPLACE 4 TIRES 2003 CHEV VENTUR 509227 12/02/25 110.00
207-000.000-932.000 11/14/25 GENESIS CDJR OF PINCKNEY LLC PD 2021 DODGE DURANGO VEH MAINT 257 509052 12/02/25 1,847.52
207-000.000-932.000 11/14/25 GENESIS CDJR OF PINCKNEY LLC PD 2021 DODGE DURANGO VEH MAINT 257 509155 12/02/25 87.55
207-000.000-932.000 11/24/25 MOTOROLA SOLUTIONS INC. PD PREP MICS 8282242498 12/02/25 245.77
207-000.000-933.000 11/06/25 MOTOROLA SOLUTIONS INC. PD VIDEOMGR EL, BWC ANNUAL LICENSE 1411215435 12/02/25 360.38
207-000.000-933.000 11/09/25 MOTOROLA SOLUTIONS INC. PD VIDEOMGR EL, BWC ANNUAL LICENSE 1411216013 12/02/25 289.62
207-000.000-980.000 11/19/25 AMTEC LESS LETHAL SYSTEMS PD - QUOTE 06016709 LESS LETHAL SYS 049907 12/02/25 2,895.77

Total For Dept 000.000 55,357.40

Total For Fund 207 Police Fund 55,357.40

Fund 590 SEWER FUND
Dept 527.000 SEWER OPERATING

590-527.000-725.100 11/18/25 AMERICAN UNITED LIFE INSURANCIG 00617291-0001-000 12/01-12/31/202 11242025 12/02/25 561.31
590-527.000-725.200 11/18/25 AMERICAN UNITED LIFE INSURANCIG 00617291-0001-000 12/01-12/31/202 11242025 12/02/25 51.56
590-527.000-752.000 11/11/25 K/E ELECTRIC SUPPLY CORPORATI(DPW BRACKETS/SPRING NUT/POST BASE/C I553541 12/02/25 93.71
590-527.000-752.000 11/12/25 K/E ELECTRIC SUPPLY CORPORATI(DPW POST BASE SQUARPWR 1553784 12/02/25 28.64
590-527.000-752.000 11/12/25 K/E ELECTRIC SUPPLY CORPORATI(DPW SPRING NUT 1553785 12/02/25 9.34
590-527.000-752.000 11/04/25 SAFETY-KLEEN SYSTEMS, INC. DPW PARTS WASHER SOLVENT 98468566 12/02/25 349.59
590-527.000-752.000 11/06/25 SEILER INSTRUMENT AND MANUFAC.DPW FIELD MAPS BUNDLE INV65713 12/02/25 750.00
590-527.000-759.000 11/23/25 WEX BANK TWP FUEL 10/24-11/23/2025 108770969 12/02/25 936.01
590-527.000-851.000 10/31/25 KCI RST BILL/CYCLE CHANGE 352103 12/02/25 730.79
590-527.000-910.000 11/12/25 MICHIGAN RURAL WATER ASSOCIAT.DPW WASTEWATER COLLECTION SYSTEM MA 2020-15983 12/02/25 285.00
590-527.000-920.000 10/27/25 DTE ENERGY 9100 160 2723 7 4320 CORDLEY LK RD 11112025 11/19/25 262.23 14
590-527.000-921.000 11/06/25 CONSUMERS ENERGY 1030 4914 5271 6414 WINANS 10/09-11 204657899882 12/05/25 22.95
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Fund 590 SEWER FUND
Dept 527.000 SEWER OPERATING

590-527.000-921.000 11/07/25 CONSUMERS ENERGY 1030 4914 1213 6400 E M36 10/10-11/ 202967091158 12/05/25 100.22
590-527.000-921.000 11/07/25 CONSUMERS ENERGY 1030 4914 1148 925 REGENCY 10/10-11 202967091156 12/05/25 20.46
590-527.000-921.000 11/07/25 CONSUMERS ENERGY 1030 4914 5248 4320 CORDLEY LK RD 1 202967091161 12/05/25 19.60
590-527.000-930.010 11/04/25 FIRE HOUSE DOORS, LLC DPW TORSION CABLE ON DOOR, BOTTOM B 25-19036 12/02/25 305.00
590-527.000-934.100 11/25/25 COMPREHENSIVE CONTRACTING LLC DPW EMERGENCY EXCAVATION HAMBURG ST 11252025 12/02/25 13,760.00
590-527.000-934.100 11/25/25 COMPREHENSIVE CONTRACTING LLC DPW EXPLORATORY EXCAVATION HAMBURG 112520252 12/02/25 9,245.00
590-527.000-934.100 11/12/25 CUMMINS SALES AND SERVICE REGENCY VILLAGE GENERATOR S56-251150012 12/02/25 1,244.09
Total For Dept 527.000 SEWER OPERATING 28,775.50
Dept 537.000
590-537.000-752.000 11/20/25 HACH COMPANY, AMERICAN SIGMA ¢ WWTP NITRATE/PHOSPHORUS/NITRITE 14766997 12/02/25 1,274.64
590-537.000-752.000 11/19/25 HD SUPPLY, INC. WWTP RO MEMBRANE/AMONIA REAGENT INV00889424 12/02/25 992.13
590-537.000-919.000 11/04/25 WM CORPORATE SERVICES, INC. 10/01/25-10/31/25 0137186-1389-9 12/02/25 90.40
590-537.000-921.000 11/07/25 CONSUMERS ENERGY 1030 4914 7939 6400 W M-36 10/10-11 202967091162 12/05/25 123.63
590-537.000-934.100 11/11/25 KERR PUMP & SUPPLY, INC. WWTP INSTALL MAGNETIC FLOW METER INV236914 12/02/25 2,997.00
590-537.000-934.100 11/12/25 PATRICK ESPER SEPTIC WWTP VA TRUCK 3844 12/02/25 1,000.00
590-537.000-934.100 11/25/25 UIS PROGRAMMABLE SERVICES, IN(STINCHFIELD WWTP SERVICE 530381664 12/02/25 1,563.07
Total For Dept 537.000 8,040.87
Total For Fund 590 SEWER FUND 36,816.37

Fund 703 Winter Tax Collection Fund
Dept 000.000

703-000.000-202.000 11/26/25 SHEATHELM JEFFREY D JR 2025 Sum Tax Refund 4715-20-203-001 11/26/2025 12/02/25 1,068.14
Total For Dept 000.000 1,068.14
Total For Fund 703 Winter Tax Collection Fund 1,068.14

Fund 858 FOX POINTE BEACH SUBDIVISION RD IM SAD
Dept 000.000

858-000.000-826.000 11/13/25 ROSATI, SCHULTZ, JOPPICH & MICHIGAN TAX TRIBUNAL MARY ANN LAMK 1084529 12/02/25 153.00
858-000.000-826.000 11/13/25 ROSATI, SCHULTZ, JOPPICH & GENERAL MATTERS BERG 1084589 12/02/25 85.00
Total For Dept 000.000 238.00
Total For Fund 858 FOX POINTE BEACH SUBDIVISION R 238.00

Fund 867 ZUKEY & REDDING DRIVE RD IM SAD 3302
Dept 000.000

867-000.000-802.000 11/12/25 BOB MYERS EXCAVATING INC ZUKEY LAKE SAD-DRIVEWAY APPROACHES .2024-527 12/01/25 6,650.00
Total For Dept 000.000 6,650.00
Total For Fund 867 ZUKEY & REDDING DRIVE RD IM SA 6,650.00

I
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GL Number Invoice Date Vendor Invoice Desc. Invoice Due Date Amountheck #
Fund Totals:
Fund 101 General Fund 94,765.23
Fund 206 Fire Fund 6,515.81
Fund 207 Police Fund 55,357.40
Fund 590 SEWER FUND 36,816.37
Fund 703 Winter Tax Collection Fund 1,068.14
Fund 858 FOX POINTE BEACH SUBDIVISION 238.00
Fund 867 ZUKEY & REDDING DRIVE RD IM 6,650.00
Total For All Funds: 201,410.95
--- TOTALS BY GL DISTRIBUTION ---
101-000.000-073.002 DISABILITY - LIBRARY 164.86
101-000.000-073.004 LIFE INSURANCE - LIBRARY 25.00
101-000.000-231.420 VOL. LIFE INSURANCE 2,119.74
101-000.000-231.500 DEFERRED COMPENSATION/457 6,677.89
101-000.000-239.000 SENIOR CENTER DONATIONS 97.50
101-000.000-279.985 ZUKEY & REDDING DRIVE RD IM SAD 390.00
101-101.000-826.000 LEGAL FEES 6,716.50
101-101.000-955.000 SUNDRY 73.68
101-171.000-725.100 LONG/SHORT TERM DISABILITY 262.29
101-171.000-725.200 LIFE INSURANCE 38.28
101-171.000-955.000 SUNDRY 85.84
101-201.000-725.100 LONG/SHORT TERM DISABILITY 119.23
101-201.000-725.200 LIFE INSURANCE 18.75
101-215.000-725.100 LONG/SHORT TERM DISABILITY 83.75
101-215.000-725.200 LIFE INSURANCE 12.81
101-228.000-725.100 LONG/SHORT TERM DISABILITY 59.45
101-228.000-725.200 LIFE INSURANCE 8.75
101-229.000-933.000 SOFTWARE MAINTENANCE 5,915.00
101-253.000-725.100 LONG/SHORT TERM DISABILITY 81.53
101-253.000-725.200 LIFE INSURANCE 12.50
101-257.000-801.000 CONTRACTUAL SERVICES 24,202.50
101-262.000-725.100 LONG/SHORT TERM DISABILITY 46.96
101-262.000-725.200 LIFE INSURANCE 7.81
101-262.000-955.000 SUNDRY 123.94
101-265.000-725.100 LONG/SHORT TERM DISABILITY 67.00
101-265.000-725.200 LIFE INSURANCE 12.35
101-265.000-752.000 SUPPLIES & SMALL EQUIPMENT 67.65
101-265.000-758.000 DIESEL FUEL 247.49
101-265.000-759.000 VEHICLE FUEL 383.47
101-265.000-801.000 CONTRACTUAL SERVICES 36.00
101-265.000-919.000 TRASH DISPOSAL 90.40
101-265.000-921.000 NATURAL GAS/HEAT 409.04
101-265.000-930.000 MAINTENANCE TWP HALL 1,536.59
101-265.000-930.008 MAINTENANCE LIBRARY 635.82
101-265.000-931.000 EQUIPMENT MAINT/REPAIR 2,387.79
101-275.000-752.000 SUPPLIES & SMALL EQUIPMENT 772.74
101-275.000-759.000 VEHICLE FUEL 217.53
101-275.000-932.000 VEHICLE MAINTENANCE 2,500.00
101-275.000-960.000 FOIA EXPENSES 13.00
101-448.000-926.000 STREET LIGHTING 1,717.71
101-567.000-801.000 CONTRACTUAL SERVICES 3,890.00
101-567.000-930.000 MAINTENANCE 7,800.00
101-702.000-725.100 LONG/SHORT TERM DISABILITY 77.50
101-702.000-725.200 LIFE INSURANCE 12.50
101-702.000-826.000 LEGAL FEES 204.00
101-703.000-967.000 SPECIAL PROJECTS 554.13 16
101-751.000-725.100 LONG/SHORT TERM DISABILITY 26.56
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101-751.000-725.200 LIFE INSURANCE 4.38
101-751.000-758.000 DIESEL FUEL 247.51
101-751.000-919.000 TRASH DISPOSAL 143.77
101-751.000-943.001 CHRISTMAS IN THE VILLAGE 5,935.62
101-751.000-955.000 SUNDRY 310.07
101-751.000-975.300 GRANT MATCH 11,746.00
101-751.000-980.000 CAPITAL EQUIPMENT/CAPITAL IMP 1,942.52
101-800.000-938.000 LAKELAND TRAIL MAINTENANCE 1,402.69
101-820.000-725.100 LONG/SHORT TERM DISABILITY 39.13
101-820.000-725.200 LIFE INSURANCE 6.25
101-820.000-801.000 CONTRACTUAL SERVICES 36.00
101-820.000-853.000 PHONE /COMM/ INTERNET 208.63
101-820.000-900.200 NEWSLETTER/PUBLICATIONS 256.36
101-820.000-919.000 TRASH DISPOSAL 130.47
101-820.000-921.000 NATURAL GAS/HEAT 139.24
101-820.000-930.001 MAINTENANCE COMM CENTER 1,212.76
206-000.000-725.100 LONG/SHORT TERM DISABILITY 639.88
206-000.000-725.200 LIFE INSURANCE 92.50
206-000.000-752.000 SUPPLIES & SMALL EQUIPMENT 20.35
206-000.000-754.000 MEDICAL AND SCENE SUPPLIES 802.00
206-000.000-768.000 UNIFORMS/ACCESSORIES 506.25
206-000.000-853.000 PHONE/COMM/ INTERNET 189.94
206-000.000-919.000 TRASH DISPOSAL 212.24
206-000.000-920.100 SIREN ELECTRIC USAGE 67.38
206-000.000-921.000 NATURAL GAS/HEAT 705.39
206-000.000-930.003 MAINTENANCE FIRE HALL 1,590.64
206-000.000-931.000 EQUIPMENT MAINT/REPAIR 821.12
206-000.000-932.000 VEHICLE MAINTENANCE 768.12
206-000.000-958.000 DUES/SUBSCRIP/RECERTIFICATION 100.00
207-000.000-716.000 DEFINED CONTRIBUTION 38,758.95
207-000.000-725.100 LONG/SHORT TERM DISABILITY 319.20
207-000.000-725.200 LIFE INSURANCE 102.81
207-000.000-752.000 SUPPLIES & SMALL EQUIPMENT 362.59
207-000.000-768.000 UNIFORMS/ACCESSORIES 510.95
207-000.000-801.000 CONTRACTUAL SERVICES 209.34
207-000.000-826.000 LEGAL FEES 1,594.00
207-000.000-853.000 PHONE /COMM/ INTERNET 724.72
207-000.000-916.000 TRAINING 845.00
207-000.000-921.000 NATURAL GAS/HEAT 176.08
207-000.000-930.002 MAINTENANCE POLICE BUILDING 2,530.83
207-000.000-932.000 VEHICLE MAINTENANCE 5,677.16
207-000.000-933.000 SOFTWARE MAINTENANCE 650.00
207-000.000-980.000 CAPITAL EQUIPMENT/CAPITAL IMP 2,895.77
590-527.000-725.100 LONG/SHORT TERM DISABILITY 561.31
590-527.000-725.200 LIFE INSURANCE 51.56
590-527.000-752.000 SUPPLIES & SMALL EQUIPMENT 1,231.28
590-527.000-759.000 VEHICLE FUEL 936.01
590-527.000-851.000 POSTAGE 730.79
590-527.000-910.000 PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT 285.00
590-527.000-920.000 ELECTRIC 262.23
590-527.000-921.000 NATURAL GAS/HEAT 163.23
590-527.000-930.010 SEWER MAINTENANCE GARAGE 305.00
590-527.000-934.100 PUMP & MAIN REPAIR/MAINTENANCE 24,249.09
590-537.000-752.000 SUPPLIES & SMALL EQUIPMENT 2,266.77
590-537.000-919.000 TRASH DISPOSAL 90.40
590-537.000-921.000 NATURAL GAS/HEAT 123.63
590-537.000-934.100 PUMP & MAIN REPAIR/MAINTENANCE 5,560.07
703-000.000-202.000  ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 1,068.14 17
858-000.000-826.000 LEGAL FEES 238.00
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867-000.000-802.000 ROAD IMPROVEMENT 6,650.00
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Item 4.

BANK CODE: GEN
Vendor Code Vendor name Post Date Invoice Bank Invoice Description
Ref # Address CK Run Date PO Hold Gross Amount
Invoice Date City/State/Zip Disc. Date Disc. % Sep CK Discount
Due Date 1099 Net Amount
A2ZLWNSERV A27Z LAWN SERVICES, LLC 11/24/2025 004116 GEN FALL YARD CLEAN-UP PLACEWAY/NORTH HA
82826 2531 JACKSON AVE 12/02/2025 N 3,890.00
SUITE 336
11/24/2025 ANN ARBOR MI, 48103 /7 0.0000 N 0.00
12/02/2025 Y 3,890.00
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT
101-567.000-801.000 CONTRACTUAL SERVICES 3,890.00
VENDOR TOTAL: 3,890.00
ADVANCAUTO ADVANCE AUTO PARTS 11/25/2025 2749-532324 GEN B7G FRAM ANT DEX 50/50
82846 P.O. BOX 404875 12/02/2025 N 27.98
11/19/2025 ATLANTA GA, 30384-4875 /7 0.0000 N 0.00
12/02/2025 Y 27.98
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT
101-265.000-931.000 EQUIPMENT MAINT/REPAIR 27.98
VENDOR TOTAL: 27.98
ALPINEFLOR ALPINE FLORIST AND GIFTS, INC. 11/25/2025 017475 GEN OCT B-DAYS -AUG & SEPT PD 11/04 CK 3
82852 7524 E. M-36 12/02/2025 N 47.50
P.O. BOX 219
11/20/2025 HAMBURG MI, 48139 /7 0.0000 N 0.00
12/02/2025 N 47.50
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT
101-000.000-239.000 SENIOR CENTER 47.50
VENDOR TOTAL: 47.50
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Vendor Code Vendor name Post Date Invoice Bank Invoice Description
Ref # Address CK Run Date PO Hold Gross Amount
Invoice Date City/State/Zip Disc. Date Disc. % Sep CK Discount
Due Date 1099 Net Amount
AMERICANOO AMERICAN UNITED LIFE INSURANCE 11/25/2025 11242025 GEN G 00617291-0001-000 12/01-12/31/2025
82836 AMERICAN UNITED LIFE INSURANCE 12/02/2025 N 2,954.90
5870 RELIABLE PARKWAY
11/18/2025 CHICAGO IL, 60686-0058 /o 0.0000 N 0.00
12/02/2025 N 2,954.90
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT
101-000.000-073.002 DISABILITY - LIBRARY 164.86
101-171.000-725.100 262.29
101-201.000-725.100 119.23
101-215.000-725.100 83.75
101-228.000-725.100 59.45
101-253.000-725.100 81.53
101-262.000-725.100 46.96
101-265.000-725.100 67.00
101-702.000-725.100 77.50
101-751.000-725.100 LONG/SHORT TERM DISABILITY 26.56
101-820.000-725.100 LONG/SHORT TERM DISABILITY 39.13
590-527.000-725.100 LONG/SHORT TERM DISABILITY 561.31
206-000.000-725.100 LONG/SHORT TERM DISABILITY 639.88
207-000.000-725.100 LONG/SHORT TERM DISABILITY 319.20
101-000.000-073.004 LIFE INSURANCE - LIBRARY 25.00
101-171.000-725.200 LIFE INSURANCE 38.28
101-201.000-725.200 LIFE INSURANCE 18.75
101-215.000-725.200 LIFE INSURANCE 12.81
101-228.000-725.200 LIFE INSURANCE 8.75
101-253.000-725.200 LIFE INSURANCE 12.50
101-262.000-725.200 LIFE INSURANCE 7.81
101-265.000-725.200 LIFE INSURANCE 12.35
101-702.000-725.200 LIFE INSURANCE 12.50
101-751.000-725.200 LIFE INSURANCE 4.38
101-820.000-725.200 LIFE INSURANCE 6.25
206-000.000-725.200 LIFE INSURANCE 92.50
207-000.000-725.200 LIFE INSURANCE 102.81
590-527.000-725.200 LIFE INSURANCE 51.56
2,954.90

VENDOR TOTAL: 2,954.90
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AMERICANVO AMERICAN UNITED LIFE INSURANCE COMP 11/25/2025 11242025 GEN G 00617291-0002-000 12/01-12/31/2025
82834 5870 RELIABLE PARKWAY 12/02/2025 N 2,119.74
11/18/2025 CHICAGO IL, 60686-0058 / 0.0000 N 0.00
12/02/2025 N 2,119.74
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT
101-000.000-231.420 VOL. LIFE INSURANCE 2,119.74
VENDOR TOTAL: 2,119.74
PACEM AMTEC LESS LETHAL SYSTEMS 11/26/2025 049907 GEN PD - QUOTE 06016709 LESS LETHAL SYST
82863 4700 PROVIDENCE RD 12/02/2025 20250605 N 2,895.77
11/19/2025 PERRY FL, 32347 /7 0.0000 N 0.00
12/02/2025 N 2,895.77
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT AMT RELIEVED
207-000.000-980.000 PAVASHOT EM 200 RFL, 068 CAL LAUNCER 1,100.00 1,100.00
207-000.000-980.000 PAVASHOT EMC MAGS, 20 RD 2 PK 39.49 39.49
207-000.000-980.000 PAVASHOT ERA-50 SHAPED, C5 593.10 593.10
207-000.000-980.000 PAVASHOT ERA-50 SHAPED, INERT 421.20 421.20
207-000.000-980.000 FREIGHT 38.40 38.40
207-000.000-980.000 PAVASHOT EMC .68 CAL SMOOTH BORE BARREL 68.18 68.18
207-000.000-980.000 PAVASHOT INERT-375 635.40 635.40
2,895.77 2,895.77
VENDOR TOTAL: 2,895.77
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AMERICANOZ2 APPLIED INNOVATION 11/20/2025 2985777 GEN CONTRACT BASE RATE 11/12-12/11/25
82792 7718 SOLUTION CENTER 12/02/2025 N 728.99
11/13/2025 CHICAGO IL, 60677-7007 / 0.0000 N 0.00

12/02/2025 N 728.99
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT
101-275.000-752.000 SUPPLIES & SMALL EQUIPMENT 728.99
AMERICANOZ2 APPLIED INNOVATION 11/20/2025 2988565 GEN SEN CTR CONTRACT BASE 11/21-12/20/20
82822 7718 SOLUTION CENTER 12/02/2025 N 256.36
11/17/2025 CHICAGO IL, 60677-7007 / 0.0000 N 0.00

12/02/2025 N 256.36
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT
101-820.000-900.200 NEWSLETTER/PUBLICATIONS 256.36

VENDOR TOTAL: 985.35

22




11/26/2025 01:59 PM
User: MarcyM
DB: Hamburg

INVOICE APPROVAL BY INVOICE REPORT FOR HAMBURG TOWNSHIP OFFICES
EXP CHECK RUN DATES 07/01/2025 - 12/31/2025

UNJOURNALIZED OPEN

Page: 5/3

Item 4.

BANK CODE: GEN
Vendor Code Vendor name Post Date Invoice Bank Invoice Description
Ref # Address CK Run Date PO Hold Gross Amount
Invoice Date City/State/Zip Disc. Date Disc. % Sep CK Discount
Due Date 1099 Net Amount
ARMOREX ARMOREX 11/20/2025 0000043286 GEN SEN CTR SUPPLIES
82820 7109 DAN MCGUIRE DR 12/02/2025 N 464.17
11/20/2025 BRIGHTON MI, 48116 /7 0.0000 N 0.00
12/02/2025 Y 464.17
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT
101-820.000-930.001 MAINTENANCE COMM CENTER 464.17
ARMOREX ARMOREX 11/25/2025 0000043287 GEN TWP SUPPLIES
82847 7109 DAN MCGUIRE DR 12/02/2025 N 368.76
11/20/2025 BRIGHTON MI, 48116 /7 0.0000 N 0.00
12/02/2025 Y 368.76
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT
101-265.000-930.000 MAINTENANCE TWP HALL 368.76
ARMOREX ARMOREX 11/25/2025 0000043362 GEN SEN CTR SUPPLIES
82848 7109 DAN MCGUIRE DR 12/02/2025 N 112.76
11/25/2025 BRIGHTON MI, 48116 /7 0.0000 N 0.00
12/02/2025 Y 112.76
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT
101-820.000-930.001 MAINTENANCE COMM CENTER 112.76
VENDOR TOTAL: 945.69
ASPEN JEND ASPEN JENDRUSIK 11/25/2025 00012 GEN SEN CTR SOUND SYSTEM INSTALLATION
82849 12095 JEFFERS LAND 12/02/2025 N 50.00
11/25/2025 FENTON MI, 48430 /7 0.0000 N 0.00
12/02/2025 Y 50.00
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT
101-000.000-239.000 SENIOR CENTER DONATIONS 50.00
VENDOR TOTAL: 50.00
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ATTMOBILIT AT&T MOBILITY 11/20/2025 287318496818X112GEN PD/FD CELL PHONE CHARGES OCT 12 - NO
82790 P.0O. BOX 6463 12/04/2025 20250840 N 787.44
11/11/2025 CAROL STREAM IL, 60197-6463 /7 0.0000 N 0.00
12/04/2025 N 787.44
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT AMT RELIEVED
207-000.000-853.000 PD CELL PHONE CHARGES 597.50 597.50
206-000.000-853.000 FD CELL PHONE CHARGES 189.94 189.94
787.44 787.44
ATTMOBILIT AT&T MOBILITY 11/20/2025 287348028837X112GEN PD NEGOT TEAM BRIC BALL SIM CARD SER
82789 P.0O. BOX 6463 12/04/2025 20250839 N 127.22
11/11/2025 CAROL STREAM IL, 60197-6463 /7 0.0000 N 0.00
12/04/2025 N 127.22
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT AMT RELIEVED
207-000.000-853.000 HAMBURG BRINC BALL 81.89 81.89
207-000.000-853.000 LAPTOP UNLIMITED PLAN 45.33 45.33
127.22 127.22
VENDOR TOTAL: 914.66
AUTOZONE AUTOZONE INC 11/19/2025 04320626222 GEN FD - GLASS CLEANER AND KIT #04320626
82763 P.0O. BOX 116067 12/02/2025 20250832 N 20.35
10/14/2025 ATLANTA GA, 30368-6067 /7 0.0000 N 0.00
12/02/2025 N 20.35
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT AMT RELIEVED
206-000.000-752.000 INVISIBLE GLASS CLEANER 6.78 6.78
206-000.000-752.000 PROELIT GLASS CLN WAND KIT 13.57 13.57
20.35 20.35
VENDOR TOTAL: 20.35
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BUSINESSO02 BIG PDQ 11/24/2025 293600 GEN FOIA BLUEPRINTS (4)
82824 BUSINESS IMAGING GROUP - BIG PDQ 12/02/2025 N 13.00
7475 GRAND RIVER RD
11/20/2025 BRIGHTON MI, 48114-9383 /7 0.0000 N 0.00
12/02/2025 Y 13.00
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT
101-275.000-960.000 FOIA EXPENSES 13.00
VENDOR TOTAL: 13.00
BJSHEATIO1 BJ'S HEATING & COOLING, INC 11/20/2025 133126 GEN TWP FURNCAE REMOVE AND UNBLOCK FLUE
82793 3481 E-M36 12/02/2025 N 532.00
11/13/2025 PINCKNEY MI, 48169 /7 0.0000 N 0.00
12/02/2025 N 532.00
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT
101-265.000-930.000 MAINTENANCE TWP HALL 532.00
VENDOR TOTAL: 532.00
BOBMAXFORD BOB MAXEY FORD OF HOWELL, INC. 11/19/2025 303151 GEN FD UTIL 11 VEH MAIN 11 FOR F-350 801
82764 12/02/2025 20250834 N 768.12
2798 E. GRAND RIVER AVE.
10/31/2025 HOWELL MI, 48843-8545 /7 0.0000 N 0.00
12/02/2025 N 768.12
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT AMT RELIEVED
206-000.000-932.000 PINION SEAL LEAK, BROKEN CLEARANCE LIGHT 768.12 768.12
VENDOR TOTAL: 768.12
MYERSEXCO1 BOB MYERS EXCAVATING INC 11/19/2025 2024-527 GEN ZUKEY LAKE SAD-DRIVEWAY APPROACHES A
82752 8111 HAMMEL ROAD 12/01/2025 N 6,650.00
11/12/2025 BRIGHTON MI, 48116 /7 0.0000 N 0.00
12/01/2025 N 6,650.00
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT
867-000.000-802.000 ROAD IMPROVEMENT 6,650.00
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Invoice Date City/State/Zip Disc. Date Disc. % Sep CK Discount
Due Date 1099 Net Amount
VENDOR TOTAL: 6,650.00
BOULLIONO1 BOULLION SALES, INC. 11/20/2025 100-17997 GEN B&G CENTER PIN OFF/ PLOW RATTLE REPA
82796 8530 N. TERRITORIAL RD 12/02/2025 N 395.44
11/13/2025 DEXTER MI, 48130 /7 0.0000 N 0.00
12/02/2025 N 395.44
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT
101-265.000-931.000 EQUIPMENT MAINT/REPAIR 395.44
BOULLIONO1 BOULLION SALES, INC. 11/20/2025 100-6107 GEN B&G KUBOTA CONNECTOR KIT
82794 8530 N. TERRITORIAL RD 12/02/2025 N 207.44
10/24/2025 DEXTER MI, 48130 /7 0.0000 N 0.00
12/02/2025 N 207.44
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT
101-265.000-931.000 EQUIPMENT MAINT/REPAIR 207.44
BOULLIONO1 BOULLION SALES, INC. 11/20/2025 100-73590 GEN B&G OIL FILTER/INNER AIR FILTER/OUTE
82795 8530 N. TERRITORIAL RD 12/02/2025 N 81.43
11/18/2025 DEXTER MI, 48130 /7 0.0000 N 0.00
12/02/2025 N 81.43
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT
101-265.000-931.000 EQUIPMENT MAINT/REPAIR 81.43
VENDOR TOTAL: 684.31
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CAPITLTIRE CAPITAL TIRE INC. 11/19/2025 1060207813 GEN PD4 TIRES #203324 (4) 215/70R15
82766 1310 ACADEMY STREET 12/02/2025 20250841 N 247.96
11/17/2025 FERNDALE MI, 48220 /7 0.0000 N 0.00
12/02/2025 N 247.96
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT AMT RELIEVED
207-000.000-932.000 215/70R15 DNT DH2 BL 98H 247.96 247.96
CAPITLTIRE CAPITAL TIRE INC. 11/19/2025 1060208084 GEN PD 8 TIRES-WRANGLER WORKHORSE 265/60
82767 1310 ACADEMY STREET 12/02/2025 20250837 N 1,338.36
11/18/2025 FERNDALE MI, 48220 /7 0.0000 N 0.00
12/02/2025 N 1,338.36
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT AMT RELIEVED
207-000.000-932.000 265/60 R18 GOO WRANGLER WKHRSE 674.36 674.36
207-000.000-932.000 255/60 R18 GOO EAGLE ENFORCER 664.00 664.00
1,338.36
VENDOR TOTAL: 1,586.32
CARLETONEQ CARLETON EQUIPMENT 11/20/2025 08-744797 GEN B&G MINI EXCAVATOR
82791 4704 SOUTH 29TH ST. 12/02/2025 N 704.57
11/17/2025 KALAMAZOO MI, 49048 /o 0.0000 N 0.00
12/02/2025 N 704.57
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT
101-265.000-931.000 EQUIPMENT MAINT/REPAIR 704.57
VENDOR TOTAL: 704.57
CHARTERCO1 CHARTER COMMUNICATIONS 11/26/2025 0103913112225 GEN SEN CTR 11/22-12/21/2025
82876 PO BOX 223085 12/09/2025 N 208.63
11/22/2025 PITTSBURGH PA, 15251-2085 /7 0.0000 N 0.00
12/09/2025 N 208.63
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT
101-820.000-853.000 PHONE/COMM/INTERNET 208.63

VENDOR TOTAL:
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CLASSIC TE CLASSIC TENT & EVENT LLC 11/19/2025 24817 GEN CHRISTMAS IN THE VILLAGE TENT/LIGHTS
82768 800 RICKETT RD 12/02/2025 N 5,510.62
11/10/2025 BRIGHTON MI, 48116 /7 0.0000 N 0.00

12/02/2025 Y 5,510.62
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT
101-751.000-943.001 CHRISTMAS IN THE VILLAGE 5,510.62

VENDOR TOTAL: 5,510.62

COMPCONT COMPREHENSIVE CONTRACTING LLC 11/26/2025 11252025 GEN DPW EMERGENCY EXCAVATION HAMBURG STA
82865 P.0O. BOX 2362 12/02/2025 N 13,760.00
11/25/2025 BRIGHTON MI, 48116 /7 0.0000 N 0.00

12/02/2025 Y 13,760.00
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT
590-527.000-934.100 PUMP & MAIN REPAIR/MAINTENANCE 13,760.00
COMPCONT COMPREHENSIVE CONTRACTING LLC 11/26/2025 112520252 GEN DPW EXPLORATORY EXCAVATION HAMBURG S
82866 P.0O. BOX 2362 12/02/2025 N 9,245.00
11/25/2025 BRIGHTON MI, 48116 /7 0.0000 N 0.00

12/02/2025 Y 9,245.00
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT
590-527.000-934.100 PUMP & MAIN REPAIR/MAINTENANCE 9,245.00

VENDOR TOTAL: 23,005.00
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CONSUMERO1 CONSUMERS ENERGY 11/26/2025 202967091153 GEN 1030 4914 0645 3666 E. M-36 10/14-11
82857 PO BOX 740309 12/05/2025 N 374.72
PAYMENT CENTER
11/10/2025 CINCINNATI OH, 45274-0309 /7 0.0000 N 0.00
12/05/2025 N 374.72
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT
206-000.000-921.000 NATURAL GAS/HEAT 374.72
CONSUMERO1 CONSUMERS ENERGY 11/20/2025 202967091154 GEN 1030 4914 0694 10407 MERRILL 10/10-1
82785 PO BOX 740309 12/05/2025 N 139.24
PAYMENT CENTER
11/07/2025 CINCINNATI OH, 45274-0309 /7 0.0000 N 0.00
12/05/2025 N 139.24
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT
101-820.000-921.000 NATURAL GAS/HEAT 139.24
CONSUMERO1 CONSUMERS ENERGY 11/20/2025 202967091155 GEN 1030 4914 1122 10675 MERRILL 10/10-1
82780 PO BOX 740309 12/05/2025 N 40.41
PAYMENT CENTER
11/07/2025 CINCINNATI OH, 45274-0309 /7 0.0000 N 0.00
12/05/2025 N 40.41
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT
101-265.000-921.000 NATURAL GAS/HEAT 40.41
CONSUMERO1 CONSUMERS ENERGY 11/20/2025 202967091156 GEN 1030 4914 1148 925 REGENCY 10/10-11/
82783 PO BOX 740309 12/05/2025 N 20.46
PAYMENT CENTER
11/07/2025 CINCINNATI OH, 45274-0309 /7 0.0000 N 0.00
12/05/2025 N 20.46
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT
590-527.000-921.000 NATURAL GAS/HEAT 20.46
CONSUMERO1 CONSUMERS ENERGY 11/20/2025 202967091157 GEN 1030 4914 1155 10675 MERRILL RD 10/1
82786 PO BOX 740309 12/05/2025 N 86.35
PAYMENT CENTER
11/07/2025 CINCINNATI OH, 45274-0309 / 0.0000 N )
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12/05/2025 N 86.35
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT
101-265.000-921.000 NATURAL GAS/HEAT 86.35
CONSUMERO1 CONSUMERS ENERGY 11/20/2025 202967091158 GEN 1030 4914 1213 6400 E M36 10/10-11/0
82781 PO BOX 740309 12/05/2025 N 100.22
PAYMENT CENTER
11/07/2025 CINCINNATI OH, 45274-0309 /7 0.0000 N 0.00
12/05/2025 N 100.22
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT
590-527.000-921.000 NATURAL GAS/HEAT 100.22
CONSUMERO1 CONSUMERS ENERGY 11/20/2025 202967091159 GEN 1030 4914 2971 10405 MERRILL RD 10/1
82782 PO BOX 740309 12/05/2025 N 176.08
PAYMENT CENTER
11/07/2025 CINCINNATI OH, 45274-0309 /7 0.0000 N 0.00
12/05/2025 N 176.08
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT
207-000.000-921.000 NATURAL GAS/HEAT 176.08
CONSUMERO1 CONSUMERS ENERGY 11/20/2025 202967091160 GEN 1030 4914 3862 10405 MERRILL 10/10-
82779 PO BOX 740309 12/05/2025 N 282.28
PAYMENT CENTER
11/07/2025 CINCINNATI OH, 45274-0309 /7 0.0000 N 0.00
12/05/2025 N 282.28
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT
101-265.000-921.000 NATURAL GAS/HEAT 282.28
CONSUMERO1 CONSUMERS ENERGY 11/20/2025 202967091161 GEN 1030 4914 5248 4320 CORDLEY LK RD 10
82784 PO BOX 740309 12/05/2025 N 19.60
PAYMENT CENTER
11/07/2025 CINCINNATI OH, 45274-0309 /7 0.0000 N 0.00
12/05/2025 N 19.60
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT =0
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590-527.000-921.000 NATURAL GAS/HEAT 19.60
CONSUMERO1 CONSUMERS ENERGY 11/20/2025 202967091162 GEN 1030 4914 7939 6400 W M-36 10/10-11/
82778 PO BOX 740309 12/05/2025 N 123.63
PAYMENT CENTER
11/07/2025 CINCINNATI OH, 45274-0309 /7 0.0000 N 0.00
12/05/2025 N 123.63
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT
590-537.000-921.000 NATURAL GAS/HEAT 123.63
CONSUMERO1 CONSUMERS ENERGY 11/20/2025 204657899882 GEN 1030 4914 5271 6414 WINANS 10/09-11/
82777 PO BOX 740309 12/05/2025 N 22.95
PAYMENT CENTER
11/06/2025 CINCINNATI OH, 45274-0309 /7 0.0000 N 0.00
12/05/2025 N 22.95
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT
590-527.000-921.000 NATURAL GAS/HEAT 22.95
CONSUMERO1 CONSUMERS ENERGY 11/20/2025 205191825654 GEN 1000 3979 7285 10100 VETERANS MEM 10
82787 PO BOX 740309 12/04/2025 N 330.67
PAYMENT CENTER
11/06/2025 CINCINNATI OH, 45274-0309 /7 0.0000 N 0.00
12/04/2025 N 330.67
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT
206-000.000-921.000 NATURAL GAS/HEAT 330.67
VENDOR TOTAL: 1,716.61
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CORRIGANO1 CORRIGAN TOWING 11/25/2025 8530132-IN GEN DYED ULTRA LOW SULFUR MIX (217.9 GAL
82850 775 N. SECOND STREET 12/02/2025 N 742 .49
11/11/2025 BRIGHTON MI, 48116 /7 0.0000 N 0.00
12/02/2025 N 742.49
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT
101-800.000-938.000 LAKELAND TRATIL MAINTENANCE 247.49
101-265.000-758.000 DIESEL FUEL 247.49
101-751.000-758.000 DIESEL FUEL 247.51
742 .49
VENDOR TOTAL: 742 .49
CRUISERSO1 CRUISERS, INC. 11/25/2025 48583 GEN PD SMART FOBS PROGRAMMED & CUT 7004
82842 5977 BRIGHTON PINES CT. 12/02/2025 20250844 N 1,800.00
11/13/2025 HOWELL MI, 48843 /7 0.0000 N 0.00
12/02/2025 N 1,800.00
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT AMT RELIEVED
207-000.000-932.000 FOBIK SMART FOBS PROGRAMMED & CUT 1,560.00 1,560.00
207-000.000-932.000 FOBIK SMART FOBS BODY ONLY 240.00 240.00
1,800.00 1,800.00
VENDOR TOTAL: 1,800.00
CUMMINSBD1 CUMMINS SALES AND SERVICE 11/20/2025 S6-251150012 GEN REGENCY VILLAGE GENERATOR
82798 P.O. BOX 772639 12/02/2025 N 1,244.09
11/12/2025 DETROIT MI, 48277-2639 /7 0.0000 N 0.00
12/02/2025 Y 1,244.09
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT
590-527.000-934.100 PUMP & MAIN REPAIR/MAINTENANCE 1,244.09
VENDOR TOTAL: 1,244.09
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DEWOLFDAN1 DEWOLF & ASSOCIATES 11/19/2025 4069 GEN PD FTO BASIC - KOZOWICZ
82769 P.O. BOX 815 12/02/2025 20250838 N 845.00
11/17/2025 MANCHESTER MI, 48158 /7 0.0000 N 0.00

12/02/2025 N 845.00
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT AMT RELIEVED
207-000.000-916.000 FTO BASIC 845.00 845.00

VENDOR TOTAL: 845.00
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DTEENRGYO1 DTE ENERGY 11/20/2025 11112025 GEN 9100 160 2723 7 4320 CORDLEY LK RD 0
82788 PO BOX 740786 11/19/2025 N 262.23
10/27/2025 CINCINNATI OH, 45274-0786 /7 0.0000 N 0.00
11/19/2025 N 262.23
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT
590-527.000-920.000 ELECTRIC 262.23
DTEENRGYO1 DTE ENERGY 11/25/2025 11242025 GEN 9100 167 2020 3 7701 HAMBURG 10/23-1
82831 PO BOX 740786 12/12/2025 N 23.34
11/20/2025 CINCINNATI OH, 45274-0786 /7 0.0000 N 0.00
12/12/2025 N 23.34
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT
206-000.000-920.100 SIREN ELECTRIC USAGE 23.34
DTEENRGYO1 DTE ENERGY 11/25/2025 11242025 GEN 9200 279 0884 6 7201 WINANS LAKE 10/
82832 PO BOX 740786 12/11/2025 N 22.02
11/19/2025 CINCINNATI OH, 45274-0786 /7 0.0000 N 0.00
12/11/2025 N 22.02
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT
206-000.000-920.100 SIREN ELECTRIC USAGE 22.02
DTEENRGYO1 DTE ENERGY 11/25/2025 11242025 GEN 9200 279 0885 3 2952 SHEHAN RD 10/21
82833 PO BOX 740786 12/11/2025 N 22.02
11/19/2025 CINCINNATI OH, 45274-0786 /7 0.0000 N 0.00
12/11/2025 N 22.02
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT
206-000.000-920.100 SIREN ELECTRIC USAGE 22.02
VENDOR TOTAL: 329.01
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DETROITEQ2 DTE ENERGY - STREET LIGHTS 11/11/2025 11062025 GEN 9100 4056 2340 STREET LIGHTS 10/01-1
82691 PO BOX 740786 12/10/2025 N 1,717.71
10/31/2025 CINCINNATI OH, 45274-0786 /7 0.0000 N 0.00
12/10/2025 N 1,717.71
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT
101-448.000-926.000 STREET LIGHTING 1,717.71
VENDOR TOTAL: 1,717.71
ESRI000001 ENVIRONMENTAL SYSTEMS RESEARCH 11/20/2025 900134251 GEN ARCGIS DESKTOP ADV CONCURRENT USE PR
82806 P.O. BOX 741076 12/02/2025 N 5,915.00
11/12/2025 LOS ANGELES CA, 90074-4630 /7 0.0000 N 0.00
12/02/2025 Y 5,915.00
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT
101-229.000-933.000 SOFTWARE MAINTENANCE 5,915.00
VENDOR TOTAL: 5,915.00
FIREHOUSO03 FIRE HOUSE DOORS, LLC 11/26/2025 25-19036 GEN DPW TORSION CABLE ON DOOR, BOTTOM BR
82873 968 EAGER PINES CT 12/02/2025 N 305.00
11/04/2025 HOWELL MI, 48843 /7 0.0000 N 0.00
12/02/2025 Y 305.00
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT
590-527.000-930.010 SEWER MAINTENANCE GARAGE 305.00
VENDOR TOTAL: 305.00
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GEBESISCDJ GENESIS CDJR OF PINCKNEY LLC 11/19/2025 509052 GEN PD 2021 DODGE DURANGO VEH MAINT 2574
82770 1295 E. M-36 12/02/2025 20250835 N 1,847.52
11/14/2025 PINCKNEY MI, 48169 /7 0.0000 N 0.00

12/02/2025 N 1,847.52
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT AMT RELIEVED
207-000.000-932.000 BRAKES REPLACED 1,847.52 1,847.52
GEBESISCDJ GENESIS CDJR OF PINCKNEY LLC 11/19/2025 509155 GEN PD 2021 DODGE DURANGO VEH MAINT 2574
82771 1295 E. M-36 12/02/2025 20250836 N 87.55
11/14/2025 PINCKNEY MI, 48169 /7 0.0000 N 0.00

12/02/2025 N 87.55
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT AMT RELIEVED
207-000.000-932.000 OIL CHANGE 87.55 87.55
GEBESISCDJ GENESIS CDJR OF PINCKNEY LLC 11/26/2025 509227 GEN PD REPLACE 4 TIRES 2003 CHEV VENTURE
82864 1295 E. M-36 12/02/2025 20250849 N 110.00
11/18/2025 PINCKNEY MI, 48169 /7 0.0000 N 0.00

12/02/2025 N 110.00
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT AMT RELIEVED
207-000.000-932.000 REPLACE 4 TIRES 110.00 100.00

VENDOR TOTAL: 2,045.07

GRLKS BREA GREAT LAKES BREATHING AIR 11/19/2025 1231 GEN FD - HAMBURG FD BREATHING COMPRESSOR
82765 11863 92ND AVE 12/02/2025 20250833 N 821.12
11/12/2025 ALLENDALE MI, 49401 /7 0.0000 N 0.00

12/02/2025 N 821.12
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT AMT RELIEVED
206-000.000-931.000 HTFD COMPRESSOR MAINTENANCE 821.12 821.12

VENDOR TOTAL: 821.12
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HAAS TRANS HAAS TRANSMISSION SERVICE, INC 11/25/2025 62763 GEN TWP 2014 FORD EXPLORER 75193-TRANSMI
82844 8260 DEXTER-CHELSEA RD 12/02/2025 N 2,500.00
11/24/2025 DEXTER MI, 48130 /7 0.0000 N 0.00
12/02/2025 Y 2,500.00
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT
101-275.000-932.000 VEHICLE MAINTENANCE 2,500.00
VENDOR TOTAL: 2,500.00
HACHCOMPO1 HACH COMPANY, AMERICAN SIGMA & 11/25/2025 14766997 GEN WWTP NITRATE/PHOSPHORUS/NITRITE
82851 2207 COLLECTIONS CENTER DRIVE 12/02/2025 N 1,274.64
11/20/2025 CHICAGO IL, 60693 /7 0.0000 N 0.00
12/02/2025 Y 1,274.64
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT
590-537.000-752.000 SUPPLIES & SMALL EQUIPMENT 1,274.64
VENDOR TOTAL: 1,274.64
USABLUEBO1 HD SUPPLY, INC. 11/20/2025 INV00889424 GEN WWTP RO MEMBRANE/AMONIA REAGENT
82813 PO BOX 9004 12/02/2025 N 992.13
11/19/2025 GURNEE IL, 60031 /7 0.0000 N 0.00
12/02/2025 N 992.13
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT
590-537.000-752.000 SUPPLIES & SMALL EQUIPMENT 992.13
VENDOR TOTAL: 992.13
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HIGHLANDTI HIGHLAND TIMBER FRAMING LLC 11/19/2025 202511065HCTI GEN TRIMMING SOUTH HAMBURG CEMETERY
82772 1300 W JOY RD 12/02/2025 N 2,250.00
11/06/2025 ANN ARBOR MI, 48105 /7 0.0000 N 0.00
12/02/2025 Y 2,250.00
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT
101-567.000-930.000 MAINTENANCE 2,250.00
HIGHLANDTI HIGHLAND TIMBER FRAMING LLC 11/19/2025 20251106PC1 GEN REMOVE CEDAT TREE, GRIND STUMP PLACE
82774 1300 W JOY RD 12/02/2025 N 925.00
11/06/2025 ANN ARBOR MI, 48105 /7 0.0000 N 0.00
12/02/2025 Y 925.00
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT
101-567.000-930.000 MAINTENANCE 925.00
HIGHLANDTI HIGHLAND TIMBER FRAMING LLC 11/19/2025 20251106SHC2 GEN REMOVE LG ROTTED MAPLE, GRING STUMP
82773 1300 W JOY RD 12/02/2025 N 4,625.00
11/06/2025 ANN ARBOR MI, 48105 /7 0.0000 N 0.00
12/02/2025 Y 4,625.00
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT
101-567.000-930.000 MAINTENANCE 4,625.00
VENDOR TOTAL: 7,800.00
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HRNVLLYGUN HURON VALLEY GUNS, LLC 11/26/2025 253590 GEN PD UNIFORM PANTS - STOEHR
82858 56477 GRAND RIVER AVE. 12/02/2025 20250853 N 189.98
11/10/2025 NEW HUDSON MI, 48165 /7 0.0000 N 0.00
12/02/2025 Y 189.98
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT AMT RELIEVED
207-000.000-768.000 NAVY PANTS 189.98 189.98
HRNVLLYGUN HURON VALLEY GUNS, LLC 11/26/2025 253953 GEN PD UNIFORM SHIRT & ALTERATIONS FOR S
82859 56477 GRAND RIVER AVE. 12/02/2025 20250857 N 320.97
11/13/2025 NEW HUDSON MI, 48165 /7 0.0000 N 0.00
12/02/2025 Y 320.97
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT AMT RELIEVED
207-000.000-768.000 ALTERATION CHEVRON SET OF 2 27.00 27.00
207-000.000-768.000 ALTER SEW ON PER PATCH 27.00 27.00
207-000.000-768.000 L/S ARMORSKIN WINTER BASE SHIRT 266.97 266.97
320.97
VENDOR TOTAL: 510.95
HUTSONINC1 HUTSON, INC. 11/20/2025 11093810 GEN B&G JOHM DEERE 1575
82799 3915 TRACTOR DRIVE 12/02/2025 N 725.93
11/12/2025 HOWELL MI, 48855 /7 0.0000 N 0.00
12/02/2025 N 725.93
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT
101-265.000-931.000 EQUIPMENT MAINT/REPAIR 725.93
VENDOR TOTAL: 725.93
IMAGEBUSIN IMAGE BUSINESS SOLUTIONS, INC 11/20/2025 293253 GEN COVERAGE 10/09-11/08/25
82800 28339 BECK RD 12/02/2025 N 66.79
SUITE F2
11/14/2025 WIXOM MI, 48393 /7 0.0000 N 0.00
12/02/2025 N 66.79
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT
207-000.000-752.000 SUPPLIES & SMALL EQUIPMENT 66.79 39
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VENDOR TOTAL: 66.79
IMEGCORP#1 IMEG CONSULTANTS CORP 11/20/2025 23008696.06-2 GEN ZUKEY DR & REDDING DR ROAD IMP THROU
82776 ATTN: ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 12/02/2025 N 390.00
PO BOX 182094
11/19/2025 COLUMBUS OH, 43218 /7 0.0000 N 0.00
12/02/2025 Y 390.00
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT
101-000.000-279.985 ZUKEY & REDDING DRIVE RD IM SAD 390.00
VENDOR TOTAL: 390.00
JJJINKLEO1 J. J. JINKLEHEIMER & CO. INC. 11/20/2025 96545 GEN FD - UNIFORM CAPS AND EMBROIDERY #96
82797 2705 E. GRAND RIVER AVE. 12/02/2025 20250847 N 506.25
11/17/2025 HOWELL MI, 48843 /7 0.0000 N 0.00
12/02/2025 N 506.25
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT AMT RELIEVED
206-000.000-768.000 PORT AUTHORITY CAPS, STRCTRD NVY OSFM 129.90 129.90
206-000.000-768.000 FLEXFIT CAPS, NVY, 2 S/M, 11 L/XL 259.35 259.35
206-000.000-768.000 EMBROIDERY NAMES 117.00 117.00
506.25 506.25
VENDOR TOTAL: 506.25
ASSUREDPO1 JAYS ASSURED PEST CONTROL LLC 11/20/2025 8121 GEN MONTHLY SERVICE NOV 2025
82801 1000 OAK CREEK DR 12/02/2025 N 157.00
11/04/2025 SOUTH LYON MI, 48178 /7 0.0000 N 0.00
12/02/2025 Y 157.00
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT
101-265.000-801.000 36.00
207-000.000-801.000 CONTRACTUAL SERVICES 85.00
101-820.000-801.000 CONTRACTUAL SERVICES 36.00
157.00
VENDOR TOTAL: 15
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KEELECTRIC K/E ELECTRIC SUPPLY CORPORATION 11/20/2025 1553541 GEN DPW BRACKETS/SPRING NUT/POST BASE/CH
82802 146 N. GROESBECK HIGHWAY 12/02/2025 N 93.71
11/11/2025 MT. CLEMENS MI, 48043 /7 0.0000 N 0.00
12/02/2025 Y 93.71
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT
590-527.000-752.000 SUPPLIES & SMALL EQUIPMENT 93.71
KEELECTRIC K/E ELECTRIC SUPPLY CORPORATION 11/20/2025 1553784 GEN DPW POST BASE SQUARPWR
82803 146 N. GROESBECK HIGHWAY 12/02/2025 N 28.64
11/12/2025 MT. CLEMENS MI, 48043 /7 0.0000 N 0.00
12/02/2025 Y 28.64
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT
590-527.000-752.000 SUPPLIES & SMALL EQUIPMENT 28.64
KEELECTRIC K/E ELECTRIC SUPPLY CORPORATION 11/20/2025 1553785 GEN DPW SPRING NUT
82804 146 N. GROESBECK HIGHWAY 12/02/2025 N 9.34
11/12/2025 MT. CLEMENS MI, 48043 /7 0.0000 N 0.00
12/02/2025 Y 9.34
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT
590-527.000-752.000 SUPPLIES & SMALL EQUIPMENT 9.34
VENDOR TOTAL: 131.69
KENTCOMMNC KCI 11/20/2025 352103 GEN RST BILL/CYCLE CHANGE
82814 3901 EAST PARIS AVE. S.E. 12/02/2025 N 730.79
10/31/2025 GRAND RAPIDS MI, 49512 /7 0.0000 N 0.00
12/02/2025 Y 730.79
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT
590-527.000-851.000 POSTAGE 730.79
VENDOR TOTAL: 730.79
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KERRPUMPO1 KERR PUMP & SUPPLY, INC. 11/25/2025 INV236914 GEN WWTP INSTALL MAGNETIC FLOW METER
82854 DRAWER 64185 12/02/2025 N 2,997.00
11/11/2025 DETROIT MI, 48264 /7 0.0000 N 0.00
12/02/2025 N 2,997.00
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT
590-537.000-934.100 PUMP & MAIN REPAIR/MAINTENANCE 2,997.00
VENDOR TOTAL: 2,997.00
LJ CONSTRU L.J. CONSTRUCTION, INC. 11/26/2025 22010240 GEN MANLEY BENNETT PARK ADD'L 5' WIDE SI
82867 KINGSTON ROAD 12/02/2025 N 1,942.52
11/20/2025 CLIFFORD MI, 48727 /7 0.0000 N 0.00
12/02/2025 N 1,942.52
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT
101-751.000-980.000 CAPITAL EQUIPMENT/CAPITAL IMP 1,942.52
VENDOR TOTAL: 1,942.52
LABADIE FA LABADIE FARM LLC 10/23/2025 20219 GEN CHRISTMAS IN THE VILLAGE-NATIVITY AN
82513 5497 EMMONS RD 12/02/2025 N 425.00
10/23/2025 FOWLERVILLE MI, 48836 /7 0.0000 N 0.00
12/02/2025 Y 425.00
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT
101-751.000-943.001 CHRISTMAS IN THE VILLAGE 425.00
VENDOR TOTAL: 425.00
LAKELANDO1 LAKELAND ACE HARDWARE, INC. 11/25/2025 14154 GEN FD - MOP SINK HOSE FOR STA 11 #14154
82828 PO BOX 1000 12/02/2025 20250851 N 23.99
11/19/2025 PINCKNEY MI, 48169 /7 0.0000 N 0.00
12/02/2025 N 23.99
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT AMT RELIEVED

206-000.000-930.003

MOP SINK HOSE

23.99 23.99

VENDOR TOTAL: 2| a2
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LIVINGST16 LIVINGSTON CO. DRAIN COMMISSIONER 11/19/2025 4050 GEN PHASE II IMPLEMENTATION-LIV CO WATER
82775 2300 E. GRAND RIVER 12/02/2025 N 554.13
SUITE 105
11/07/2025 HOWELL MI, 48843-7581 /7 0.0000 N 0.00
12/02/2025 N 554.13
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT
101-703.000-967.000 SPECIAL PROJECTS 554.13
VENDOR TOTAL: 554.13
MASTERCRET MASTERCRAFT PLUMBING INC. 11/26/2025 32133 GEN PD REPAIRED THE SEWER LINE
82860 7879 E. M-36 12/02/2025 20250855 N 1,895.00
11/21/2025 WHITMORE LAKE MI, 48189 /7 0.0000 N 0.00
12/02/2025 N 1,895.00
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT AMT RELIEVED
207-000.000-930.002 REPAIR TO SEWER LINE 1,895.00 1,895.00
VENDOR TOTAL: 1,895.00
MIRURALWO1 MICHIGAN RURAL WATER ASSOCIATION 11/20/2025 2020-15983 GEN DPW WASTEWATER COLLECTION SYSTEM MAT
82815 2127 UNIVERSITY PARK DRIVE 12/02/2025 N 285.00
SUITE 340
11/12/2025 OKEMOS MI, 48864 /o 0.0000 N 0.00
12/02/2025 Y 285.00
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT
590-527.000-910.000 PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT 285.00
VENDOR TOTAL: 285.00
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MISTATEFO02 MICHIGAN STATE FIREMEN'S AS- 11/25/2025 11242025 GEN FD - MI STATE FIREMEN'S ASSOC 2026 M
82829 9001 MILLER ROAD 12/02/2025 20250848 N 100.00

PO BOX 405

11/24/2025 SWARTZ CREEK MI, 48473 /7 0.0000 N 0.00

12/02/2025 N 100.00
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT AMT RELIEVED
206-000.000-958.000 MFSA 2026 MEMBERSHIP FEE 100.00 100.00

VENDOR TOTAL: 100.00

MOBILE COM MOBILE COMMUNICATIONS AMERICA INC 11/20/2025 398001663-1 GEN FD - MOTOROLA TIER 7 DEPOT REPAIR RA
82821 PO BOX 1458 12/02/2025 20250565 N 802.00
11/20/2025 CHARLOTTE NC, 28201 /7 0.0000 N 0.00

12/02/2025 N 802.00
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT AMT RELIEVED
206-000.000-754.000 MOTOROLA TIER 7 DEPOT REPAIR 802.00 802.00

VENDOR TOTAL: 802.00
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MOTOROLAO1 MOTOROLA SOLUTIONS INC. 11/10/2025 1411215435 GEN PD VIDEOMGR EL, BWC ANNUAL LICENSE &
82652 13104 COLLECTIONS CENTER DR 12/02/2025 N 360.38
11/06/2025 CHICAGO IL, 60693 /7 0.0000 N 0.00

12/02/2025 N 360.38
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT AMT RELIEVED
207-000.000-933.000 VIDEOMGR EL BWC ANNUAL LICENSE 180.19 180.19
207-000.000-933.000 VIDEOMGR EL IN-CAR VIDEO SYS ANNUAL LIC 180.19 180.19

360.38

MOTOROLAO1 MOTOROLA SOLUTIONS INC. 11/11/2025 1411216013 GEN PD VIDEOMGR EL, BWC ANNUAL LICENSE D
82716 13104 COLLECTIONS CENTER DR 12/02/2025 20250816 N 289.62
11/09/2025 CHICAGO IL, 60693 /7 0.0000 N 0.00

12/02/2025 N 289.62
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT AMT RELIEVED
207-000.000-933.000 VIDEOMGR EL BWC ANNUAL LICENSE 289.62 289.62
MOTOROLAO1 MOTOROLA SOLUTIONS INC. 11/26/2025 8282242498 GEN PD PREP MICS
82861 13104 COLLECTIONS CENTER DR 12/02/2025 20250850 N 245.77
11/24/2025 CHICAGO IL, 60693 /7 0.0000 N 0.00

12/02/2025 N 245.77
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT AMT RELIEVED
207-000.000-932.000 MODEL #PMMN4069A 115.27 115.27
207-000.000-932.000 MODEL #HMN1090D 130.50 130.50

245.77
VENDOR TOTAL: 895.77
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Item 4.

BANK CODE: GEN

Vendor Code Vendor name Post Date Invoice Bank Invoice Description

Ref # Address CK Run Date PO Hold Gross Amount

Invoice Date City/State/Zip Disc. Date Disc. % Sep CK Discount
Due Date 1099 Net Amount

MERS000001 MUNICIPAL EMPLOYEE'S RETIRE- 11/20/2025 00172136-04-A GEN 2024-03

82811 1134 MUNICIPAL WAY 12/02/2025 N (192.25)

10/09/2025 LANSING MI, 48917 /7 0.0000 N 0.00
12/02/2025 N (192.25)

Open

GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT

101-000.000-231.500 DEFERRED COMPENSATION/457 (192.25)

MERS000001 MUNICIPAL EMPLOYEE'S RETIRE- 11/20/2025 00172136-05-A GEN 2025-03

82812 1134 MUNICIPAL WAY 12/02/2025 N (111.27)

10/09/2025 LANSING MI, 48917 /7 0.0000 N 0.00
12/02/2025 N (111.27)

Open

GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT

101-000.000-231.500 DEFERRED COMPENSATION/457 (111.27)

MERS000001 MUNICIPAL EMPLOYEE'S RETIRE- 11/20/2025 00172136-06-A GEN 2025-04

82810 1134 MUNICIPAL WAY 12/02/2025 N (196.27)

11/19/2025 LANSING MI, 48917 /7 0.0000 N 0.00
12/02/2025 N (196.27)

Open

GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT

101-000.000-231.500 DEFERRED COMPENSATION/457 (196.27)

MERS000001 MUNICIPAL EMPLOYEE'S RETIRE- 11/20/2025 00172264-2 GEN 2025-09

82808 1134 MUNICIPAL WAY 12/02/2025 N (4,141.70)

10/15/2025 LANSING MI, 48917 /7 0.0000 N 0.00
12/02/2025 N (4,141.70)

Open

GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT

101-000.000-231.500 DEFERRED COMPENSATION/457 (4,141.70)

MERS000001 MUNICIPAL EMPLOYEE'S RETIRE- 11/20/2025 00173298-4 GEN 2025-11

82807 1134 MUNICIPAL WAY 12/02/2025 N 50,078.33

11/19/2025 LANSING MI, 48917 /7 0.0000 N 0.00
12/02/2025 N 50,078.33

Open

GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT

101-000.000-231.500 DEFERRED COMPENSATION/457 11,319.38 46

207-000.000-716.000

DEFINED CONTRIBUTION

38,758.95




11/26/2025 01:59 PM INVOICE APPROVAL BY INVOICE REPORT FOR HAMBURG TOWNSHIP OFFICES Page: 29/3&
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BANK CODE: GEN
Vendor Code Vendor name Post Date Invoice Bank Invoice Description
Ref # Address CK Run Date PO Hold Gross Amount
Invoice Date City/State/Zip Disc. Date Disc. % Sep CK Discount
Due Date 1099 Net Amount
50,078.33
VENDOR TOTAL: 45,436.84
MYERSEXCO02 MYERS GROUP ENTERPRISES LLC 11/26/2025 2552 GEN FURNISH AND DELIVER 44.36 TONS BULK
82856 8111 HAMMEL ROAD 12/02/2025 N 3,814.96
11/18/2025 BRIGHTON MI, 48116 /7 0.0000 N 0.00
12/02/2025 Y 3,814.96
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT
206-000.000-930.003 MAINTENANCE FIRE HALL 1,271.65
207-000.000-930.002 MAINTENANCE POLICE BUILDING 635.83
101-265.000-930.000 MAINTENANCE TWP HALL 635.83
101-820.000-930.001 MAINTENANCE COMM CENTER 635.83
101-265.000-930.008 MAINTENANCE LIBRARY 635.82
3,814.96
VENDOR TOTAL: 3,814.96
NAMANSSOO01 N. A. MANS & SONS, INC. 11/26/2025 3222930 GEN TREATED #2 LUMBER (20)
82874 3300 WEST JEFFERSON 12/02/2025 N 1,155.20
11/20/2025 TRENTON MI, 48183 /7 0.0000 N 0.00
12/02/2025 N 1,155.20
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT
101-800.000-938.000 LAKELAND TRAIL MAINTENANCE 1,155.20
VENDOR TOTAL: 1,155.20
OFFICEXPO1 OFFICE EXPRESS, INC. 11/26/2025 582351 GEN PD COPY PAPER (4)
82862 1280 E BIG BEAVER SUITE A 12/02/2025 20250856 N 295.80
11/25/2025 TROY MI, 48083 / 0.0000 N 0.00
12/02/2025 N 295.80
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT AMT RELIEVED
207-000.000-752.000 NAVIGATOR COPY PAPER 295.80 295.80
VENDOR TOTAL: 29
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Item 4.

Vendor Code Vendor name Post Date Invoice Bank Invoice Description
Ref # Address CK Run Date PO Hold Gross Amount
Invoice Date City/State/Zip Disc. Date Disc. % Sep CK Discount
Due Date 1099 Net Amount
PESPRSEPTC PATRICK ESPER SEPTIC 11/20/2025 3844 GEN WWTP VA TRUCK
82819 5700 EMMONS ROAD 12/02/2025 N 1,000.00
11/12/2025 FOWLERVILLE MI, 48836 /7 0.0000 N 0.00
12/02/2025 Y 1,000.00
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT
590-537.000-934.100 PUMP & MAIN REPAIR/MAINTENANCE 1,000.00
VENDOR TOTAL: 1,000.00
RESCOM RESCOM DOOR LLC 11/25/2025 6909 GEN FD - STA 11 2 NE DOORS REPAIR #6909
82830 4088 E M 36 12/02/2025 20250852 N 295.00
11/24/2025 PINCKNEY MI, 48169 /7 0.0000 N 0.00
12/02/2025 N 295.00
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT AMT RELIEVED
206-000.000-930.003 2 NE DOORS REPAIR TO MOTORS 295.00 295.00
VENDOR TOTAL: 295.00
BOOMERSRJV RJV ENTERPRISES, INC. 11/26/2025 11062025 GEN FOOD-VARIOUS MEETINGS/EVENTS
82875 DBA BOOMERS PARTY STORE & PIZZA 12/02/2025 N 593.53
8999 HAMBURG ROAD
11/06/2025 BRIGHTON MI, 48116 /7 0.0000 N 0.00
12/02/2025 N 593.53
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT
101-101.000-955.000 SUNDRY-HAMBURG TWP-04/15/25 73.68
101-171.000-955.000 SUNDRY-COUNTY SUPERVISORS MTG-04/21/25 85.84
101-751.000-955.000 SUNDRY-HAMBURG PARKS & RECS-04/26/25 34.29
101-262.000-955.000 SUNDRY-ELECTION NIGHT-05/06/25 123.94
101-751.000-955.000 SUNDRY-DUANE-05/09/25 36.77
101-751.000-955.000 SUNDRY-HAMBURG TOWNSHIP-07/01/25 239.01
593.53
VENDOR TOTAL: 593.53
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User: MarcyM EXP CHECK RUN DATES 07/01/2025 - 12/31/2025 ltem 4.
DB: Hamburg UNJOURNALIZED OPEN
BANK CODE: GEN

Vendor Code Vendor name Post Date Invoice Bank Invoice Description
Ref # Address CK Run Date PO Hold Gross Amount
Invoice Date City/State/Zip Disc. Date Disc. % Sep CK Discount

Due Date 1099 Net Amount
ROADRUNNER ROAD RUNNER TIRE 11/20/2025 3938 GEN B& G JOHN DEERE 1575 REAR TIRES
82823 7906 HEATHER MARIE CT., PO BOX 805 12/02/2025 N 245.00
11/20/2025 PINCKNEY MI, 48169 /7 0.0000 N 0.00

12/02/2025 Y 245.00
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT
101-265.000-931.000 EQUIPMENT MAINT/REPAIR 245.00

VENDOR TOTAL: 245.00
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Item 4.
DB: Hamburg UNJOURNALIZED OPEN
BANK CODE: GEN
Vendor Code Vendor name Post Date Invoice Bank Invoice Description
Ref # Address CK Run Date PO Hold Gross Amount
Invoice Date City/State/Zip Disc. Date Disc. % Sep CK Discount
Due Date 1099 Net Amount
JOHNSNROO1 ROSATI, SCHULTZ, JOPPICH & 11/25/2025 1084529 GEN MICHIGAN TAX TRIBUNAL MARY ANN LAMKI
82839 AMTSBUECHLER, P.C. 12/02/2025 N 833.00
27555 EXECUTIVE DRIVE, SUITE 250
11/13/2025 FARMINGTON HILLS MI, 48331 /7 0.0000 N 0.00
12/02/2025 Y 833.00
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT
101-101.000-826.000 LEGAL FEES 680.00
858-000.000-826.000 LEGAL FEES 153.00
833.00
JOHNSNROO1 ROSATI, SCHULTZ, JOPPICH & 11/25/2025 1084589 GEN GENERAL MATTERS BERG
82840 AMTSBUECHLER, P.C. 12/02/2025 N 153.00
27555 EXECUTIVE DRIVE, SUITE 250
11/13/2025 FARMINGTON HILLS MI, 48331 /7 0.0000 N 0.00
12/02/2025 Y 153.00
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT
207-000.000-826.000 LEGAL FEES 68.00
858-000.000-826.000 LEGAL FEES 85.00
153.00
JOHNSNROO1 ROSATI, SCHULTZ, JOPPICH & 11/25/2025 1084590 GEN GRACE & DAVID GRIESE PLAT AMMENDMENT
82827 AMTSBUECHLER, P.C. 12/02/2025 N 204.00
27555 EXECUTIVE DRIVE, SUITE 250
11/13/2025 FARMINGTON HILLS MI, 48331 /7 0.0000 N 0.00
12/02/2025 Y 204.00
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT
101-702.000-826.000 LEGAL FEES 204.00
JOHNSNROO1 ROSATI, SCHULTZ, JOPPICH & 11/25/2025 1084591 GEN LABOR & EMPLOYMENT LAW
82841 AMTSBUECHLER, P.C. 12/02/2025 N 1,764.00
27555 EXECUTIVE DRIVE, SUITE 250
11/13/2025 FARMINGTON HILLS MI, 48331 /7 0.0000 N 0.00
12/02/2025 Y 1,764.00
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT 50
101-101.000-826.000 LEGAL FEES 1,764.00
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Item 4.

BANK CODE: GEN
Vendor Code Vendor name Post Date Invoice Bank Invoice Description
Ref # Address CK Run Date PO Hold Gross Amount
Invoice Date City/State/Zip Disc. Date Disc. % Sep CK Discount
Due Date 1099 Net Amount
JOHNSNROO1 ROSATI, SCHULTZ, JOPPICH & 11/25/2025 1084592 GEN MARY ANN & STEVEN LAMKING
82838 AMTSBUECHLER, P.C. 12/02/2025 N 4,272.50
27555 EXECUTIVE DRIVE, SUITE 250
11/13/2025 FARMINGTON HILLS MI, 48331 /7 0.0000 N 0.00
12/02/2025 Y 4,272.50
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT
101-101.000-826.000 LEGAL FEES 4,272.50
JOHNSNROO1 ROSATI, SCHULTZ, JOPPICH & 11/25/2025 1084594 GEN DISTRICT COURT PROSECUTIONS
82837 AMTSBUECHLER, P.C. 12/02/2025 N 1,526.00
27555 EXECUTIVE DRIVE, SUITE 250
11/13/2025 FARMINGTON HILLS MI, 48331 /7 0.0000 N 0.00
12/02/2025 Y 1,526.00
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT
207-000.000-826.000 LEGAL FEES 1,526.00
VENDOR TOTAL: 8,752.50
SAFEKLEEN1 SAFETY-KLEEN SYSTEMS, INC. 11/20/2025 98468566 GEN DPW PARTS WASHER SOLVENT
82816 P.O. BOX 975201 12/02/2025 N 349.59
11/04/2025 DALLAS TX, 75397-5201 /7 0.0000 N 0.00
12/02/2025 N 349.59
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT
590-527.000-752.000 SUPPLIES & SMALL EQUIPMENT 349.59
VENDOR TOTAL: 349.59
SEILER SEILER INSTRUMENT AND MANUFACTURING 11/20/2025 INV65713 GEN DPW FIELD MAPS BUNDLE
82817 3433 TREE COURT INDUSTRIAL BLVD 12/02/2025 N 750.00
11/06/2025 ST LOUIS MO, 63122 /7 0.0000 N 0.00
12/02/2025 N 750.00
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT
590-527.000-752.000 SUPPLIES & SMALL EQUIPMENT 750.00
Bl
VENDOR TOTAL: 75
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Item 4.

Vendor Code Vendor name Post Date Invoice Bank Invoice Description
Ref # Address CK Run Date PO Hold Gross Amount
Invoice Date City/State/Zip Disc. Date Disc. % Sep CK Discount
Due Date 1099 Net Amount
REFUND TAX SHEATHELM JEFFREY D JR 11/26/2025 11/26/2025 GEN 2025 Sum Tax Refund 4715-20-203-001
82872 12/02/2025 N 0.00
3755 WESTHAVEN CT
11/26/2025 PINCKNEY MI, 48169 12/02/2025 0.0000 N 0.00
12/02/2025 N 1,068.14
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT
703-000.000-202.000 ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 1,068.14
VENDOR TOTAL: 1,068.14
SPICERGRUP SPICER GROUP, INC. 11/25/2025 242071 GEN PROF SERVICES THROUGH 11.15.25 HAMBU
82843 230 SOUTH WASHINGTON AVENUE 12/02/2025 N 11,746.00
11/18/2025 SAGINAW MI, 48607 /7 0.0000 N 0.00
12/02/2025 N 11,746.00
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT
101-751.000-975.300 GRANT MATCH 11,746.00
VENDOR TOTAL: 11,746.00
TOSHIBA TOSHIBA BUSINESS SOLUTIONS 11/20/2025 6700078 GEN CPC BILLING 10/06-11/05/25
82818 PO BOX 927 12/02/2025 N 43.75
11/05/2025 BUFFALO NY, 14240-0927 /7 0.0000 N 0.00
12/02/2025 Y 43.75
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT
101-275.000-752.000 SUPPLIES & SMALL EQUIPMENT 43.75
VENDOR TOTAL: 43.75
UISPROGRO1 UIS PROGRAMMABLE SERVICES, INC 11/25/2025 530381664 GEN STINCHFIELD WWTP SERVICE
82853 2290 BISHOP CIRCLE EAST 12/02/2025 N 1,563.07
11/25/2025 DEXTER MI, 48130 /7 0.0000 N 0.00
12/02/2025 N 1,563.07
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT
590-537.000-934.100 PUMP & MAIN REPAIR/MAINTENANCE 1,563.07
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Item 4.

Vendor Code Vendor name Post Date Invoice Bank Invoice Description
Ref # Address CK Run Date PO Hold Gross Amount
Invoice Date City/State/Zip Disc. Date Disc. % Sep CK Discount
Due Date 1099 Net Amount
VENDOR TOTAL: 1,563.07
WARDSDOIO2 WARD'S EQUIPMENT RENTAL, LLC 11/20/2025 6402 GEN B&G LAWN EDGER REPAIR
82805 PO BOX 425 12/02/2025 N 67.65
09/11/2025 HAMBURG MI, 48139 /7 0.0000 N 0.00
12/02/2025 Y 67.65
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT
101-265.000-752.000 SUPPLIES & SMALL EQUIPMENT 67.65
VENDOR TOTAL: 67.65
WCAASSESSG WCA ASSESSING LLC 11/25/2025 11192025 GEN ASSESSMENT SERVICES DECEMBER 2025
82835 38110 N. EXECUTIVE #100 12/02/2025 N 24,202.50
11/19/2025 WESTLAND MI, 48185 /7 0.0000 N 0.00
12/02/2025 Y 24,202.50
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT
101-257.000-801.000 CONTRACTUAL SERVICES 24,202.50
VENDOR TOTAL: 24,202.50
SUNOCOTO01 WEX BANK 11/24/2025 108770969 GEN TWP FUEL 10/24-11/23/2025
82825 P.O. BOX 6293 12/02/2025 N 1,537.01
11/23/2025 CAROL STREAM IL, 60197 /o 0.0000 N 0.00
12/02/2025 N 1,537.01
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT
101-265.000-759.000 VEHICLE FUEL 383.47
590-527.000-759.000 VEHICLE FUEL 936.01
101-275.000-759.000 VEHICLE FUEL 100.32
101-275.000-759.000 VEHICLE FUEL 117.21
1,537.01
VENDOR TOTAL: 1,537.01
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Item 4.

Vendor Code Vendor name Post Date Invoice Bank Invoice Description
Ref # Address CK Run Date PO Hold Gross Amount
Invoice Date City/State/Zip Disc. Date Disc. % Sep CK Discount
Due Date 1099 Net Amount
WASTMANAGM WM CORPORATE SERVICES, INC. 11/25/2025 0137186-1389-9 GEN 10/01/25-10/31/25
82855 AS PAY AGENT 12/02/2025 N 791.62
P.O. BOX 4648
11/04/2025 CAROL STREAM IL, 60197-4648 /7 0.0000 N 0.00
12/02/2025 N 791.62
Open
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT
206-000.000-919.000 TRASH DISPOSAL 212.24
101-751.000-919.000 TRASH DISPOSAL 143.77
590-537.000-919.000 TRASH DISPOSAL 90.40
101-820.000-919.000 TRASH DISPOSAL 130.47
101-265.000-919.000 TRASH DISPOSAL 90.40
207-000.000-801.000 CONTRACTUAL SERVICES 124 .34
791.62
VENDOR TOTAL: 791.62
TOTAL - ALL VENDORS: 201,410.95
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Executive Summary:

Livingston County is defined by its diverse landscapes and dynamic communities, where residents
value agriculture and historical roots while embracing new opportunities for the future. The
Livingston County, Michigan 2026 Master Plan envisions a county that balances growth with
preservation, ensuring that both people and natural resources can thrive for generations to come.

This plan represents a comprehensive two-year initiative, shaped by
extensive public engagement and data-driven analysis. It updates
demographic information using the latest census data, inventories
existing land uses, evaluates emerging trends, and develops strategies to
guide future regional decisions. The plan’s focus areas are presented to
the right and highlight the values and priorities identified by residents to
inform coordinated countywide growth.

Key Findings: Public input revealed strong support for farmland and
open space protection, a priority further reinforced by the Livingston
County, Michigan: 2025 Sustainable Agriculture, Food Systems, & Rural
Environments Plan. At the same time, demographic analysis highlights a
rapidly aging population, with significant implications for healthcare,
housing, and transportation. To address these shifts, the plan emphasizes
intergenerational strategies that meet the needs of older residents while
attracting and retaining younger households. Economically, Livingston
County continues to hold Michigan’s highest median household income,
yet challenges persist in service accessibility and a changing retail
landscape. Housing affordability remains a pressing concern, as rising
home values create barriers for both first-time buyers and older adults,
underscoring the need for more diverse housing options. The plan also
identifies key infrastructure priorities, ranging from expanded broadband
to the integration of renewable energy projects and other technologies
that will shape the county’s future.

The plan concludes with an existing land use inventory and a future land
use plan, providing an understanding of current development trends and
establishing a future vision informed by resident input and local
community plans. In summary, the Livingston County, Michigan 2026
Master Plan provides a strategic approach to managing growth,
preserving community identity, and ensuring progress toward sustainable
development.

Livingston County, Michigan 2026 Master Plan
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Vision Statement:

Livingston County envisions a future that honors its rural heritage while
embracing sustainable growth. Our communities will thrive by preserving
farmland, natural resources, and open spaces, while directing new
development to areas with existing infrastructure.

We will empower communities with the resources, knowledge, and tools
necessary to create accessible housing, services, and transportation options
for all residents. Vibrant downtowns, connected trails, and walkable
neighborhoods will strengthen our sense of place and attract the next
generation, while farmland, lakes, and woodlands remain central to our
identity and economy.

Through collaboration, innovation, and stewardship, we will foster resilient
communities that balance prosperity with preservation- ensuring that
Livingston County remains a place where people can live, work, and thrive for
generations to come.

Livingston County, Michigan 2026 Master Plan
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Livingston County, Michigan: Overview

Introduction

Livingston County consists of 585 miles of rolling farmland, abundant
natural features, and vibrant communities. The county is defined by
its lakes and rivers, fertile agricultural lands, scenic woodlands, and a
collection of beautiful towns and commercial activities. From historic
downtowns to family farms and recreational trails, Livingston County
offers both residents and visitors a strong sense of place rooted in its

landscapes and community identity.

Setting

Quick Facts
585 Sq. Miles
16 Townships

2 Cities

2 Villages

11th Largest County in Ml

196,000 People

Livingston County is located in the southeast corner of
Michigan’s Lower Peninsula, a region where nearly 50%
of the state’s population resides. The county is situated
along the 1-96 and US-23 corridors approximately
halfway between Detroit and Lansing. The county
comprises twenty-one units of government, including
sixteen townships, two villages, two cities, and Livingston
County Government. Many residents of Livingston
County say that an imaginary north/ south line can be
drawn through the middle of the county to illustrate the
diversity of the region’s landscapes- with a relatively
urban/suburban eastern half and a predominantly rural
western half. Nearly half (46%) of the population resides
in the southeast quadrant of the county, in the
townships of Brighton, Genoa, Hamburg, and Green Oak,
and the City of Brighton; whereas the majority of the
farmland in Livingston County lies in the western half of
the county in the townships of Unadilla, losco, Handy,
Conway, Cohoctah, and Deerfield. Livingston County’s
regional location is often described as a midway point

between the state capital of Lansing and the state’s largest city of Detroit, and it is also halfway
between Michigan's largest institutions of higher education, the University of Michigan, and

Michigan State University.

Livingston County History

The land that is now Livingston County was first home to the Ottawa, Saginaw/Chippewa, Sauk,
and Potawatomi peoples, who traveled this land and cultivated the soil for generations. These
Indigenous communities were the original stewards of the region, sustaining both their people
and the land through hunting, fishing, and farming practices. When colonial settlers began arriving
in the early nineteenth century, the lifeways of these communities were deeply disrupted.
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Through treaties—often made under pressure—the United States government acquired the land,
including the 1807 Treaty of Detroit, which transferred what is now Livingston County into federal
ownership. This process led to the relocation of the region’'s tribes and opened the land to
settlement by newcomers.

Livingston County thus became formally
organized in 1836, named after former U.S.
Secretary of State Edward Livingston. At its
organization, the county embraced the
townships of Green Oak, Hamburg, Putnam,
Unadilla, Howell, and Hartland. Green Oak
included its present area along with the
township of Brighton; Hamburg included its
present limits and the area of what is now
Genoa Township; Unadilla included itself
and what is now losco Township; Putnam
included in addition to its present area the
township of Marion; Howell also took in the townships of Oceola, Deerfield, Cohoctah, Conway,
and Handy; and Hartland was embraced in its present limits. The northeastern portion- now
Tyrone Township- had not yet been established, and was included within Deerfield’s limits.

As time progressed, Livingston County gradually shifted from a frontier landscape into an
established agricultural community. Settlers cleared forests for farmland, constructed mills along
rivers and creeks, and built roads that connected early settlements to neighboring counties. The
coming of the railroads in the mid-1880s further transformed the region, linking Howell, Brighton,
and other communities together.

By the turn of the twentieth century, Livingston County's towns had grown into rural centers, while
its agricultural roots remained strong. Suburbanization then soon began to reshape the county as
improvements in highways and automobile travel connected residents more closely to Detroit,
Lansing, and Ann Arbor. Today, Livingston County retains a mix of its rural and agricultural
heritage alongside its role as a growing suburban community within southeast Michigan's regional
economy.

Communities & Municipalities

Livingston County is composed of twenty one political jurisdictions including sixteen townships, two
cities, two villages, and the Livingston County Government. Thirteen of the sixteen townships are
general law townships and three are charter townships including: Brighton, Genoa, and Green Oak
Charter Townships. The City of Howell is the county seat of government.

Each community contributes its own history, character, and priorities to the county- forming a
network of municipalities that share common challenges and opportunities. All jurisdictions can be
seen on the Livingston County Municipalities map on the following page.

70




Livingston County, Michigan: Overview 1 7

71




MASTER PLANNING

PROCESS




Livingston County, Michigan: Master Planning Process

19 [

Master Planning Process

What is a Master Plan?

A master plan serves as a comprehensive guiding document that examines the community
through various land uses and objectives by addressing three fundamental questions:

Where does our community currently stand?
Where do we want to be?
What steps can we take to realize that vision?

Through the provision of thorough documentation of existing land use conditions and
geographical and historical contexts, a master plan seeks to realistically answer these questions,
outlining specific goals and strategies for its implementation. Throughout its development,
community input is actively solicited and incorporated, ensuring that the plan aligns with
residents’ needs. It is also regularly updated to reflect emerging trends and ongoing community
feedback. A well-crafted master plan is crucial, as it offers essential guidance and rationale for

land use decisions and the community’s zoning ordinances.

Who is the Plan Created for?

Livingston County is home to sixteen
townships, two villages, and two cities.
Each of these entities have individual
planning authority, each with their own
distinct master plan and zoning
ordinance. As empowered by the
Michigan Planning Enabling Act of 2008
as amended, The Livingston County
Planning Department and Livingston
County Planning Commission'’s role is to
assist these communities by reviewing
proposed changes to master plans,
zoning ordinances, and other local
planning  documents, while also
providing data, technical guidance, and
resources to support well-coordinated
planning decisions.

This Livingston County, Michigan 2026
Master Plan thus serves as a general
advisory framework for the county's
municipalities. Local governments are

Townships, Villages,

and Cities:

Hold legal planning &
zoning authority

Adopt and amend
master plans

Adopt and enforce
zoning ordinances

Review and approve
development
proposals

Make final land use
decisions

Livingston County
Planning Department

& Planning
Commission:

Advisory role- no
direct zoning
authority

Review and comment
on local master plan
and zoning
amendments

Provide data, maps,
and technical
assistance

Promote coordination
between neighboring
communities
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not required to adopt this plan, however, they may consider or use information and goals within it
as they develop their own local plans and zoning ordinances as a means to better coordinate
plans and regulations across local boundaries. By promoting collaboration among neighboring
communities, this plan is designed to establish a unified vision for future development, balancing
the demands of economic growth with the preservation of natural resources and community
identity.

Statutory Basis

Public Act 33 of 2008 as amended, the Michigan Planning Enabling Act (MPEA), empowers local
units of government (townships, villages, cities, and counties) to establish planning commissions
and adopt master plans. In Livingston County, each jurisdiction retains the authority to develop
and administer its own plans and zoning ordinances, and while they are not legally required to
adopt or implement the Livingston County 2026 Master Plan, they are strongly encouraged to use it
as a guiding framework. The MPEA emphasizes the value of coordination and consistency across
jurisdictions, recognizing that county master plans provide a unifying vision for regional growth
and development. As authorized under state law, the Livingston County 2026 Master Plan serves as
an essential document that offers a countywide perspective on economic development, housing,
transportation, growth management, agriculture, and natural resources.

Past Planning Efforts

The last countywide master plan was completed in 2018, and
represented a significant update to the 2003 Master Plan.
Although the 2003 version underwent various amendments
over the years, the county's changing landscape and the
passage of the Michigan Planning Enabling Act, or Public Act 33
of 2008 as amended, necessitated a significant update. While
the 2003 Master Plan was designed as a traditional framework
that focused on existing land uses and trends, the 2018
Livingston County Master Plan adopted a more innovative
approach, centering on best practices and timely planning
trends. Many of the best practices outlined in the 2018 Master
Plan remain relevant today and can still serve as valuable tools
for communities seeking to update their own master plans or
zoning ordinances.

This new master plan aims to incorporate significantly more
public participation compared to previous efforts. As the Livingston County Planning Department
remains dedicated to fulfilling the roles of facilitator, educator, and resource provider- both
Livingston County Planning Staff and the Livingston County Planning Commission will continue to
review and provide advisory comments on local planning and zoning proposals, assist
communities with data and best practices, and foster collaboration to support sound, coordinated
growth across the county.
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Plan Creation Timeline
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Public Participation

As previously mentioned, public participation has been the guiding force for the formulation of
this plan. Between December 1 and December 31, 2023, the Livingston County Planning
Department presented the first two open-ended questions on the project website. The first
question asked “Which three areas should the master plan prioritize?”. The second question
further implored about topics and data to be addressed in the 2026 Master Plan. The most
popular responses included preservation of open space, public transportation, and road
improvements. Following these inquiries, a detailed 25-question survey was conducted from

Community Survey

Participation

1,131 responses

16% - Genoa Township
10% - Brighton Township
10% - Hamburg Township
9% - Oceola Township
8% - City of Howell

8% - Marion Township
7% - Howell Township
6% - Hartland Township
6% - City of Brighton

4% - Green Oak Township
3% - Putnam Township
2% - Cohoctah Township
2% - Tyrone Township
2% - Handy Township
2% - losco Township

1% - Deerfield Township
1% - Unadilla Township
1% - Conway Township
1% - Village of Fowlerville
1% - Village of Pinckney
1% - Other

January 1, 2024 to March 8, 2024, garnering a total
of 1,139 responses. Hard copies were available at
the Livingston County Administration building and
the Howell Carnegie Library.

The Planning Department also organized two
Master Planning workshops. These sessions began
with a presentation that outlined the master
planning process and shared preliminary survey
results. Each table was provided with a map
segment of the county, and participants were asked
to describe various land uses in those areas. The
aim was to identify land use strengths, weaknesses,
opportunities, and threats. The comments collected
during the workshops were compiled into an
interactive map, which was made accessible on the
project website. The two master plan workshops
had approximately 60 attendees each. The
attendees consisted of approximately half elected/
appointed officials and the remaining half were
members of the public. Workshop representation
consisted of Genoa Township (31), Marion
Township (12), Oceola Township (11), Hartland
Township (7) and Howell Townships (7). Whereas
there was little to no participation from Cohoctah
Township (1), Conway Township (1), Green Oak
Township (0) and Unadilla Township (0). To ensure
that feedback was available to individuals who
could not attend the workshops, an interactive map

was also provided on the project website. Participants identified locations and added comments
regarding land use, either positive or negative, for geographic points.

The results from our public participation efforts can be accessed at the Livingston County Master

Planning Website as well as in the appendix of this plan.

2
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Additionally, we held a photo contest to
enrich our master plan with beautiful visuals
and illustrate examples of different land uses.
Participants that submitted photos could add
captions to describe how that location made
them feel or affected their lives. The top ten
photos were then posted on social media so
users could vote on them via social media
reactions. The photos received over 500
reactions and allowed us to select the top
three photos and award the photographers
for their active participation.

The Livingston County Planning Department

also developed GIS Story maps that

consolidated public input onto the project

website for the duration of the master planning process. The story map was consistently updated
to ensure that the public had access to the project website and information.

Lastly, once the plan was drafted, the Planning Department distributed a copy to all of the county’s
municipalities and neighboring communities for a 63-day review period. All comments and input
from this period was received and is also incorporated into the content of this plan.

What We Heard

The results of our public participation efforts are embedded in this plan with each coinciding
section under “Feedback”. For example, any feedback we received regarding economic
development has been placed in the Economy section, under “Feedback” and above the goals.

The Livingston County Planning Department also utilized the input from the public participation
sections to construct the plan’s main focus areas, which are:

People

Economy

Education Natural Resources & Recreation

Agriculture Health & Wellness

Housing Transportation

Emergency Management & Hazard

Infrastructure Mitigation
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Plan Organization

This Master Plan is organized into a series of thematic chapters, each of which highlight existing
conditions, key challenges, current trends, public input, and future goals. By structuring the plan in
this way, Livingston County aims to provide a comprehensive framework that local municipalities
can reference when shaping their own plans, ordinances, and policy decisions. The chapters are
organized as follows:

e People: Examines demographic trends, population growth, and community identity.
This section highlights shifts in age, household composition, and cultural characteristics,
while reflecting resident perspectives on community strengths and future needs.

e Economy: Analyzes the economic landscape of Livingston County, including
employment sectors, business development, and workforce trends. This section also
addresses public feedback regarding local business development and regional
competitiveness.

e Education: Explores educational attainment, school district attendance, and
partnerships with higher education institutions. It also considers how education
supports workforce development and community vitality.

e Natural Resources & Recreation: Documents the county’s abundant natural assets and
emphasizes strategies for conservation, stewardship, and recreational access. Resident
concerns about protecting open space and expanding recreational opportunities are
integrated into this section.

e Agriculture: Reviews the role of agriculture in Livingston County's economy and
landscape, including farmland preservation, agribusiness, and land use pressures.
Public priorities such as farmland protection and support for local food systems are
incorporated.

e Health & Wellness: Focuses on the physical, mental, and social well-being of residents.
This section examines access to healthcare services, public health trends, and
community initiatives that promote wellness, including safe and healthy built
environments.

e Housing: Provides an overview of housing stock, affordability, and availability across the
county. It also evaluates future housing needs, including diverse housing options for
seniors, young families, and low-income households.

e Transportation: Addresses the county’s transportation network, including roads, public
transit, trails, and non-motorized pathways. This section reflects public interest in road
improvements and enhanced transportation options.

e Infrastructure: Reviews essential systems that support growth such as water, sewer,
broadband, and energy.

e Emergency Management & Hazard Mitigation: Identifies risks and vulnerabilities
associated with natural and manmade hazards. This section outlines the importance of
preparedness strategies and coordination mechanisms to ensure the safety and
resilience of Livingston County Communities.
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Each chapter concludes with a set of goals and strategies that synthesize research, public
feedback, and best practices. By embedding community voices and measurable objectives
throughout, this Master Plan ensures that Livingston County remains responsive to its residents
while providing a coordinate framework for the future.

The plan concludes with two countywide land use components:

e Existing Land Use: This section includes detailed maps and data illustrating existing land
use patterns across Livingston County by identifying residential, commercial, industrial,
agricultural, and public land uses. The Existing Land Use map provides a foundation for
understanding current development trends and serves as a baseline for future planning
decisions

e Future Land Use: This section outlines the county’s vision for growth and preservation.
The Future Land Use Map provides guidance for how land is expected to be developed
or conserved over time. Designations balance the need for economic development,
housing, and infrastructure with the protection of agricultural lands, open spaces, and
natural resources. Together, these maps and policies offer a long-term framework that
communities can adapt to meet local needs while aligning with countywide goals.

Introduction Master Planning Process

Natural
Demographics Economy Education Resources & Agriculture
Recreation

Emergency
Management &
Hazard
Mitigation

Health & Housing Transportation Infrastructure

Wellness

Existing Land Use

Future Land Use
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Chapter Layout

Each of the plan’s chapters follows a consistent format to ensure clarity, accessibility, and ease of
comparison across themes. The structure of each chapter is as follows:

Snapshot: A quick overview highlighting key
facts, figures, and takeaways about the topic
area. The snapshot provides a concise

reference point for readers seeking a
high-level understanding  of  current
conditions.

Overview: A narrative introduction that sets
the context for the chapter. This section
explains why the topic is important to
Livingston County, outlines historical or
regional context, and describes how the issue
connects to broader planning goals.

Information & Data: A detailed presentation
of relevant data, maps, and analysis. This
section provides the factual foundation for
understanding current conditions and future
challenges. Where appropriate, comparisons
to regional, state, or national trends are
included.

Feedback: A summary of community input
collected through surveys, workshops, and
other engagement efforts that directly relates
to the topic. This ensures that public
perspectives are embedded throughout the
plan.

Snapshot

Chapter Layout:

Overview

Information & Data

Public
. . Current
Participation Trends
Feedback

Goals & Objectives

Current Trends: An analysis of emerging issues, opportunities, and policies that may shape the
county's future in this topic area. Trends were evaluated through a comprehensive approach that
included data analysis, public feedback, and general nationwide land use trends.

Goals & Objectives: A forward-looking section that sets the county’s priorities for the topic area.
Goals represent broad aspirations, while objectives identify specific strategies or actions that can
be implemented by the Livingston County Planning Department and Livingston County Planning

Commission.

2
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How to Use the Plan

The Livingston County Master Plan is a fully
web-based, interactive plan. At times, the
plan contains web-based links to resources
or best practices, and to be fully effective it
should be viewed and utilized digitally. This
format allows users to easily navigate
between chapters, access supplemental
resources, and explore interactive maps
and story maps that illustrate key data and
community feedback. The digital design
makes the plan adaptable and continually
updatable, ensuring that residents, local
officials, and partner organizations have
access to the most relevant information at
any time.

Audiences may use the plan in different ways:

Local governments can reference countywide goals, maps, and data to inform their
own master plans and zoning ordinances. While not binding, the plan provides a

regional perspective that helps communities coordinate across boundaries and align
on shared priorities such as infrastructure, natural resource protection, and housing.

County agencies and departments can use the plan to guide policy, investments,
and interdepartmental collaboration, particularly when addressing cross-sector issues
such as transportation, health, and economic development.

Community organizations and institutions can draw upon the data, maps, and goals
to support grant applications, programming, and advocacy.

Residents and business owners can use the plan to better understand how land use,
infrastructure, and community priorities may shape the county’s future. Interactive
elements, such as maps and photo documentation, help illustrate how feedback has
been incorporated and where opportunities for ongoing engagement exist.

Users are encouraged to return to the plan website periodically to explore updates, access new
resources, and track progress toward countywide goals.
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Livingston County: People

Snapshot

Livingston County is home to a dynamic and
steadily growing population, defined by a strong
sense of community and a high quality of life. As
demographic patterns evolve, the county’s
future is expected to be both older and more
geographically dispersed. These shifts bring
important opportunities to reimagine how
communities can support residents across all
stages of life. Planning, therefore, must
prioritize the facilitation and creation of
inclusive, aging-friendly communities, expand
housing options, and ensure that younger
generations can live, work, and thrive here.

This section explores the demographic changes
shaping Livingston County and the ways in
which thoughtful planning can support a
connected and resilient future for all residents.
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Population Growth

SEMCOG Projected
Fastest-Growing
Communities in

Livingston County
2020-2050:

Hartland Township
+42.79%

Green Oak Township
+35.98%

As the U.S. Census data in the Livingston County Population
Forecast 1900-2050 chart above indicates, Livingston County's
population remained relatively stable from 1900 to 1950, with
modest growth averaging about 2.6% per decade. A major
demographic shift occurred between 1960 and 1970, when the
population surged by 35%, marking the beginning of a period
of sustained and significant growth. From 1970 to 2020, the
county continued to expand each decade, with especially
strong growth of 41.2% between 1970 and 1980 and 26.1%
between 1990 and 2000. While the pace has since slowed, the
county still saw a 6.6% increase from 2010 to 2020. Over these
50 years, Livingston County averaged 6.9% growth per decade.
Looking ahead, the Southeast Michigan Council of
Governments (SEMCOG) 2050 Regional Development Forecast
(2050 RDF) projects that the county will continue this steady
upward trend. Additionally, the townships of Hartland, Green
Oak, Genoa, Brighton, Oceola, and Howell are expected to see
the most population growth throughout this period, while

Cohoctah Township, the Villages of Pinckney and Fowlerville, and the City of Howell are expected

to see the least.
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Livingston County Population Change 2005-2022

Components of Population

Average 2000-

Livingston County, Michigan: People

Average 2006-

Average 2011-

Average 2020-

Change 2005 2010 2018 2022
Natural Increase (Births - 1,247 603 352 -56
Deaths)
Births | 2,422 1,763 1,763 1,785

Deaths | 1,175 1,160 1,411 1,841
Net Migration (Movement In - 3,127 -173 897 1,533
Movement Out)
Population Change (Natural 4,374 430 1,249 1,477
Increase + Net Migration)

Source: Michigan Department of Community Health Vital Statistics, U.S. Census Bureau, and SEMCOG

The U.S. Census data in the Livingston County Population Change 2005-2022 table above highlights
the key drivers of population growth since 2000. These include births, deaths, and migration. The
difference between births and deaths is known as “natural increase,” while migration refers to
“net migration”-- or the balance between people moving into the county and those moving out.
Together, these components provide a clear picture of how and why the county’s population has
changed over time. As shown in the table, the natural population change in Livingston County
shifted notably between 2000 and 2018. The average number of births declined by 27.2%
between the 2000-2005 and 2006-2010 periods, then remained steady from 2011 to 2018. In
contrast, average deaths remained relatively stable between 2000 and 2010, but rose by 20.3%
between 2011 and 2018. Net migration fluctuated significantly over the same timeframe. From
2000 to 2005, the county gained an average of 3,127 residents annually. However, between 2006
and 2010, net migration dropped sharply, resulting in an average annual loss of approximately
173 individuals. Migration then rebounded between 2011 and 2018, with an average annual gain
of nearly 900 people. While the county experienced overall population growth between 2000 and
2018, the 2006-2010 period marked a significant slowdown compared to the periods before and
after it.

More recent data from 2020 to 2022 suggests a slight decline due to natural change, with an
average net decrease of 56 individuals annually. Births remained consistent with post-2006 levels,
but deaths rose nearly 30% between 2018 and 2022. Meanwhile, net migration nearly doubled
compared to the previous period, increasing from an average annual gain of 897 individuals
(2011-2018) to 1,533 between 2020 and 2022. Lastly, the overall population change observed
between 2020-2022 increased by an average of 1,477 individuals annually.
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Household Growth

Livingston County Population & Households 2010-2050

Population and Census Census Change Percent SEMCOG SEMCOG

Households 2010 2020 2010-2020 Change July 2022 2050
2010-2020

Group Quarters 1,152 1,415 263 22.80% 2,015 2,633

Population

Household Population 179,815 | 192,451 12,636 7.00% 194,805 235,504

Average Household Size 2.67 2.59 -0.08 - 2.57 2.56

As the U.S. Census data in the Livingston County Population & Households 2010-2050 table above
indicates, the number of households grew by 7% between 2010 and 2020. The Southeast Michigan
Council of Governments (SEMCOG) 2050 Regional Development Forecast (2050 RDF) projects that
the county’s household population will continue its steady growth through 2050, increasing by
19.3%—from 74,264 to 92,061 households. Although U.S. Census data shows that the total
number of housing units increased by 5,632 units (7.7%) during the same period, average
household size declined by 2.10%, from 2.67 persons per household in 2010 to 2.59 in 2020.

Livingston County’'s number
of households is projected
to grow faster than any
other county in Southeast
Michigan by 2050.

Livingston County
+24.0%

Washtenaw County
+14.8%
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Types of Households

Livingston County Household Types 2010-2050

Household Types Census 2010 ACS 2021 Change Percent SEMCOG
2010- 2021 Change 2010- 2050

With Seniors 65+ 15,127 24,617 8,166 62.70% 38,742
Without Seniors 52,253 50,224 -2,029 -3.90% 53,319
Live Alone, 65+ 4,877 7,723 2,846 58.40% -

Live Alone, <65 8,699 8,998 299 3.40% -

2+ Persons, With Children 24,182 21,912 -2,270 -9.40% 25,491
2+ Persons, Without Children 29,622 36,208 6,586 22.20% 43,793
Total Households 67,380 73,924 7,461 11.10% 92,061

The US Census data in the Livingston County Household Types 2010-2050 table above provides
figures that characterize Livingston County household composition between the two most recent
census periods, 2010 and 2020, as well as forecasts from the Southeast Michigan Council of
Governments (SEMCOG). Between 2010 and 2022, the number of households with seniors
(individuals aged 65 and older) increased by 8,166- a 62.7% rise over the period. By 2022, senior
households made up 32.8% of all households in the county. According to SEMCOG projections,
this figure is expected to reach 38,742 households by 2050, comprising 42.1% of the county’s total
households. Seniors living alone also increased by 58.4% between 2010 and 2022. In comparison,
households without seniors decreased by 2,029 persons-- a 3.9% decrease between 2010 and
2022. Households without seniors in 2022 represented 67.2% of all households in the county.
SEMCOG forecasts this household type to be 53,319 persons in 2050, which would represent
57.9% of all households at that time. Households without a senior present and who lived alone
grew a modest 3.4% between 2010 and 2022. Households consisting of two or more persons, with
children present, decreased by 9.4% between 2010 and 2022. These households represented
29.3% of all households in the county. By 2050, SEMCOG forecasts this household type to
represent 27.7% of all households. Conversely, two-person-plus households increased by 6,586
households - a 22.2% increase. These households accounted for 48.4% of all households in the
county in 2022. SEMCOG forecasts this household type to be 43,793 households, which will
represent 47.5% of all households in the county in 2050.
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Population by Age

Livingston County Population by Age 2010-2022

Age Cohort Census 2000  Census 2010 % Chg 2000-  ACS 2022 % Chg 2010-
2010 2022

Under 5 11,305 9,924 -12.20 9,455 -4.73
5-9 12,816 12,746 -0.55 11,181 -12.30
10-19 24,755 27,902 12.70 23,961 -14.1
20-29 14,603 16,862 15.50 21,945 30.10
30-39 26,642 20,373 -23.50 22,892 12.40
40-49 28,545 31,275 9.56 23,164 -29.50
50-59 19,675 29,487 49.90 30,419 3.20
60-69 9,537 18,704 96.10 27,769 48.50
70-79 6,060 8,554 41.20 16,178 41.10
80+ 3,013 5,140 70.60 7,338 42.80
Total Population 156,951 180,967 15.30 194,302 7.40

The U.S. Census data in the Livingston County Population by Age
2010-2022 table above highlights notable age cohort shifts
from 2000 to 2022. The county saw declines among its
youngest age groups, with the “Under 5" and “5 to 9" cohorts

shrinking steadily, while “10 to 19" rose 12.7% from 2000 to
2010 before falling 14.1% by 2022. 44 .4 Years

Livingston County
Median Age:

In contrast, older populations grew significantly. The “60 to 69”
cohort nearly doubled from 2000 to 2010 and grew another 10% higher than
48.5% by 2022. The “70 to 79" and “80+" groups also rose Michigan average (40.1)
steadily, each increasing by over 40% between 2010 and 2022.
15% higher than United
Overall, Livingston County’s population grew 15.3% from 2000 States average (38.5)
to 2010, then slowed to 7.4% growth between 2010 and 2022.
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Population by Race

Livingston County Population by Race 2010-2020

Race and Census 2010 % of Population Census 2020 % of Population % Chg 2010-
Hispanic Origin 2010 2020 2020
Non-Hispanic 177,507 98.10% 188,363 97.20% -0.90%
White 172,513 95.30% 176,756 91.20% -4.20%
Black 776 0.40% 1.117 0.60% 0.10%
Asian 1,412 0.80% 1,626 0.80% 0.10%
Multi-Racial 1,978 1.10% 7,672 4.0% 2.90%
Other 828 0.50% 1,192 0.60% 0.20%
Hispanic 3,460 1.90% 5,503 2.80% 0.90%
Total 180,967 100% 193,866 100% 0%

The Livingston County Population by Race 2010-2020 table above represents the changes in

Livingston County's racial demographics over the last decade. In 2020, Livingston County's

population was overwhelmingly non-Hispanic White, comprising 91.2% of the total population. The
remainder of the non-Hispanic population included
individuals identifying as multiracial (4.0%), Asian
(0.8%), Black or African American (0.6%), and Other
races (0.6%). Residents of Hispanic or Latino origin
made up 2.8% of the county's population. Between
2010 and 2020, the percentage of the county's
population composed of multi-racial origin increased
throughout the decade, accounting for 1.1% of the
population in 2010, but increasing nearly fourfold,
accounting for 4.0% in 2020. Also, during the same
decade, the Hispanic composition of the county’s
population increased from 1.9% in 2010 to 2.8% in
2020. In contrast, the proportions of both White and
Black residents declined slightly, while the percentage
of Asian residents remained relatively stable
throughout the decade.
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Population by Sex

Population by Community

While the area’s growth is consistent, certain regions of the
county are experiencing more fast-paced growth than
others. Population growth in the southeast quadrant of the
county (Green Oak Township, Hamburg Township,
Brighton Charter Township, Genoa Charter Township, and
the City of Brighton) has slowed since 2010, and has been
surpassed for the first time by population growth in the
northeast quadrant (Tyrone Township, Deerfield Township,
Oceola Township, and Hartland Township). The northeast
quadrant grew by 5,242 people, with Oceola Township
leading the way with a 22.5% growth (2,687 new residents).
Some Livingston County communities experienced a
decrease in population between 2020 and 2010, including
Cohoctah, Deerfield, Putnam, and Unadilla Townships,
alongside the Village of Pinckney. Among Livingston
County’s cities and villages, the City of Howell showed the
most growth (579 new residents). Each jurisdiction’s
population growth is detailed on the following pages in the
Livingston County Population by Community 2010-2020 table

and the Livingston County Population Change 2010-2020 map.

According to the U.S. Census Bureau's
2023 American Community Survey
(ACS) 1-Year Estimates seen in the
Livingston County Population by Sex
chart at left, Livingston County has a
nearly balanced gender distribution,
with approximately 50.4% male and
49.6% female residents. This slight
male majority is somewhat atypical,
as national trends often show a
marginally higher female population.

Livingston County Fastest
Growing Communities
2010-2020:

Oceola Township
+22.5%

Tyrone Township
+19.6%
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Livingston County Population by Community 2010-2020

Townships
Brighton 17,791 19,144 1,353 7.6%
Cohoctah 3,317 3,246 -71 -2.1%
Conway 3,546 3,608 62 1.7%
Deerfield 4,170 4,166 -4 -0.1%
Genoa 19,821 20,692 871 4.4%
Green Oak 17,476 19,539 2,063 11.8%
Hamburg 21,165 21,259 94 0.4%
Handy 5,120 5,651 531 10.4%
Hartland 14,663 15,256 593 4.0%
Howell 6,702 7,893 1,191 17.8%
losco 3,801 3,870 69 1.8%
Marion 9,996 11,245 1,249 12.5%
Oceola 11,936 14,623 2,687 22.5%
Putnam 5,821 5,475 -346 -5.9%
Tyrone 10,020 11,986 1,966 19.6%
Unadilla 3,366 3,333 -33 -1.0%
Brighton 7,444 7,446 2 0.0%
Howell 9,489 10,068 579 6.1%
Fowlerville 2,886 2,951 65 2.3%
Pinckney 2,426 2,415 -12 -0.5%
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Demographics: Feedback & Current Trends

— Feedback ———— — CurrentTrends ——

Aging in Community

Communities are adopting age-friendly policies
that support older adults in remaining in their
homes and neighborhoods as they age.

Demand for Versatile Housing Types

To accommodate smaller households,
single-person dwellers, and multi-generational
families, communities are embracing more
flexible housing forms, such as accessory
dwelling units and smaller single-family
ranches.

Intergenerational Planning

: : Planners are working to design neighborhoods
: : that are inclusive for all ages, where young
families, seniors, and individuals can live near
ooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooo each Other and Share resources SUCh as
childcare, parks, and healthcare.

Community Identity & Placemaking

In response to population shifts, many
communities are investing in placemaking
strategies that reinforce local history and

identity and retain both long-term and new
residents.

93




Livingston County, Michigan: People

People: Goals & Objectives

Goal #1: Foster Age-Inclusive Communities

Provide guidance and data to local governments that

encourage planning for residents across all life stages.

Objective: Share model ordinances and best practices for
accessible, age-friendly housing types (e.g., ranch homes,
ADUs, senior living) near town centers and services.

Objective: Work with transportation agencies and local

jurisdictions to identify priority areas for pedestrian
transit and accessible public space improvements.

Goal #2: Retain and Attract Younger
Generations

Advise communities on land use and zoning strategies

that create career-supportive environments and
attainable housing opportunities.

Objective: Provide technical assistance to local
governments on zoning updates that allow for starter
homes, diverse rental options, and mixed-use
development near employment and educational services.

Objective: Promote intergovernmental coordination to
plan mixed-use nodes with public amenities and
transportation access.
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Demographics: Goals & Objectives

Goal #3: Plan for Balanced Growth and
Infrastructure Alignment

Support township and municipal planning efforts to

coordinate growth with infrastructure capacity and
service availability.

Objective: Maintain and share updated infrastructure
maps and growth trend data to inform local master plan
updates and development.

Objective: Recommend growth management tools to help

communities align growth with available utilities,
transportation, and broadband.

Goal #4: Shape Identity Through
Placemaking

Provide planning resources and technical guidance to

help communities enhance public spaces and sense of
place.

Objective: Compile and share case studies for historic
preservation projects.

Objective: Offer guidance and planning assistance for
downtown improvements, parks, and civic spaces that
promote community gathering.
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Livingston County: Economy

Snapshot

Livingston County has an established reputation
as one of the fastest-growing counties in
Michigan. In recent decades, Livingston County's
economy has steadily expanded as the number
of payroll jobs has grown alongside population
growth. The county’s unemployment rate is also
among the lowest in the state. This success has
persisted  despite  significant  economic
turbulence, which has disrupted job markets,
strained businesses, and reshaped regional
economies across Michigan. The continued
strength of Livingston County throughout these
periods of uncertainty is a testament to the
desirability of living and working in the area.

This section explores the county’s economic
landscape and employment trends with the
intent of highlighting the ways in which planning
efforts can help sustain economic resilience.
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Annual Income by Number of Households

Source: U.S. Census Bureau, 2017-2021 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates

The US Census data in the Livingston County Annual Income by Number of Households chart above
shows the annual income by household for Livingston County residents between 2017 and 2021.
As the data in the table shows, the majority of county households (10,956) fall into the
$75,000-$99,999 income range. The next three highest earning household groups fall into the
$150,000-$199,999 range (8,941 households), the $100,000-$124,999 range (8,797 households),
and the over $200,000 range (8,165 households). Overall, 74.7% of households during this period
made more than $50,000 annually.
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Household Income

Livingston County Household Income 2010-2023

Income (in 2021 dollars) American American Change 2010- Percent Change
Community Community 2023 2010- 2023
Survey 2010 Survey 2023

Median Household Income $89,632 $101,315 ($724) -0.80%

Per Capita Income $39,279 $47,298 $4,086 10.40%

Source: U.S. Census Bureau, 2006-2010 and 2017-2021 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates

o . The data in the Livingston County Household
Livingston County Median

Income 2010-2023 table above compares the
Household Income (2023): . .

median household income level and the per

$’I O'] 3'] 5 capita income levels of the State of Michigan and
! Livingston County households for the periods

Highest Median Household Income in 2010 and 2023. According to the 2010 American

Michigan (2023) Community Survey data, the median household
income in Livingston County was $51,276. This
was about 1.3 times the median household
income in Michigan at the time. While not shown
in the table, the 2010 median household income
#2: Oakland County ($95,296) in the United States was $50,046. The 2023
American Community Survey data showed that
the median household income in Livingston
County was $101,315. This was about 1.5 times
the median household income for Michigan as a

#1: Livingston County ($101,315)

United States Median Household whole. Although not shown in the table, the
Income (2023): median household income in the United States in

2023 was $77,719. Livingston County's 2023

$80,61 O median household income level placed it as the

wealthiest county in the State of Michigan. The
table also shows that in both 2010 and 2023,
Livingston County's per capita income levels were
well above that of the state as a whole.

Michigan Median Household Income
(2023):

$69,200
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Poverty

Livingston County Poverty 2010-2021

American Percent of American Percent of Percent Point
Community Total (2010) Community Total (2021) Change 2010-
Survey 2010 Survey 2021 2021
Persons in Poverty 11,158 6.20% 9,752 5.10% -1.10%
Households in Poverty 4,009 5.90% 3,456 4.70% -1.30%

Source: U.S. Census Bureau, 2006-2010 and 2017-2021 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates

Poverty level data for Livingston County is
provided in the Livingston County Poverty
2070-2021 table above. The data shows that in
2010, approximately 6.2% of the county's
population was considered living in poverty. This
figure represented 4,009 households in the
county (5.9% of the total) at that time. In 2023, the
percentage of the county's population considered
living in poverty had decreased to 5.1%,
representing a reduction to 3,456 households in
the county (4.7%) at that time. This marks not
only a continued downward trend in local poverty
rates, but also positions Livingston County as
having the lowest poverty rate of any county in
Michigan.

Livingston County falls below state
and national poverty rates (2023).

Livingston County

9.0%

Michigan
13.5%

Livingston County has the lowest
poverty rate in the state of Michigan
(2023).

Livingston County
9.0%

Leelanau County
12.4%
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ALICE in Livingston County (Asset Limited, Income Constrained, Employed)

ALICE is an acronym for Asset Limited, Income Constrained, Employed- and is an important metric
for assessing the number of households that make more than the Federal Poverty Level but less
than the basic cost of living for a region. People or households who are considered ALICE work
and earn money, however, they struggle to afford the rising costs of basic life necessities (i.e.,
housing, child care, food, transportation, health care, technology, etc.).

In Michigan, 1 in 4 households earn above the poverty line but not enough to cover the basics,
meaning approximately a quarter of the state’s population is considered ALICE. This statistic is
growing, as from 2019 to 2023, the population of ALICE households in Michigan grew by over
100,000.

While Livingston County's median household income ($101,315) falls far above the statewide
median household income ($69,200), many Livingston County households struggle to be able to
afford basic necessities due to the high cost of living. Approximately 21% (16,233) of Livingston
County’s households are categorized as living under the ALICE Threshold. This includes many
people who work in the local service industry who cannot adequately finance their everyday lives.
With increased pricing on many commodities, family budgets are increasingly stretched, and
households are often pushed to choose which necessities to buy and which to forego. The
Livingston County Percentages of ALICE Households 2010-2023 chart below shows how the
proportions of ALICE households within the county have shifted over time.

Source: ALICE Threshold, 2022; American Community Survey, 2023
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Median Income by Sex

Source: U.S. Census Bureau, 2017-2021 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates

Livingston County
Median Income
(2023):

Male: $61,385

Female: $34,665

Median income levels in Livingston County have increased
over the past decade for both male and female residents as
presented in the Livingston County Income by Sex 2010-2023
chart above. According to the U.S. Census Bureau's
2010-2023 American Community Survey, in 2023, the
estimated median income for males was $61,385,
compared to $34,665 for females. This represents a gradual
rise from 2011 levels, when median income was $44,945 for
males and $23,361 for females. In 2023, the Michigan
median income was $30,046 for females and $46,155 for
males. On average, females in Livingston County earn 45%
less than males, compared to the state average of females
earning 34% less than males. These estimates are based on
individual income and do not account for household
composition, occupation, hours worked, or educational
attainment. Nonetheless, the data offer a general snapshot
of income trends and can support discussions around
workforce development, economic equity, and access to
opportunity within the county.
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Median Income by Race

Source: U.S. Census Bureau, 2017-2021 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates

As presented in the Livingston County Median Income by Race 2011-2023 chart above, income
levels vary across racial and ethnic groups in Livingston County. Based on data from the
U.S. Census Bureau’'s American Community Survey, median household incomes in 2023
were estimated at $101,345 for white residents, $111,389 for Asian residents, $91,886 for
Hispanic/Latinx residents, and $77,879 for Black residents. Data for some groups, such as
Native Hawaiian and Pacific Islander residents, are not available in all years due to small
sample sizes.

Given Livingston County’'s demographic composition, estimates for smaller population
groups may fluctuate from year to year and should be interpreted with caution. In some
cases, the data are suppressed when sample sizes are insufficient to ensure reliability.
These figures are included to provide a general understanding of income variation and can
inform future planning considerations related to housing, workforce development, and
access to services.
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Southeast Michigan Council of Governments (SEMCOG) 2026 Comprehensive Economic
Development Strategy (CEDS)

As Livingston County is a Southeast Michigan Council of Governments (SEMCOG) member, it also
shares the vision, goals, and objectives established in its Comprehensive Economic Development
Strategy (CEDS). The CEDS is a set of objectives updated every five years centered on a collective
vision for the region’s economic growth. The current CEDS, entitled “Increasing Shared Prosperity
for a Resilient Economy: Comprehensive Economic Development Strategy for Southeast Michigan,”
was adopted in March of 2021 and provides a roadmap for addressing and adapting to regional
economic issues.

To further support economic development in the
region, SEMCOG was designated as an Economic
Development District (EDD) by the U.S. Economic
Development Administration (EDA) in 2023,
joining over 400 EDDs across the nation that are
focused on economic development planning and
project implementation that aligns with their
region’s CEDS. As part of that designation,
SEMCOG formed its new Economic Development
Council (EDC) in early 2024 to oversee and
facilitate the development, maintenance, and
implementation of the CEDS.

According to SEMCOG, the Council membership features a broad representation of economic
interests of the region, including county and local government representatives, economic
development agencies, educational institutions, workforce development agencies, labor
organizations, employers, and other private-sector stakeholders and community-based
organizations. SEMCOG's designation as an Economic Development District also aids in making
our region more competitive for EDA funding (as having an EDA-approved CEDS is a prerequisite
for applying for EDA grant programs).

Livingston County’s location in Southeast Michigan offers a wide variety of assets from which to
leverage economic development. These include:

e Quality-of-life amenities such as the Great Lakes and natural areas that support
recreational and cultural destinations

Historic downtowns, dynamic urban centers, and diverse neighborhoods

Accessible mobility options for people and goods

High-quality universities, colleges, and local school systems

First-class medical facilities and healthcare choices
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To protect these assets, SEMCOG has developed three pillars of economic development to serve
as the backbone of the new and updated CEDS. These pillars are place, talent, and business. The
descriptions for each are detailed below:
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Unemployment Rate

Livingston County has
the lowest
unemployment rate in
Michigan (March 2025).

Livingston County
3.8%

Michigan
5.5%

The unemployment rate measures the percentage of workers
who do not have a job and are looking for work. Generally, an
unemployment rate of 4% or lower indicates an economy at
full employment, meaning everyone who wants a job is
actively employed. At the full-employment stage, those
without a job are usually transitioning between jobs or have
recently entered the job force and have begun searching for
employment. Low unemployment rates can improve wage
growth and encourage new residents in search of job
opportunities to move to our region. The Livingston County
Unemployment Rate 1990-2025 chart below shows the
progression of Livingston County's unemployment from 1990
to 2003. Rates have fluctuated over this 35-year period, with
significant spikes during economic downturns. The highest
unemployment rates occurred during the Great Recession in
2009, reaching 12.8% in June, and again in 2020 when the
COVID-19 pandemic disrupted the global economy. In April

2020, the unemployment rate surged to an unprecedented 21.4%. Despite this sharp spike, the
county rebounded quickly in the following years. By April 223, unemployment fell to just 1.9%- the
lowest level recorded in over two decades- indicating a return to full employment. Although the
rate has edged up slightly in 2024 and early 2025, current levels remain within healthy bounds and
reflective of a resilient local economy.

Source: U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics, Unemployment Rate in Livingston County
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Total Wage and Salary Jobs and Annual Percent Change

Source: SEMCOG Socio-Economic Indicators, Livingston County Total Wage and Salary Jobs and
Annual Percent Change, 2004-2023

The Livingston County Total Wage and Salary Jobs and Annual Percent Change (SEMCOG) 2004-2023
chart above tracks the number of jobs paid through wages or salaries, including both part-time
and full-time employment. These figures are based on data from state and federal unemployment
insurance programs and include all workers receiving pay during the 12th of each month-
covering those on sick leave, paid holidays, and vacations. Growth in the number of wage and
salary jobs signals an expanding economy, providing more employment opportunities and
strengthening the region’s economic foundation.

After sharp job losses during the Great Recession and a major decline of 9.36% in 2020 due to the
COVID-19 pandemic, Livingston County has experienced steady recovery. Total wage and salary
jobs increased by 1.3% in 2023, adding nearly 29,000 jobs compared to the previous year.
However, the total number of jobs in 2023 (2,148,720) still falls short of pre-pandemic levels-
nearly 30,000 fewer than in 2019, when employment peaked at 2,177,717.
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5

Forecasted Jobs

Source: SEMCOG 2050 Regional Development Forecast

The data from the Southeast Michigan Council of
Governments (SEMCOG) in the Livingston County
Forecasted Jobs 2019-2050 chart above represents the
forecasted trend for the number of jobs in the county
through 2050. The graph indicates that the forecasted
number of jobs in the county should stay relatively stable
between 2025 and 2050. Throughout this period, the
number of jobs is forecasted to increase by 8.1%. While
this suggests modest growth compared to earlier
decades, it suggests a maturing local economy with
slower but steady expansion. This stability may indicate a
sustained demand for local labor, and reinforces the
importance of workforce development to ensure that the
county is able to meet the evolving needs of both
employers and residents.
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Forecasted Jobs by Industry Sector

Data in the Livingston County Forecasted Jobs by Industry
Sector 2020-2050 table on the following page indicates that Jobs by 2050:
overall employment in Livingston County is expected to
grow steadily over the next three decades. Between 2020 +22 433
and 2050, the total number of jobs in the county is !
forecast to increase by 22,433, rising from 86,166 jobs in
2020 to 108,599 jobs in 2050 — a 26.0% increase.

Out of the thirteen industry sectors, two of the historically larger employment sectors are forecast
to decline over the 30-year period. Manufacturing employment is expected to peak in 2030 at
11,466 jobs before steadily declining each five-year period, reaching 9,642 jobs by 2050. This
represents an overall decline of 8.1% from the 2019 baseline. Additionally, Retail Trade is forecast
to follow a similar trend, increasing slightly through 2025 (to 11,273 jobs), but then steadily
declining to 9,637 jobs by 2050 — a total decrease of 13.3% from 2019.

In contrast, several sectors are forecast to see significant growth. Information & Financial Activities,
already the largest employment sector in 2019, is expected to remain in that position through
2050, growing by 15.8% to reach 14,159 jobs. Healthcare Services is also forecast to grow by 26.6%,
adding more than 2,600 jobs, and will become the second-largest sector by 2050 with 12,509 jobs.
Leisure & Hospitality is expected to grow by 23.7%, adding over 4,300 jobs and becoming the
third-largest sector by 2050. Additionally, Professional & Technical Services is forecast to grow by
24.5%, adding over 3,200 jobs over the 30-year period.

Other notable growth areas include Natural Resources, Mining, & Construction (+41.1%),
Transportation & Warehousing (+32.8%), and Administrative, Support, & Waste Services (+54.1%).

Fastest-Growing Sectors 2020-2050:

Administrative, Support, & Waste Services
(+54.1%)
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Livingston County Forecasted Jobs By Industry Sector 2020-2050

Numbers

Percent
Change Change
2019- 2019-
2020 2025 2030 2050 2050
Natural Resources 7,583 10,400 | 10,854 | 11,030 | 10,876 | 10,770 | 10,700 3117 41.1%
Mining, &
Construction
Manufacturing 9,830 11,400 | 11,466 | 11,085 10,438 9,939 9,642 -188 -1.9%
Wholesale Trade 3,046 3,297 3,464 3,564 3,546 3,522 3,505 459 15.1%
Retail Trade 10,543 | 11,273 | 11,138 | 10,775 | 10,410 | 10,040 9,637 -906 -8.6%
Transportation, 2,544 3,009 3,156 3,233 3,279 3,326 3,379 835 32.8%
Warehousing, &
Utilities
Information & 10,934 | 12,096 | 12,707 | 13,217 | 13,578 | 13,883 | 14,159 3,225 29.5%
Financial Activities
Professional and 8,188 9,391 9,953 10,403 | 10,732 | 11,055 | 11,409 3,221 39.3%
Technical Services &
Corporate HQ
Administrative 3,403 3,930 4,249 4,547 4,777 5,004 5,244 1,841 54.1%
Support, & Waste
Services
Education Services 4,440 4,882 5,104 5,279 5,354 5,382 5,383 943 21.2
Healthcare Services 8,919 10,119 | 10,832 | 11,390 | 11,772 | 12,125 | 12,509 3,590 40.3%
Leisure & Hospitality 8,137 10,966 | 11,852 | 12,280 | 12,474 | 12,515 | 12,452 4,315 53.0%
Other Services 5,501 6,3223 6,641 6,843 6,922 6,953 6,593 1,092 19.9%
Public Administration | 3,099 3,370 3,496 3,611 3,648 3,647 3,627 528 17.0
Total Employment
86,166 | 100,456 | 104,914 | 107,257 | 107,806 | 108,161 | 108,599 | 22,433 26.0
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Business Applications and Annual Percent Change

Source: SEMCOG Socio-Economic Indicators, Livingston County Business Applications and Annual
Percent Change 2004-2023

The Livingston County Business Applications and Annual Percent Change (SEMCOG) 2004-2023 chart
above shows the annual number of new business applications and how that number has changed
year-to-year. This measure, provided by the Census Bureau, estimates the annual number of
applications for an Employer Identification Number (EIN), which are early indicators of new
business activity. While this metric does not capture whether these businesses are formally
established or remain in operation long term, it serves as a useful proxy for gauging
entrepreneurial activity and economic dynamism within the region.

Business applications grew by 6.6% in 2023 after a brief decline by 12% in 2022. The elevated
number of filings in 2023 suggests that entrepreneurial interest remains strong across the county.
Nearly 91,000 business applications were submitted in 2023, up significantly from around 59,000
in 2019. This highlights a post-pandemic resurgence in business momentum and a continued
appetite for self-employment in Livingston County.
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Gross Domestic Product (GDP)

Source: U.S. Bureau of Economic Analysis, Gross Domestic Product by County and Metropolitan
Area, 2023, Livingston County

Gross Domestic Product (GDP) is an economic measure
that calculates the total monetary value of all goods and
services produced within a jurisdiction in one year.
According to the U.S. Bureau of Economic Analysis,
Livingston County’s GDP has steadily increased over the
past two decades, increasing from approximately $5.4
billion in 2001 to over $7.75 billion in 2023. This long-term
growth is presented in the Livingston County Annual Gross
Domestic Product (GDP) 2001-2023 chart above and reflects
the county's economic resilience, despite periodic
downturns. Notably, after a dip to $5.6 billion in 2008 and
$6.97 billion in 2020, the county’s economy strongly
rebounded, reaching new highs by 2023. Livingston
County’'s sustained GDP growth highlights its expanding
economic base as well as the growing value of goods and
services produced locally.
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Southeast Michigan Office Vacancy Rate

The office vacancy rate measures the percentage of
unoccupied office space across Southeast Michigan,
encompassing all property classes. As remote and hybrid
work arrangements have become more common,
tracking office vacancy provides insight into how shifting
workplace dynamics are shaping regional real estate
demand.

The Southeast Michigan Office Vacancy Rates 2019-2024

chart below shows that in 2019, the office vacancy rate

stood around 9%. However, following the onset of the

COVID-19 pandemic, it rose sharply, reaching a peak of

12% in 2023. The sudden shift to remote work led many

employers to downsize, restructure, or entirely vacate

traditional office spaces. While the increase in office vacancy has since slowed, levels remain
elevated, hovering around 13% as of the most recent data. This sustained trend reflects a broader
reconfiguration of office space utilization across the region and poses important questions about
future commercial real estate development and land use planning.

Source: SEMCOG Southeast Michigan Office Vacancy Rates, 2019-2024
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Southeast Michigan Industrial Vacancy Rate

The industrial vacancy rate measures the percentage of unoccupied industrial spaces in Southeast
Michigan from 2019 to 2023. This encapsulates all industrial property uses (i.e., manufacturing,
warehousing and distribution, research and development, and flex spaces). Industrial buildings
are crucial to Southeast Michigan’s advanced manufacturing economy as they provide the
necessary space for our region to manufacture, transport, and develop future goods.

The Southeast Michigan Industrial Vacancy Rate 2019-2024 chart below presents the region’s
vacancy rate since 2019. In July 2019, the industrial vacancy rate stood at 3.4%, remaining steady
through the end of that year. Entering 2020, the rate briefly dipped to 2.6% in January, but rose
sharply to 4.4% by October 2020, as the early months of the COVID-19 pandemic disrupted
industrial production. Vacancy rates peaked at 4.7% in early 2021, then gradually declined through
2022, stabilizing at 3.9% by October of that year. In 2023, vacancy rates remained relatively low,
hovering between 3.7% and 4.0%, signaling continued strength in industrial demand. However, by
mid-2024, the vacancy rate began to edge upward again, reaching 4.3% in July. This slight rise may
reflect a softening in demand or the addition of speculative space. Even so, industrial vacancy
remains below pre-pandemic averages.

Source: SEMCOG Southeast Michigan Industrial Vacancy Rates, 2019-2024
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Where Livingston County Residents Work

Source: Workforce Intelligence Network, Livingston Commuting Pattern Reports 2019

According to the Workforce Intelligence Network, in 2019, Livingston County's workforce consisted
of 83,942 residents. As seen in the Where Livingston County Residents Work (2019) chart above,
23,078 (27.5%) of the residents lived and worked within Livingston County, while the remaining
60,854 residents (72.5%) traveled outside of the county for work. Since 2017, the number of
residents that traveled outside of the county for work increased by 2,110 (3.6z5 individuals from
58,754 to 60,864.

Also, according to the Workforce Intelligence Network, Livingston County residents continued to
increase their commute distances slightly between 2017 and 2019. In 2017, 32,854 residents
(40.3% of the county’s workforce) traveled over 25 miles to their place of employment, while in
2019, 33,297 residents (39.7% of the county’'s workforce) traveled more than 25 miles. Oakland
County was the most popular destination outside of Livingston County for residents to find
employment. 18,764 residents (22.4% of the county’s workforce) traveled to Oakland County for
employment in 2019, followed by 13,462 residents (15.0% of the county's workforce that traveled
to Washtenaw County.
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Where Livingston County Workers Commute From

Source: American Community Survey 2021

Livingston County is a commuting community. According to the Workforce Intelligence Network, in
2019, 59,789 workers were employed in Livingston County. 36,711 (61.4%) of those workers were
employed in Livingston but lived outside of its borders. Of those that traveled to Livingston County
for work, 10,933 (29.8%) of the workers were 29 or younger. While Livingston County employers
attracted many young workers in 2019, 18,463 (50.3%) of in-commuting workers were between
the ages of 30 and 54. This indicates a desire for experienced workers in Livingston County.

As seen in the Where Livingston County Workers Commute From (2019) chart above, the majority of
workers that travel to Livingston reside in either Oakland or Wayne counties. 8,350 (14.0%) of
Livingston County workers travel in from Oakland County followed by 5,882 (9.8%) that travel in
from Wayne County. 24,057 (40.2%) of the 59,789 workers in Livingston County traveled more
than 25 miles to their place of employment in 2019.
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Economy: Feedback & Current Trends
— Feedback —— —— Current Trends

: Smart Growth in Small Towns

: Many communities are embracing compact,
walkable development patterns that direct
growth toward existing downtowns.

: Brick-and-Mortar Store Closures

The continued decline of traditional retail

: spaces, especially big-box and department

: stores, is reshaping commercial corridors and
prompting infill development.

: Community Events as Economic
Catalysts

. Festivals, markets, and seasonal events are
increasingly seen as low-cost, high-impact tools
for boosting foot traffic and strengthening

. community identity.

................................................. Continuation of Low Unemployment
: : and Poverty Rates

Livingston County is projected to maintain low
: : levels of unemployment and low poverty rates
: : in the coming years.

Post-Pandemic Entrepreneurship

: : A surge in small business startups, home-based
businesses, and remote work opportunities has
: : redefined local economies, especially in areas
................................................. W|th Strong broadband and ﬂexible Zoning.
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Economy: Goals & Objectives

Goal #1: Strengthen Downtowns and
Quality Places

Leverage small-town character and historic

downtowns to create attractive, walkable places that
attract residents, visitors, and businesses.

Objective: Support revitalization through facade
improvement guidance, encouragement of mixed-use zoning,
and adaptive reuse of vacant buildings.

Objective: Work to expand and connect trails that link
neighborhoods, parks, and downtowns to boost accessibility
and tourism.

Goal #2: Ensure Access to Core
Services and Amenities

Maintain strong access to healthcare, food,

education, shopping, and recreation to support
quality-of-life and workforce retention.

Objective: Encourage local master plans to locate housing
near key services and retail hubs.

Objective: Promote events, farmers markets, and recreational
programs as affordable economic drivers.
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Economy: Goals & Objectives

Goal #3: Support Small Businesses
and Entrepreneurship

Help local startups and small businesses
overcome barriers to growth and access new
markets.

Objective: Share step-by-step, township-specific
resource guides for local entrepreneurs looking to
begin the development process.

Goal #4: Attract and Retain Talent

Promote the county as a great place to live and

work by supporting the coexistence of attainable
housing and career opportunities.

Objective: Work with partners to highlight local job
opportunities and quality-of-life assets.

Objective: Encourage housing infrastructure that meets
the needs of young professionals, families, and older
residents.
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Livingston County: Education

Snapshot

Education plays a central role in shaping the
social and economic landscape of Livingston
County. The county spans fifteen different
public school districts that each form the
backbone of the county's educational system,
providing  crucial foundational learning
opportunities to our residents. The county also
benefits from proximity to several regional
colleges, technical schools, and workforce
development programs, all of which contribute
to local economic growth and talent retention.
These institutions strengthen the pipeline
between education and employment, enhance
local talent retention, and play a key role in
ensuring that residents can find meaningful
careers.
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Public School Districts

2023-2024 school district boundaries can be seen on the 2023-2024 School Districts Livingston
County, Michigan map on the following page. Public school districts that fall within Livingston
County’s jurisdiction include:

Brighton Area Schools

Byron Area Schools

Dexter Community School District
Fenton Area Public Schools
Fowlerville Community Schools
Hartland Consolidated Schools

Howell Public Schools

Private School Districts

There are also numerous private school systems within the county that provide families
alternatives to traditional public school education. Private school systems within Livingston County
include:

St. Joseph's School

Livingston Christian Schools

The Charyl Stockwell Academy
Shepherd of the Lakes Lutheran School
Cornerstone Christian School

St. Patrick School

Our Savior Evangelical Lutheran School
St. Mary Catholic School

Light of the World Academy

Holy Spirit Catholic School

Maple Tree Montessori Academy
Follow the Child Montessori School
Tri-Lakes Baptist Christian School
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Public School Enrollment by District

Livingston County’s public school districts are experiencing a universal decline in K-12 enrollment.
As seen in the Livingston County Demographic Profile, the county’s population is aging, and fewer
families of prime family-making age are choosing to reside in the region. As receiving federal and
state funding resources is largely dependent upon how many children are enrolled in an
institution, this poses a strong need to examine the causes for these decreases in local school
populations.

Between the school years of 2005-2006 and 2024-2025, total enrollment in Livingston ESD Districts
(Brighton Area Schools, Fowlerville Community Schools, Hartland Consolidated Schools, Howell
Public Schools, and Pinckney Community Schools) fell from 29,677 students to 22,276- equating a
loss of approximately 33% of students. Of these districts, Pinckney Community Schools has seen
the sharpest decline in enrollment, experiencing a loss of 2,901 students, or approximately 59% of
their student population in the last 19 years.

Further detailed data on Livingston County public school enroliment is shown on the Livingston
County Public School Enrollment by District 2005-2024 chart below. This chart only shows districts
within the Livingston ESD, and does not show other districts that partially lay in Livingston County.

Livingston County Public School Enrollment by District 2005-2024

2005-2006 7,231 3,216 5,557 8,659 4,924
2010-2011 6,358 3,029 5,615 8,290 4,352
2015-2016 5,948 2,905 5,537 7,304 3,219
2020-2021 5,779 2,639 5,262 6,713 2,332
2024-2025 5,796 2,410 5,002 7,045 2,023
% Change -19.85% -25.06% -9.99% -18.64% -58.92%
# Change -1,435 -806 -555 -1,614 -2,901
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Post-Secondary Education

Livingston County is also situated in a region with
access to post-secondary education and workforce
training/ trades programs. The county hosts
institutions such as Cleary University, the Livingston
Educational Service Agency, Brighton Institute of
Cosmetology, Ross Medical Education Center, and a
Washtenaw Community College campus. Each of these
offers a range of associate degrees, technical
certifications, and continuing education opportunities.
In addition, Livingston County is home to various
workforce development programs and skilled trades
training initiatives that align with regional labor market
demands and support career readiness. Livingston
County's proximity to world-renowned research
universities such as the University of Michigan and
Michigan State University also enhances opportunities
for advanced education and access to a highly
educated workforce, benefiting both students and
employers across the region. The Livingston County
Community College District map on the following page

71

269

University degrees were awarded in
Livingston County in 2022

Most popular degrees:
-General Business Administration &

Management
-Aesthetician & Skin Care Specialist
-General Cosmetology

$22,279

Median tuition cost (2022)

shows the regions in the county that fall under each community college district. Evidently, a large
amount of the county does not fall directly under any district, meaning residents in these areas
may face higher out-of-district tuition rates and potentially reduced access to certain programs.
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Early Childhood Education Opportunities

Early childhood education is a vital resource to offer to
residents, as it lays the foundation for lifelong learning and
social development. There are numerous programs
available in Livingston County designed to strengthen early
development, including:

e Livingston Educational Service Agency (LESA)
Early Childhood Programs

e Head Start and Great Start Readiness Program
(GSRP)
Great Start Livingston
& numerous other pre-school/ daycare
programs designed to help young Livingston
County families develop.

Livingston Educational Service Agency

The Livingston Education Service Agency (LESA) is a vital, publicly funded resource that assists in
expanding the region's educational opportunities and broadening student services. Through
supporting programs that bolster adult education, early childhood development, career
exploration, non-traditional schooling, housing assistance, and services for students with special
needs, LESA works to offer a wide variety of educational opportunities to learners of all ages and
abilities. These include:

Early childhood education programs
Special education programs

Career & Technical Educational programs
Early College programs

Career & College Readiness programs
Adult & Alternative Education programs
Specialized transportation services
Leadership and learning programs
Community resources
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Education Level

Source: U.S. Census Bureau, 2006-2010 and 2017-2021 American Community Survey 5-Year
Estimates

The US Census data in the Livingston County Education Level 2010-2021 chart above provides a
comparison of the educational attainment levels of Livingston County residents between 2010 and
2021. The number of residents without high school diplomas decreased over the period, as by
2021, only 4.1% of the population were not high school graduates. In comparison, at least
one-quarter of the county’s population had attained at

least a high school diploma; between 25.1% and 27.8%

over the period. County residents who had attained at

least some college, but no degree, closely mirrored

the percentage of those with high school diplomas-

between 22.8% and 25.7%. The percentage of those

residents with any college graduate-level educational

attainment increased between 2010 and 2021.

Further, the percentage of those with associate

degrees increased from 9.5% in 2010 to 10.2% in 2021;

those with bachelor's degrees increased from 21.1% to

25.7%; and those with graduate or professional

degrees increased from 10.1% to 12.1% over the

period.
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Education: Feedback § Current Trends

— Feedback Current Trends ——

School-Centered Housing Strategies

Planners are coordinating with school districts

to encourage new family housing near schools

with declining enrollment to stabilize or grow
student populations.

“Safe Routes to School” and School
Siting

Planners are supporting walkability and safe
connections to schools through sidewalk gaps
analysis and bike/pedestrian infrastructure.

Education as Economic

Development

Communities are investing in career/technical
education (CTE), early childhood centers, and
satellite college campuses as a strategy to
attract and retain families and workforce
talent.

.................................................. Continued Dec”ning Enrollment

As household sizes continue to decrease,
enrollment is also expected to shrink. As such,
school districts are planning their capital
improvements accordingly.
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Education: Goals & Objectives

Goal #1: Support K-12 Enrollment
Sustainability

Provide data, mapping, and growth planning guidance to

help local governments address enrollment declines and
attract young families.

Objective: Ensure that demographic and housing trend
data is well-distributed through master plans and other
outreach efforts to inform community growth strategies
that may affect school enrollment.

Objective: Provide recommendations in zoning reviews

that encourage attainable, family-oriented housing near
under-enrolled schools.

Goal #2: Promote Safe and Connected
School Access

Collaborate with local jurisdictions, road agencies, and

regional partners to improve walking, biking, and transit
connectivity to schools.

Objective: Create, maintain, and share maps of sidewalk,
trail, and transit gaps near schools to guide local
infrastructure priorities.

Objective: Support communities in pursuing Safe Routes to
School and other funding sources for traffic calming and
pedestrian improvements.

130




Livingston County, Michigan: Education 77

Education: Goals & Objectives

Goal #3: Facilitate Education-Workforce
Alignment

Assist in connecting educational institutions, workforce

development agencies, and local employers to
strengthen the career pipeline.

Objective: Gather stakeholders through planners
luncheons and other outreach efforts to share land use
and facility location data that could support career and
technical education expansion.

Objective: |dentify underutilized commercial or industrial
sites (such as the City of Howell's ‘Opportunity Sites’ that
could be repurposed for training centers or
education-industry partnerships in rezoning cases.

Goal #4: Encourage Post-Secondary
Attainment and Talent Retention

Support efforts that connect education, housing, and

employment opportunities to retain local graduates.

Objective: Provide data on workforce trends, housing
affordability, and commuting patterns to inform policies
that make the county attractive to young adults.

Objective: Promote planning policies that allow mixed-use,
live-work, and affordable housing developments near
employment hubs.
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Livingston County: Natural Resources &
Recreation

Snapshot

Livingston  County’s natural environments
support various aspects of life throughout the
region. From performing essential ecosystem
services such as air purification and water
filtration to enhancing community health and
well-being, the interdependence of the natural
landscape and the county's people is a
foundational asset.

Our open spaces and natural landscapes also
offer abundant opportunities for recreation
throughout the county, such as hiking, wildlife
observation, biking, and water sports. By
recognizing the profound interconnectedness of
our natural and built surroundings, we commit
to ensuring that these invaluable resources
remain accessible for generations to come. This
section will highlight the key areas within
Livingston County that are of environmental
importance.
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High-Quality Natural Areas

High-quality natural areas can be described as locations
with environmentally important resources or services,
such as the ability for a wetland to filter pollutants, or a
tree canopy to provide temperature control and
shading. Environmentally sensitive areas can also
bolster the recreational opportunities throughout a
region. Protecting the high-quality natural features in
Livingston County is thus crucial to supporting the
essential ecosystem services on which we depend.
Further, it is essential to identify the most vulnerable
areas to be able to prioritize conservation efforts and
make informed land use decisions that safeguard the
health, safety, and welfare of residents and the
environment.

Livingston County High-Quality Natural Areas Assessment

The Livingston County High-Quality Natural Areas
Assessment serves as a valuable resource for
local municipalities in developing their Master
Plans and subsequent policies. This resource
accounts for all lands in the county and places a
priority classification upon lands that qualify as
“high-quality natural areas” and are worthy of
protection through a criterion score. These areas
can be seen on the Livingston County High-Quality
Natural Areas map on the following page. The
plan also provides examples of policy tools, such
as environmental protection ordinances,
environmentally sensitive overlays, and various
other ways to preserve ecological areas of high
community value. Since its adoption, the plan has
been used by county planning staff when
reviewing township zoning amendments and
rezoning requests presented to the Livingston
County Planning Commission. Local communities
can also use the interactive map when reviewing
site plans or rezoning applications- available
here: Interactive High-Quality Natural Features

Map on County GIS.
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https://milivcounty.gov/wp-content/uploads/Livingston-County-High-Quality-Natural-Areas-Assessment.pdf
https://milivcounty.gov/wp-content/uploads/Livingston-County-High-Quality-Natural-Areas-Assessment.pdf
https://livgov.maps.arcgis.com/apps/dashboards/fd2c8087ebb24666a526275cf90c4f8a
https://livgov.maps.arcgis.com/apps/dashboards/fd2c8087ebb24666a526275cf90c4f8a
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High-Quality Natural Features Inventory

Since 2004, there has been a 10% decrease in Livingston County’s high-quality natural areas.
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These transformations are detailed in the High-Quality Natural Area Assessments: 2004 to 2021 table

below.

High-Quality Natural Area Assessments: 2004 to 2021

0,
" Count  countos 2004 2021 et %
Class Priority Net Teies | e | Caes Change Change
Change & (Acres) (Acres)

Low-Priority 3 497 610 113 23% 14,424 | 22,407 | 7,982 55%
Medium-Priority 2 424 -257 -167 -39% 32,271 24,121 |-8,149 -25%
High-Priority 1 165 -121 -44 -27% 53,372 | 42,700 |-9,672 -20%
Total 1,086 |-988 -98 -9% 99,068 | 89,228 |-9,839 -10%

Finally, the Livingston County High-Quality Natural Areas Assessment provides an overview of

environmental organizations that operate within Livingston County, including:

Livingston Land Conservancy

Huron River Watershed Council

Livingston Watershed Advisory Group

Crossroads Group for Sierra Club

Livingston County Environmental Health

Livingston County Wildlife and

Conservation Club

Howell Nature Center

Hartland Audubon Nature Club

Friends of Highland Recreation Area

Huron Valley Audubon Society

Friends of Island Lake State Recreation

Area
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https://milivcounty.gov/wp-content/uploads/Livingston-County-High-Quality-Natural-Areas-Assessment.pdf
https://livingstonlandconservancy.org/
https://www.hrwc.org/
https://www.hrwc.org/what-we-do/programs/watershed-management-planning/livingston-wag/
https://www.sierraclub.org/michigan/crossroads
https://milivcounty.gov/environmental-health/
https://www.lcwcc.org/
https://www.lcwcc.org/
https://www.howellnaturecenter.org/
https://hartlandaudubon.weebly.com/
https://www.facebook.com/fohravolunteer/
https://www.michiganaudubon.org/about-us/chapters/title/huron-valley-audubon-society-brighton/
https://www.facebook.com/FriendsOfIslandLakeSRA/
https://www.facebook.com/FriendsOfIslandLakeSRA/
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Parks and Recreation

Livingston County's extensive parks and recreational resources are a key source of community
pride and identity. These natural assets also play a vital role in attracting visitors and new
residents, contributing to the county’s appeal and overall quality of life.

Parks, recreation, and open space are the fourth-largest
land use in Livingston County. Of the total 36,463 acres
of open space and recreation areas, an estimated 15,037
acres of land are dedicated to public open space and
recreation managed by state, metropark, and other
municipal authorities. The majority of large-scale parks
in Livingston County are located in the southern region
in Unadilla, Putnam, Hamburg, and Green Oak
Townships. The county also houses three state
recreation areas, four state game and wildlife areas, one
state trail, two regional metroparks, two county parks,
and a multitude of city, village, township, and private
parks. All of these spaces are major contributors to the
quality of life in Livingston County. The Livingston
County interactive Public Recreation Areas map is
available at this link, and all county recreation areas can
be observed on the Livingston County Parks and
Recreational Areas map on the page below.

Additionally, recreation programming is facilitated by a

variety of entities throughout Livingston County, including the Howell Area Recreation Authority,
Southeastern Livingston County Recreation Authority, as well as a variety of community education
programs through local school districts.

2023-2027 Livingston County Parks and Open Space Plan

Livingston County owns and manages Fillmore
County Park and Lutz County Park. With the help
of the County Parks and Open Space Advisory
Committee, the 2023-2027 Livingston County
Parks & Open Space Plan was drafted and is used
to guide the direction of the county parks. It
provides a detailed overview of the park and
recreation resources available in Livingston
County.
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https://livgov.maps.arcgis.com/apps/webappviewer/index.html?id=d5394b61f9c64d10ab6104b91ead9da3
https://milivcounty.gov/wp-content/uploads/Complete-Adopted-Plan-2023-2027-Livingston-County-Parks-Open-Space-Plan.pdf
https://milivcounty.gov/wp-content/uploads/Complete-Adopted-Plan-2023-2027-Livingston-County-Parks-Open-Space-Plan.pdf
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Fillmore County Park

Fillmore County Park is located on 198 acres within Genoa
Charter Township, in the southeastern quadrant of
Livingston County. The park features a 5-kilometer trail that
navigates around the perimeter of former agricultural fields
through woodland habitat. In collaboration with the Motor
City Mountain Biking Association, a mountain bike trail is also
in the process of being constructed on the property west of
Kellogg Road, specifically designed for beginners and young
riders.

Lutz County Park

Lutz County Park, established in 2008, is the oldest park
owned and operated by Livingston County. Located in
Deerfield Township, the park offers 100 acres of public
recreation. Its 1.3-mile trail system provides opportunities for
users to experience high-quality natural areas, observe
scenic views, and enjoy wildlife habitats. Also available are
picnic tables, benches, nature interpretive signs, trail
trailhead display, a parking area, and a restroom.
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https://milivcounty.gov/parks/fillmore/
https://mcmba.org/
https://mcmba.org/
https://milivcounty.gov/parks/lutz/
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Livingston County Trails Plan

Trail and sidewalk connections are important for
recreation and the ability to live an active,
healthy lifestyle. The Livingston County Trails
Plan, established in 2020, provides a detailed
overview of existing trail opportunities and
priority routes throughout the county. Notably,
the plan also covers pedestrian infrastructure
and safety, which is again highlighted in the
Transportation section of this plan. Local
municipalities now utilize this plan as a guide for
communities in their non-motorized
infrastructure efforts. Current and planned trail
connections can be seen on the Livingston County
Trails Plan map on the following page (derived
from the Livingston County Trails Plan).
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https://milivcounty.gov/wp-content/uploads/2020-2021-Livingston-County-Trails-Plan.pdf
https://milivcounty.gov/wp-content/uploads/2020-2021-Livingston-County-Trails-Plan.pdf
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Water Features

The water features of Livingston County
comprise 3.4% of the total land area, with over
75 inland lakes with associated streams and
wetlands, and three major river courses.
Numerous public entities in Livingston County
rely on groundwater wells to supply drinking
water to residents and local businesses. They
also serve as vital resources for water
recreation for boating, fishing, and other
activities. As such, the protection of these water
resources is essential for maintaining the
community's and ecosystem’s health and
well-being. The water features and watersheds
of Livingston County can be found on the
Livingston County Water Bodies and Watersheds
on the following page.

Environmental Concerns

Recognizing environmental issues in Livingston
County is essential to ensure land uses are
suitable for the area, thereby promoting overall
public health and well-being. The Department of
Environment, Great Lakes, and Energy’s (EGLE)
Remediation Information Data Exchange (RIDE)
Mapper serves as a resource for prioritizing
vulnerable regions, such as wellhead protection
areas, along with identifying environmental
issues, including historical contaminated areas
prior to project proposals; empowering officials
to make informed decisions. The map shows
potential sites of environmental contamination,
leaking underground storage tank sites,
underground storage tank facilities, and land or
resource use restrictions that have been provided
to EGLE. Consequently, it is essential for local
planning officials and consultants to remain
informed about the conditions of these sites. The
RIDE Mapper can be found at this link.
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Per-Polyfluoroalkyl Substances (PFAs)

A group of contaminants that is being closely tracked throughout Michigan are Per- and
Polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFAs). These chemicals persist in the environment and do not break
down or biodegrade. They have been linked to cancers such as kidney, prostate, and testicular
cancer, ulcerative colitis, thyroid disease, decreased fertility, and hypertensive disorders (Michigan
Department of Human Health). PFAs can be found in a wide range of products such as firefighting
foam, chrome plating, cookware coatings, waterproofing on clothing, carpet and even food
wrappers. The Michigan PFAs Action Response Team (MPART) under the Department of
Environmental Great Lakes and Energy (EGLE) have been tracking PFAs sites and areas of interest
on their Interactive Map.

Livingston County is renowned for having the highest concentration of water bodies in the region,
making it an appealing place to reside and a significant economic driver as a recreational
destination. It is imperative to protect these valuable resources and remain vigilant regarding
contamination advisories. There are currently 34 water bodies in Livingston County that are
monitored for water quality and monitored for safe guidelines for fish consumption, and
Livingston County currently has 12 PFA contaminated sites and 1 area of interest with probable
PFAs contamination. These locations can be found in the PFAs sites in Livingston County table on the
following page.
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PFAs Sites in Livingston County

Livingston County Landfill Howell Township: Fisher and Barron Rd.

Livingston County Airport Howell Township: Grand River Ave. and M-59

Lucy Road Resources Howell Township: 2440 W. Highland Rd.

Diamond Chrome Plating City of Howell: Michigan Ave. and Livingston
St.

Lucy Road Landfill City of Howell: Lucy Rd. and Grand River Ave.

Regal Recycling (former) City of Howell: Lucy Rd. and Grand River Ave.

Former Oak Point WWTP Genoa Township: 5431 Brighton Rd.

1279 Rickett Rd City of Brighton: 1279 Rickett Rd.

Thermofil Green Oak Township: 6450 Whitmore Lake
Rd.

Hamburg Township WWTP Hamburg Township: 6400 East M-36

Superior Station Green Oak Township: 7350 Rushton Rd.

Brighton Township Dump Brighton Township: Corlett Rd. and Corlett Dr.

Area of Interest: Wixom DDTP Biosolids Field Genoa Township: Golf Club Rd. and Kellogg
Rd.
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Natural Resources § Recreation: Feedback &
Current Trends

— Feedback ——— — Current Trends ———

Biodiversity Restoration

: Planning practices are shifting to support

: biodiverse landscapes, wildlife corridors, and native

habitat restoration, especially in fast-developing
areas or near sensitive ecosystems.

: Planning for Post-Pandemic
: Lifestyles

As remote work continues, there is a growing
demand for public gathering spaces, parks, and

: trails close to home. Planners are now enhancing
neighborhood-scale recreation to support quality of
. life.

Embracing Low-Impact
Development (LID)

To safeguard water quality, planners are promoting
low-impact development (LID) techniques such as
rain gardens, bioswales, and permeable pavement

in public and private development.

Smart Growth Principles

To achieve the coexistence of economic growth and
environmental preservation, communities are
employing smart growth principles: compact,

mixed-use developments that use land efficiently
while preserving natural resources.

©000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000
eeccccccccce
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Natural Resources § Recreation: Goals &
Objectives

Goal #1: Guide Conservation of High-Quality
Natural Areas

Provide mapping and data to assist local governments in

conserving environmentally sensitive and ecologically
valuable lands.

Objective: Maintain and promote the Livingston County
High-Quality Natural Area Assessment as a reference in
local master plans and zoning reviews.

Objective: Share model environmental overlay districts
and other voluntary or incentive-based preservation tools
with communities.

Objective: Encourage communities to require
environmental impact assessments during site plan
review processes.

Goal #2: Support Planning for Parks, Trails,
and Recreation Access

Assist local jurisdictions in using county plans and data

to expand safe, equitable access to parks, trails, and
open space.

Objective: Use the Livingston County Trails Plan and GIS
data to identify trail gaps and recommend non-motorized
connections between neighborhoods, schools, and
recreation areas.

Objective: Provide recreation gap analysis and mapping to
guide local decisions about new parkland and trail
linkages.

148




Livingston County, Michigan: Natural Resources & Recreation 95

Natural Resources § Recreation: Goals &
Objectives

Goal #3: Provide Data and Guidance to
Protect Water Resources

Equip local governments with the information and best

practices needed to safeguard lakes, rivers, wetlands,
and groundwater.

Objective: Share stormwater management and green
infrastructure best practice resources for integration into
local ordinances and development standards.

Objective: Coordinate with regional partners to share
water quality and contamination data that can inform
local land use decisions.

Goal #4: Promote Environmental
Stewardship and Sustainable Resource Use

Foster partnerships and knowledge-sharing that

encourage responsible use and long-term care of
Livingston County’s natural assets.

Objective: Maintain a directory of conservation, recreation,
and environmental organizations and resources active in
Livingston County.

Objective: Support public engagement by sharing data,
maps, and case studies that highlight the value of natural
resources and recreation to quality of life and economic
vitality.
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Livingston County: Agriculture

Snapshot

Livingston County has countless deeply-seated
roots in agriculture, with our economy and
community historically thriving in farming and
related activities. Today, the county hosts
approximately 658 farms producing an annual
market value of $72,191,000. Our community is
incredibly fortunate to have plentiful natural
resources as well as strong agricultural
infrastructure to ensure that farming in our
region remains a vibrant pillar of our local
economic and cultural heritage. While
agriculture in Livingston County continues to
thrive, new challenges and opportunities have
emerged in recent years, prompting the need
for innovative approaches and adaptive
strategies. With growing rates of farmland
conversion and development coupled with
economic challenges and environmental
pressures, it is essential to prioritize
sustainable practices that can enhance
productivity while preserving our agricultural
landscapes. This section aims to provide an
overview of agriculture’s local impact and
methods through which to support its regional
presence.
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Livingston County, Michigan: 2025 Sustainable Agriculture, Food Systems, & Rural Environments Plan

The Livingston County, Michigan: 2025 Sustainable
Agriculture, Food Systems, & Rural Environments Plan
provides a comprehensive inventory of agricultural land
in Livingston County and outlines strategies to protect
and support this vital resource. Key areas addressed in
the plan include:

Farmland Preservation

Farmer Support

Alternative Energy & Agriculture

Soil & Water Stewardship

Localizing Food System Infrastructure

Food Security & Food Access

These sections highlight state and federal funding

mechanisms, land bank opportunities, and other

important resources. This plan recently won an award

from the Michigan Association of Planning, and will

serve as a unique tool to guide communities in

establishing goals for local agriculture within their

decision-making processes.

Farm Overview

Livingston County Farm Overview

2022 % change since 2017
Number of Farms 658 -9%
Land in Farms (acres) 85,787 -4%
Average Size of Farm (acres) 130 +6%
Market Value of Products Sold $72,191,000 +49%
Government Payments $573,000 -60%
Farm-Related Income $5,447,000 +59%
Total Farm Production Expenses $61,738,000 +42%
Net Cash Farm Income $16,472,000 +69%
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Prime Farmland

Prime farmland is categorized as a
location’s ability to be productive in the
cultivation and support of various
crops. Environmental characteristics
such as soil, water, and vegetation are
used to determine the productivity level
of the land. Although 84% of the soils in
Livingston County are considered
suitable for farming, only 30% of the
county’s soils would be considered
prime farmland. As seen in the
Livingston County Prime Farmland map
on the following page, the majority of
the county’s prime farmland is situated
in the northwestern regions of the
county.

The Livingston County Farm Overview table on the
page above shows Livingston County’s inventory and
value of local farms. In 2022, agriculture contributed
$72 million to the county’s economy through market
sales, a 49% increase over five years, despite a 9%
decline in the total number of farms and a 4%
reduction in farmland acreage. This suggests that
remaining farms have become more productive,
supported by a 6% increase in average farm size and
a substantial 69% increase in net cash farm income,
which totaled $16.5 million. Meanwhile, total
production expenses rose by 42%, reflecting higher
input costs or expanded operations.

Farms continue to play a vital role in Livingston
County's economy, landscape, and cultural identity.
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Farmland Loss

Currently, economic pressures are leading to a
reduction in farmland availability. Over the past
twenty-five years, both Michigan and Livingston
County have experienced a 14% decrease in the
number of farms. Additionally, Michigan has lost
approximately 9% of its farm acreage, while
Livingston County has seen a more significant
decline of 18%. Causes of these losses include:

Increases in housing demand
Farmland fragmentation

Rising input costs

Succession planning difficulties

Livingston County farmland loss is further
detailed in the Livingston County, Michigan:
2025 Sustainable Agriculture, Food Systems, &
Rural Environments Plan.

PA 116 - Farmland and Open Space Program

The Michigan Department of Agriculture and Rural
Development (MDARD) administers the Farmland
and Open Space Preservation Program. This is an
incentive-based program that allows landowners to
voluntarily enroll their property (at no cost) into a
Development Rights Agreement with the state. These
agreements restrict non-agricultural development on
a property and ensure that the land remains
available for agricultural production. It also ensures
that the land remains in agricultural use for a
minimum of ten years, and in return, provides the
landowner with an income tax benefit. The parcels
currently enrolled in PA 116 in Livingston County are
shown in the Livingston County PA 116 Properties map
on the page below.

Livingston County has
experienced a more
severe rate of farmland
loss than the Michigan
average in the last two
decades.

Livingston County
-22.7%

Michigan
-10.3%
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Community Density Standards for Rural Residential and Single Family Residential

Community

Northwest Quadrant

Rural Residential (RR)

RR with Farm

Single Family Residential

Conway Township 2 acres 20 acres 2 acres
Handy Township 35,000 sq ft 10 acres 12,000 sq ft
Cohoctah Township 2 acres 20 acres 21,780 sq ft
Howell Township 1 acre N/A** 10,000 sq ft: Public water and sewer
1 acre: No public water and sewer
Northeast Quadrant
Deerfield Township 2-20 acres 2-20 acres 30,000-65,000 sq ft
Oceola Township 50,000 sq ft N/A** 30,000 sq ft: Public water and sewer
40,000 sq ft: No public water and sewer
Tyrone Township 1-1.75 acres 3 acres 21,780-43,650 sq ft
Hartland Township 2 acres 10 acres 20,000 sq ft: Public water and sewer
32,670 sq ft: No public water and sewer
Southwest Quadrant
losco Township 2 acres N/A** 2 acres
Marion Township 2 acres N/A** 20,000 sq ft: Public water and sewer
1 acre: platted lot 32,670 sq ft: No public water and sewer
Unadilla Township 2 acres 2-5 acres 1 acre
Putnam Township 10 acres N/A** 1-5 acres
Southeast Quadrant
Genoa Township 2-5 acres 10-40 acres 21,780 sq ft: Public water and sewer
1 acre: No public water and sewer
Hamburg Township 87,120 sq ft N/A** 1 acre
Brighton Township 1.6-2.5 acres N/A** 0.91 acre
Green Oak Township | 2-5 acres N/A** 21,750 sq ft
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Agriculture & Local Zoning

The Community Density Standards for Rural Residential and
Single-Family Residential table on the page above outlines the
current rural lot size requirements for communities in Livingston
County. Agriculture typically necessitates substantial land area for
crop production, and establishing standard requirements or
minimum lot sizes can help maintain these areas- ensuring that
they remain accessible in the future. The presence of large land
parcels for active farming can also serve as a buffer, reducing the
impacts of active farming on neighboring properties.

**Note for the Community Density Standards for Rural Residential and Single-Family Residential table: Rural
Residential serves as a broad classification for areas with comparable uses. Communities may designate
these zones using various names, such as Agricultural Residential, Conservation Agriculture, Rural Estates,
or similar. The zoning district also does not stipulate a minimum lot size specific to farming. There may be
minimum lot regulations for elsewhere in each township zoning ordinance.

Sustainability Concerns & Farming

As agriculture is one of the most strongly valued assets of Livingston County, it is vital that efforts
are made to ensure that it can sustain its economic, environmental, and intergenerational
continuity. This means that farming practices must balance productivity with long-term soil health,
water conservation, and ecological stewardship. It also requires proactive measures to address
emerging threats such as PFAS contamination, nutrient runoff, and farmland loss due to
development pressure. Supporting sustainable practices, protecting prime agricultural soils, and
investing in local food systems will help ensure that farming remains viable for future generations.
Further suggestions can be found in the Livingston County, Michigan: 2025 Sustainable
Agriculture, Food Systems, & Rural Environments Plan.

Local Food Infrastructure

It is also vital that regional agriculture has the appropriate outlets
to reach the community. Local food infrastructure, such as farm
markets, roadside stands, and local farms that sell directly to
consumers, are extremely valuable for strengthening the local
economy, improving access to fresh and nutritious food, reducing
transportation-related emissions, and fostering connections
between producers and residents. These outlets not only support
farm viability but also enhance community resilience and food
system sustainability. The Livingston County Small Local Farms and
Livingston County Farmers Market maps on the following pages
locate regional farmers markets and locally-selling farms.
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Local Farms in Livingston County (as listed on Livingston County Small Local Farms Map)

Brighton Township:
1: RGM Livestock and Produce

2: Wildwood Gardens

Conway Township:
3: Jubilee Goat Farm
4: Kreeger Farms

Deerfield Township:
5: Dietrich Pumpkin Patch
6: Forgotten Harvest Farms
7: Fawcett Farms

Genoa Township:
8: Rising Vitality Farm

Green Oak Township:
9: Green Oak Farm

Hamburg Township:
10: Hay Creek Heritage Farm
11: R2 Farm

Handy Township:
12:Alpine Crossings Family Farm
13: Munsell Farms
14: White Farms

Hartland Township:
15: MI Family Farm
16: Roeske Farms

17: Spicer Orchards

Howell Township:
18: Gondek Acres
19: Hidden Hills Farm

20: ) & T Todosciuk Farms & Greenhouses LLC

21: Springbrook Farms

losco Township:
22: Northern Path Family Farm

Marion Township:
23: Chamber's Family Farm
24: Cross W Ranch
25: Hares and Harrows Farmstead
26: Hazen's Farm
27: Howell Victory Farm
28: Motave Meadows

Oceola Township:

29: Birdie Farms LLC
30: Ponderosa Ridge Farm
31: Renegade Acres
32: Rosebriar Farms
33: Way Maker Family Farm
34: Markillie Orchard

Putnam Township:
35: Purgatory Cattle
36: Schell Family Farm

Tyrone Township:
37: Bass Root Farm LLC
38: Iron Oak Farm
39: The Wegener Farm
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Agriculture: Feedback & Current Trends
—— Feedback ———

— Current Trends ———

Urban Agriculture

Many planners are revising zoning codes to allow
for small-scale food production in urban and
suburban areas (i.e., backyard gardens, hoop

houses, community gardens)

Purchases of Development Rights

(PDRs)

Many counties are using PDR programs to
compensate landowners for permanently
protecting agricultural land from development.

Cluster Zoning

Planners use cluster zoning to allow homes to be
grouped on smaller lots in rural areas, preserving
large tracts of farmland or open space.

Agritourism

Communities are promoting agritourism (farm
markets, U-Pick operations, and tours) as a way to
support farm viability.
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Agriculture: Goals & Objectives

Goal #1: Protect and Sustain Farmland

Protect prime and productive farmland from

fragmentation and development to ensure long-term
viability of agriculture in Livingston County.

Objective: Promote the use of state and local farmland
preservation tools such as PA 116, Purchase of
Development Rights (PDRs), and conservation easements.

Objective: Using the Livingston County, MI: 2025 Sustainable
Agriculture, Food Systems, and Rural Environments plan,
provide local governments with data, maps, and best
practices to support the use of large minimum lot sizes in
agricultural zoning.

Objective: Encourage compact and clustered development

patterns to reduce pressure on agricultural lands,
especially in high-growth townships.

Goal #2: Preserve Rural Character While
Supporting Farm-Based Enterprises

Help local governments develop policies that balance

rural preservation with economic opportunity for
farmers.

Objective: Encourage the permittance of low-impact,
farm-based agricultural uses (e.g., roadside stands,
agritourism, processing) by-right or with minimal barriers.

Objective: Encourage township master plans to include
rural character preservation strategies, including visual
buffers and clustering tools that protect open space.
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Agriculture: Goals & Objectives

Goal #3: Promote Soil and Water
Stewardship

Support township and regional planning efforts that

prioritize natural resource protection on agricultural
land.

Objective: Provide environmental and GIS data to
townships regarding wellhead protection, soils, and
wetlands to townships during plan and zoning reviews.

Objective: Partner with conservation agencies and other
regulatory bodies to promote low-impact farming.

Goal #4: Strengthen the Regional Food
System

Assist communities in planning for infrastructure that

supports the viability and accessibility of local
agriculture.

Objective: Promote the use of the Livingston County,
Michigan: 2025 Sustainable Agriculture, Food Systems, and
Rural Environments plan to point communities toward
resources that support the local food system.

Objective: Collaborate with local governments to highlight
opportunities for local food access.
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Livingston County: Health and Wellness

Snapshot— Livingston County ranks among the
healthiest counties in Michigan, with
residents enjoying longer life expectancy,
low rates of uninsurance, and access to
natural and built environments that support
wellness. These strengths reflect not only
favorable health outcomes but also the
foundational infrastructure, services, and
community values that promote overall
well-being.

Yet, rising healthcare costs, a growing senior
population, and persistent challenges like
substance use and mental health concerns
pose serious threats to long-term
community health sustainability. Proactive
health planning must therefore consider the
full range of determinants that shape health
outcomes. By aligning public health
strategies with planning policy, this section
aims to show ways in which Livingston
County can ensure that all residents have a
fair opportunity to exist in good health.
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Life Expectancy and General Health

According to the Center for Disease Control, Livingston Livingston County has the 5th
County residents enjoy a long life expectancy of highest life expectancy in the
approximately 80.8 years, which is 5 years higher than state, and is far above state and
the Michigan average. This strong performance reflects national averages.

the county’s overall high standard of health and

well-being. Still, chronic illnesses remain the top causes Livingston County

of death before age 75, including:

e Malignant neoplasms (cancer)
Heart disease Michigan
Accidents
COVID-19
Intentional self-harm

80.8 years

VERACEIS

Leading Diagnoses for Hospitalizations

167




Livingston County, Michigan: Health and Wellness 1 14

According to the Livingston County Top Causes for Hospitalizations (Averages 2017-2021) chart on the
page above, the top causes for hospitalizations reflect a range of acute, chronic, and behavioral
health conditions. Heart disease remains the most common reason for hospital admission, with
an average of 1,930 cases between 2017 and 2022. Closely following are hospitalizations related to
newborn care, with 1,713 admissions, and injury poisoning, which accounted for 1,502 cases.
Other prominent reasons for hospitalization include septicemia (1,057), cancer (606), COVID-19
(173), cerebrovascular diseases (476), mood disorders (452), hypertensions (410), mental and
behavioral disorders (242), diabetes (232), pneumonia (224), skin diseases (248), and renal failure
(213).

Disabled Population

According to the U.S. Census Bureau, between 2019 and 2023,

Livingston County approximately 7.4% of Livingston County residents under the age
Disabled Population of 65 were identified as having a disability. This figure highlights
Under 65 (2023) the importance of ensuring that public spaces, healthcare
services, transportation systems, and community programs are

74% accessible and inclusive for individuals with disabilities,

particularly as the county plans for long-term population health
and aging-in-place strategies.

Substance Use Trends and Resources

Substance use, particularly involving opioids, alcohol, and tobacco, remains a pressing public
health concern in Livingston County. While access to treatment is relatively high, overdose rates,
alcohol-related harm, and drug-related hospitalizations reveal ongoing challenges that require
sustained attention and investment.

Opioid Use and Overdose Trends:

Opioid use continues to be a significant driver of substance-related harm in Livingston County.
From 2020 to 2023, the Livingston County Human Services Collaborative Body recorded 99 fatal
overdoses, with an average age of 44 years old. 70% of these deaths were male, while the
remaining 30% were female. Between July 2022 and June 2023, there were 568 opioid-related
poisonings, with a slightly older average age of 48. In contrast to fatal overdoses, 60% of nonfatal
opioid poisonings were among women, while 40% were men. The most common substances
contributing to overdoses during this period included fentanyl, cocaine, heroin, and alcohol.

Alcohol/Tobacco Use and Related Harms:

Alcohol misuse is another major concern in Livingston County. As of 2022, 23% of adults reported
binge or heavy drinking, and 34% of all motor vehicle crashes in the county between 2018 and
2022 involved alcohol. Both of these occur at rates higher than state and national averages.
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Tobacco use also contributes to chronic health issues across the county.
14% of Livingston County adults are current cigarette smokers as of
2022. While slightly below the state average, smoking rates remain a
concern for long-term public health outcomes.

Substance Use Vulnerability Profile

According to the Michigan Substance Use Vulnerability Index (MI-SUVI),
Livingston County demonstrates a mixed landscape of risk. Risk
indicators include:

Fatal Overdose Rate (2018-2022): 18.1 per 100,000 residents
Nonfatal Overdose Emergency Visit Rate (2020-2022): 152.0
per 100,000

e Opioid Prescription Unit Rate (2022): 22,556.2 per 1,000
residents
Drug-Related Arrest Rate (2022): 49.4 per 100,000 residents
Buprenorphine Prescription Rate (2022): 2,726.9 per 1,000
residents

Access Indicators:
e 99.8% of the population is within a 30-minute drive of a
substance use treatment center
e Only 1.1% of the population is within a 15-minute drive of a
syringe service

Livingston County’'s overall Substance Use Vulnerability Index Score is a
-2.6, the lowest in the state, indicating a relatively low social vulnerability
overall. However, while geographic access to treatment is strong, the
elevated overdose and prescribing rates highlight a need for harm
reduction infrastructure.

Treatment, Recovery, and Harm Reduction Resources:
Livingston County offers a broad range of substance use prevention,
treatment, and recovery supports:
e Free Naloxone (Narcan) Access Points:
Stepping Stones Engagement Center
e Treatment Centers: Key Development Center, Ascension
Brighton Center for Recovery
e Support & Recovery Networks: RAIL, SMART Recovery, AA, NA,
Celebrate Recovery
e Sober Living: Home of New Vision, Dawn Inc., RAIL Recovery
House

CMH machine,

115

The Michigan
Substance Use
Vulnerability
Index (MI-SUVI)
helps counties
target opioid and
substance use
interventions by
combining data
on access to
care, social
vulnerability, and
substance use
burden.

Livingston
County’'s MI-SUVI
Score:

-2.0

This is the lowest
vulnerability
score in the state.

This score
indicates that
Livingston County
has strong access
to services and a
relatively low
social risk to
substance abuse.

Continued
investment in
harm reduction
remains key.
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Mental Health

Mental health also continues to be a critical concern in
Frequent Mental Distress Livingston County, reflecting both local and national
18% of Livingston County adults trends. Rates of frequent mental distress (defined as 14

Seelaa g iRl EHUCEUNCEEIN o more days of poor mental health in the past month)

PERmCRET stand at 18%, which is on par with the Michigan average

and slightly higher than the national rate of 16%.

Feelings of loneliness are also prevalent, with one-third

of residents (33%) experiencing loneliness.

Loneliness
33% of Livingston County residents
experience feelings of loneliness

Alarmingly, the county’s suicide rate is 15 deaths per
100,000 people and continuing to rise, exceeding both
the Michigan and U.S. rates of 14. Overall, the 2025
mortality rate due to mental and behavioral disorders is
estimated at 16.8 per 100,000, indicating ongoing
challenges with untreated or poorly managed mental
health concerns.

Despite these needs, access to care is somewhat limited. Livingston County has one mental health
provider for every 410 residents, significantly fewer than Michigan's average of 280:1 and the
national average of 300:1. This shortage of providers may contribute to unmet mental health
needs and prolonged distress for those seeking care.

Women’s/ Maternal Health

Women’s and maternal health in Livingston County reflects both strengths and gaps in care
access, with a need for expanded services and support infrastructure as the county continues to
grow. One of the most notable gaps is the absence of a dedicated birthing center within the
county, which can pose challenges for expectant mothers.

According to the Livingston County Health Department, in 2023, there were 1,703 live births in
Livingston County. Of these, 1,465 mothers (86%) began prenatal care in the first trimester, which
is a positive indicator of early engagement with maternal health services. The presence of 18
births to teenage mothers in 2023 highlights the need for continued education and supportive
resources.

In terms of preventive care, Livingston County performs slightly above average on breast cancer
screening. As of the latest data, 48% of eligible women received mammography screenings,
compared to 47% statewide and 44% nationally. Continued efforts to improve screening rates and
access to preventive care remain essential.
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Senior Health Care

Livingston County’s population is aging, making it increasingly important to address the health and
wellness needs of older adults. As of 2022, approximately 19.8% of the county’s residents were
aged 65 and older, up from 12.1% in 2010.

This growing senior population underscores a need for enhanced healthcare services tailored to
older adults, including preventive care, chronic disease management, and accessible healthcare
facilities. Currently, numerous organizations exist within the county to assist with senior nutrition,
transportation, and healthcare:

Livingston Leadership Council on Aging
LETs Public Transportation
Livingston County Senior Nutrition/ Meals on Wheels
Livingston County
e Michigan Department of Health and Human Services -
Livingston County
e Brighton, Howell, Fowlerville, Hamburg Township, Putnam
Township, & Unadilla Township Senior Centers
Hartland Senior Activity Center
Oakland Livingston Human Service Agency (OLHSA)
Area Agency on Aging 1-B
Livingston County Veteran Services

Ratio of Health Providers per Person

Access to primary care is a key indicator of

Livingston County’s health provider to community health, yet Livingston County faces a
resident ratio is far less than that of the  significant shortage of providers relative to its
state and country. population. As of the most recent data, the county

has one primary care physician for every 2,030

Livingston County residents- a ratio far higher than both the Michigan
2,030:1 average of 1,280:1 and the national average 1,330:1.

This gap in provider availability may lead to longer
wait times and challenges in managing chronic
conditions, particularly as the county’s population
continues to grow and age. Addressing this disparity
will be essential to ensuring comprehensive
healthcare access for residents.

Michigan
1,280:1
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Health Infrastructure

Livingston County’'s healthcare infrastructure serves a variety of residents’ needs. The Livingston
County Health Infrastructure map on the following page highlights the county’s network of facilities.
The medical facilities listed on this map include:

1: Henry Ford Health Brighton Center for 12: The Willows at Howell
Recovery 1500 Byron Rd, 48855

12851 E Grand River, 48116
13: Wellbridge of Brighton

2: Trinity Health Livingston Hospital 2200 Dorr Rd, 48843
620 Byron Rd, 48843

14: Wellbridge of Pinckney
3: Abigail Hospice, LLC 664 S Howell St, 48169
2790 W. Grand River, 48843

15: Advanced Counseling Services PC
4: Brighton Dialysis 7600 W Grand river, 48114
7960 W Grand River, 48114

16: Ascension Brighton Center for Recovery

5: Community Hospice Care, LLC 12851 E Grand River, 48116
10299 E Grand River, 48116

17: Brighton Center Inc

6: Compassionate Hospice Care, LLC 2512 Harte Dr, 48114
10524 E Grand River, 48116

18: Complete Counseling Center Inc.
7: Eresenius Medical Care Brighton 794 W Grand River Ave, 48116

5757 Whitmore Lake Rd, 48116

19: Key Development Center
8: Willowbrook Rehabilitation Service 2060 Grand River Ave, 48114
7200 Challis Rd, 48116

20: Liberty House Recovery Center
9: Caretel Inns of Brighton 13520 White Lake Rd, 48430
1014 E Grand River Ave, 48116

21: Advanced Counseling Services PC
10: Medilodge of Howell 7600 W Grand River, 48114
1333 W Grand River Ave, 48843

22: Community Health Services
11: Medilodge of Livingston 22800 E Grand River, 48843
3003 W Grand River Ave, 48843
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Social Determinants of Health

The social determinants of health are the conditions in which people live,
work and age- playing a significant role in shaping health outcomes. In
Livingston County, key indicators related to transportation, housing,
environment, physical activity, and food access reflect both strengths
and areas for continued attention.

Health Transportation and Built Environment:

Access to safe, reliable transportation is a fundamental enabler of health
equity, influencing everything from medical appointment attendance to
access to healthy food and social engagement. While Livingston County
is largely car-dependent, services exist to grant individuals the
opportunity to meet their health needs through public transportation
(e.g. LETs). Strategic planning for aging-friendly and low-income
transportation options will be critical to reducing geographic barriers to
care and wellness resources.

Physical Activity and Green Space:
Livingston County performs slightly better than state and national
averages in promoting active lifestyles. According to the County Health
Rankings,

e 87% of residents have access to exercise opportunities

e 19% of adults reported no physical activity outside of work,

compared to 23% at the state and national levels

The county's expansive green space network also provides critical
infrastructure that is proven to reduce risks of poor physical and mental
health.

Food Security and Nutrition:

Livingston County scores well on the Food Environment Index, which
measures access to healthy foods and income-related food insecurity.
Livingston County’s score is 8.9, while Michigan scores at 7.1 and the
United States at 7.4. Despite this strong performance, pockets of food
insecurity persist, particularly among ALICE (Asset Limited, Income
Constrained, Employed) households who may earn above poverty
thresholds but still struggle to meet basic needs. Approximately 1 in 13
Livingston County residents lack access to affordable, nutritious,
geographically-near foods. Access to such food is a critical driver of
public health, as nutrient-dense diets are directly linked to lower rates of
disease. More information on Livingston County’'s food security can be
found in the Livingston County, Michigan: 2025 Sustainable Agriculture,
Food Systems, & Rural Environments Plan.
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Environmental Health

Air and water quality affect an individual's environmental exposures,
which often have significant impacts on physical health. Air quality
within Livingston County is a particular concern, as levels are above
state and national averages. According to the County Health Rankings,
the average air pollution in Livingston County ranks at a score of 8.6,
while Michigan scores at 6.7, and the U.S. at 7.3.

Housing and Radon Exposure

Stable, safe housing is a critical health determinant. According to the
County Health Rankings, In Livingston County, 9% of households
experience severe housing problems (e.g., overcrowding, high cost
burden, or inadequate facilities). While this is notably better than
Michigan's 13% and the U.S. average of 17%, housing issues can have
significant negative impacts on an individual's physical and mental
well-being.

Additionally, radon exposure is another concern, particularly given the
county’s rural character. In older or less-ventilated homes, radon
should be monitored as part of broader housing health initiatives as it
is a leading cause of numerous cancerous diseases. Areas most
affected with radon can be seen on the Estimated Radon Levels in
Livingston County map on the following page.

Education & Income:

Livingston County reports the highest levels of both educational
attainment and household income in Michigan— factors that are
strongly associated with improved health outcomes, longer life
expectancy, and greater access to care.

Statewide Social Determinants of Health Rank: 83 of 83

Livingston County ranks last in the state in terms of social
vulnerability, meaning it has the lowest level of risk based on social
determinants such as income, education, employment, housing, and
food access. To maintain this position, it is vital that active steps are
taken to preserve equitable access to these foundational resources,
address emerging disparities, and ensure  that  all
residents—regardless of income or geography—can benefit from the
county's strong social infrastructure.
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Health and Wellness: Feedback & Current
Trends
— Feedback ———— — Current Trends

Health in All Policies (HiAP)

HIAP is a cross-sector approach that integrates
health considerations into all areas of planning
(transportation, land use, housing, etc.,) to improve
community well-being.

Active Design & Walkability

Planners are designing communities that
encourage physical activity through complete
streets, connected sidewalks, bike lanes, parks, and
access to recreational facilities.

Mental Health Integration

Communities are incorporating mental health
access into community planning by supporting
decentralized care centers, telehealth
infrastructure, green spaces, and social connection
strategies.

©00000000000000000000000000000000000000000000

000 ©00000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000

Transportation as a Health Tool

Many recognize transportation access as a
determinant of health, and are investing in
non-motorized trails, senior shuttles, and other
transit options to health services and community
life.

Food Access Planning

Communities are prioritizing access to healthy food

: through support for local agriculture, mobile

: markets, grocery store initiatives, and land use
policies that prevent food deserts.

00000000000000000000000000000000000000000 444

.
©000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000
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Health & Wellness: Goals & Objectives

Goal #1: Support Healthy, Age-Friendly
Communities

Promote planning and development practices that create

inclusive, accessible environments for residents of all
ages and abilities.

Objective: Encourage the adoption of land use and zoning
policies that support aging in place, such as walkable
neighborhoods and senior-friendly housing types.

Objective: Promote the inclusion of accessibility, universal
design, and proximity to healthcare, recreation, and social
services in local master plans.

Goal #2: Promote Access to Mental Health,
Substance Use, and Preventive Health
Services

Work to reduce geographic and regulatory barriers to

care and encourage expanded access to critical health
services.

Objective: Identify and map areas with limited access to
behavioral health services and collaborate with partners
to prioritize these areas for siting facilities or
transportation access improvements.

Objective: Encourage townships to allow flexible siting of
mental/behavioral health and substance use facilities with
zoning ordinances to reduce social and geographic
barriers to care.
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Health & Wellness: Goals & Objectives

Goal #3: Integrate Social Determinants of
Health into Planning Initiatives

Address key social factors such as housing,

transportation, recreation, and food access, that
influence health outcomes and community-well-being.

Objective: Provide data and planning support to townships
on health-related indicators such as food access, housing

cost burden, radon exposure, and transportation gaps to

inform master plan updates.

Objective: Advocate for land use decisions that co-locate
housing, transportation, and public services.

Goal #4: Preserve the Environmental and
Built Conditions that Contribute to
Long-Term Community Health

Support land use and infrastructure decisions that
protect natural systems, promote physical activity, and

sustain the environmental conditions that underlie
public health.

Objective: Encourage the preservation and restoration of
parks, trails, greenways, and open space to support active
lifestyles and reduce environmental health risks.

Objective: Provide planning resources to help local
governments assess and mitigate environmental hazards
such as flooding, extreme heat, and poor air quality.
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Livingston County: Housing

—Snapshot ———

Housing in Livingston County has experienced
steady growth and gradual diversification over
the past decade. While most new construction
has concentrated in single-family homes,
multifamily housing has grown at a faster rate,
reflecting a modest shift toward more diverse
housing types. As the county continues to
attract new residents and families, the overall
housing stock remains dominated by larger,
owner-occupied single-family homes, with
limited rental and attached housing options
available.

Additionally, affordability has emerged as a
growing concern across the county. Median
home values have steadily grown while
significantly outpacing income growth for
many residents. A high percentage of both
renters and owners are considered
cost-burdened, making it essential to ensure a
range of housing options that meet the needs
of residents across all income levels,
household types, and life stages.
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Housing Types

As the U.S. Census data in the Livingston County
Housing Types table below indicates, the number of
single-family units increased by 3,767 units
between 2010 and 2021 (6.0% increase). Over the
same period, the number of multifamily units
increased by 1,663 units (14.4% increase). Lastly,
the number of mobile homes decreased by 132
units over this period. This decrease can most likely
be attributed to units being left in disrepair, leading
to their subsequent removal or demolition.

Single-Family Housing
2010-2021

+6.0%

Multi-Family Housing
2010-2021

+14.4%

Overall, the cumulative total units consisting of all
three housing types increased by 5,928 units over
the eleven year period (6.8% increase). The data
indicates that there were also 221 units demolished
over the period.

Mobile Homes
2010-2021

-3.0%

Livingston County Housing Types

Housing Type American American Change 2010- New Units

Community Community 2021 Permitted

Survey 2010 Survey 2021 Since 2019
Single Unit 58,322 62,089 3,767 2,482
Multi-Unit 9,899 11,562 1,663 1,566
Mobile Homes or Other 4,330 4,198 -132 0
Total 72,551 77,849 5,298 4,048
Units Demolished - - - -221
Net (Total Permitted Units - - - - 3,827
Units Demolished)

Source: U.S. Census Bureau, 2006-2010 and 2017-2021 American Community Survey 5-Year

Estimates, SEMCOG Development
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Homes by Size

Source: American Community Survey (ACS), US Census Bureau

1,895 sq. ft.

Livingston County Median
Home Square Footage

The Livingston County Homes by Number of Bedrooms (2023)
chart above shows the share of Livingston County homes
according to the number of bedrooms in each home. As
shown in the graph, most homes in the county have three
bedrooms (47%). Approximately a quarter of homes have
four bedrooms, while 16% have two.

Additionally, as of 2025, the median square footage of
Livingston County homes is approximately 1,895 square feet.
This figure reflects the county’'s predominance of
single-family housing and larger household sizes, and it
aligns with regional development patterns that favor
spacious residential lots.
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Livingston County Building Permits

Two- Attach Multi- Total Units  Total Net Total
Family Condo Family Demos

2000 1,726 4 154 164 2,048 41 2,007
2001 1,488 0 190 292 1,970 59 1,911
2002 1,390 10 341 322 2,063 60 2,003
2003 1,462 10 309 174 1,955 67 1,888
2004 1,667 22 335 64 2,088 83 2,005
2005 1,123 10 377 16 1,526 79 1,447
2006 542 14 79 0 635 59 576
2007 263 2 81 20 366 51 315
2008 153 0 38 0 191 35 156
2009 74 4 4 0 82 33 49
2010 109 0 10 48 369 9 137
2011 164 0 8 0 172 11 161
2012 304 0 17 48 369 9 360
2013 609 0 36 47 692 23 669
2014 524 0 94 145 763 28 735
2015 566 0 41 36 643 25 618
2016 603 0 45 0 648 46 602
2017 595 0 78 144 817 34 783
2018 590 0 87 84 761 48 713
2019 563 2 107 0 672 44 628
2020 503 0 86 86 675 60 615
2021 607 0 161 68 836 44 792
2022 533 0 161 68 836 44 1,111
2023 276 0 36 404 716 35 681
Totals 16,434 78 2,803 2,689 22,004 1,042 20,962

Source: SEMCOG Development

Note: Permit data for most recent years may be incomplete and is updated monthly.
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The Southeast Michigan Council of Governments (SEMCOG)
housing permit data in the table above provides a detailed
look at construction trends across Livingston County from
2000 to 2023. Three distinct periods of housing development
emerge during this timeframe, each reflecting broader
economic conditions at the local, state, and national levels.

2000-2005: Pre-Recession Housing Boom

Between 2000 and 2005, Livingston County experienced a
significant surge in new housing construction. This six-year
period saw the issuance of:

e 8,856 single-family housing permits,
e 1,032 multi-family permits,
e and 11,261 total units constructed.

This period was characterized by strong economic
confidence, and high demand for new housing across
Southeast Michigan.

2006-2012: Housing Downturn During the Great Recession

The second distinct period coincides with the economic
downturn that began in late 2006 and culminated in the 2008
financial crisis. As the national economy entered what would
become the Great Recession, housing construction in
Livingston County sharply declined. Over this seven-year
period:

e Single-family construction dropped by 85%,
totaling only 1,305 units (an average of 186 per
year),

e Two-family construction plummeted by 98.8%,
totaling just 20 units,

e Multi-family construction fell by 88.7%, totaling
116 units.

In total, only 1,441 housing units were constructed during
this period—an 87% decline compared to the 2000-2005
boom. Michigan was among the hardest-hit states, entering a
recession prior to the national collapse due to the struggling
automotive industry. The state’s unemployment rate peaked
at 15.3%, the highest in the country. Home values
plummeted, household wealth declined, and construction
nearly halted altogether.

185




Livingston County, Michigan: Housing

2013-2023: Gradual Recovery and Post-COVID Trends
The third period reflects a recovery that began around 2013 and extended through 2023. As
Michigan's economy rebounded with decreasing unemployment, increased workforce
participation, and growth in construction trades, housing construction in Livingston County
regained strength. Key characteristics of this period include:
e A rebound in single-family housing, with over 5,000 units built during this 11-year
period.
e A resurgence in multi-family housing, with notable spikes in 2014, 2017, and especially
2023, when 404 multi-family units were permitted—more than any other year on
record.
e Overall, the county issued roughly 8,000 new housing permits during this recovery
phase.
It is worth noting that the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic in 2020 temporarily disrupted building
trends. However, unlike the Great Recession, the economic downturn in 2020 was shorter-lived,
and federal stimulus policies, combined with a housing demand surge contributed to a relatively
rapid return to building activity.

Long-Term Trends and Planning Implications

Between 2000 and 2023, Livingston County added more than 20,900 net new housing units. While
single-family homes remain the dominant housing type, the increased permitting of multi-family
units, particularly in the last five years, signals a shift toward greater housing diversity. This shift
aligns with regional planning goals to support a broader range of housing options, including more
compact and affordable alternatives suited to a changing population.
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Housing Tenure

Livingston County Housing Tenure

Housing Tenure Census 2010 American Change 2010- Percent Change
Community 2021
Survey 2021
Owner-Occupied 57,503 63,254 5,571 10.0%
Renter-Occupied 9,877 10,670 793 8.0%
Vacant 5,429 3,925 -1,504 27.7%
Seasonal/ Migrant|1,799 1,523 -276 -15.3%
Other Vacant Units 3,630 2,402 -1,228 -33.8%
Total Housing Units 72,809 77,849 5,040 6.9%

Source: U.S. Census Bureau, 2006-2010 and 2017-2021 American Community Survey 5-Year

Estimates

The Livingston County Housing Tenure chart above presents the proportions of owner-occupied,
renter-occupied, and vacant housing units. Between 2010 and 2021, Livingston County
experienced notable shifts in housing tenure. Owner-occupied units increased by 10%, reflecting a
strong demand for homeownership, while renter-occupied units also grew modestly by 8%. During
the same period, the overall housing stock expanded by nearly 7%. Vacancy rates declined
significantly, with total vacant units dropping by 28%, driven largely by a 34% reduction in other
vacant units and a 15% decrease in seasonal or migrant housing.

Source: American Community Survey (ACS), US Census Bureau

Additionally, the Livingston County
Share of Total Households by Tenure
graph at left shows the share of
renters and owners over the last
decade. As of 2023, 86.6% of
Livingston  County households
owned their homes, while 13.4%
rented. These shares have
remained relatively steady since
2013, and suggest a tightening
housing market with  rising
occupancy and continued growth
in permanent residency.
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Homeownership Rate

Source: American Community Survey (ACS), US Census Bureau

As the Homeownership Rate Over Time (2013-2023) chart above indicates, throughout the last
decade, the Livingston County homeownership rate has slowly risen, currently falling at around
86.6%. This is far ahead of the homeownership rate for the state of Michigan, which is around
72.9%, reflecting the fact that Livingston County is a residential destination.

Owned Homes by Building Typology

The majority of Livingston County
households own their homes. Further,
as seen in the Livingston County Owned
Homes by Building Typology (2023)
chart at left, 93% of owned homes in
the county are single-family homes.
The remaining 7% are composed of
various  scales of  multi-family
dwellings. This imbalance in
ownership housing typologies reflects
a limited range of options for
residents seeking smaller, more
affordable, or lower-maintenance
homes.

Source: American Community Survey (ACS), US Census
Bureau
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Homeownership Rate by Race/ Ethnicity

Source: American Community Survey (ACS), US Census Bureau

As shown in the Livingston County Homeownership Rate by Race/ Ethnicity (2013-2023) graph above,
homeownership in Livingston County varies significantly by race and ethnicity. White residents had
the highest homeownership rate at 87.4%, followed by residents identifying with two or more
races at 76.4%, Asian residents at 75.9%, and Hispanic or Latino residents at 66.5%. In contrast,
only 52.6% of Black residents owned homes.

Over the past decade, homeownership trends have shifted unevenly across groups. Between 2013
and 2023:
e The white homeownership rate increased by 1.8%.
The Black homeownership rate declined slightly by 0.6%.
Hispanic/Latino homeownership rose by 7.5%.
Asian homeownership declined by 11.0%.
Homeownership among multiracial or other race residents increased by 1.8%.

It should be noted that values may not be accurate for smaller geographies or geographies with
very few households of a specific race or ethnicity. White refers to non-Hispanic White heads of
household only. Hispanic/Latino refers to those of any race whose ethnicity is Hispanic or Latino.
All other groups include both Hispanic and non-Hispanic heads of household. Others include
those whose race is American Indian or Alaska Native, Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander, Some
Other Race, and Two or More Races.
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Median Home Value

Over the past decade, median home values have risen substantially
across Michigan, with Livingston County experiencing one of the most
pronounced increases in the state. As the Median Home Values Over
Time (2013-2023) chart above shows, between 2013 and 2023, the
median home value in Livingston County rose by $148,000, compared
to a statewide increase of $95,900 during the same period. As of
2023, the median home value in Livingston County stands at
$331,100.

This rapid appreciation in home values has implications for
affordability, particularly for first-time buyers and lower-income
households. Rising costs have outpaced wage growth for many
residents, potentially limiting access to homeownership and
contributing to the growing need for diverse and attainable housing
options. This trend emphasizes the importance of proactive planning
to ensure that long-term residents and new households alike can
access stable and affordable housing.

$331,100

Livingston County
Median Home
Value (2023)

+30%

Since 2013

+52%

Higher than
Michigan Median
Home Value
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Home Price Supportable at Median Income vs. Median Home Price

Source: American Community Survey (ACS), US Census Bureau

The Livingston County Home Price Supportable at Median Income vs. Median Home Price Over Time
(2013-2023) chart above shows that over the past decade, Livingston County has experienced a
significant increase in median home prices. By 2023, the price of homes increased by over 80%
over ten years. This steep upward trend reflects a combination of high demand, constrained
housing supply, and broader economic factors driving up real estate values across the region.

While overall household income growth initially kept pace with rising home prices, recent years
have revealed a growing affordability gap. From 2013 to 2021, the maximum supportable home
price for all households in Livingston County rose steadily from $358,490 to $521,530, due largely
to rising incomes and historically low interest rates. However, between 2021 and 2023, this figure
fell sharply to $419,540. The maximum supportable home price represents the highest home price
that a typical household can afford without becoming cost-burdened, based on factors such as
median income, interest rates, and standard lending practices. A decline in this figure means that
households can afford less expensive homes than they previously could (often due to rising
mortgage rates or stagnant incomes) even as actual home prices continue to increase. This
disconnect signals a growing challenge for residents trying to purchase homes within their
financial means.

The data indicates a clear trend; that while Livingston County’s housing market remains strong,
homeownership is becoming increasingly inaccessible for many residents. Ensuring a diverse
range of housing options (including entry-level homes, townhouses, and mixed-income
developments) will be critical to preserving long-term affordability and economic inclusivity across
the county.
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Homeowner Cost Burden

Source: American Community Survey (ACS), US Census Bureau

A person is cost burdened if they spend 30.0% or more
of their annual income on housing expenses. These
include mortgage payments, utilities, property taxes,
and insurance. Accordingly, the Livingston County Owner
Cost Burden Rate by Income chart above shows which
income groups are most cost-burdened in the county.
In 2023, 94.7% of residents who made under $20,0000
were cost burdened, as were 64.0% of residents who
made between $20,000 and $35,000, and 42.6% of
individuals who made between $35,000 and $50,000.
Among the higher income groups, cost burdens were
still prevalent, as 24.0% of those in the $50,000 to
$75,000 income group were overburdened, as were
12.2% of those in the $75,000 to $100,000 group. This
data reveals a striking need for housing options that are
affordable across a broad range of income levels. While
the most severe burdens are concentrated among
lower-income households, many moderate- and
middle-income homeowners are also experiencing cost
pressures, therefore underscoring the growing
mismatch between housing costs and household
earnings.
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Senior Homeowners

Seniors (individuals aged 65 and older) in Livingston
County are disproportionately affected by housing
cost burdens. According to the Livingston County Share
of Senior Homeowners Who are Cost Burdened (2023)
chart above, 27.0% of senior homeowners are cost
burdened, compared to 17.2% of all homeowners
countywide. This indicates that older adults, many of
whom live on fixed incomes, are significantly more
likely to spend over 30.0% of their income on housing
costs. These figures highlight the need for more
affordable, accessible, and age-friendly housing
options to help older residents age in place without
financial hardship.
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Rented Homes by Building Typology

Rental homes are more diverse than
owned homes in terms of building
typology in Livingston County. The
Livingston County Rented Homes by
Building Typology (2023) chart at left
shows that only 28.8% of rentals in
the county are single-family homes,
while 29% of rentals have 2-9 units
in each building. 24.5% have
between 10 and 59 units, while the
remainder have at least 50.

Source: American Community Survey (ACS), US Census Bureau

Median Rent

$1,236

Livingston County
Median Monthly Rental
Cost (2023)

+35%

Since 2013

+14%

Higher than Michigan
Median Monthly Rental
Cost (2023)

Source: American Community Survey (ACS), US Census Bureau
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The Livingston County Median Rent 2013-2023 chart on the page above shows the steady rise of
county and statewide rental housing costs. The current median monthly rental cost in Livingston
County is approximately $1,236, revealing a 35% increase since 2013. Michigan’s rental costs have
always been lower than Livingston County's, yet have still experienced the same rise in recent
years. The rental cost in Livingston County is slightly above the median for the Southeast Michigan
Council of Governments (SEMCOG) region, which as of 2023 was estimated to be $1,180 per
month.

Comparison of Median Rent and Affordable Rent

Source: American Community Survey (ACS), US Census Bureau

The Livingston County Comparison of Median Rent and Affordable Rent (2018-2023) chart above
illustrates the annual comparison between the median rent in Livingston County and the rent that
would be considered affordable to a household earning the county's median renter income,
assuming the standard affordability threshold of 30% of income spent on housing. Over the
six-year period, both figures have steadily increased, reflecting rising housing costs and incomes.
However, the rent deemed affordable has consistently remained above the actual median rent on
the market. While this might initially suggest that the average renter is not cost burdened, the
"affordable rent" metric is based on median renter household income—meaning that half of all
renters earn less than this threshold. Therefore, many lower-income households still struggle with
rent burden despite this apparent affordability gap. Additionally, the narrowing margin between
affordable rent and market rent, especially in recent years (e.g., 2023: $2,530 affordable vs. $2,130
median), signals tightening housing conditions. If rental prices continue to rise faster than incomes
(particularly for those in the lower half of the income distribution) the county may see increased
affordability challenges, housing instability, and displacement pressures.
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Renter Cost Burden Rate

The Livingston County Renter Cost Burden Rate
(2018-2023) chart above represents the change in
renter households who experienced moderate to
severe cost burdens between 2018 and 2023. In
2018, 24.8% of renters were cost-burdened,
meaning they spent approximately 30% or more of
their income on housing expenses; while 22.3%
were severely cost-burdened, spending at least 50%
of their income on housing. In 2023, the share of
renters who are cost-burdened increased by 2.6%
to 27.4%, while the share of those severely
cost-burdened decreased by 3.3%.
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Renter Cost Burden Rate by Income

The Livingston County Renter Cost Burden Rate by Income (2023) chart above shows the income
groups in which renters experience the highest cost burdens. The rate of cost-burden prevalence
for renters decreases as income increases, as those who make more money are less likely to
spend proportionately as much on housing expenses. The income groups that are most
cost-burdened tend to make under $50,000 per year, however, the data reveals that cost burden
is still present across all income levels, including among moderate- and even higher-income
households.

Senior Renters

As indicated in the Livingston County
Share of Senior Renters Who are Cost
Burdened (2023) chart at left, Senior
renters in Livingston County face far
more severe cost-burdens than the
general public. While 50.9% of all
renter households are
cost-burdened, 75.8% of seniors
who rent spend at least 30% of their
income on housing expenses. This
necessitates efforts to ensure that
the county’s aging population can
access attainable housing options.
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Livingston County, Ml Housing Market Assessment (2020)

In 2020, Baker Tilly conducted the_Livingston County. M|
Housing Market Assessment, analyzing the conditions of
multifamily and senior independent living in Livingston
County. The purpose of this study was to better understand
the Livingston County housing rental market in order to
craft targeted strategies to improve housing options. The
study concluded that:

e A market exists for the addition of multifamily
and senior independent rental housing in
Livingston County- with the demand originating
from residents already residing within the
county. Only 20-25% of this demand comes from
households migrating to the county to be closer
to work or family.

Homelessness

Although Livingston County is often viewed as a high-income area, many residents experience
acute housing insecurity, including homelessness and near-homelessness. In 2023, an estimated
9.38% of the population was living with severe housing problems, which include overcrowding,
inadequate plumbing or kitchen facilities, or housing cost burdens exceeding 50% of income.
While this figure represents a 3.72% decline since 2014, homelessness and housing instability
remain persistent issues for many vulnerable residents.

Livingston County Homeless Continuum of Care Committee

The Livingston County Homeless Continuum of Care Committee (HCCC) is the federally mandated
body responsible for planning and coordinating local responses to homelessness. The committee
was established in response to housing being identified as one of the county's top community
needs by both service providers and residents. The HCCC oversees a full continuum of housing
services, including:

Homelessness prevention programs

Emergency shelter and crisis response services

Transitional and supportive housing

Access to affordable housing units

Supportive wraparound services to ensure housing stability
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Local Resources & Services

e OLSHA (Oakland Livingston Human Service Agency) - Rental assistance, emergency
utilities, housing counseling, and veteran support services.

e LACASA - Emergency crisis shelter and advocacy for individuals impacted by domestic
or sexual violence.
The Salvation Army - Emergency shelter, rental assistance, and utility assistance.
St. Vincent de Paul - Shelter and financial support for housing, coordinated through
partner churches including St. Augustine, St. Joseph, Holy Spirit, St. Patrick, and St. Mary
Magdalen.

e Habitat for Humanity of Livingston County - Homeownership opportunities, repair
programs, and community-based housing solutions.

Homeless Management Information System (HMIS)

The Housing Assessment and Resource Agency (HARA) also oversees the Homeless Management
Information System (HMIS); a federally mandated, secure database used to track client-level data
and monitor service outcomes. HMIS ensures accountability, reduces duplication of services, and
improves strategic planning.

Homeless Continuum of Care Livingston County Community Plan (2018)

The Homeless Continuum of Care drafted a set of goals in 2018 designed to ensure that
individuals and families within the county can easily and attainably access affordable housing
options. Goals include preventing foreclosures, increasing accessibility and capacity of emergency
resources, and community engagement. Further information can be found at the HCC Livingston
County Community Plan 2018 webpage.
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Housing: Feedback & Current Trends

— Feedback

Current Trends

Missing Middle Housing

Planners are increasingly focusing on "missing
middle" housing types—such as duplexes, triplexes,
townhomes, and cottage courts—that bridge the gap
between single-family homes and large apartment
complexes. These provide more attainable,
lower-maintenance options that suit smaller
households, seniors, and first-time buyers.

Housing + Transportation Cost

Index (H+T Affordability)

Many communities are using the H+T Index, which
accounts for both housing and transportation costs
to assess true affordability.

Adaptive Reuse and Infill
Development

Communities are revisiting underutilized parcels to

infill with housing or convert to residential use. This

revitalizes existing infrastructure and reduces sprawl
while expanding housing diversity.

Accessory Dwelling Units (ADUs)

Some communities are allowing smaller,
independent residential units on the same lot as
primary homes. These can provide flexible,
lower-cost housing options.

Rising Costs

As the median sales price for homes steadily
increase over the next 10 years, communities can
expect housing attainment to be a challenge for
many residents.
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Housing: Goals & Objectives

Goal #1: Preserve Open Space through
Strategic Growth

Guide housing development in a way that supports rural

preservation and environmental stewardship.

Objective: Encourage rural townships to plan for growth in
a manner that limits sprawl and maintains long-term
agricultural viability.

Objective: Conduct a county-wide build-out analysis to
discover where the most space exists for new
development without infringing on essential natural areas
and agricultural lands.

Goal #2: The Right Homes in the Right
Places

Encourage a variety of housing options for our

workforce, families, and seniors while safeguarding
Livingston County's open spaces and rural identity.

Objective: Encourage the siting of mixed housing types
(e.g., duplexes, townhomes, cottage courts) near existing
infrastructure and service areas.

Objective: Ensure that new development patterns
complement existing community character and do not
overextend infrastructure capacity.
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Housing: Goals & Objectives

Goal #3: Increase Housing Affordability with
Smart, Sustainable Strategies

Ensure housing options remain attainable for residents

across all income levels, household types, and life stages
by using cost-effective, low-impact approaches.

Objective: Promote preservation, adaptive reuse, and
rehabilitation of existing housing stock to maintain
affordability and neighborhood character.

Objective: Share resources and connect residents with
state, federal, and nonprofit programs that provide
financial assistance for homebuyers, renters, and seniors.

Objective: Provide guidance to local units on zoning tools
that can support affordability without requiring major
infrastructure expansion.

Goal #4: Coordinate a County-Wide Housing
Strategy

Build a shared framework to guide housing decisions

across municipalities.

Objective: Encourage local municipalities to participate in a
county housing study and use its findings to inform
master plans, zoning ordinances, and infrastructure
planning.

Objective: Develop a county housing map identifying
preferred growth areas, existing infrastructure, and
sensitive lands to avoid.

202




TRANSPORTATION




Community Context: Transportation

Livingston County: Transportation

Snapshot

Livingston County's transportation system
consists of two main highways, various state
routes, and numerous local roads; all of
which form a vital foundation for movement
within the county. Local resources such as
sidewalks, trails, and public transportation
also work to connect individuals to social
gatherings, work/ places of employment,
health/wellness visits, and other amenities.
Therefore, it is essential to thoughtfully plan
road projects and utilities in areas expected
to experience growth. By carefully
considering these developments, Livingston
County can work to prevent the typical
sprawl and mismatched land uses that could
encroach upon agricultural land and open
spaces in Livingston County.
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Roadways

Livingston County has a 2,318 mile long road network that ranges from low traffic rural corridors
to busy interstates. Regional roadway designations can be seen on the Livingston County Major
Transportation Routes map below and include:

Interstates: In Michigan, Interstate Highways are part of the national Interstate Highway System, a
network of freeways designed for high-speed travel between states. These highways are federally
funded and administered but maintained by the Michigan Department of Transportation (MDOT).
They are characterized by controlled access, grade separations, and are part of the National
Highway System.

Interstates are designed for high-speed travel and typically have multiple lanes, with more than
80% of the system featuring four lanes or more. They are part of the larger Interstate Highway
System, a network connecting states across the country. They are numbered in a grid pattern, with
even numbers for east-west routes and odd numbers for north-south routes.

Major Interstate Highways in Michigan include I-75, 1-94, and 1-96, which bisects
central Livingston County in a general east-to-west direction. The 1-96 corridor
runs east/west through Livingston County, and experiences approximately
25,000 average annual daily trips (AADT). The overall length of 1-96 is
approximately 192 miles. The western terminus is at US-31 in Norton Shores,
while the eastern terminus is at Exit 48, I-75/ Fisher Freeway in downtown
Detroit. The Memorial Highway designation “Officer Mason Samborski
Memorial Highway” has been officially assigned by the Michigan Legislature to the portion of 1-96
that traverses through the City of Howell.

US Highways: US Highways are also numbered and part of the National Highway System, but they
are primarily designed to connect cities rather than states. MDOT maintains the 2,528 miles of US
Highways (including Business Connections) within the state of Michigan.

The only US highway that passes through Livingston County is US-23, which
runs along the eastern quadrant of the county in a general north-to-south
direction. In Michigan, US-23 begins about 17 miles south of the city of Dundee,
with its northern terminus at |-75 at Exit 338 in Mackinaw City. The overall
length of US-23 is 363 miles. In early days, US-23 between Toledo and Flint was
considered somewhat of a “secondary” route. Today, however, it is one of
Michigan's busier freeways through that stretch, carrying traffic around Metro
Detroit as well as high levels of Ann Arbor commuter traffic. US-23 serves as a major national
connector route through the entire State of Michigan, and links with 1-96 in Brighton. This major
linkage point boosts Livingston County's access to major freight nodes and tourist destinations
throughout the state, as well as placing the county at the economically valuable crossroads of
Michigan.
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State Highways: State highways are state-maintained roads designated with an “M-" prefix and are
not necessarily built to the same high-speed, controlled-access standards as Interstates.

M-36 is a state trunkline highway in the Lower

Peninsular of the US state of Michigan that runs

in a west-east direction from Mason to

Whitmore Lake. The trunkline connects US

Highway 127 (US 127) south of Lansing and

US-23 north of Ann Arbor. The highway connects
several smaller communities in the rural areas along its route.
M-36 also runs concurrently with two other roadways, sharing
pavement with M-52 and County Road D-19. Its major
intersections include US-127 (Lansing, Jackson), M-52 (Webberville, Chelsea), M-106 (Jackson), D-19
(Howell), and US-23 (Flint, Ann Arbor).

M-59 is an east-west state trunkline highway that crosses the northern part of

Metropolitan Detroit. It runs between Howell at Interstate 96 (I-96) and 1-94 on the

Chesterfield-Harrison township line near the Selfridge Air National Guard Base.

While primarily a multi-lane surface highway, it is a full freeway from just east of

downtown Pontiac near Opdyke Road to just east of the Mound Road/ Merrill Road
exit in Utica. M-59 has a total length of approximately 60 miles.

M-59 starts at 1-96 in Howell Township as Highland Road near a
large outlet mall. Highland Road carries M-59 concurrently with the
westernmost section of Business Loop 1-96 (BL 1-96). Highland Road
widens out into a boulevard south of the county airport before the
roadway reaches Grand River Avenue. At this intersection, BL 1-96
departs to the southwest. This section of Howell is mostly
residential with tree-lined streets. The boulevard section ends near
Thompson Lake and M-59 continues east through rural Livingston
County as a two-lane highway crossing forested and residential
areas. Halfway across Hartland Township, M-59 meets US-23 near
the Hartland Plaza Shopping Center, and Highland Road widens out
to a boulevard divided highway again. The route passes several
small lakes and continues east into Oakland County. Within
Livingston County, M-59 has major intersections with 1-96 (Lansing,
Detroit-near Howell) and US-23 (Ann Arbor, Flint-near Howell).

M-106 travels in a southwest-to-northwest direction from Jackson to Gregory at a
junction with M-36 just a few miles northwest of Hell. M-106 merges with M-52 and
the two run concurrently into that community. M-106 turns east into the downtown
area and continues along Morton Road into Livingston County. The highway ends at
a junction with M-36 in Gregory.
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Local Roads: A system of county-maintained routes begun in 1970 in an attempt to supplement
the state highway system. These routes are not a part of the state trunkline highway system, but
are somewhat statewide in nature and coordinated by MDOT and the Livingston County Road
Commission. The system was begun to provide a consistent, statewide county numbering system
for identifying primary county roads which retained their designations across county lines.

Known as Pinckney Rd for much of its length, D-19 is one of only two intercounty
highways in Southeast Michigan and both are in Livingston County, the other
being D-32. D-19 has a total length of approximately 11 miles. Its southern
terminus is located at the intersection of Patterson Lake, Toma & Darwin Roads,
south of the Village of Pinckney. Its northern terminus is located at the
intersection with 1-96 at Exit 137 on the southern edge of the City of Howell.

D-32 is known as the “Road to Hell”, as along its route is the small community of
Hell, Michigan, southwest of Pinckney. D-32 has a total length of approximately
8 miles. Its western terminus is at the intersection of M-106 in Gregory, just one
block south of junction M-36 and M-106. Its eastern terminus is at its junction
with D-19, at the intersection of Patterson Lake, Toma and Darwin Roads south
of the Village of Pinckney.

All major roadways can be seen on the Livingston County Major Transportation Routes map on the
following page.

Livingston County Road Commission

The Livingston County Road
Commission is a governmental body
responsible for maintaining gravel and
paved local roads. Services provided
by the Road Commission include: road
maintenance and construction; bridge
maintenance and replacement; traffic
services; right-of-way acquisitions;
surveying; planning for future road
projects; and permit issues for
privately  proposed work, local
communities, and public utility
projects within county road
right-of-ways.
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Traffic Capacity

Traffic capacity refers to the number of vehicles that can travel through a road segment or
intersection over a given period. To evaluate how well a roadway is functioning, traffic engineers
use Levels of Service (LOS), a scale from A to F. LOS A through C represent free-flowing traffic with
minimal delays, while LOS D through indicate increasing levels of congestion and longer wait times
for drivers. Traffic studies are conducted to measure current traffic flow and are then shared with
the appropriate road agencies. These agencies use the data to identify potential improvements
and plan for future infrastructure needs. The results are especially valuable for understanding
how proposed developments may impact nearby roadways.

The Livingston County Traffic Volumes map on the page below, provided by the Southeast Michigan
Council of Governments (SEMCOG), highlights the areas in Livingston County with the highest
traffic volumes.
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Commuting Patterns

Understanding the commuting patterns of county
residents can provide valuable insights into their
workplaces and spending habits, as well as highlight
various travel routes for potential transportation
enhancements. Data from the Workforce Intelligence
Network finds that the majority of Livingston County
residents work outside of the county. More detailed data
can be found in the Where Livingston County Residents
Work (2019) chart, located in the Livingston County
Economic Profile section of this plan (pages 59 & 60).

Recent data from Michigan Works! also found that
Livingston County residents have the second longest
commuting time in the state at 31 minutes, preceded only
by Lapeer County at 34 minutes. This extended commute
duration is notably higher than the national average of
26.6 minutes.

Below, the Livingston County Work Commute Methods 2010-2023 table shows the main methods
that Livingston County residents have used to commute to work since 2010. The majority of
residents (78%) drive alone to work, however this is declining as more people work from home.
Approximately 11% more people within the county worked from home in 2023 than in 2010.

Livingston County Work Commute Methods 2010-2023

Drove Alone 73,904 86% 76,177 78% -8%
Carpool 6,984 8% 5,444 6% -3%
Public Transportation 177 0% 180 0% 0%

Walked 844 1% 939 1% 0%

Biked 68 0% 14 0% 0%

Other Means 745 1% 533 1% 0%

Worked at Home 3,367 4% 14,068 14% 11%
Total Workers 86,089 97,355
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Public Transportation

Public transportation in Livingston County offers a
dependable means to travel between various
regions through the use of buses and shuttles. This
includes a range of services, such as:

In 2023, 180 Livingston County
residents used public

transportation as a means for
getting to work.

On-demand scheduled rides
Regular route transportation
Health/wellness transportation
Airport transportation

Livingston Essential Transportation Services (LETS)

Livingston Essential Transportation Services (LETS) is the primary
public transportation provider in Livingston County, encompassing a
568 square mile service area. LETS is crucial in supporting
transportation through community partnerships with recreation
facilities, schools, health facilities, and municipalities.

In 2024, LETS recorded a total of 147,571 rides, averaging between
12,000 and 14,000 rides per month. Although ridership dropped LETS
significantly during the pandemic from 2020 to 2022, it has now

rebounded to pre-pandemic levels, matching the 142,000 annual Completes
ridesI recor(:e? IiIn 20(1145 User('js. olf L.E'.I:(S pricrlnarily uts.e itlto tgc.(;.ess between

employment, followed by medical visits and recreational activities.
Over the past few years, there has been a notable rise in 121000 and

employment related trips, with 50% of riders using the service to 14’000 rides
reach their jobs. Further data reveals that 58% of the riders are from h
the general public, 22% are individuals with disabilities, and 20% are per mont .
seniors.

As LETS continues to adapt and grow, future plans may focus on
enhancing service frequency, expanding routes, and integrating
technology to streamline user experience. This commitment to
improvement ensures that LETS not only meets current demands but
also anticipates the evolving needs of Livingston County residents.
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Michigan Flyer

The Michigan Flyer is a bus route that
transports people to and from various airports
throughout Southern Michigan. The Michigan
Flyer currently has one stop near Livingston
County at the Brighton Eight Mile MDOT Park &
Ride Lot (665 Eight Mile W, Whitmore Lake) For
approximately $30, individuals can travel to the
Lansing, Ann Arbor, or Detroit airports.

In 2024, the Michigan Flyer had 11,151 rides
from Livingston County, an increase of 63%
(4,206 rides) from 2022.

Mass Transportation Authority (MTA)

The Flint Mass Transportation Authority (MTA)'s fifteen Regional Routes to Livingston County
transport nearly 700 passengers each day between Flint and manufacturing employers in Brighton
and Howell. Stops and routes can be found at the website.

Livingston County Transportation Coalition

The Livingston County Transportation Coalition (LCTC)
is the local body approved by Livingston County Human
Services Collaborative Body to coordinate and oversee
the health and human service transportation needs of
the community. The LCTC formally meets monthly to
recognize the gaps in public transportation and pull
together providers to identify strategies to eliminate
these gaps. The work this group carries out involves
improving the full gamut of transportation- such as
buses, ride-sharing, cabs, Lyft, Uber, bike,
pedestrian-friendly options as well. All work
accomplished by the LCTC is done in mind of
accessibility and inclusivity for all members of the
community.
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Pedestrian Infrastructure

Utilizing tools to plan for a variety of transportation
modes including non-motorized traffic is crucial in
creating a more safe and active community. The concept
of complete streets emphasizes designing roadways that
cater to all wusers, including pedestrians, cyclists,
motorists, and public transit riders. By integrating
features such as bike lanes, pedestrian-friendly
crosswalks, and efficient public transport options,
communities can enhance mobility and safety for
everyone. Community involvement therefore plays a
significant role in this process, as local insights and
feedback can help identify specific needs and
preferences. Through workshops, surveys, and public
forums, residents can contribute to shaping their
neighborhoods in ways that reflect their unique character
and requirements. Many communities in Livingston
County have developed their own recreation or pathways
plans, which were taken into account and included in the

The trail map highlights the
priority routes across the county, focusing on uses such
as recreation as well as pedestrian connections to places
of business, work, or school. The map can be found in the
Livingston County: Natural Resources & Recreation section
of this plan (page 83).

The Mike Levine trail is a prime example and a great
source of pride for Livingston County residents, spanning
33 miles between Hamburg Township (Livingston County)
and Blackman Township (Jackson County). In Livingston
County, it runs through the communities of Gregory,
Pinckney, and Hamburg. The trail is also a large
component of the regional Great Lake to Lake Trails
Route #1, which extends 275 miles from South Haven to
Port Huron.

Additionally, in 2025, the State of Michigan updated its
Active Transportation Plan, which will help identify gaps in
trail networks and prioritize strategies for improving
regional connections and safety measure enhancements.
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Accidents Involving Pedestrians

Recent data from the Michigan State Police show an
unfortunate statewide increase in pedestrian injuries along
roadways,  demonstrating the  critical need for
decision-makers to consider pedestrian travel during the
initial stages of transportation projects.

e Pedestrian-involved crashes rose by 11% in
Michigan with 2,114 crashes in 2023 and 1,897 in
2022.

e Pedestrian fatalities in Michigan increased by 6%
with 183 deaths in 2023 and 173 in 2022.

e Bicycle-involved crashes in Michigan increased by
10%, with 1,480 crashes in 2023 and 1,340 in 2022.

e Bicyclist fatalities in Michigan fell by 33%, with 24
deaths in 2023 and 36 in 2022.

Various elements are crucial in ensuring individuals, especially children, can travel without
unnecessary risks. Buffers, such as greenery or physical barriers, can provide a protective space
between pedestrians and vehicular traffic, reducing the likelihood of accidents. Clear and visible
signage is also essential to guide both pedestrians and drivers, ensuring that everyone is aware of
the shared spaces and the need for caution. Additionally, traffic signals and crosswalks- when
strategically placed- can help manage the flow of vehicles and pedestrians, giving clear indications
of when it is safe to cross or proceed.

Most urban areas in Livingston County have sidewalks throughout their downtowns. In 2024, the
cities of Howell and Brighton upgraded their pedestrian infrastructure to improve accessibility and
safety standards. While sidewalks are present in downtown areas, there is a noticeable lack of
pedestrian infrastructure further away from city centers which could aid in connecting residents to
downtown amenities. Despite these gaps, data shows that people still have corridors that may lack
sufficient safety measures for non-motorized traffic. To understand how all of these elements can
affect safety, a traffic audit that integrates buses, bicycles, pedestrians, and cars can be used to
better comprehend gaps in traffic safety measures.

The Livingston County Biking Comfortability map on the page below shows which roadways
residents feel most comfortable biking on. While many residential and local roads present as
comfortable for many people, most major connective roadways are only comfortable for some or
few.
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Vehicle Crash Data

Whitmore Lake Rd.
at Lee Rd. (Green
Oak Township) has
the highest annual
number of crashes
in the county
(67.2).

Analyzing crash data can help to identify high-risk areas
and prioritize them for enhancements. For example,
frequent crashes at a particular intersection might
indicate the need for better signage, improved lighting,
or the installation of traffic signals. Additionally,
understanding the types of accidents occurring can help
in designing more effective safety measures, such as
adding pedestrian crosswalks or bike lanes to reduce
collisions  with  non-motorized users. Ultimately,
leveraging crash data not only contributes to safer roads
but also enhances overall community well-being by
reducing injuries and fatalities. The Livingston County High
Frequency Intersection Crash Rankings by Number of
Crashes 2019-2023 chart below outlines intersections
with the most crashes per year in Livingston County. The
Livingston County High Frequency Road Segment Crash
Rankings by Crash 2019-2023 chart on the following page
shows the segments of roads under which the most
accidents occur per year.

Livingston County High Frequency Intersection Crash Rankings by Number of Crashes

2019-2023

Whitmore Lake Rd. at Lee Rd. 67.2
Grand River Ave. at E I-96/ Grand River Ramp 33.8
Grand River Rd. at Latson Rd. 31.4
Grand River Rd. at Challis Rd. 21

Highland Rd. at Old US-23 18.4
Grand River Ave. at Old US-23 18.2
Highland Rd. at Latson Rd. 17.6
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Livingston County High Frequency Road Segment Crash Rankings by Number of
Crashes 2019-2023

E. Highland Rd. Hacker Rd. to Old US-23 46.2
us-23 US-23/M-36 Ramp to 9 Mile Rd. 43.8
E. Grand River Ave. Chilson Rd. to Latson Rd. 43.2
uUs-23 Silver Lake Rd./ US-23 Ramp to Lee 40.2
Rd.
E I-96/ Grand River Ramp E 1-96 to W. Grand River Ave. 31
E. Clyde Rd. Argentine Rd. to Old US-23 30.6
W. Grand River Ave. Challis Rd. to Charles Orndorf Dr. 28.6
uUs-23 Clyde Rd./US-23 Ramp to Center 27.2
Rd./ US-23 Ramp
Old US 23 Hyne Rd. to Bergin Rd. 26.4
S. Latson Rd. E. Grand River Ave to Golf Club Rd.

The Livingston County Crash Locations map on
the following page  highlights the
intersections with the highest frequencies of
traffic accidents. Evidently, areas along both
major expressways face the highest amount
of crashes, likely because they are the most
heavily traveled. These locations often
combine high traffic volumes, complex
interchange  movements, and multiple
modes of travel, which can increase the
likelihood of collisions.

The data also shows that several high-crash

intersections—such as Whitmore Lake Rd. at
Lee Rd. and Grand River Ave. at E [-96—are near freeway ramps, suggesting that merge and
weaving movements may contribute to incidents. Similarly, certain stretches of E. Highland Rd., E.
Grand River Ave., and US-23 experience frequent crashes, which may indicate the need for
targeted roadway safety audits.
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Livingston County Transit Master Plan (2019)

Airports

The outlines a
set of goals for the county’s public transportation
service (LETS). The organization has completed many
of the short-term goals established since 2019,
including: adding a Detroit Metro Airport Service;
improving the trip management system; increasing
the fleet; and adding a Grand River Sidewalk Network.
Additionally, the number of riders utilizing the public
transportation services has now returned to
pre-pandemic levels. Therefore, it may be an
opportune time to revisit some of the long-term
objectives outlined in the transit plan. Among these
goals are expanding service on weekdays and
weekends, launching a Grand River Avenue bus route,
and introducing a commuter service to Ann Arbor.

Livingston County's Airport is also a part of our
transportation infrastructure that serves as a
reliever airport- meaning it is designed to
alleviate congestion at other larger commercial
service airports. The Livingston County Airport
serves a broad range of needs including
transportation of people and goods,
transportation of critical care patients, search
and rescue operations, tourism, law
enforcement activity, flight instruction. The
location of the Airport allows county residents,

visitors and commercial interests a high level of utility with easy highway access to 1-96, M-59 and
US 23. There are also five additional public use airports, all of which can be seen on the Livingston
County Major Transportation Routes map on page 151 of this plan.
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Transportation: Feedback & Current Trends

— Feedback ————

g§0000000000000000000000000000 00

— Current Trends ———

Complete Streets

Communities are designing streets for all users,
including pedestrians, cyclists, and transit riders to
improve safety and connectivity.

Flexible and On-Demand Public
Transit

On-demand and flexible transit services are growing
in popularity as they offer cost-effective mobility
options for rural and low-density areas where fixed
routes are not feasible.

E-Bikes and Active Mobility

The rise of electric bike usage is prompting
communities to plan for wider trails, charging
infrastructure, and safer shared-use paths that
accommodate a broader range of riders.

Transportation-Oriented
Development (TOD)

TOD focuses growth around transit hubs (i.e., bus or
rail stops) to create walkable, mixed-use
communities that reduce car dependency and
support public transportation use.

Electric Vehicles

The electrification of transportation is on the rise
with growing rates of electric vehicle adoption.
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Transportation: Goals & Objectives

Goal #1: Promote Diverse Transportation
Options

Accommodate all modes of transportation by planning

facilities for pedestrians, cyclists, and vehicle drivers.

Objective: Encourage and provide assistance to
communities in implementing complete street goals (i.e.,
sidewalks, pedestrian infrastructure, alternative
transportation method accommodations) into local
master plans.

Objective: Encourage and promote a county-wide policy
that results in safe and efficient transportation networks
for all users.

Objective: Regularly attend Livingston County

Transportation Coalition meetings and facilitate
cross-organizational coordination.

Goal #2: Promote Transportation Safety

Enhance safety for drivers, pedestrians, and cyclists by

identifying high-risk areas.

Objective: Analyze crash data and share findings with local
and regional transportation agencies to support safety
improvements.

Objective: Encourage local jurisdictions to adopt design
best practices for pedestrian, bicycle, and roadway safety
through model policies.
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Transportation: Goals & Objectives

Goal #3: Coordinate Transportation with
Land Use and Growth Areas

Guide transportation decisions in ways that support
compact growth, reduce infrastructure costs, and protect

the county's rural character.

Objective: Focus improvements in areas with planned
development to reduce the risk of sprawl and preserve
agricultural and natural land.

Objective: Partner with townships, cities, and regional
stakeholders to align road projects with land use, housing,
and utility planning.

Goal #4: Enhance Connectivity Within and
Beyond the County

Advocate for connection improvements across
communities and regional hubs to reduce commute

times and strengthen access to jobs, services, and
amenities.

Objective: Provide data and best practices to help local
governments prioritize transportation improvements in
areas designated for future development, minimizing
sprawl.

Objective: Support coordination between townships, the
road commission, and regional partners by facilitating
conversations that align transportation planning with local
master plans and housing strategies.
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Livingston County: Infrastructure
Snapshot

Livingston County's utility and technology
systems are essential for community well-being
and economic growth. From water treatment
and electric service to broadband expansion
and data infrastructure, utility providers and
public agencies across the county are working
to improve reliability, accessibility, and
long-term resilience.

This chapter provides an overview of utility and
infrastructure conditions in Livingston County,
with attention to key providers, major
infrastructure systems, and planning trends
shaping the future. By outlining current assets,
gaps, and initiatives in areas like water
management, broadband access, solid waste
planning, and renewable energy deployment,
this section aims to support townships and local
agencies in making informed, future-focused
land use decisions.
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Water Management

The Livingston County Drain Commissioner deals almost
exclusively with issues that directly or indirectly affect water
quality. Livingston County has approximately 500 miles of county
drains established under the provisions of the Michigan Drain
Code, Act 40 of the Public Acts of 1956, as amended (“Drain Code").
The Drain Commissioner’s office is actively involved in county-wide
stormwater management, watershed planning, lake management,
solid waste programs like household hazardous waste disposal,
wastewater treatment, soil erosion control programs, and
emergency management.

Additionally, the Marion Howell Oceola Genoa (MHOG) Utility Department is responsible for
managing municipal water and sanitary sewer systems in these townships. The department
oversees water treatment plans, water towers, wellhead protection areas, and more. It is critical to
safeguard areas identified as wellhead protection areas to prevent contamination of drinking
water and maintain their recharge levels. MHOG has established a comprehensive Wellhead Plan
that outlines guidelines for wellhead protection within the municipalities. Other regions of the
county are serviced by individual municipalities or private wells/ septic systems.

The Cities of Brighton and Howell, as well as the Villages of Fowlerville and Pinckney, have
collection systems and treatment systems for wastewater from residents and businesses. In
addition to these municipal systems, the Townships of Brighton, Green Oak, Hamburg, Handy, and
Howell Township have smaller wastewater treatment facilities and collection systems that serve a
portion of their residents. Furthermore, Deerfield, Hartland, Marion, Osceola, Putnam, Tyrone,
and Unadilla Townships have wastewater collection systems that serve a portion of their
residents, where waste is conveyed to a treatment facility in an adjoining community (Information
courtesy of the Livingston County Drain Commissioner’s Office).

Similar to waste treatment, the cities and villages within the county also have their own water
treatment and distribution system. Certain local townships have their own drinking water
collection, treatment, and distribution systems (including Brighton Township, Genoa Township,
Green Oak Township, Hamburg Township, Hartland Township, Howell Township, Marion
Township, and Oceola Township) (Information courtesy of the Livingston County Drain
Commissioner’s Office). The vast majority of county residents have water supplied by an onsite
well, constructed according to state and county health department requirements.

Activities that could significantly impact groundwater quality and quantity and should be used with
caution or prohibited in these vulnerable areas. Such activities could include underground
hazardous materials, storage tanks, facilities that utilize or store substantial amounts of
hazardous materials or waste, large on-site sewage disposal systems, petroleum pipelines,
landfills, and surface mining operations.
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Solid Waste Management

The Department of Public Works (DPW)/ Solid Waste Management operates within the office of the
Livingston County Drain Commission. The Livingston County DPW/ Solid Waste Coordinator is
responsible for maintaining and overseeing the Livingston County Solid Waste Plan (soon to be
updated to the Livingston County Materials Management Plan).

There are no active landfills in Livingston County, however, there are several places in the greater
region that residents and haulers may take their waste. Residents are encouraged to contact their
local township, city, or village for information regarding whether they need to secure a trash
hauler on their own or if a company may have contracts with their municipality or subdivision.

Curbside recycling is available to some county residents. Each trash hauling company that offers
curbside recycling has its own requirements for how materials should be prepared and what is
accepted. Residents should contact their individual trash hauler for more information on curbside
recycling options.

Drop-off recycling, however, is available to all county residents at Recycle Livingston, located at
170 Catrell Drive, Howell, MI. The materials brought to Recycle Livingston are sent to markets to
ensure that they are reused and repurposed. To maintain their site operation, Recycle Livingston
relies on memberships, donations, and revenues from fundraising events.

Materials Management Planning

Public works and environmental services play
a crucial role in maintaining the infrastructure
and health of our communities. The public
works department is responsible for ensuring
that essentials like clean water, waste
management are well maintained and
efficient. Livingston County is currently in the
process of drafting a Materials Management
Plan to identify alternatives to landfilling,
reduce environmental impacts,  and
contribute to a circular economy. Through
highlighting the best use for recyclable,
organic, and other solid materials, the
Materials Management Plan hopes to protect
natural resources and promote long-term
environmental sustainability. More
information can be found at the Livingston
County Materials Management Planning
Source: Amtivo website.
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Electric Providers

The primary providers of electricity in Livingston County are
Consumers Energy and DTE Energy.

DTE Energy: DTE Energy, formerly known as Detroit Edison
Company, is an investor-owned utility company founded in
1886, serving approximately 2.3 million customers across
southeast Michigan and parts of Livingston County. The
company operates an extensive electrical network that
totals over 44,000 miles of power lines and infrastructure.
Much of DTE's current equipment is being upgraded
through tree-cutting and grid improvements for local energy
reliability. The DTE portfolio also includes non-utility
businesses focused on industrial energy services, renewable
natural gas, and energy marketing and trading.

Consumers Energy: Consumers Energy is another provider of
electric and natural gas service throughout the Livingston County area. They deliver utility services
to approximately 6.7 million customers across all 68 counties in Michigan's Lower Peninsula,
including Livingston County. Founded in 1886 and headquartered in Jackson, Michigan,
Consumers Energy's facilities include hydroelectric operations, wind farms, a nuclear power plant,
and several gas-powered plants. Consumers Energy has been extremely proactive in transitioning
to sustainable energy sources, with plans to phase out coal-fired plants by 2025. They have also
been investing in electric vehicle (EV) infrastructure and development by partnering with General
Motors to develop “smart charging” technologies and encourage the development of several EV
charging stations across Michigan.

Electricity Transmission Operators

International Transmission Company (ITC): ITC is the primary provider of electricity to homes and
businesses after it has been generated at power plants owned and operated by DTE and
Consumers Energy. The electricity is converted to high voltage current, so it travels efficiently over
miles of power lines. Once this electricity reaches local utilities, it is then stepped down to lower
voltages so it can be distributed to homes, businesses, and other facilities. This system is governed
by various federal, regional, state, and local authorities overseeing safety, standards, siting, and
rates.

ITC has transmission lines in Livingston County at two main locations within county borders: a
north-south line in Unadilla, losco, Handy, and Conway Townships, and an east-west transmission
line that spans Conway, Cohoctah, Deerfield, and Hartland Townships. Recent projects were also
announced in Livingston County, including the ‘Oneida to Sabine Lake' 345kV line project, which
builds a new transmission line and a new substation that will be sited in Cohoctah Township.
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Power Outages

Outages are reported and serviced by their respective utility
providers. As heard by the Livingston County public survey, which

had over 1,000 respondents: Average Outage
e 476% of survey respondents said they never lose Length:
power
e 62.40% of survey respondents said they lose power
between 1 and 3 times per year 1 227

e 2599% of survey respondents said they lose power
between 4 and 6 times per year

e 6.85% of survey respondents said they lose power over
7 times per year

minutes

DTE Energy and Consumers Energy now offer outage credits to customers for extended outages.

Natural Gas Service

Consumers Energy is the primary provider of natural gas services in Livingston County. The
company distributes natural gas to over 1.7 million customers in Michigan through an extensive
network of transmission and distribution pipelines. Consumers Energy purchases all the natural
gas it provides to customers, ensuring a reliable supply for residential and business needs. The
company is constantly involved in initiatives to enhance safety and reliability, such as pipeline
inspections and infrastructure upgrades.

Renewable Energy

Laws such as 2008's Public Act 295 established a Renewable Portfolio Standard (RPS), requiring
that 10% of Michigan’s energy come from renewables by 2015. In 2016, Public Act 342 raised the
standard to 15% by 2021.

Most recently, Governor Whitmer announced a
plan to reach 100% clean electricity by 2040- a goal
codified in Public Act 233 of 2023. This law grants
the Michigan Public Service Commission (MPSC) the
authority to oversee the siting of utility-scale
renewable energy projects, allowing developers to
streamline approval processes that were previously
managed at the local level. As a result, energy
conglomerates have accelerated the deployment of
renewable energy technologies. Livingston County
has experienced this shift, with alternative energy
installation proposals quickly increasing.
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Broadband/ Internet

Livingston County has prioritized broadband as essential
infrastructure critical for long-term sustainability and prosperity.
Broadband connectivity improves educational outcomes,
provides public safety benefits, and supports robust economic
development and agricultural initiatives. Unfortunately, many
homes in the community do not have reliable access or a
connection at all to high-speed internet.

In 2022, the Livingston County Information and Technology
Department partnered with the Merit Network's Michigan
Moonshot team to survey communities throughout Livingston
County. The main goal was to assess connection, satisfaction and
quality of broadband. The current source for broadband
connection was from the FCC Nation Broadband Map showing
that Livingston County has 90% coverage. The FCC map (Form
477) is self-reported by service providers and is the basis for
broadband coverage in the United States. The Merit Survey had 6,112 completed surveys with
1,856 of those self-reporting they had no internet in their home. Survey results indicated that 56%
of households overall do not have access to fixed broadband, most of which are located in the
western and northern portions of the county. In contrast, the study found that the southeast
portion of the county (including the areas around Brighton and Pinckney) and the region
surrounding Howell have the highest rates of broadband access.

In March of 2021, the Livingston County Board of Commissioners

took action to seek funding from the U.S. Department of

Agriculture’s Rural Redevelopment Grant and sought out $12 million

in federal funding to add on and develop the County fiber optic
5 6 % cable system to get further out into the County with the possibility of
fiber optic broadband service. In 2022, Livingston County selected
eX* to design and build a 120-mile middle-mile fiber optic network,
ensuring that there is fiber access within three miles of all residents.
The project is now nearing completion.

of Livingston
County households
reported having no

access.to The Livingston County Broadband Access Map on the page below
broadbaggz';temet shows the areas with the highest and lowest densities of high-speed
N o

broadband access within the county prior to when the project was
implemented. Data does not yet exist to evaluate data coverage
since the fiber line has been constructed.
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Data Centers

Data processing centers are facilities that manage and process large volumes of data. These
centers have existed for some time, with notable examples such as Switch, which redeveloped the
former Steelcase building in Grand Rapids, Michigan, in 2015. However, with the exponential
growth of Artificial Intelligence (Al) it has led to an increased demand for data centers capable of
supporting the substantial processing power required by these technologies. Furthermore, the
extension of the data center tax breaks until 2050 (PA 207 of 2024), making Michigan an
increasingly attractive location for large companies considering new data center projects. These
development projects can be expansive that require large amounts of land and require a
significant amount of land and require a significant amount of energy and water resources.

The American Planning Association highlighted data centers as a significant trend in their APA
Trend Report 2025, emphasizing the crucial role that planning can play in this domain. These
technological advancements could help communities balance the benefits of Al with its resource
consumption. Planners can implement regulations to determine data center locations and
establish development requirements. As building net-zero data centers could support both
economic growth and environmental sustainability, planners could work to create incentives for
companies that prioritize green Al initiatives and help establish guidelines for responsible Al
deployment within their jurisdictions”

Planners are tasked with balancing the need for technological advancement with considerations
such as environmental impact, energy consumption, and community integration. By fostering
collaboration between local governments, developers, and communities, planning can help
navigate the complexities of zoning, resource management, and economic development related to
data center projects.
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Infrastructure: Feedback § Current Trends

— Feedback ———— — Current Trends

Decentralized Water and
Wastewater Management

There is a rising reliance on private wells and septic
: . systems in rural areas.

Circular Waste Systems

: : Many municipalities are shifting away from landfill
dependency and toward recycling-focused policies.

:."0.“0.“0.“0."0."0."0.“0.“0.“0.“0.“: Large-scale Renewable Energy
State level authority has prompted the rise of large,
utility-scale renewable energy project proposals in
. : many rural areas with large plots of open land.

Data Centers

Tax incentives and the growth of artificial intelligence
have spurred interest in locating data centers in
. . areas with significant energy and water capacities.

: : Broadband & Internet Expansion
Broadband is increasingly viewed as critical
infrastructure for education, economic development,

and healthcare.

.
.
©000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000
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Infrastructure: Goals & Objectives

Goal #1: Support Improved Reliability of
Utility Infrastructure

Provide data, coordination, and planning assistance to
help local governments and utility partners improve the

reliability of electric, water, wastewater, and natural gas
infrastructure throughout the county.

Objective: Facilitate communication between utility
providers and local governments to share outage data,
identify infrastructure gaps, and plan for grid and system
improvements.

Objective: Assist townships with mapping critical
infrastructure and identifying areas with aging systems or
environmental vulnerabilities.

Goal #2: Facilitate and Support Efforts to
Further Strengthen Broadband Access

Work with regional partners to analyze and map

underserved areas.

Objective: Maintain and update the Livingston County
Broadband Access Map.

Objective: Collaborate with townships and the Livingston
County L.T. Department to identify shortages in
broadband access.
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Infrastructure: Goals & Objectives

Goal #3:; Promote Sustainable Materials
Management and Waste Diversion

Support the development and implementation of the
Livingston County Materials Management Plan by

encouraging cross-jurisdictional coordination and public
education on sustainable waste practices.

Objective: Coordinate outreach materials and educational
campaigns that promote waste reduction and
participation in initiatives set forth by the Livingston
County Materials Management Plan.

Goal #4: Provide Guidance on Planning for
Emerging Utility and Technology
Developments

Help local communities respond to new and evolving

utility trends by offering research and planning tools.

Objective: Prepare informational resources and example
zoning language to help communities navigate large-scale
energy and data center proposals, balancing development
with land use and environmental concerns.

Objective: Track state-level policy changes and support
local governments in understanding how new regulations
affect their review processes and planning priorities.
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Livingston County: Emergency Management
& Hazard Mitigation

Emergency management is a necessary

SnapShOt— function of all levels of government that
stresses an integrated partnership between
public municipalities and the private sector. Its
focus is on improving disaster operations by
providing an emergency coordination and
decision-making framework. It is also a
comprehensive effort to mitigate, prepare for,
respond to, and recover from natural,
technological, and man-made disasters. The
ability of a community to respond effectively
to disasters thus depends largely on actions
taken before the disaster takes place.

Many hazards are localized, with their likely
effects confined to specific known areas:
floods affect floodplains, landslides affect
steep slopes, etc.. Community planning must
therefore integrate awareness of natural
hazards and disaster risk mitigation into
standard planning processes to ensure the
effects of such events are abated. As such, this
section aims to identify strategies for
Livingston County communities to bolster
their hazard mitigation efforts.
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Sustainability and Resiliency

Sustainable communities are characterized by development that meets the needs of the present
without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs. Achieving
sustainability is ensuring that the cycle in which you operate forms a closed loop. That is, the
resources and energy come from renewable sources, that products can be used without damage
or returned for further reprocessing and that waste and transport of waste can be achieved within
the capacity of natural systems to handle the by-products. As such, no community can be
sustainable that is not disaster resistant. A disaster resistant community is one that seeks to
undertake actions that protect families and businesses by reducing the effects of natural,
technological, and man-made hazards. Sustainable development, as it relates to developing a
disaster resistant community through hazard mitigation, can be achieved through the:

Identification of natural, technological, and man-made hazards facing the
community (hazard/vulnerability analysis)

Development of strategies to mitigate hazards (mitigation strategies)

Integration of hazard mitigation into the community planning process
(comprehensive plan/ hazard mitigation interface)

The Interface Between the Livingston County Master Plan and the Livingston County Hazard
Mitigation Plan

By integrating the emergency management function into the
planning process, a governmental unit enhances its
opportunity to devise and implement strategies for reducing
risks from multiple hazards (i.e., floods, hazardous materials
incidents, and other natural, technological, and man-made
disasters). It stresses an integrated approach to
management of the full spectrum of emergencies, including
natural and technological disasters. This integration concept
applies to all relevant hazards as well as all phases of
emergency management:

Prevention
Mitigation
Preparedness
Response
Recovery
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Prevention: Actions taken to avoid an incident,

Preve nt|on stopping an incident from occurring, deterrence
options and surveillance.

Mitigation: Refers to measures that prevent an
emergency, reduce the chance of an emergency
happening, or reduce the damaging effects of

M |t|gat|0 N unavoidable emergencies.

Preparedness: Activities that increase a
community’s ability to respond to a disaster.
Includes developing mutual aid agreements and
memorandums of understanding, training, and
conducting disaster exercises to reinforce
training and test capabilities.

Preparedness

Response: Actions carried out immediately
before, during, and immediately after a hazard

Response impact, which are aimed at saving lives, reducing

economic losses, and alleviating suffering.

Recovery: Actions taken to return a community
to normal or near-normal conditions, including
ReCOVG I’y the restoration of basic services and the repair of

physical, social, and economic damages.

Hazard Mitigation/ Comprehensive Plan Integration:
Is multidisciplinary

Addresses all hazards

Is an issue of development
Must be integrated into the fabric of each organization

Through the integration of the community planning function with emergency management,
planning is in a unique position of combining mitigation measures with development
management programs into coordinated strategies that effectively address the opportunities and
problems of hazard mitigation.
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This integrated approach to planning and emergency

management recognizes that, while responses to emergencies

are the central focus during disasters, mitigation activities to

reduce the degree of risk, preparedness activities to increase the

capability to respond, and recovery activities required to return

the governmental operations to normal are equal components in

a successful program that will allow public officials to meet their

responsibility to provide for the protection of their citizens. Since

hazard mitigation can include many different strategies (i.e.,

improving emergency preparedness, strengthening the built

environment, avoiding development in hazardous locations, and

acquiring adequate insurance coverage), the challenge is for

those disciplines to come together in promoting a clear and

concise hazard mitigation message to the public. Most of the burden of recovering from a disaster
falls squarely onto the shoulders of the local government. A severe disaster can bring
extraordinary hardship to a community’s citizens, devastate its economic base, and damage its
quality of life. A disaster also creates enormous pressure for local officials to swiftly take action.
Understanding the principles of community emergency management and how those principles
can be integrated into the community planning process can help provide answers for local
communities.

Authority for a Hazard Mitigation Plan

The Disaster Mitigation Act of 2000 (DMA 2000, Public Law 106-390) amended the Robert T.
Stafford Disaster Relief and Emergency Assistance Act by repealing the previous mitigation
planning provisions (Section 409) and replacing them with a new set of requirements (Section
322). The requirement for a state mitigation plan remains a condition of receiving federal disaster
assistance. The new requirements emphasize the need for state, tribal, and local entities to closely
coordinate mitigation planning and implementation efforts. States that demonstrate an increased
commitment to comprehensive mitigation planning and implementation can increase the amount
of funding available through the Hazard Mitigation Grant Program (HMGP).

Additionally, Livingston county has an Emergency Management
Department that includes an Emergency Management Director and an
Assistant Emergency Manager to assist Livingston County communities
with information for emergency and disaster planning to become more
resilient. The Livingston County Planning Department also has planners
trained and certified as Michigan Professional Emergency Managers
(PEM). Assistance is available from these professionals and may be
sought prior to initiating any emergency management planning
endeavors, as they have the ability to facilitate local cooperation and
collaboration to ensure community efforts are not duplicated.
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Livingston County 2022 Hazard Mitigation Plan

The Livingston County 2022 Hazard Mitigation Plan is a

compilation of natural hazards, vulnerabilities, historical events,

and mitigation strategies specific to Livingston County. The

county’'s Hazard Mitigation Plan is a FEMA-approved plan, created

through a collaborative effort between county departments and

agencies (the Livingston County Planning Department, the

Livingston County Information and Technology GIS, the Livingston

County Emergency Management Department, the Livingston

County Drain Commissioner's Office, and the Livingston County

Health Department) as well as local jurisdictions. It is intended for

review by the public, local jurisdictions, private business,

government entities, and others with interests in Livingston

County. The plan’s overview of natural hazards, historical events,

and mitigation strategies are meant to inspire responsible community planning; allowing citizens
and businesses insight as to what Livingston County recognizes as potential hazards and give
them an opportunity to plan in advance for emergency events. The plan includes data and
mapping that reaches all of the county’s twenty jurisdictions and promotes the integration of this
data and mapping into local plans.

Integration of Hazard Mitigation Concepts

Local units of government should use this plan as a base document to integrate the county hazard
mitigation information into a more localized and specific plan tailored to their community. This
cooperative effort will produce a countywide mitigation strategy that can help Livingston County
become a disaster-resistant community. There are numerous benefits to integrating the hazard
mitigation concepts of this plan into a community’s master plan process, including:

Creating a new effective Supporting effective pre- and
planning tool post-disaster decision-making

Speeding the return of the
impacted community to
normalcy

Providing a forum for analysis
of potentially sensitive issues

Enhancing credibility for
hazard mitigation programs
and projects

Reducing a community's
vulnerability to disasters
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The concept of integrating hazard mitigation with comprehensive planning is based on the belief
that the efforts of many disciplines are necessary to reduce the consequences of natural disasters.
This idea began with the Livingston County Planning Department's development of the book
entitled “Comprehensive Plan/ Hazard Mitigation Interface” guidebook in 1998. This guide was the
first of its kind by a local planning department in the country, and the book is designed to enable
the reader to develop strategies to integrate hazard mitigation into the community
comprehensive plan. Through reviewing principles of emergency management and the practice of
community planning and defining the “common threads” that bind the two disciplines, the book
provides integrative strategies that can lead to a community hazard mitigation action plan. The
Livingston County Planning Department continues to believe that an emergency management/
hazard mitigation chapter is an essential element of comprehensive planning, and should be
incorporated in all governmental levels.
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Emergency Management & Hazard Mitigation:
Feedback & Current Trends

— Feedback ——— — Current Trends

Nature-Based Solutions

Nature-based solutions are methods where
communities leverage their natural resources to
cost-effectively manage the impacts of natural
hazards.

Resilient Building Codes

Strong, resilient building codes can reduce
community risk to natural and man-made disasters,
therefore reducing overall disaster recovery costs.

Land Use Planning Integration

Many communities are improving their
preparedness through scenario planning, or the
development of multiple possible future scenarios to
address potential risks and vulnerabilities.

Scenario Planning

Many communities are improving their
preparedness through scenario planning, or the
development of multiple possible future scenarios to
address potential risks and vulnerabilities.
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Emergency Management & Hazard Mitigation:
Goals & Objectives

Goal #1: Integrate Hazard Mitigation into
Local and Countywide Planning Processes

Encourage local units of government to reduce risk
through land use planning, zoning, and development

review practices that account for existing and future
hazard vulnerabilities.

Objective: Promote the incorporation of zoning standards
that regulate impervious surfaces, protect watercourses
and floodplains, and discourage development on steep
slopes or unstable soils.

Objective: Recommend spatial separation and buffering

between hazardous uses and vulnerable populations
(schools, hospitals, care facilities, etc.).

Goal #2: Encourage Sustainable and
Resilient Development Patterns Countywide

Guide local governments toward development

approaches that preserve ecological systems and reduce
the potential for natural disasters.

Objective: Provide technical support and policy guidance
discouraging new development in high-risk areas,
including areas with floodplains, wetlands, and erodible
slopes.

Objective: Encourage the integration of green
infrastructure, open space and agricultural preservation,
and low-impact development into local ordinance and
plan reviews as a means of maintaining a buffer zone
between structures and vulnerable natural features.
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Emergency Management & Hazard Mitigation:
Goals & Objectives

Goal #3: Promote Intergovernmental
Coordination for Hazard Mitigation

Minimize disaster-related injuries and loss of life through

public education, hazard analysis, and early warning.

Objective: Encourage Livingston County local governments
to conduct in-depth hazard analyses, scenario planning,
and loss estimation for their communities.

Objective: Encourage Livingston County local governments
to formally adopt the most recent County Hazard
Mitigation Plan to increase eligibility for FEMA mitigation
grant opportunities.

Goal #4: Strengthen Community
Preparedness Through Public Engagement

Empower residents, business owners, and local

municipalities with knowledge and tools needed to
reduce risk and respond effectively to natural hazards.

Objective: Develop and distribute educational materials
(emergency preparedness checklists, hazard maps,
floodplain maps, etc.) tailored to specific communities
and risk profiles.

Objective: Support and facilitate public education goals set
forth by the Livingston County Emergency Management
Department.
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Livingston County: Existing Land Use

Livingston County has an incredibly diverse landscape, with
uses ranging across the rural-urban divide. Understanding
how land is currently used across Livingston County lays the
foundation for shaping a sustainable and strategic vision for
its future. A comprehensive understanding of regional land
use conditions is thus crucial for developing effective future
land use goals, objectives, and implementation strategies.

Livingston County Land Use Categories

To develop the Livingston County, Michigan 2026 Master Plan’s Existing Land Use Map, County
Planning Staff utilized the Southeast Michigan Council of Governments’ (SEMCOG) “2020 Land Use”
data set and vector digital data mapping files. This dataset sorts the county’s land into 20 different
categories, each shown as a separate area on the map. These categories include:

To facilitate more meaningful year-to-year comparisons of land use within the county, County
Planning Staff consolidated similar land uses into broader categories. For example, ‘Single-Family
Housing and ‘Mobile Home' were combined and redefined as ‘Single-Family Residential'. Each
existing land use category is further detailed in the list below:
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Agricultural/ Rural Residential

The Agricultural/ Rural Residential existing land use category consists of the following two
land uses:

Farmstead: Land that encompasses the single-family residential dwelling and associated
buildings of a farm. Associated buildings of a farm may include buildings used for animal
husbandry (including barns, chicken coops, and grain silos) along with accessory uses.

Farm: Land used for agricultural purposes. Includes discernable cultivation (ground tillage
or crop rows), horticulture, floriculture (exotic flowers), viticulture (grapes), pastures, and a
broad range of other agricultural activities such as horse boarding and training, kennels,
sod farms, tree farms, fish production and processing, and storage areas or buildings.

The Single-Family Residential existing land use category consists of land used exclusively
for residential purposes, containing a single dwelling unit. The Single-Family Residential
land use category includes the following three land uses:

Land meeting the general definition of Single-Family Residential in
all local county jurisdictions and also detached from any other residential dwelling unit (i.e.,
with open space on all four sides). This includes detached townhomes.

Land meeting the general definition of Single-Family Residential in all
local county jurisdictions, containing a dwelling unit occupied seasonally or used as
vacation property.

Land meeting the general definition of Single-Family Detached
dwellings in all local county jurisdictions, also designated for the placement of multiple
manufactured housing structures. This classification is NOT used for an individual
manufactured home.

Multi-Family Residential

The Multi-Family Residential existing land use category consists of land used exclusively for
residential multi-family dwellings containing a building or multiple buildings. This category
includes the following two land uses:

Single-Family Attached: Land meeting the general definition of Multi-Family Residential in
all local county jurisdictions, containing two or more attached dwelling units (share a
common wall, each with primary ground floor access to the outside). Examples: Attached
townhomes, double bungalows, triplexes, and large multi-unit structures with each unit
having its own external entrance.

248




Existing Land Use 195
em o.

Multi-Family: Land meeting the general definition of residential in all county jurisdictions,
containing two or more attached dwelling units, one or more of which do not have primary
ground floor access to the outside. Examples: Apartment buildings and condominiums with
a single main entrance for all residents.

The Office existing land use category consists of land used predominantly for
administrative, professional, or clerical services. Examples include law offices, accounting
firms, medical clinics (excluding hospitals), and veterinary clinics.

The Institutional existing land use category consists of land used primarily for religious,
governmental, educational, social, cultural, or major health care facilities (where they have
beds for overnight stay). Examples include schools, synagogues, cemeteries, hospitals,
nursing homes, city halls, county and state fairgrounds, and museums.

Park, Recreational, or Preserve

The Park, Recreational, or Preserve existing land use category consists of land used for park
and recreational sport assembly or passive open space. This may occur at community-level
fields, regional parks, public parks, private parks, campgrounds, small urban parks,
playgrounds, rest areas, and other venues used for indoor and outdoor sporting events or
like purposes. This category includes passive recreational activities or areas, such as
high-quality natural areas, conservation easements, park preserves, wildlife refuges,
habitat areas, public plazas, river walks, Department of Natural Resources or US Fish and
Wildlife owned land, greenways, and residential common areas with distinguishable
walking or bike paths. In addition, the category includes land used for golfing, including
driving ranges and practice areas.

Mixed-Use Residential and Commercial

The Mixed Use Residential and Commercial existing land use category consists of land
containing a building with mixed uses. The category includes the following three land uses:

Mixed-Use Residential: Lands that blend multiple uses, such as residential, commercial,
cultural, institutional, or entertainment into one space where those functions are to some
degree physically and functionally integrated, improving pedestrian connections (i.e., a
live/work development)

Mixed-Use Commercial and Other: Land containing a building with multiple uses but with
zero residential units or industrial uses. An example could include a building containing
commercial shops, a childcare facility, offices, and/or restaurants. Downtown areas usually
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have buildings where the first and/or second floor is commercial and the rest is office;
these types of buildings would be included under this category.

Retail and Other Commercial

The Retail and Other Commercial existing land use category consists of land used for the
provision of goods or services. This category is for general sales and services that comprise
the vast majority of establishments typically associated with commercial land use. This
category is used as the default for commercial/ retail land uses. Examples can include
stores, restaurants, hotels, banks, daycare facilities, mini-storage facilities, a YWCA or YMCA
facility, and a skeet club/ outdoor gun range.

Transportation, Communication, or Utility

The Transportation, Communication, or Utility existing land use category consists of major
roadway strips of land on which vehicular rights-of-way exist under the following
conditions: all interstate highways; all 4-lane divided highways with rights-of-way of 200
feet or greater in width; or all 4-lane roads with National Functional Classification
designation of ‘Principal Arterial'. This category also includes land used and occupied by
multiple railroad track lines or similar uses. This includes railroad classification, storage,
and repair yards; intermodal containerized freight and trainload facilities; and railroad
depots that might otherwise be classified as industrial (i.e., wastewater treatment plants,
water towers, large transit garages, DOT road sanding stockpiles, or maintenance staging
areas). In addition, this category includes land used for the operation of aircraft (Livingston
County Spencer J. Hardy Airport) and any other private airfield/ airstrips, including any
related uses that are on airport property (i.e., associated parking lots). Lastly, the category
includes all communication-related land uses (such as cellular or transmission towers) as
well as all public and private utility uses (i.e., electric, potable water, gas, oil, steam, cable,
and sewer facilities). Radio and TV stations are also included in this category.

Extractive

The Extractive existing land use category consists of land containing extractive industries,
for example, gravel pits or quarries.

Industrial

The Industrial existing land use category consists of land containing manufacturing,
transportation, construction companies, or wholesale trade. This category includes publicly
owned industrial lands. Industrial includes warehouses, some special horticultural uses
(i.e., large greenhouses that do not sell to the public), landfills, and automotive junkyards.
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Undefined by Local Jurisdiction

The Undefined by Local Jurisdiction existing land use category consists of land not currently
used for any defined purpose that may or may not contain buildings or other structures, or
has no discernible use based on the aerial photos or available data. Undeveloped may
include non-protected wetlands or lands currently under development. Note: these lands
are NOT necessarily available for development.

Water Bodies

The Water Bodies existing land use category consists of bodies of open water or flowing
waterways, inclusive of a discernible shoreline. This typically does not include wetlands or
periodically flooded areas. Generally, only features three acres or greater in size were
delineated. Areas definable as another land use type will not be depicted as in the Water
Bodies category (e.g., major highway bridge over a river and marina).

Livingston County Existing Land Use Characteristics

According to the US Census Bureau, Livingston County has an
area of approximately 585.25 total square miles, of which 565
square miles (~96.6%) is land and 20 square miles (~3.4%) is
water. The character and land use of Livingston County can
be said to be split nearly down the middle from north to
south, with urban land uses generally on the east side of the
County and rural, agricultural land uses typically on the west.
There is some truth to this demarcation as nearly half of the
population resides in the southeast quadrant of the County,
and the majority of farmland in Livingston County lies in the
western half of the county (Refer to Demographics Chapter).
This contrast of land uses factors into the County’s appeal, as
our residents can easily experience many ways of life close to
home. Generalized land use data from the Southeast
Michigan Council of Governments (SEMCOG, 2020) reveals
the following snapshot of land use in Livingston County:

As the Livingston County Existing Land Use table shows,
agriculture contributes heavily to the economic viability of
Livingston County as well as to the rural beauty and sense of
place. Agricultural/ Rural Residential land uses account for an
estimated 216,282 acres within the county, representing
57.7% of the total land area. While the SEMCOG data
combines both farmsteads (with a residential component
included) and farms under this classification, it can be
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logically assumed that the majority of lands in this category are associated with agricultural fields
and pastoral farming activities. This land use category realized a somewhat significant decrease in
overall acreage between 2015 and 2020, losing approximately 2,326 acres of land (a 1.1%
decrease) over this period.

Parks, recreation, and open spaces are very abundant in Livingston County. An estimated 36,463
acres of land are dedicated to state, regional metroparks, county, city, village, and township parks.
This land use category accounts for 9.73% of the total area of the county. The natural beauty of
parks and recreation land areas, as well as undeveloped open space lands and high-quality
natural areas, has drawn new residents to Livingston County for decades.

The abundance of water features found in Livingston County comprises approximately 3.4% of the
total county land area. Over 75 inland lakes with associated streams and wetlands, and three
major river courses (Shiawassee, Huron, and Red Cedar) have attracted people to vacation and
recreate in Livingston County for many generations.

Non-residential land use, such as commercial, industrial, institutional, and office, comprises
approximately 3.6% of land use in Livingston County. Industrial land use comprises nearly half of
this residential land use (1.56%). This is in large part due to the presence of the automotive-related
industry in the County. Industrial land uses also realized a somewhat significant shift in areas
devoted to this land use in the County, as between 2015 and 2020, this category saw a loss of 661
acres for an overall 10.1% decrease over this time.
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Generalized Existing Land Use Profile

Livingston County Existing Land Use

Agricultural/ Rural Residential 218,609.4 | 216,282.6 57.74% -2,326.8 -1.1%
Single-Family Residential 40,607.0 41,783.1 11.16% 1,176.1 2.9%
Multi-Family Residential 876.7 886.7 0.24% 10.0 1.1%
Office 834.1 912.1 0.24% 78.0 9.4%
Institutional 4,247.9 3,854.2 1.03% -393.7 -9.3%
Park, Recreational, or Preserve 36,219.3 36,463.1 9.73% 243.8 0.7%
Mixed-Use Residential and 440.9 477.5 0.13% 36.6 8.3%
Commercial
Retail and Other Commercial 2,907.6 2,742.2 0.73% -165.4 -5.7%
Transportation, Communication, 4,210.6 4,250.2 1.13% 39.6 0.9%
or Utility
Extractive 1,222.9 1,222.9 0.33% 0.0 0.0%
Industrial 6,512.6 5,851.7 1.56% -660.9 -10.1%
Undefined by Local Jurisdiction 45,334.7 47,297.4 12.63% 1,962.7 4.3%
Water Bodies 12,542.5 12,542.5 3.35% 0.0 0.0%
TOTAL | 374,566.3 | 374,566.3 100% 0.0 0.0%

The Livingston Existing County Land Use Map on the following page provides a visual portrait of the
generalized existing land uses in Livingston County as of 2020. As has been previously described,
the map indicates the vast rural character of the western and northwestern portions of the
County, while the eastern and southeastern portions of the county are generally more urbanized.
Again, this probably has much to do with the proximity of Interstate 96 and US 23 to the eastern
half and southeastern quadrant of the county. Additionally, large areas of parks, recreational, and
open space lands dominate the southern quadrant of the county, which consists of many large

state, regional, and local parks.
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Future Land Use

Livingston County: Future Land Use

Intent & Construction of the Future Land Use Map

The Livingston County, Michigan 2026 Master Plan
along with the Livingston County Generalized Future
Land Use map are intended to be used as advisory
documents. The Livingston County Planning
Department and the Livingston County Planning
Commission recognize that each city, village, and
township in Livingston County either has its own
master plan, comprehensive plan, land use plan,
or legal ability to create and adopt one. Each
municipality also has a zoning ordinance in effect
to regulate the use of land within their community.
With that in mind, this Livingston County, Michigan
2026 Master Plan is not intended to replace or
supersede any local plan in the county. It has also
not been developed for, nor is it intended as the
basis for developing a County Zoning Ordinance to

replace city, village, or township zoning ordinances. As such, the Livingston County Future Land
Use map is a land classification tool that focuses less on specific development type and more on
generalized development densities and location. The map is not parcel-specific and does not show
exact boundaries, but instead illustrates the broad-scale direction of the county’'s development
and conservation. It is intended to be used only as a tool to aid the reader in envisioning the goals,
policies, and ideas presented throughout this Master Plan.

This generalized future land use
map is an agglomeration and
consolidated vision of the Livingston
County, Michigan 2026 Master Plan's
goals, as well as local municipalities
master plans, zoning ordinances,
and future land use maps. Future
development forecasts and existing
infrastructure locations were also
used to determine the location of
the different categories.

i

This plan and the Livingston County Generalized
Future Land Use map will be used by the
Livingston County Planning Commission when
reviewing text or map amendments to local
ordinances and master plans. An amendment’s
consistency or inconsistency with the Livingston
County, Michigan 2026 Master Plan and
accompanying map will influence the advisory
decisions made by the Planning Commission.

All  of the prior information included
throughout  this  plan- including the
background studies, citizen and government
input, current trends, and our goals and
objectives- were taken into account and
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translated into this Livingston County Generalized Future Land Use Map. In addition, local master
plans, future land use maps, and zoning maps played a major role in interpreting and defining this
vision. Forecasts of future development and existing infrastructure were also considered.

Generalized Future Land Use Map Categories

In developing this map, all townships’ future land use maps were reviewed. Using the combined
township maps as the starting point, the Livingston County Planning Department considered
common themes and consistencies, survey and poll data from municipalities and residents,
computer land use change models and other information to generate the Livingston County
Generalized Future Land Use map. The Livingston County Generalized Future Land Use map features
nine future land use categories based upon those found in numerous township future land use
plans:

Primary Residential

Secondary Growth Area

Industrial/Extractive/ Research & Development

Incorporated Cities & Villages

Parks & Recreation Areas

Below is a brief description of each land use category shown in the Livingston County Generalized
Future Land Use map. It is important to note that township, village, and city future land use plans
and zoning ordinances should first be consulted before making any specific development plans.
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Agriculture Preservation/ Rural Residential

Agriculture plays a vital role in the history of Livingston County, contributing to food
production, economic stability, and income generation. The four western townships (Conway,
Handy, losco, and Unadilla townships), along with three northern townships (Cohoctah,
Deerfield, and Tyrone Townships), are predominantly agricultural in nature. These regions are
primarily zoned for agricultural purposes and large-lot residential development that do not
have planned water and sewer infrastructure. It is essential that agriculture remains the
primary land use in these areas, with non-farm residential uses being carefully restricted.
Low-density development is currently prioritized to safeguard the farming industry, manage
growth effectively, preserve natural resources, and support a rural lifestyle characterized by
lower population density. Higher-density developments may be justifiable when designed with
a clustered layout that preserves viable agricultural land as open space.

For county-level guidance on any proposed future development in these areas, the Livingston
County Planning Department will rely on and actively promote the ideals and principles as
presented in the Livingston County, Michigan: 2025 Sustainable Agriculture, Food Systems, and
Rural Environments Plan. This document outlines a comprehensive strategy in which the county
can achieve farmland preservation goals, support for local farmers, improved environmental
stewardship, and higher rates of food security to place the county in an optimal position to be
sustainable and self-sufficient in numerous aspects of food production and consumption.

Primary Residential

Primary Residential regions are predominantly situated in the southeastern quadrant,
composed mainly of the areas located outside the urbanized boundaries of the City of
Brighton, those being the townships of Genoa Charter, Brighton Charter, Green Oak Charter,
and Hamburg. This area is home to approximately 45 percent of Livingston County's
population. Given the high population density, these areas are expected to remain primarily
residential, with increased density near the southern boundaries of Hamburg Township and
Green Oak Charter Township, as well as areas immediately surrounding the City of Brighton. In
this quadrant, cluster development and the preservation of open space are essential due to
the heightened demand for development and the presence of unique natural features, such as
lakes and wetlands. Additionally, there are some commercial areas and limited industrial zones
located along major thoroughfares, including Grand River Avenue, 1-96, and US-23.

When necessary, mixed-use development is also encouraged within this designated area.
Mixed-use developments, such as planned unit developments (PUDs), could allow for a
combination of residential, commercial, civic, and sometimes light industrial uses within a
single project or neighborhood. This approach promotes walkable, vibrant, and sustainable
communities by allowing residents to live, work, and shop within close-proximity, reducing
car-dependence, encouraging economic growth, and preserving open space.
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Primary Growth Area

These areas are situated along transportation corridors and are equipped with access to sewer
and water services, primarily near cities and villages. They are suitable for higher-density
residential developments, as well as commercial and potentially industrial applications.
Additionally, these locations could prioritize the development of middle housing to
accommodate seniors and households with moderate incomes. By focusing development in
areas with existing infrastructure and accessible amenities- such as grocery stores, schools,
and entertainment venues- we can work to mitigate urban sprawl and preserve the rural
landscape.

In the context of these primary growth areas, future land use planning focuses on
accommodating projected development while ensuring efficient use of resources and
maintaining quality of life. This will typically involve designating areas for residential,
commercial, and industrial development, while also considering open space, transportation,
and community facilities. Some key aspects of future land use planning in the Primary Growth
Areas include:

e Residential Development: Planning for various housing types (single-family, multi-family,
etc.) and densities to meet the needs of a growing population. This may include
considerations for affordability, neighborhood character, and access to amenities.

e Commercial and Industrial Development: Designating areas for businesses, retail, offices,
and industrial uses to support economic growth and job creation. This may involve
creating mixed-use areas where residential and commercial uses are integrated.

e Open Space and Recreation: Protecting natural areas, parks, and recreational facilities to
enhance quality of life and provide opportunities for outdoor activities. This can also
include preserving environmentally sensitive areas.

e Transportation and Infrastructure: Planning for roads, public transportation, bike lanes,
and pedestrian walkways to ensure efficient movement of people and goods. This also
includes considerations for utilities like water, sewer, and power.

e Community Facilities: Planning for public facilities like schools, libraries, fire stations, and
healthcare facilities to serve the needs of the growing population.

e Sustainability: Incorporating sustainable development practices, such as energy
efficiency, water conservation, and waste reduction, to minimize environmental impact.

e Growth Management: Managing the pace and direction of growth to ensure that
infrastructure and services can keep up with development demands. This may involve
phasing development or directing growth to certain areas.

In conclusion, future land use planning within these Primary Growth Areas is a complex
process that involves balancing a variety of factors to create a vibrant, sustainable, and
well-functioning community.
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Secondary Growth Area

These areas are located further from urban centers and do not currently have public water
and sewer available. However, these areas have the potential for the expansion of
infrastructure. Over the next 10 years, the growth in these areas will largely be site specific
depending on the anticipated growth demands for the area.

These regions represent a gradual transition in land use intensity, moving from Agriculture
Preservation/ Rural Residential zones towards Primary Growth Areas. These Secondary Growth
Areas may accommodate residential development situated further from incorporated cities
and villages, as well as commercial or mixed-use spaces along key transportation corridors like
M-59, Old US-23, and M-36.

Some of the key aspects of future land use planning in the Secondary Growth Areas future
land use category include:

e Guiding growth and development: By focusing on existing infrastructure communities,
can prioritize and direct new development and redevelopment within existing service
areas, making the most of existing infrastructure and minimizing the need for new
infrastructure investment.

e C(Centers and Connections: ldentify areas for increased density and intensity of
development, maximizing infrastructure and accommodating projected population and
job needs.

e Urban Expansion Areas: Strategically identify and plan for urban expansion areas to
accommodate growth in a planned and sustainable manner, according to local
municipal master plans and zoning ordinances.

e Promoting sustainable and vibrant communities: Foster community engagement and local
participation, support local businesses, and invest in green infrastructure and public
spaces. Encourage responsible development, sustainable transportation, and effective
waste management programs to reduce environmental impact and enhance
community well-being.

e Mixed Land Uses: Encourage a mix of land uses to create walkable, vibrant communities
where people can live, work, and access services in close proximity.

e (Compact Design: Take advantage of compact design to reduce sprawl, promote efficient
land use, and create more livable and desirable communities.

e Diverse Housing Opportunities: Plan for a range of housing options and choices to meet
the needs of diverse populations

e Green Infrastructure: Integrate green infrastructure into development plans to manage
stormwater, protect water resources, and enhance environmental quality.

e Balancing Development with Environmental and Community Needs: Encourage local
communities to conduct Environmental Impact Assessments (EIAs), invest in sustainable
energy and resource management, and foster collaboration between stakeholders and
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government. This integrated approach promotes responsible development that
protects natural resources, enhances social equity, and ensures long-term well-being

e Preserving Natural Resources: Protect open space, farmland, natural beauty, and critical
environmental areas from development.

e Respect Rural Lifestyles: Maintain distinct rural areas characterized by agricultural uses,
natural features, and rural character.

e Community and Stakeholder Collaboration: Engage the community and stakeholders in
development decisions to ensure that plans reflect local needs and preferences.

Incorporated Cities & Villages

This category refers to the cities of Howell and Brighton, and the villages of Fowlerville and
Pinckney. These are the county's most densely developed areas with corresponding
infrastructure and services in place. Within each community there are residential, commercial,
and industrial development, and all have municipal parks. In addition to these distinct land
uses, cities and villages also accommodate mixed-use development, which integrates multiple
functions within the same area.Mixed-use developments in cities and villages can be vertical
(different uses in the same building) or horizontal (uses across multiple buildings) in form.

These four municipalities are also the largest traditional town centers in the county. It is
recommended that infill development be utilized wherever possible in the cities and villages, to
take advantage of existing infrastructure suitable for dense or intense land uses.

Future land use plans, often part of a larger master plan, guide the long-term growth and
development of incorporated cities and villages. These plans consider a range of factors to
create a vision for how the land within a community will be utilized in the coming decades,
often a 20-30 year horizon.

Industrial/ Extractive/ Research & Development

These are industrial centers that are located outside of cities, villages, and settlement areas.
Industrial areas are meant to accommodate a variety of industrial activities, warehouses,
manufacturing, mining extraction, and other operations. These are also areas deemed
important for advanced technology, design, and research, that may include some light
industrial uses, along with supportive administrative office buildings. These areas are critical
for maintaining a diverse tax base and providing employment. These facilities should be
carefully planned and well-integrated with existing infrastructure and designed to be
compatible with surrounding land uses. Examples of these uses located in Livingston County
include the Milford Proving grounds, Fowlerville Proving Grounds, and areas along Old US 23.

Industrial, extractive, and research and development (R&D) land uses are evolving significantly
due to technological advancements, changing economic landscapes, and a growing emphasis
on sustainability.
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Settlements

Settlements correspond to historically settled areas across the county. Many have commercial
businesses to serve the needs of settlement and township residents. Most settlements were
laid out in the mid-eighteen hundreds, and they often have small lots on a classic grid pattern-
much like smaller versions of the county's cities and villages. Many have historical buildings
that communities strive to preserve.

Appropriate types of infill development are also recommended for settlements, in order to
keep them compact and defined. Only a small number of the county’s settlements have public
sewer or water available, so development in these areas will be less intense than what is
possible in the cities and villages.

Park and Recreation Areas

Parks and recreation areas are identified as the expansive recreational areas located in the
southern part of the county, along with the metropolitan parks to the east. This category also
includes other smaller parks and preserved lands throughout the county such as Oak Grove
State Game Area, county parks, cemeteries and golf courses.

Many of these spaces are renowned for their high-quality natural features and various
recreational opportunities, and should be preserved for the foreseeable future. Developments
adjacent to these protected lands should be minimal in intensity and complement the natural
areas.

Lakes, Rivers, and Natural Feature Corridors

One of the most common landscape views in Livingston County continues to be a mix of
woods, rivers, meadows, lakes, and wetlands.

The Lakes, Rivers, and Natural Feature Corridors as depicted in the Livingston County
Generalized Future Land Use map align with the numerous streams and rivers that run through
Livingston County. To safeguard water quality and maintain the integrity of these waterways, a
buffer zone should be placed on both sides of each waterway. Development in these areas
should also be limited and comply with all necessary state and federal permits.

There are many lake communities in the county that place a high value on their water quality
and have established standards in collaboration with the Livingston County Drain Commission
Department to protect these regions. Some lake communities have water and sewer
availability, while others rely on private well/ septic systems.

The county encourages local communities to collaborate with planning partners such as the
Huron River Watershed Council, the Livingston Land Conservancy, and others to work
collaboratively to ensure the long-term health and sustainability of our local water bodies.
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Public Participation Results

Links to Comprehensive Survey Documents

Full Summary Survey - Graphs

Full Responses - Open Ended Questions

Livingston County, Michigan 2026 Master Plan Website

Full Workshop and Map Survey Results

Community Survey Results

In which municipality do you reside?

Municipality % of Total Responses # of Responses
Genoa Township 16% 176
Hamburg Township 10% 116
Brighton Township 10% 110
Oceola Township 9% 99
Marion Township 8% 96
City of Howell 8% 85
Howell Township 7% 81
City of Brighton 6% 70
Hartland Township 6% 64
Green Oak Township 4% 47
Putnam Township 3% 29
Tyrone Township 2% 22
Handy Township 2% 22
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https://milivcounty.gov/wp-content/uploads/MP-Survey-Summary-Data.pdf
https://milivcounty.gov/wp-content/uploads/Survey-All-Open-Ended-Responses.pdf
https://storymaps.arcgis.com/stories/9b8409d9c52e41f3a2e39d9db45fb236
https://milivcounty.gov/wp-content/uploads/Full-Workshop-and-Survey-Map-Responses.pdf

losco Township 2% 22
Cohoctah Township 2% 21
Deerfield Township 1% 16

Other 1% 16

Conway Township 1% 14

Village of Pinckney 1% 11

Unadilla Township 1% 8

Village of Fowlerville 1% 6
Total | 1131

What is your age range?

Age (Years) % of Total Responses # of Responses
18 or under 0% 3

19-29 4% 43

30-45 26% 290

46-59 29% 331

60-75 34% 387

76+ 7% 77
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Please describe your work/school environment

Work Location % of Total Responses # of Responses
100% from home 15% 156
Hybrid 27% 273
100% in-person 35% 353
Other (please specify) 23% 227

What is your approximate household income range?

Household Income % of Total Responses # of Responses
Below $20,000 2% 27
$21,000-$35,000 6% 62
$36,000-$55,000 8% 90
$56,000-$75,000 14% 151
$76,000-$100,000 18% 203
$101,000-$149,000 25% 274
$150,000+ 27% 291
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How many years have you lived in Livingston County?

% of Total Responses # of Responses
0-5 12% 133
6-15 21% 241
16-30 36% 409
31+ 29% 331
| do not live in Livingston County 2% 17

How satisfied are you with your quality of life in Livingston County?

Rating % of Total Responses # of Responses
(1) Extremely Dissatisfied 1.80% 19
(2) Dissatisfied 5.12% 54
(3) Neutral 15.94% 168
(4) Satisfied 56.36% 594
(5) Extremely Satisfied 20.78% 219
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What would improve your quality of life in Livingston County?

% of Total Responses # of Responses
Improved Roads and Traffic 21% 205
Flow
Improved Public Services 11% 106

(Police, Fire, EMS, Hospitals,
Public Transportation)

More Sidewalks/ Pathways 13% 127

Preservation of Open Space/ 15% 147
Slow Development

Lower Housing Costs 5% 47

Commercial Development 10% 97

(Restaurants, Entertainment,
Convenience Stores)

Improved Education 1% 12

Improved Broadband Access 3% 28

Lower Taxes 3% 30

Less Apartments and 2% 21
Condos

Community Identity and 6% 63

Representation on Elected
Boards
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Please fill in the blank with your top 2 answers: In the last 5 years, the farmland
in my community has been converted to

Land Use % of Total Responses # of Responses
No significant amount of 16% 172
farmland has changed
Subdivisions with less than 1 58% 620
acre lots
Single Family Homes with 14% 155
1-4 acre lots
Single Family Homes with 5+ 3% 32
acre lots
Apartments/ Condos 26% 280
Business or Commercial 17% 188
Uses
Industrial Uses 3% 41
Preserved Open Space 1% 21
Other (please specify) 8% 88
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Fill in the blank with one of the available options: | would like to see more
in my community.

Land Use % of Total Responses # of Responses
Commercial Businesses 5% 58
Industrial/Manufacturing 1% 11
Open Space/ Land 53% 556
Preservation

Single Family Homes 6% 65

Apartments/ Condos 3% 31
Redevelopment 19% 206

Other (please specify) 12% 130

How satisfied are you with the housing options throughout Livingston County?

Rating % of Total Responses # of Responses
(1) Extremely 5% 54
Dissatisfied
(2) Dissatisfied 17% 181
(3) Neutral 31% 326
(4) Satisfied 37% 390
(5) Extremely Satisfied 8% 84
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Over the next 10 years which housing type would be most beneficial for
Livingston County? (Select 2)

Housing Choices % of Total Responses # of Responses

Condos (1 story) 7% 111

Apartments (1 story) 4% 62

Single Family Home, 9% 143
Subdivision

Single Family Home on 2+ 17% 269
Acres

Single Family Home on 5+ 10% 164
Acres

2-3 Story Condo/ Apartment 7% 102
Buildings

Accessory Dwelling Units 16% 255

None of the Above 8% 129

Other (please specify) 8% 119
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Transportation: | would like to see more of the following...

Transportation Type % of Total Responses # of Responses
Improved Existing Roads 31% 506
Sidewalks/ Trails 25% 405
Bicycle Lanes 9% 140
Expanded Existing Roadways 6% 103
Public Transportation 17% 276
Passenger Rail 8% 132
Other (please specify) 4% 70

What energy source/s does your home use? (Select 2)

Energy Source % of Total Responses # of Responses
Propane 11% 120
DTE/Consumers Energy 95% 977
Solar 2% 22
Geothermal 1% 14
Wind 0.2% 2
Other (please specify) 6% 57
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How satisfied are you with the quality of broadband/internet options?

Rating % of Total Responses # of Responses
(1) Extremely 11% 111
Dissatisfied
(2) Dissatisfied 25% 258
(3) Neutral 27% 273
(4) Satisfied 31% 315
(5) Extremely Satisfied 6% 58

On average, how often does your home lose power, annually?

Frequency % of Total Responses # of Responses
Never 5% 49
1-3 times 62% 633
4-6 times 26% 263

7+ times 7% 70
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Over the past 5 years, has your home experienced property damage from
natural flooding events?

% of Total Responses # of Responses
Yes 6% 61
No 92% 926
Other (please specify) 2% 24

Over the next 10 years, what should communities in Livingston County focus on?
(Select up to 3)

% of Total Responses # of Responses

Preservation of Open Space 22% 593
& Agriculture

Improving Infrastructure 19% 507

Enhancing Parks & Trails 16% 416

Transportation 11% 290
Improvements

Redevelopment 9% 243

Increasing Housing Options 8% 219

Encouraging Senior Housing 7% 176

Attracting Commercial Uses 5% 121

Expanding Manufacturing 1% 20

Other 3% 92
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Workshop & Map Survey Results by Quadrant

NW Quadrant (Conway Township, Cohoctah Township, Handy Township, Howell
Township, Village of Fowlerville, City of Howell)

Housing 4 1

Road Improvements 1 4
Economic Development 11 1
Sidewalks & Pathways 1 5
Recreation & Parks 4 1

Open Space Preservation 5 8
Public Transportation 4 2
Other 0 3

NE Quadrant (Deerfield Township, Tyrone Township, Oceola Township, Hartland

Township)

Housing 1 4

Road Improvements 1 12
Economic Development 1 1
Sidewalks & Pathways 2 4
Recreation & Parks 7 0

Open Space Preservation 10 8
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Public Transportation 0 2

Other 0 4

SW Quadrant (losco Township, Marion Township, Unadilla Township, Putnam
Township, City of Howell, Village of Pinckney)

Positive/ Strength/ Negative/ Weakness/ Threat
Opportunity

Housing 0 4
Road Improvements 0 7
Economic Development 2 1
Sidewalks & Pathways 0 9
Recreation & Parks 2 0
Open Space Preservation 8 5
Public Transportation 1 5
Other 0 3

SE Quadrant (Genoa Township, Brighton Township, Hamburg Township, Green
Oak Township, City of Brighton)

Positive/ Strength/ Negative/ Weakness/ Threat
Opportunity
Housing 2 3
Road Improvements 0 8
Economic Development 6 6
Sidewalks & Pathways 9 9
Recreation & Parks 15 3
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Open Space Preservation 13 19
Public Transportation 2 1
Other 0 4
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Plante & Moran, PLLC

plame b S

3000 Town Center, Suite 100
Southfield, MI 48075

moran o e 252250
Fax: 248.352.0018

plantemoran.com

November 13, 2025

To the Board of Trustees and Management
Township of Hamburg

We have audited the financial statements of the Township of Hamburg (the “Township”) as of and for the
year ended June 30, 2025 and have issued our report thereon dated November 13, 2025. Professional
standards require that we provide you with the following information related to our audit, which is divided
into the following sections:

Section | - Internal Control Related Matters Identified in an Audit
Section Il - Required Communications with Those Charged with Governance
Section Il - Legislative and Informational ltems

Sections | and Il include information that we are required to communicate to those individuals charged with
governance of the Township. Section | communicates a deficiency we observed in the Township 's internal
control that we believe is a material weakness. Section || communicates significant matters related to the
audit that are, in our professional judgment, relevant to your responsibilities in overseeing the financial
reporting process.

Section Il contains updated legislative and informational items that we believe will be of interest to you.

We would like to take this opportunity to thank the Township’s staff for the cooperation and courtesy
extended to us during our audit. Their assistance and professionalism are invaluable.

This report is intended solely for the use of the board of trustees and management of the Township of
Hamburg and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties.

We welcome any questions you may have regarding the following communications, and we would be willing
to discuss these or any other questions that you might have at your convenience.

Very truly yours,
Plante & Moran, PLLC

MF) L

Martin J. Olejnik, CPA

QPRAXITY
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Section | - Internal Control Related Matters Identified in an Audit

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements of the Township as of and for the year
ended June 30, 2025, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America, we considered the Township's internal control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis
for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our
opinion on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Township's internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Township's internal control.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the preceding paragraph and
was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be significant deficiencies or
material weaknesses, and, therefore, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that were
not identified.

However, as discussed below, we identified a certain deficiency in internal control that we consider to be a
material weakness.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management
or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct,
misstatements on a timely basis.

A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control such that there is
a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be
prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis.

We consider the following deficiency in the Township’s internal control to be a material weakness:

e A material invoice for work performed in fiscal year 2024-2025 was improperly excluded from accounts
payable as of June 30, 2025. The Township has posted an adjustment to correct this misstatement in
the financial statements as of June 30, 2025. An inadequate review of cash disbursements subsequent
to the fiscal year end could cause expenditures to be recorded in the wrong period and the financial
statements to be materially misstated.
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Section Il - Required Communications with Those Charged with Governance

Our Responsibility Under U.S. Generally Accepted Auditing Standards

As stated in our engagement letter dated July 17, 2025, our responsibility, as described by professional
standards, is to express an opinion about whether the financial statements prepared by management with
your oversight are fairly presented, in all material respects, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles. Our audit of the financial statements does not relieve you or management of your
responsibilities. Our responsibility is to plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable, but not absolute,
assurance that the financial statements are free of material misstatement.

As part of our audit, we considered the internal control of the Township. Such considerations were solely
for the purpose of determining our audit procedures and not to provide any assurance concerning such
internal control.

We are responsible for communicating significant matters related to the audit that are, in our professional
judgment, relevant to your responsibilities in overseeing the financial reporting process. However, we are
not required to design procedures specifically to identify such matters.

Planned Scope and Timing of the Audit

We performed the audit according to the planned scope and timing previously communicated to you in our
meeting about planning matters on September 4, 2025.

Significant Audit Findings

Qualitative Aspects of Accounting Practices

Management is responsible for the selection and use of appropriate accounting policies. In accordance with
the terms of our engagement letter, we will advise management about the appropriateness of accounting
policies and their application. The significant accounting policies used by the Township are described in
Note 1 to the financial statements. No new accounting policies were adopted, and the application of existing
policies was not changed during year, other than the implementation of GASB Statement No. 101,
Compensated Absences, and GASB Statement No. 102, Certain Risk Disclosures, neither of which had a
significant effect on the Township’s financial statements.

We noted no transactions entered into by the Township during the year for which there is a lack of
authoritative guidance or consensus.

There are no significant transactions that have been recognized in the financial statements in a different
period than when the transaction occurred.

Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by management and are
based on management’s knowledge and experience about past and current events and assumptions about
future events. Certain accounting estimates are particularly sensitive because of their significance to the
financial statements and because of the possibility that future events affecting them may differ significantly
from those expected.

The most sensitive estimate affecting the financial statements was the estimate for net pension liability.
Management'’s estimate of the net pension liability is primarily based on data and assumptions from third-
party actuarial valuations. We evaluated the key factors and assumptions used to develop the estimate in
determining that it is reasonable in relation to the financial statements taken as a whole.

The disclosures in the financial statements are neutral, consistent, and clear.
Difficulties Encountered in Performing the Audit

We encountered no significant difficulties in performing and completing our audit.
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Section Il - Required Communications with Those Charged with Governance
(Continued)

Disagreements with Management

Forthe purpose of this letter, professional standards define a disagreement with management as a financial
accounting, reporting, or auditing matter, whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, that could be significant
to the financial statements or the auditor’s report.

We are pleased to report that no such disagreements arose during the course of our audit.
Corrected and Uncorrected Misstatements

Professional standards require us to accumulate all known and likely misstatements identified during the
audit, other than those that are trivial, and communicate them to the appropriate level of management.

Management has corrected all such misstatements, including a material misstatement discussed in Section
| above.

Significant Findings or Issues

We generally discuss a variety of matters, including the application of accounting principles and auditing
standards, business conditions affecting the Township, and business plans and strategies that may affect
the risks of material misstatement, with management each year prior to our retention as the Township's
auditors. However, these discussions occurred in the normal course of our professional relationship, and
our responses were not a condition of our retention.

Management Representations

We have requested certain representations from management that are included in the management
representation letter dated November 13, 2025.

Management Consultations with Other Independent Accountants

In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and accounting
matters, similar to obtaining a second opinion on certain situations. If a consultation involves application of
an accounting principle to the Township’s financial statements or a determination of the type of auditor's
opinion that may be expressed on those statements, our professional standards require the consulting
accountant to check with us to determine that the consultant has all the relevant facts. To our knowledge,
there were no such consultations with other accountants.
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Section lll - Legislative and Informational Items

Inflation Reduction Act (IRA)

Significant legislation was enacted in 2022 that has dramatically expanded the available tax credits, tax
incentives, and other funding opportunities related to the green energy sector. The One, Big, Beautiful Bill
(OBBB), enacted on July 4, 2025, introduced sweeping changes to those credits. However, the OBBB
delayed the implementation of certain provisions - meaning that, with careful planning, the Township can
still take advantage of available credits. Additionally, the new monetization options from the original
legislation that expanded the benefits of tax credits for qualifying activities to public sector organizations
like the Township remain unchanged from the OBBB. The breadth of qualifying activities is significant,
including, in most cases, the production of electricity; production of solar, wind, and energy equipment:
installation of energy-efficient upgrades to businesses and homes; and the acquisition of electric vehicles
(EVs) and charging equipment. We are happy to discuss any questions or potential tax credit opportunities
with you, and please also feel free to visit our IRA tax credits articles and webinars at
https://www.plantemoran.com/explore-our-thinking/areas-of-focus/inflation-reduction-act-tax-credits.

Monitoring Lease, SBITA, and PPP Activity

GASB Statements No. 87, Leases; No. 96, Subscription-Based Information Technology Arrangements
(SBITAs); and No. 94, Public-Private and Public-Public Partnerships (PPP) and Availability Payment
Arrangements, were effective in fiscal years 2022 and 2023. Although significant analyses were performed
to determine the applicability of the new standards and record any necessary adjustments, we want to
stress the importance of implementing ongoing monitoring procedures over lease, SBITA, and PPP activity.
When the Township enters into new leases, SBITAs, or PPPs; existing agreements are modified: or other
facts and circumstances change, consideration must be given to the impact those changes will have on
lease, SBITA, and PPP accounting. In order to do so, the Township must ensure there is a process in place
to identify and appropriately account for new leases, SBITAs, or PPPs or changes to existing agreements
on an ongoing basis or at least at the end of each year.

Cybersecurity and Information Technology Controls

Cyberattacks are on the rise across the globe, and the cost of these attacks is ever increasing. Because of
these attacks, municipalities stand to lose their reputation, the ability to operate efficiently, and proprietary
information or assets. Communities potentially can also be subject to financial and legal liabilities. Managing
this issue is especially challenging because even a municipality with a highly mature cybersecurity risk
management program still has a residual risk that a material cybersecurity breach could occur and not be
detected in a timely manner. We understand that the technology department continues to monitor and
evaluate this risk, which are critical best practices. Additionally, periodic assessment of the system in order
to verify that the control environment is working as intended is a key part of measuring associated business
risk. We encourage administration and those charged with governance to work with the technology team
on this very important topic. If we can be of assistance in the process, we would be happy to do so.

Revenue Sharing

The fiscal year 2025 budget includes $1.79 billion for revenue sharing. Further details of the breakdown of
this amount are available at https://www.michigan.gov/treasury/0..7-121-1751 2197---.00.html.

The fiscal year 2025 City, Village, and Township Revenue Sharing (CVTRS) program includes the following
types of payments:

» CVTRS-Standard payment based on fiscal year 2024 CVTRS total eligible payment amount
e 3-Factor Formula Payments:
o Taxable Value Payment - Based on taxable values and populations for local units

o Weighted Population Payment - Based on unit type population weight factors and populations for
local units

o Yield Equalization Payment - Based on an amount that is sufficient to provide the guaranteed tax
base for a local tax effort, not to exceed 0.02

5
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Section lll - Legislative and Informational Items
(Continued)

As provided in the September 2024 Department of Treasury letter on City, Village, and Township Revenue
Sharing (CVTRS) Fiscal Year 2025 Detailed Guidance, there are no submission requirements to receive
any of the 2025 CVTRS payments.

* The CVTRS-Standard payments are paid in one-sixth increments, paid on the last business day of
October, December, February, April, June, and August.

The 3-Factor Formula Payments are paid on February 28, 2025 in an amount of half of the estimated 2025
payment, and the remaining 2025 payment is paid on June 30, 2025.

OMB Revisions to the Uniform Guidance

In April 2024, the Office of Management and Budget (OMB) released revisions for the Uniform Guidance
for federal grants and agreements, which are effective for fiscal year ends beginning on October 1, 2024
and after. The guidance clarifies the applicability of requirements and terminology and includes some
relaxation and clarification of certain requirements that required prior approval from federal regulators. A
few key changes include the following:

* Increase the single audit threshold to $1 million from $750,000

* Require the schedule of expenditures of federal awards (SEFA) to identify recipient of federal award
for audits that cover multiple recipients

* Increase the de minimis indirect cost rate from 10 percent to 15 percent, effective for grants received
on October 1, 2024 and after

The changes are included in more detail within the federal register at https://www.federalregister.gov/
documents/2024/04/22/2024-07496/quidance-for-federal-financial-assistance, and we are happy to

discuss these changes with you.

Capitalization Thresholds

The April 2024 Uniform Grants Guidance 2024 Revision described above resulted in the equipment
threshold increasing from $5,000 to $10,000. This threshold applies to the value of equipment that at the
end of the grant period may be retained, sold, or otherwise disposed of with no further responsibility to the
federal agency. In addition to considering this Uniform Guidance threshold related to federal grants
compliance, it may be a good time for the Township to reevaluate the capitalization thresholds. We are
happy to assist you in thinking through considerations in evaluating these thresholds.

Legacy Costs

Legacy costs and the challenge of funding them continue to be topics of discussion. GASB pronouncements
of late have placed even more focus on the net long-term liability arising from these benefit promises by
requiring governmental financial statements to reflect the net pension and OPEB liabilities. For many
governments, these net liabilities are significant. In addition, Public Act 202 of 2017 has brought further
focus on the funding level of these plans.
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The following are the funding levels per the funding valuations for the last three years for both pension and

Section lll - Legislative and Informational Items

(Continued)

Item 6.

OPEB:
Pension OPEB
2025 74% N/A
2024 74% N/A
2023 71% N/A

Maintaining or even improving the funded status of the plan is dependent upon a number of factors,
including the government’s contribution policies, its amortization policy for funding the unfunded actuarial
accrued liability, its benefit levels, and the ability to make future changes to the plan.

Other New Legislation

Upcoming Accounting Standards Requiring Preparation

We actively monitor new Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) standards and due process
documents and provide periodic updates to help you understand how the latest financial reporting
developments will impact the Township. In addition to the summaries below and to stay up to date, Plante
& Moran, PLLC issues a biannual GASB accounting standard update. The most recent update and a link

to previous fall and spring updates are available at https://www.plantemoran.com/explore-our-thinking/

insight/2020/10/gasb-accounting-standard-update-fall-2020.

GASB Statement No. 103 - Financial Reporting Model Improvements

This new accounting pronouncement will be effective for fiscal years ending June 30, 2026 and after. This
statement establishes new accounting and financial reporting requirements, or modifies existing
requirements, related to the following: management's discussion and analysis (MD&A); unusual or
infrequent items; presentation of the proprietary fund statement of revenue, expenses, and changes in fund
net position; information about major component units in basic financial statements; budgetary comparison
information; and financial trends information in the statistical section. This statement requires that the MD&A
be limited to the five topics noted in the standard and provides further guidance on how the MD&A should
be written. For proprietary fund financial reporting, the statement defines nonoperating revenue and
expense and introduces the concept of subsidies. It also requires new subtotals to present total noncapital
subsidies and income or loss, including both operating activities and noncapital subsidies. The statement
prescribes that the required budgetary comparison schedules be reported only in the required
supplementary information section of the statements and dictates what variance information should be
included. Next, the statement removes the option to present discretely presented component unit
information as condensed information in the notes rather than in the statements. Lastly, the statement
outlines how unusual or infrequent items should be presented separately on the financial statements.

GASB Statement No. 104 - Disclosure of Certain Capital Assets

This new accounting pronouncement requires certain types of capital assets, such as lease assets,
intangible right-of-use assets, subscription assets, and other intangible assets, to be disclosed separately
by major class of underlying asset in the capital assets note. The statement also requires additional
disclosures for capital assets held for sale.
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Section lll - Legislative and Informational Items
(Continued)

Significant GASB Proposal Worth Watching

The Revenue and Expense Recognition project aims to develop a comprehensive accounting and financial
reporting model for transactions that result in revenue and expenses. The GASB has issued a preliminary
views document that proposes a new categorization framework that replaces the exchange/nonexchange
transaction notion with a four-step categorization process for classifying a transaction. In addition to this
new framework, the proposal also addresses recognition and measurement of revenue and expense
transactions. The exposure draft for this project is expected sometime in 2026.

Plante & Moran, PLLC has spent significant time digesting this new proposed standard and recently testified
to the GASB about our feedback. We strongly encourage the Township to monitor developments with this
standard, as the potential impact is quite broad.
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Independent Auditor's Report

To the Board of Trustees
Township of Hamburg

Opinions

We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major
fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the Township of Hamburg (the "Township") as of and for
the year ended June 30, 2025 and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the
Township's basic financial statements, as listed in the table of contents.

In our opinion, based on our audit and the report of other auditors, the accompanying financial statements
referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial position of the governmental
activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the
Township as of June 30, 2025 and the respective changes in its financial position, and, where applicable, its cash
flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America.

We did not audit the financial statements of the Library Fund, which represents 12.4 percent, 17.6 percent, and
9.6 percent of the assets, fund balances, and revenue, respectively, of the governmental funds. Those financial
statements were audited by other auditors, whose report has been furnished to us, and our opinion, insofar as it
relates to the amounts included for the Library Fund, is based solely on the report of the other auditors.

Basis for Opinions

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America (GAAS). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent of the Township
and to meet our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our
audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinions.

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America and for the design, implementation,
and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or events,
considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Township's ability to continue as a going
concern for 12 months beyond the financial statement date, including any currently known information that may
raise substantial doubt shortly thereafter.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our
opinions. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and, therefore, is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the
aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements.

QPRRAXITY

289




Item 6.

To the Board of Trustees
Township of Hamburg

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, we:
« Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

o lIdentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.

« Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Township's internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

« Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting
estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the financial statements.

e Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise
substantial doubt about the Township's ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related matters that
we identified during the audit.

Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management's
discussion and analysis and required supplementary information, as described in the table of contents, be
presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of management
and, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards
Board, which considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in
an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the
required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information
and comparing the information for consistency with management's responses to our inquiries, the basic financial
statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not
express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide
us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

Supplementary Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively
comprise the Township's basic financial statements. The supplementary information, as identified in the table of
contents, is presented for the purpose of additional analysis and is not a required part of the basic financial
statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. The information has
been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain
additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting
and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves,
and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. In our opinion, the supplementary information is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the

basic financial statements as a whole.
'424224 f 7)&4,«/, PLLC

November 13, 2025
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Township of Hamburg

Management's Discussion and Analysis

As management of the Township of Hamburg (the "Township"), we offer readers this narrative overview and
analysis of the financial activities for the year ended June 30, 2025. Please read it in conjunction with the
Township's financial statements.

Financial Highlights

As discussed in further detail in this discussion and analysis, the following represents the most significant
financial highlights for the year ended June 30, 2025:

e Interest income on investments continued to be strong in fiscal year 2024-2025. The Township received over
$800,000 of interest revenue in 2025. The Township remains proactive in monitoring spending to ensure that it
adds to net position for funding during potential future declines in the economy.

e The Township has earmarked approximately $267,000 for future maintenance, vehicle, and equipment
expenditures.

Using This Annual Report

This annual report consists of a series of financial statements. The statement of net position and the statement of
activities provide information about the activities of the Township as a whole and present a longer-term view of
the Township’s finances. This longer-term view uses the accrual basis of accounting so that it can measure the
cost of providing services during the current year and whether the taxpayers have funded the full cost of providing
government services.

The fund financial statements present a short-term view; they tell the reader how the taxpayers’ resources were
spent during the year and how much is available for future spending. Fund financial statements also report the
Township’s operations in more detail than the government-wide financial statements by providing information
about the Township’s most significant funds. The fiduciary fund statements provide financial information about
activities for which the Township acts solely as a trustee or agent for the benefit of those outside of the
government.

The Township as a Whole

As noted earlier, net position over time may serve as a useful indicator of a government’s financial position. In the
case of the Township, assets and deferred outflows of resources exceeded liabilities and deferred inflows by
$61,531,556 at the close of the most recent fiscal year.
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Management's Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

The Township's Net Position

Governmental Activities Business-type Activities Total
2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024
Assets
Current and other assets $ 24,407,241 $ 19,264,083 $ 5,315528 $ 6,167,138 $ 29,722,769 $ 25,431,221
Capital assets 20,680,461 21,137,713 23,697,085 24,360,817 44,377,546 45,498,530
Total assets 45,087,702 40,401,796 29,012,613 30,527,955 74,100,315 70,929,751
Deferred Outflows of
Resources 1,199,396 1,242,570 - - 1,199,396 1,242,570
Liabilities
Current liabilities 3,176,533 1,246,511 202,302 522,423 3,378,835 1,768,934
Noncurrent liabilities 8,491,018 6,574,964 1,884,884 2,414,584 10,375,902 8,989,548
Total liabilities 11,667,551 7,821,475 2,087,186 2,937,007 13,754,737 10,758,482
Deferred Inflows of Resources 13,418 18,333 - - 13,418 18,333
Net Position
Net investment in capital
assets 15,736,802 17,735,980 21,877,050 21,991,656 37,613,852 39,727,636
Restricted 12,073,148 10,554,636 4,005,240 4,642,867 16,078,388 15,197,503
Unrestricted 6,796,179 5,513,942 1,043,137 956,425 7,839,316 6,470,367

Total net position

$ 34,606,129 $ 33,804,558 $ 26,925,427 $ 27,590,948 $ 61,531,556 $ 61,395,506

The Township's combined net position increased from a year ago to $61.5 million. The governmental activities net
position is approximately $34.6 million, up from $33.8 million at June 30, 2024. The net position of the business-
type activities (i.e., the Sewer Fund) is approximately $26.9 million, a slight decrease from a year ago.

Unrestricted net position, the part of net position that can be used to finance day-to-day operations, is
approximately $6.8 million for the governmental activities, which is an increase from June 30, 2024. Unrestricted
net position for the business-type activities is approximately $1 million, which is an increase from the June 30,

2024 amount.
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Township of Hamburg

Item 6.

Management's Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

The following table shows the changes in net position during 2025 and 2024:

The Township's Changes in Net Position

Governmental Activities Business-type Activities Total
2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024
Revenue
Program revenue:
Charges for services $ 1,335877 $ 916,266 $ 2,662,265 $ 2,592,098 $§ 3,998,142 $ 3,508,364
Operating grants 120,461 1,465,410 - - 120,461 1,465,410
Capital grants 2,386,820 1,015,899 316,840 527,632 2,703,660 1,543,531
General revenue:
Property taxes 9,592,028 8,275,696 - - 9,592,028 8,275,696
State-shared revenue and
grants 2,443,904 2,416,601 - - 2,443,904 2,416,601
Investment earnings 645,235 708,636 182,929 226,693 828,164 935,329
Other revenue:
Cable franchise fees 282,681 303,945 - - 282,681 303,945
Proceeds from sale of
capital assets 7,140 37:253 - - 7,140 37,253
Other miscellaneous
income 169,143 206,712 - - 169,143 206,712
Total revenue 16,983,289 15,346,418 3,162,034 3,346,423 20,145,323 18,692,841
Expenses
General government 4,604,658 4,025,353 - - 4,604,658 4,025,353
Public safety 8,460,624 7,645,432 - - 8,460,624 7,645,432
Public works 2,353,692 910,223 - - 2,353,692 910,223
Recreation and culture 647,025 693,252 - - 647,025 693,252
Debt service 115,719 75,092 - - 115,719 75,092
Sewer - - 3,827,555 4,010,273 3,827,555 4,010,273
Total expenses 16,181,718 13,849,352 3;827,555 4,010,273 20,009,273 17,359,625
Change in Net Position 801,571 1,997,066 (665,521) (663,850) 136,050 1,333,216
Net Position - Beginning of year 33,804,558 31,807,492 27,590,948 28,254,798 61,395,506 60,062,290

$ 34,606,129 $ 33,804,558 $ 26,925,427 $ 27,590,948 $ 61,531,556 $ 61,395,506

Net Position - End of year

Governmental Activities

The Township's total governmental activities revenue totaled approximately $17.0 million, with state-shared
revenue and grants representing $2.4 million of the total. The State's future financial situation will continue to be

monitored during the upcoming year given the significance of the revenue source.

Expenses for the fiscal year were approximately $16.2 million. The Township has closely monitored its spending

in all areas. As a result, there was an increase in net position of approximately $800,000 from 2024 to 2025.

Business-type Activities

The Township's business-type activities consist of the Sewer Fund. We provide sewage treatment through a
township-owned and operated sewage treatment plant, as well as through the use of a plant that is owned and

operated by a neighboring community.
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Township of Hamburg

Management's Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

The Township's Funds

Our analysis of the Township's major funds follows the government-wide financial statements. The fund financial
statements provide detailed information about the most significant funds, not the Township as a whole. The
township board creates funds to help manage money for specific purposes and to show accountability for certain
activities, such as special property tax millages. The Township's major funds for 2024-2025 include the General
Fund, the Police Special Revenue Fund, the Fire Special Revenue Fund, the 2020 Road Fund, the Water System
Debt Service Fund, the Library Fund, and the Crystal DR & Beach Subdivision RD IM SAD Fund.

The General Fund pays for most of the Township's governmental services. In August 2018, a new millage was
passed by the voters for the Police Special Revenue Fund. This millage provides funding for the Police Special
Revenue Fund, reducing future support from the General Fund. Both police and fire services are supported by
separate police and fire millages, which are recorded in the Police Special Revenue Fund and the Fire Special
Revenue Fund.

General Fund Budgetary Highlights

Over the course of the year, the Township amended the budget to consider events during the year. Significant
amendments were made to account for the expense of a new tanker for the fire department.

Capital Assets and Debt Administration

At the end of fiscal year 2025, the Township had approximately $44 million invested in a broad range of capital
assets, net of depreciation, including buildings, police and fire equipment, and sewer lines.

Economic Factors and Next Year's Budgets and Rates

The Township's budget for next year will need to be watched very closely once again, especially relating to the
General Fund. It is expected that the state revenue sharing will be reduced; therefore, the economy will need to
be monitored closely in order to determine if expenditures in the upcoming fiscal year need to be adjusted.

Requests for Further Information

This financial report is intended to provide a general overview of the Township’s finances and demonstrate the
Township’s accountability for the money it receives. If you have questions about this report or need additional
information, please contact the township clerk's office at (810) 231-1000.
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Item 6.

Statement of Net Position

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 2)
Receivables:
Customers and other
Accrued interest receivable
Due from other governments
Special assessments receivable (Note 9)
Internal balances
Inventory
Prepaid expenses and other assets
Other current assets
Cash restricted for capital and debt (Note 9)
Land held for resale
Capital assets: (Note 4)
Assets not subject to depreciation
Assets subject to depreciation

Total assets

Deferred Outflows of Resources - Deferred outflows related to

pensions (Note 8)

Liabilities
Accounts payable
Due to other governmental units
Performance bonds payable
Accrued liabilities and other
Unearned revenue
Noncurrent liabilities:
Due within one year:
Compensated absences (Note 5)

Current portion of long-term debt (Note 5)

Due in more than one year:
Compensated absences (Note 5)
Net pension liability (Note 8)
Long-term debt (Note 5)

Total liabilities

Deferred Inflows of Resources - Deferred inflows related to

pensions (Note 8)

Net Position

Net investment in capital assets

Restricted:
Roads
Debt service
Capital projects and debt service
Police and fire operations
Cemetery expenditures
Library

Unrestricted

Total net position

See notes to financial statements.

Primary Government

June 30, 2025

Governmental Business-type

Activities Activities Total
$ 15,926,597 $ 86,776 16,013,373
123,192 703,298 826,490
64,636 25,294 89,930
372,709 - 372,709
3,874,030 28,395 3,902,425
(14,649) 14,649 -
- 451,825 451,825
304,314 - 304,314
- 28,446 28,446
3,711,302 3,976,845 7,688,147
45,110 - 45,110
1,470,108 1:515,351 2,985,459
19,210,353 22,181,734 41,392,087
45,087,702 29,012,613 74,100,315
1,199,396 - 1,199,396
2,093,848 113,609 2,207,457
26,511 - 26,511
135,045 - 135,045
915,683 88,693 1,004,376
5,446 - 5,446
348,991 32,425 381,416
700,875 254,125 955,000
393,708 32,424 426,132
2,804,660 - 2,804,660
4,242,784 1,565,910 5,808,694
11,667,551 2,087,186 13,754,737
13,418 - 13,418
15,736,802 21,877,050 37,613,852
4,623,071 - 4,623,071
4,456,107 - 4,456,107
383,349 4,005,240 4,388,589
579,435 - 579,435
8,496 - 8,496
2,022,690 - 2,022,690
6,796,179 1,043,137 7,839,316
$ 34,606,129 $ 26,925,427 $ 61,531,556
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Township of Hamburg

Item 6.

Functions/Programs
Primary government:
Governmental activities:

General government
Public safety
Public works
Recreation and culture
Interest on long-term debt

Total governmental activities

Business-type activities - Sewage
disposal

Total primary government

See notes to financial statements.

Program Revenue

Operating  Capital Grants
Charges for Grants and and
Expenses Services Contributions  Contributions
$ 4604658 $ 1,030,465 $ 85,763 $ 3
8,460,624 109,708 34,698 20,680
2,353,692 168,018 - 2,366,140
647,025 27,686 - -
115,719 - - -
16,181,718 1,335,877 120,461 2,386,820
3,827,555 2,662,265 - 316,840
$ 20,009,273 $ 3,998,142 $ 120,461 $ 2,703,660

General revenue:
Property taxes
State-shared revenue
Investment income
Cable franchise fees
Gain on sale of capital assets
Other income

Total general revenue
Changes in Net Position
Net Position - Beginning of year

Net Position - End of year
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Item 6.

Statement of Activities

Net (Expense) Revenue and Changes in Net

Position

Primary Government

Governmental Business-type
Activities Activities Total
$ (3,488,430) $ - (3,488,430)
(8,295,538) - (8,295,538)
180,466 - 180,466
(619,339) - (619,339)
(115,719) - (115,719)
(12,338,560) - (12,338,560)
- (848,450) (848,450)
(12,338,560) (848,450) (13,187,010)
9,592,028 - 9,592,028
2,443,904 - 2,443,904
645,235 182,929 828,164
282,681 - 282,681
7,140 - 7,140
169,143 - 169,143
13,140,131 182,929 13,323,060
801,571 (665,521) 136,050
33,804,558 27,590,948 61,395,506

$ 34,606,129 $

26,925,427 $ 61,531,556

Year Ended June 30, 2025
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Township of Hamburg

Item 6.

Water System
Police Special Fire Special Debt Service
General Fund Revenue Fund Revenue Fund Fund
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 2) $ 8,037,950 $ 28,342 § 548,768 $ 652,739
Receivables:
Special assessments receivable 93,795 - - 176,497
Customers and other 99,313 16,005 7,874 -
Accrued interest receivable 22,993 153 1,649 3,560
Due from other governments 361,014 - - -
Due from other funds (Note 3) - - - -
Advances to other funds (Note 3) 459,648 - - -
Prepaid expenses and other assets 103,264 102,503 89,840 -
Cash restricted for capital and debt - - - 535 752
Land held for resale 45,110 - - -
Total assets $ 9,223,087 $ 147,003 $ 648,131 $ 1,368,548
Liabilities
Accounts payable $ 105,645 $ 51,028 $ 32,886 $ -
Due to other governmental units - 772 - -
Due to other funds (Note 3) 16,563 - - -
Advances from other funds (Note 3) - - - 459,648
Performance bonds payable 135,045 - - -
Accrued liabilities and other 696,437 79,419 60,788 4,650
Unearned revenue = & = =
Total liabilities 953,690 131,219 93,674 464,298
Deferred Inflows of Resources - Unavailable
revenue 106,357 15,707 7,874 176,497
Total liabilities and deferred inflows
of resources 1,060,047 146,926 101,548 640,795
Fund Balances
Nonspendable 608,022 102,503 89,840 -
Restricted:
Roads - - - -
Police - - - -
Fire - - 456,743 -
Debt service - - - 127,753
Capital projects - - - -
Future cemetery expenditures - - - -
Library - - - -
Committed:
Equipment 193,716 - - -
Vehicles 73,759 - - -
Flood prevention 22,300 - - -
Assigned - Capital projects - - - =
Unassigned 7,265,243 (102,426) - -
Total fund balances 8,163,040 T 546,583 127,753
T e ree | § 9203087 § 147,003 § 648131 $ 1,368,548
See notes to financial statements. 10
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Governmental Funds
Balance Sheet

June 30, 2025

Crystal DR &
Beach
Subdivision RD Nonmajor
IM SAD Governmental

2020 Road Fund  Library Fund Fund Funds Total
$ - 3 3,056,144 $ 247,181 § 3,355,473 $ 15,926,597
1,475,848 - 604,528 1,523,362 3,874,030
- - - - 123,192
3,835 16,327 2,531 13,588 64,636
- 11,695 - - 372,709
- - - 16,563 16,563
- - - - 459,648
- 8,707 - - 304,314
1,275,888 - 594,861 1,304,801 3,711,302
- - - - 45,110
$ 2,755,571 $ 3,092,873 $ 1,449,101 §$ 6,213,787 $ 24,898,101
$ 495 $ 9,281 § 769,485 $ 1,125,028 $ 2,093,848
- 25,739 - - 26,511
- - - 14,649 31,212
- - - - 459,648
- - - - 135,045
34,483 - - - 875,777
= 5,446 - - 5,446
34,978 40,466 769,485 1,139,677 3,627,487
1,441,367 - 604,528 1,553,116 3,905,446
1,476,345 40,466 1,374,013 2,692,793 7,532,933
- 8,707 - - 809,072
- = - 1,800,830 1,800,830
- - - 9,194 9,194
- - B - 456,743
- - 75,088 1,390,394 2,193,235
1,279,226 - - 312,080 1,591,306
= - - 8,496 8,496
- 2,013,983 - - 2,013,983
= = - - 193,716
- - - - 73,759
- - - - 22,300
- 1,029,717 - - 1,029,717
- - - - 7,162,817
1,279,226 3,052,407 75,088 3,520,994 17,365,168
$ 2,755,571 $ 3,092,873 § 1,449,101 § 6,213,787 $ 24,898,101

11
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Item 6.

Township of Hamburg

Governmental Funds
Reconciliation of the Balance Sheet to the Statement of Net Position

June 30, 2025

Fund Balances Reported in Governmental Funds $ 17,365,168

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of net position are different
because:

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources and are not
reported in the funds 20,680,461

Special assessment and other receivables are expected to be collected over several
years and are not available to pay for current year expenditures 3,905,446

Certain pension contributions and changes in pension plan net position are reported as
deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources in the statement of
net position but are reported as expenses in the governmental funds 1,185,978

Bonds payable are not due and payable in the current period and are not reported in the
funds (4,943,659)

Accrued interest is not due and payable in the current period and is not reported in the
funds (39,906)

Employee compensated absences are payable over a long period of years and do not
represent a claim on current financial resources; therefore, they are not reported as

fund liabilities (742,699)

Net pension liability in governmental activities is not reported in the funds (2,804,660)

Net Position of Governmental Activities $ 34,606,129
See notes to financial statements. 12
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Item 6.

Revenue
Property taxes
Special assessments
State-shared revenue and grants:
Federal grants
State sources
Charges for services
Fines and forfeitures
Licenses and permits
Investment income
Other revenue

Total revenue

Expenditures

Current services:
General government
Public safety
Public works
Recreation and culture

Capital outlay

Debt service

Total expenditures

Excess of Revenue Over (Under)
Expenditures

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Transfers in (Note 3)
Transfers out (Note 3)
New debt issued (Note 5)

Proceeds from sale of capital assets

Total other financing sources

Net Change in Fund Balances

Fund Balances - Beginning of year, as
previously reported

Change within Financial Reporting
Entity (Note 1)

Fund Balances - Beginning of year, as restated

Fund Balances - End of year

See notes to financial statements.

Water System
Police Special Fire Special  Debt Service
General Fund Revenue Fund Revenue Fund Fund
$ 1,110,852 $ 3,357,918 $§ 3,163,563 $ -
18,392 - - 70,329
10,701 - - -
2,451,261 32,825 26,795 -
714,281 31,117 - -
- 12,580 - -
282,681 - - -
296,743 6,910 16,938 39,672
446,411 63,782 4,151 37,500
5:331,322 3,505,132 3,211,447 147,501
3,234,017 - - -
706,145 3,940,696 3,012,784 -
57,102 - - -
722,345 - - -
r % - 247,650
4,719,609 3,940,696 3,012,784 247,650
611,713 (435,564) 198,663 (100,149)
607,756 359,400 - 154,000
(529,600) - = =
- 7,140 - -
78,156 366,540 - 154,000
689,869 (69,024) 198,663 53,851
7473171 69,101 347,920 673,902
7,473,171 69,101 347,920 673,902
$ 8,163,040 $ 77 $ 546,583 $ 727,753
13
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Governmental Funds

Statement of Revenue, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances

Crystal DR &
Beach
Subdivision Nonmajor Total
2020 RD IM SAD  Governmental Governmental
Road Fund Library Fund Fund Funds Funds

$ - $§ 1,256,800 $ - % 702,895 $ 9,592,028
350,188 - 80,739 318,536 838,184

- - - - 10,701

- - - 3,754 2,514,635

- 10,303 - - 755,701

- 46,308 - - 58,888

- - - - 282,681
47,366 105,343 13,517 118,746 645,235

- 49,778 - 18,000 619,622
397,554 1,468,532 94,256 1,161,931 15,317,675

- - - - 3,234,017

- - - 22,250 7,681,875

- - 781,516 1,224,408 2,063,026

- 1,121,817 - - 1,844,162

- 69,184 - 282,626 351,810
359,921 - 1,594 41,909 651,074
359,921 1,191,001 783,110 1,571,193 15,825,964
37,633 277,531 (688,854) (409,262) (508,289)

- - - 16,200 1,137,356
- - - (607,756) (1,137,356)

- - 608,486 1,489,434 2,097,920

- - - - 7,140

- - 608,486 897,878 2,105,060
37,633 277,531 (80,368) 488,616 1,596,771
1,241,593 2,774,876 - 3,187,834 15,768,397

- - 155,456 (155,456) -

1,241,593 2,774,876 155,456 3,032,378 15,768,397
$ 1,279,226 $ 3,052,407 $ 75,088 $ 3,520,994 $ 17,365,168

14

Year Ended June 30, 2025
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Township of Hamburg

Item 6.

Governmental Funds
Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenue, Expenditures, and Changes in
Fund Balances to the Statement of Activities

Year Ended June 30, 2025

Net Change in Fund Balances Reported in Governmental Funds

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities are different
because:

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures; however, in the statement of
activities, these costs are allocated over their estimated useful lives as depreciation:
Capital outlay
Depreciation expense

Issuing debt provides current financial resources to governmental funds but increases
long-term liabilities in the statement of net position

Special assessment revenue is recorded in the statement of activities when earned; it is
not reported in the funds until collected or collectible within 60 days of year end

Repayment of bond principal is an expenditure in the governmental funds but not in the
statement of activities (where it reduces long-term debt)

Change in accrued interest payable and other

Decrease in accumulated employee sick and vacation pay and other similar expenses
reported in the statement of activities do not require the use of current resources and,
therefore, are not reported in the fund statements until they come due for payment

Change in net pension liability and deferred inflows/outflows related to pension is
recorded when incurred in the statement of activities

Change in Net Position of Governmental Activities

See notes to financial statements. 15

1,596,771

930,871
(1,388,123)

(2,097,920)

1,628,501

555,874

(20,517)

(132,333)

(271,553)

801,571

303




Township of Hamburg

Item 6.

Proprietary Fund
Statement of Net Position

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 2)
Receivables
Due from other funds (Note 3)
Inventory
Other current assets

Total current assets

Noncurrent assets:
Cash restricted for capital and debt (Note 9)
Assets restricted for capital and debt (Note 9)
Capital assets: (Note 4)
Assets not subject to depreciation
Assets subject to depreciation

Total noncurrent assets
Total assets
Liabilities
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities and other

Compensated absences (Note 5)
Current portion of long-term debt (Note 5)

Total current liabilities

Noncurrent liabilities:
Compensated absences (Note 5)
Long-term debt (Note 5)

Total noncurrent liabilities
Total liabilities

Net Position
Net investment in capital assets
Restricted - Capital projects and debt service
Unrestricted

Total net position

See notes to financial statements.

16

June 30, 2025

Sewer Fund

$ 86,776
728,592

14,649

451,825

28,446

1,310,288

3,976,845
28,395

1,515,351
22,181,734

27,702,325

29,012,613

113,609
88,693
32,425

254,125

488,852

32,424
1,565,910

1,598,334
2,087,186

21,877,050
4,005,240
1,043,137

$ 26,925,427
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Item 6.

Proprietary Fund
Statement of Revenue, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position

Operating Revenue
Sewage disposal charges
Debt service charges and other

Total operating revenue

Operating Expenses
Cost of sewage treatment
Depreciation

Total operating expenses
Operating Loss

Nonoperating Revenue (Expense)
Investment income
Interest expense

Total nonoperating revenue
Loss - Before capital contributions
Capital Contributions - Tap fees
Change in Net Position

Net Position - Beginning of year

Net Position - End of year

See notes to financial statements.

17

Year Ended June 30, 2025

Sewer Fund

$

1,828,635
833,630

2,662,265

2,608,232
1,148,089

3,756,321

(1,094,056)

182,929
(71,234)

111,695

(982,361)
316,840

(665,521)
27,590,948

$

26,925,427
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Item 6.

Township of Hamburg

Proprietary Fund
Statement of Cash Flows

Year Ended June 30, 2025

Sewer Fund
Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Receipts from customers $ 2,629,092
Payments to suppliers (1,730,255)
Payments to employees (947,126)
Net cash used in operating activities (48,289)
Cash Flows from Capital and Related Financing Activities
Collection of tap fees and capital charges 316,840
Collection of principal and interest on customer assessments 9,645
Purchase of capital assets (484,357)
Principal and interest paid on capital debt (621,908)
Net cash used in capital and related financing activities (779,780)
Cash Flows Provided by Investing Activities - Interest received on investments 203,836
Net Decrease in Cash and Cash Equivalents (624,233)
Cash and Cash Equivalents - Beginning of year 4,687,854
Cash and Cash Equivalents - End of year $ 4,063,621
Statement of Net Position Classification of Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and investments $ 86,776
Segregated bank deposits resulting from special assessments 3,976,845
Total cash and cash equivalents s 4,063,621
Reconciliation of Operating Loss to Net Cash from Operating Activities
Operating loss $ (1,094,056)
Adjustments to reconcile operating loss to net cash from operating activities:
Depreciation 1,148,089
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Receivables (33,173)
Inventories 229,789
Prepaid and other assets 209
Accrued and other liabilities 23,302
Accounts payable (322,449)
Net cash used in operating activities $ (48,289)

See notes to financial statements. 18
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Township of Hamburg

Fiduciary Fund
Statement of Fiduciary Net Position

June 30, 2025

Current Tax

Collection
Assets $ 6,673
Liabilities - Accounts payable 6,673

Net Position $ -

See notes to financial statements. 19

Item 6.

307




Item 6.

Township of Hamburg

Fiduciary Fund
Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position

Year Ended June 30, 2025

Current Tax

Collection
Additions - Property tax collections on behalf of others $ 31,868,514
Deductions - Property tax disbursement to others 31,868,514

Net Change in Fiduciary Net Position -

Net Position - Beginning of year >

Net Position - End of year $ -

See notes to financial statements. 20
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Township of Hamburg

Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2025
Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The following is a summary of the significant accounting policies used by the Township of Hamburg (the
"Township"):

Reporting Entity

The Township of Hamburg is governed by an elected seven-member board. The accompanying financial
statements present the Township.

Accounting and Reporting Principles

The Township follows accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP),
as applicable to governmental units. Accounting and financial reporting pronouncements are promulgated
by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB).

Report Presentation

Governmental accounting principles require that financial reports include two different perspectives - the
government-wide perspective and the fund-based perspective. The government-wide financial statements
(i.e., the statement of net position and the statement of activities) report information on all of the
nonfiduciary activities of the primary government and its component units, as applicable. The
government-wide financial statements are presented on the economic resources measurement focus and
the full accrual basis of accounting. Property taxes are recognized as revenue in the year for which they
are levied. Grants and similar items are recognized as revenue as soon as all eligibility requirements
imposed by the provider have been met. The statements also present a schedule reconciling these
amounts to the modified accrual-based presentation found in the fund-based statements.

The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a given function or
segment are offset by program revenue. Direct expenses are those that are clearly identifiable with a
specific function or segment. Program revenue includes: (1) charges to customers or applicants for
goods, services, or privileges provided; (2) operating grants and contributions; and (3) capital grants and
contributions, including special assessments. Taxes and other items not properly included among
program revenue are reported instead as general revenue.

For the most part, the effect of interfund activity has been removed from these statements. Exceptions to
this general rule are charges between the Township's sewer function and various other functions of the
Township. Eliminations of these charges would distort the direct costs and program revenue reported for
the various functions concerned.

Separate financial statements are provided for governmental funds, proprietary funds, and fiduciary
funds, even though the latter are excluded from the government-wide financial statements. Major
individual governmental funds and major individual enterprise funds are reported as separate columns in
the fund financial statements.
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Fund Accounting

The Township accounts for its various activities in several different funds in order to demonstrate
accountability for how it has spent certain resources; separate funds allow the Township to show the
particular expenditures for which specific revenue was used. The various funds are aggregated into three
broad fund types:

Governmental Funds

Governmental funds include all activities that provide general governmental services that are not
business-type activities. This includes the General Fund, special revenue funds, debt service funds, and
a capital project fund. The Township reports the following funds as major governmental funds:

e The General Fund is the primary operating fund because it accounts for all financial resources used to
provide general government services, other than those specifically assigned to another fund.

e The Police Special Revenue Fund and Fire Special Revenue Fund are for full-service departments
whose main source of revenue comes from voter-approved millages on all real property. The funds
provide safety, fire suppression, fire prevention, and emergency medical services in the Township.

e The 2020 Road Fund accounts for improvements to various roads in the Township. Its main source of
revenue comes from special assessments.

e The Water System Debt Service Fund accounts for debt service payments related to the water
system. The main source of revenue is the collection of special assessments. The General Fund
made advances to this fund to meet current obligations.

e The Library Fund provides public library services to the residents of Hamburg Township. Its main
source of revenue comes from a voter-approved millage.

The Crystal DR & Beach Subdivision RD IM SAD Fund is used to account for the collection of special
assessment revenue and the payment of debt service and other expenditures related to the special
assessment at the Crystal Drive and Crystal Beach subdivision.

Proprietary Funds

Proprietary funds include enterprise funds, which provide goods or services to users in exchange for
charges or fees. The Township reports the following fund as a major enterprise fund:

¢ The Sewer Fund accounts for the results of operations that provide sewer services to citizens and is
financed primarily by a user charge for the provision of those services.

Fiduciary Funds

The Township reports the Current Tax Collection Fund as a custodial fund. The custodial fund accounts
for assets held by the Township in a trustee capacity.

Interfund Activity

During the course of operations, the government has activity between funds for various purposes. Any
residual balances outstanding at year end are reported as due from/to other funds and advances to/from
other funds. While these balances are reported in fund financial statements, certain eliminations are
made in the preparation of the government-wide financial statements. Balances between the funds
included in governmental activities (i.e., the governmental and internal service funds) are eliminated so
that only the net amount is included as internal balances in the governmental activities column.
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Furthermore, certain activity occurs during the year involving transfers of resources between funds. In
fund financial statements, these amounts are reported at gross amounts as transfers in/out. While
reported in fund financial statements, certain eliminations are made in the preparation of the government-
wide financial statements. Transfers between the funds included in governmental activities are eliminated
so that only the net amount is included as transfers in the governmental activities column.

Basis of Accounting

The governmental funds use the current financial resources measurement focus and the modified accrual
basis of accounting. This basis of accounting is intended to better demonstrate accountability for how the
government has spent its resources.

Expenditures are reported when the goods are received or the services are rendered. Capital outlays are
reported as expenditures (rather than as capital assets) because they reduce the ability to spend
resources in the future; conversely, employee benefit costs that will be funded in the future (such as
pension and sick and vacation pay) are not counted until they come due for payment. In addition, debt
service expenditures, claims, and judgments are recorded only when payment is due.

Revenue is not recognized until it is collected or collected soon enough after the end of the year that it is
available to pay for obligations outstanding at the end of the year. For this purpose, the Township
considers amounts collected within 60 days of year end to be available for recognition. The following
major revenue sources meet the availability criterion: state-shared revenue and interest associated with
the current fiscal period. Conversely, special assessments and federal grant reimbursements will be
collected after the period of availability; receivables have been recorded for these, along with a deferred
inflow.

Proprietary funds and fiduciary funds, as applicable, use the economic resources measurement focus
and the full accrual basis of accounting. Revenue is recorded when earned, and expenses are recorded
when a liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of related cash flows.

Specific Balances and Transactions

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, demand deposits, and short-term investments with a
maturity of three months or less when acquired.

Receivables and Payables

In general, outstanding balances between funds are reported as due to/from other funds. Activity between
funds that is representative of lending/borrowing arrangements outstanding at the end of the fiscal year is
referred to as advances to/from other funds. Any residual balances outstanding between the
governmental activities and the business-type activities are reported in the government-wide financial
statements as internal balances.

All trade and property tax receivables are shown as net of an allowance for uncollectible amounts.
Restricted Assets

Restricted assets in the 2020 Road Fund, Water System Debt Service Fund, Crystal DR & Beach
Subdivision RD IM SAD Fund, nonmajor governmental funds, and the Sewer Fund consist of cash and
cash equivalents restricted for debt payments and capital improvements.
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Capital Assets

Capital assets, which include property, plant, equipment, intangibles, and infrastructure, are reported in
the applicable governmental or business-type activities column in the government-wide financial
statements. Capital assets are defined by the Township as assets with an initial individual cost of more
than $2,500 and an estimated useful life in excess of one year for non-computer-related assets and $500
for computer equipment. Such assets are recorded at historical cost or estimated historical cost if
purchased or constructed. Donated capital assets are recorded at acquisition value.

Infrastructure, intangibles, buildings, equipment, and vehicles are depreciated using the straight-line
method over the following useful lives:

Depreciable Life -

Years
Buildings and building improvements 5-50
Machinery and tools 3-15
Vehicles, boats, and related equipment 3-7
Office furnishings and equipment 3-10
Library collection materials 10
Leasehold improvements 50
Business-type activities - Utility system 3-50

Long-term Obligations

In the government-wide financial statements and the proprietary fund types in the fund financial
statements, long-term debt and other long-term obligations are reported as liabilities in the applicable
governmental activities, business-type activities, or proprietary fund-type statement of net position. Bond
premiums and discounts are deferred and amortized over the life of the bond using the effective interest
method; bonds payable are reported net of the applicable bond premium or discount. Bond issuance
costs are expensed at the time they are incurred. In the fund financial statements, governmental fund
types recognize bond issuances as other financing sources and bond premiums and discounts as other
financing uses. The General Fund and debt service funds are generally used to liquidate governmental
long-term debt. The Sewer Fund is used to liquidate proprietary fund long-term debt.

Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources

In addition to assets, the statement of net position and/or balance sheet will sometimes report a separate
section for deferred outflows of resources. This separate financial statement element represents a
consumption of net position that applies to a future period and will not be recognized as an outflow of
resources (expense/expenditure) until then. The Township has one item that falls into this category, the
deferred outflows of resources related to the defined benefit pension plan. The deferred outflows of
resources related to the defined benefit pension plan are reported in the government-wide financial
statements.

In addition to liabilities, the statement of net position and/or balance sheet will sometimes report a
separate section for deferred inflows of resources. This separate financial statement element represents
an acquisition of net position that applies to a future period and will not be recognized as an inflow of
resources (revenue) until that time. The Township has two items that qualify for reporting in this category,
deferred inflows of resources related to unavailable revenue and deferred inflows of resources related to
pensions. Unavailable revenue is reported only in the governmental funds balance sheet. The
governmental funds report unavailable revenue from special assessments. These amounts are deferred
and recognized as an inflow of resources in the period that the amounts become available. The deferred
inflows of resources related to the defined benefit pension plan are reported in the government-wide
financial statements.
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Net Position

Net position of the Township is classified in three components. Net investment in capital assets consists
of capital assets net of accumulated depreciation and is reduced by the current balances of any
outstanding borrowings used to finance the purchase or construction of those assets. The restricted
component of net position consists of restricted assets reduced by liabilities and deferred inflows of
resources related to those assets. Unrestricted net position is the remaining net position that does not
meet the definition of invested in capital or restricted.

Net Position Flow Assumption

Sometimes the government will fund outlays for a particular purpose from both restricted (e.g., restricted
bond or grant proceeds) and unrestricted resources. In order to calculate the amounts to report as
restricted net position and unrestricted net position in the government-wide and proprietary fund financial
statements, a flow assumption must be made about the order in which the resources are considered to
be applied. It is the government’s policy to consider restricted net position to have been depleted before
unrestricted net position is applied.

Fund Balance Flow Assumptions

Sometimes the government will fund outlays for a particular purpose from both restricted and unrestricted
resources (the total of committed, assigned, and unassigned fund balance). In order to calculate the
amounts to report as restricted, committed, assigned, and unassigned fund balance in the governmental
fund financial statements, a flow assumption must be made about the order in which the resources are
considered to be applied. It is the government’s policy to consider restricted fund balance to have been
depleted before using any of the components of unrestricted fund balance. Furthermore, when the
components of unrestricted fund balance can be used for the same purpose, committed fund balance is
depleted first, followed by assigned fund balance. Unassigned fund balance is applied last.

Fund Balance Policies

Fund balance of governmental funds is reported in various categories based on the nature of any
limitations requiring the use of resources for specific purposes. The government itself can establish
limitations on the use of resources through either a commitment (committed fund balance) or an
assignment (assigned fund balance).

The committed fund balance classification includes amounts that can be used only for the specific
purposes determined by a formal action of the government'’s highest level of decision-making authority.
The Township's board is the highest level of decision-making authority for the government that can, by
adoption of an ordinance prior to the end of the fiscal year, commit fund balance. Once adopted, the
limitation imposed by the ordinance remains in place until a similar action is taken (the adoption of
another ordinance) to remove or revise the limitation.

Amounts in the assigned fund balance classification are intended to be used by the government for
specific purposes but do not meet the criteria to be classified as committed. The Township's board has by
resolution authorized the finance director to assign fund balance. The board may also assign fund
balance as it does when appropriating fund balance to cover a gap between estimated revenue and
appropriations in the subsequent year's appropriated budget. Unlike commitments, assignments
generally exist only temporarily. In other words, an additional action does not normally have to be taken
for the removal of an assignment. Conversely, as discussed above, an additional action is essential to
either remove or revise a commitment.
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Property Tax Revenue

The taxable valuation of the Township totaled $1.406 billion. Property taxes are levied and become a lien
on each December 1 on the taxable valuation of property as of the preceding December 31. Taxes are
considered delinquent on March 1 of the following year, at which time penalties and interest are
assessed. The amounts are recognized in the financial statements as tax revenue net of delinquent tax
revenue and administrative fees.

The Township's approximate property tax levy for the year ended June 30, 2025 was as follows:

Purpose Millage Rate Revenue
Operating 0.7891 $ 1,111,000
Police 2.3885 3,359,000
Fire 2.2500 3,165,000
Library 0.8936 1,224,000
Roads 0.5000 703,000
Total $ 9,562,000

Pension

The Township offers a defined benefit pension plan to its employees. The Township records a net
pension liability for the difference between the total pension liability calculated by the actuary and the
pension plan’s fiduciary net position. For the purpose of measuring the net pension liability, deferred
outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions, and pension expense,
information about the fiduciary net position of the pension plan and additions to/deductions from the
pension plan’s fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by the
pension plan. For this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are
recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair
value.

Compensated Absences (Vacation and Sick Leave)

It is the Township's policy to permit employees to accumulate earned but unused sick, vacation, and
compensatory time. Sick and vacation time is accrued when incurred in the government-wide and
proprietary financial statements. A leave liability is recognized due to the leave attributable to services
already rendered, leave that accumulates, and leave that is more likely than not to be used for time off or
otherwise paid in cash or settled through noncash means. A liability for these amounts is reported in
governmental funds only for employee terminations as of year end.

Proprietary Funds Operating Classification

Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenue and expenses from nonoperating items. Operating
revenue and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods in
connection with a proprietary fund’s principal ongoing operations. The principal operating revenue of the
Sewer Fund is charges to customers for sales and services. The Sewer Fund also recognizes as
operating revenue the portion of tap fees intended to recover the cost of connecting new customers to the
system. Operating expenses for enterprise funds and internal service funds include the cost of sales and
services, administrative expenses, and depreciation on capital assets. All revenue and expenses not
meeting this definition are reported as nonoperating revenue and expenses.
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Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of
the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the period. Actual
results could differ from those estimates.

Earmarked Fund Balance

Fund balance in the Police Special Revenue Fund is restricted by law as part of a special voted levy to be
used only for those purposes. The Township's board has further earmarked resources within the fund to
be used as follows:

Fund Purpose Amount
Police Special Revenue Retiree leave time $ 20,742
Police Special Revenue Building maintenance 25,000
Total 3 45,742

Upcoming Accounting Pronouncements

In April 2024, the Governmental Accounting Standards Board issued Statement No. 103, Financial
Reporting Model Improvements, which establishes new accounting and financial reporting requirements
or modifies existing requirements related to the following: management's discussion and analysis;
unusual or infrequent items; presentation of the proprietary fund statement of revenue, expenses, and
changes in fund net position; information about major component units in basic financial statements;
budgetary comparison information; and financial trends information in the statistical section. The
provisions of this statement are effective for the Township's financial statements for the year ending June
30, 2026.

In September 2024, the Governmental Accounting Standards Board issued Statement No. 104,
Disclosure of Certain Capital Assets, which requires certain types of capital assets, such as lease assets,
intangible right-of-use assets, subscription assets, and other intangible assets, to be disclosed separately
by major class of underlying asset in the capital assets note. This statement also requires additional
disclosures for capital assets held for sale. The provisions of this statement are effective for the
Township's financial statements for the year ending June 30, 2026.

Accounting Changes and Error Corrections

Changes to or within the Financial Reporting Entity

Change in Major Funds

The Crystal DR & Beach Subdivision RD IM SAD Fund was previously reported as a nonmajor fund but is
now reported as a major fund for fiscal year 2025. The effects of this change in major funds are shown in
the table at the end of this section.
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Adjustments to and Restatements of Beginning Balances

During fiscal year 2025, the changes noted above resulted in adjustments to and restatements of
beginning governmental funds fund balance as follows:

June 30, 2024 June 30, 2024
As Previously Change in Major
Reported Funds As Adjusted
Governmental funds:
Major funds - Crystal DR & Beach Subdivision RD
IM SAD Fund $ - 8 155,456 $ 155,456
Nonmajor funds 3,187,834 (155,456) 3,032,378

Note 2 - Deposits and Investments

Michigan Compiled Laws Section 129.91 (Public Act 20 of 1943, as amended) authorizes local
governmental units to make deposits and invest in the accounts of federally insured banks, credit unions,
and savings and loan associations that have offices in Michigan. The law also allows investments outside
the state of Michigan when fully insured. The local unit is allowed to invest in bonds, securities, and other
direct obligations of the United States or any agency or instrumentality of the United States; repurchase
agreements; bankers’ acceptances of United States banks; commercial paper rated within the two
highest classifications that matures no more than 270 days after the date of purchase; obligations of the
State of Michigan or its political subdivisions that are rated as investment grade; and mutual funds
composed of investment vehicles that are legal for direct investment by local units of government in
Michigan.

The Township has designated nine banks for the deposit of its funds. The investment policy adopted by
the board in accordance with Public Act 196 of 1997 has authorized investment in all of the above-
mentioned investment vehicles.

The Township's cash and investments are subject to various types of risk, which are examined in more
detail below:

Custodial Credit Risk of Bank Deposits

Custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of a bank failure, the Township's deposits may not be
returned to it. The Township does not have a deposit policy for custodial credit risk. At year end, the
Township had bank deposits of $18,176,936 (certificates of deposit and checking and savings accounts)
that were uninsured or uncollateralized.

Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of investments will decrease as a result of a rise in interest
rates. The Township's investment policy does not restrict investment maturities other than commercial
paper, which can only be purchased with a 270-day maturity. The Township's investment policy does not
restrict investment maturities other than commercial paper, which can only be purchased with a 270-day

maturity.
Weighted-
average Maturity
Investment Carrying Value (Days)
Michigan CLASS investment pool $ 5,644,534 85
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Credit Risk

State law limits investments in commercial paper to the top two ratings issued by nationally recognized
statistical rating organizations. The Township has no investment policy that would further limit its
investment choices. As of year end, the credit quality ratings of debt securities (other than the U.S.
government) are as follows:

Rating
Investment Fair Value Rating Organization
Michigan CLASS investment pool $ 5,644,534 AAAM S&P

Concentration of Credit Risk

The Township places no limit on the amount it may invest in any one issuer. There are no investments
held by the Township with a 5 percent or more concentration in the current year.

Fair Value Measurements

The Township categorizes its fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy established by
generally accepted accounting principles. The hierarchy is based on the valuation inputs used to
measure the fair value of the asset. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets,
Level 2 inputs are significant other observable inputs, and Level 3 inputs are significant unobservable
inputs. Investments that are measured at fair value using net asset value per share (NAV) (or its
equivalent) as a practical expedient are not classified in the fair value hierarchy below.

In instances where inputs used to measure fair value fall into different levels in the above fair value
hierarchy, fair value measurements in their entirety are categorized based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the valuation. The Township’s assessment of the significance of particular inputs to these
fair value measurements requires judgment and considers factors specific to each asset.

The Township has the following recurring fair value measurements as of June 30, 2025:

Assets
Measured at Fair
Value on a
Recurring Basis

Balance at
June 30, 2025

Investments measured at net asset value - Michigan CLASS investment pool 3 5,644,534
Investments in Entities that Calculate Net Asset Value per Share

The Township holds shares or interests in investment companies where the fair value of the investments
is measured on a recurring basis using net asset value per share (or its equivalent) of the investment
companies as a practical expedient.

At June 30, 2025, the fair value, unfunded commitments, and redemption rules of those investments are

as follows:
Redemption
Unfunded Frequency, if Redemption
Fair Value Commitments Eligible Notice Period
Total investments measured at
NAV - Michigan CLASS
investment pool $ 5,644,534 $ - 8 - 8 2
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The Michigan CLASS investment pool invests in U.S. Treasury obligations, federal agency obligations of
the U.S. government, high-grade commercial paper (rated A1 or better), collateralized bank deposits,
repurchase agreements (collateralized at 102 percent by Treasurys and agencies), and approved money
market funds. The program is designed to meet the needs of Michigan public sector investors. It
purchases securities that are legally permissible under state statutes and are available for investment by
Michigan counties, cities, townships, school districts, authorities, and other public agencies.

Note 3 - Interfund Receivables, Payables, and Transfers

The composition of interfund balances is as follows:

Receivable Fund Payable Fund Amount
Nonmajor governmental funds General Fund $ 16,563
Sewer Fund Nonmajor governmental funds 14,649

Total $ 31,212

The Township has made the following long-term advances between funds:

Fund Borrowed From Fund Loaned To Amount

General Fund Water System Debt Service Fund 3 459,648

These balances result from the time lag between the dates that goods and services are provided or
reimbursable expenditures occur, transactions are recorded in the accounting system, and payments
between funds are made.

Interfund advances reported in the fund financial statements are related to the purchase of the water
system assets and payment of the related debt. The advance is due from the Water System Debt Service
Fund to the General Fund, with payment due once the system generates revenue from the user charge
for the provision of water services.

Interfund transfers reported in the fund financial statements are composed of the following:

Paying Fund (Transfer Out) Receiving Fund (Transfer In) Amount
General Fund Water System Debt Service Fund 8 154,000
Police Special Revenue Fund 359,400
Nonmajor governmental funds 16,200
Total General Fund 529,600
Nonmajor governmental funds General Fund 607,756

The transfers from the General Fund to the Water System Debt Service Fund, Police Special Revenue
Fund, and nonmajor governmental funds were for capital purchases and general operations. The transfer
from nonmajor governmental funds to the General Fund was made to close the Parks and Recreation
Fund.
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Capital asset activity of the Township's governmental and business-type activities was as follows:

Governmental Activities

Balance Balance
July 1, 2024 Additions Disposals June 30, 2025
Capital assets not being
depreciated - Land $ 1,470,108 $ - $ - 1,470,108
Capital assets being depreciated:
Intangible rights 8,878,138 - - 8,878,138
Buildings and improvements 17,284,923 603,527 - 17,888,450
Machinery and equipment 2,703,833 134,262 - 2,838,095
Vehicles 3,321,683 109,369 (4,044) 3,427,008
Office furnishings 1,713,411 42,496 - 1,755,907
Library collection material 864,370 41,217 - 905,587
Land improvements 1,067,950 - - 1,067,950
Subtotal 35,834,308 930,871 (4,044) 36,761,135
Accumulated depreciation:
Intangible rights 928,147 178,988 - 1,107,135
Buildings and improvements 7,806,498 463,997 - 8,270,495
Machinery and equipment 2,064,966 210,495 - 2,275,461
Vehicles 2,546,636 455,714 (4,044) 2,998,306
Office furnishings 1,666,023 23,728 - 1,689,751
Library collection materials 846,065 30,322 - 876,387
Land improvements 308,368 24,879 - 333,247
Subtotal 16,166,703 1,388,123 (4,044) 17,550,782
Net capital assets being
depreciated 19,667,605 (457,252) - 19,210,353
Net governmental activities
capital assets $ 21437713 $ (457,252) $ - 20,680,461
31
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Business-type Activities

Balance Reclassifications Balance
July 1, 2024  and Adjustments Additions Disposals June 30, 2025
Capital assets not being
depreciated:
Land $ 1,303,361 $ - 8 - 3 - $ 1,303,361
Construction in progress -
Sewer hookups 206,983 - 5,007 - 211,990
Construction in progress -
Other 50,287 (50,287) - - -
Subtotal 1,560,631 (50,287) 5,007 - 1,515,351
Capital assets being depreciated:
Utility system 28,683,434 50,287 177,326 - 28,911,047
Buildings and improvements 8,066,933 - 34,685 - 8,101,618
Machinery and equipment 869,088 - 37,550 - 906,638
GPS system 6,103,028 - 229,789 - 6,332,817
Subtotal 43,722,483 50,287 479,350 - 44,252,120
Accumulated depreciation:
Utility system 12,648,429 - 616,132 - 13,264,561
Buildings and improvements 3,132,967 - 162,123 - 3,295,090
Machinery and equipment 482,468 - 88,405 - 570,873
GPS system 4,658,433 - 281,429 - 4,939,862
Subtotal 20,922,297 - 1,148,089 - 22,070,386
Net capital assets being
depreciated 22,800,186 50,287 (668,739) - 22,181,734
Net business-type activities
capital assets $ 24360817 $ - $ (663,732) $ - $ 23,697,085

Depreciation expense was charged to programs of the primary government as follows:

Governmental activities:

General government $ 442,256
Public safety 793,737
Public works 8,040
Recreation and culture 144,090

Total governmental activities 3 1,388,123

32 320




Item 6.

Township of Hamburg

Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2025
Note 5 - Long-term Debt

Long-term debt activity for the year ended June 30, 2025 can be summarized as follows:
Governmental Activities

Interest Principal
Rate Maturity Beginning Ending Due within
Ranges Ranges Balance Additions  Reductions  Balance One Year

Other debt:

2012 Water system project

refunding bond:

Amount of issue -

$1,730,000 2.00% -  $60,000 -

Maturing through 2031 3.50% $115,000 $ 820,000 $ - $ (100,000) $ 720,000 $ 95,000
2008 Special assessment:

Amount of issue -

$1,435,000 3.00% -  $50,000 -

Maturing through 2028 4.20% $125,000 425,000 - (100,000) 325,000 100,000
2010 Special assessment:

Amount of issue -

$445,000

Portion related to

governmental activities -

$431,240 3.25%-  $19,380 -

Maturing through 2030 5.75% $24,225 116,280 - (19,380) 96,900 19,380
2020 Special assessment:

Amount of issue -

$3,315,000

Portion related to

governmental activities -

$3,280,822 1.00% - $272,170 -

Maturing through 2030 1.30% $341,450 2,035,600
2025 Special assessment:

Amount of issue -

(336,494) 1,699,106 336,495

$1,925,000 $150,000 -
Maturing through 2034 5.00% $255,000 - 1,925,000 - 1,925,000 150,000
Total other debt 3,396,880 1,925,000 (555,874) 4,766,006 700,875
Unamortized bond premiums 4,853 172,920 (120) 177,653 -
Subtotal 3,401,733 2,097,920 (5655,994) 4,943,659 700,875

Accumulated compensated
absences 610,366 132,333 - 742,699 348,991

Total governmental
activities long-term
debt $4,012,099 $2,230,253 $ (555,994) $ 5,686,358 $ 1,049,866

The table above discloses the net change in accumulated compensated absences.
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Business-type Activities

Other debt:

2010 Special assessment:
Amount of issue -
$445,000
Portion related to
business-type activities -
$13,760
Maturing through 2030

Revenue bonds -

2007 Waste Water
Treatment Plant:
Amount of issue -
$4,590,000

Maturing through 2028

2010 Limited Tax G.O.
bonds:

Amount of issue -
$3,265,000
Maturing through 2031

2020 Special assessment:
Amount of issue -
$3,315,000
Portion related to
business-type activities -
$34,178
Maturing through 2030

Total other debt

Direct placement debt:
State Revolving Fund Bonds -
2009 Limited Tax G.O. bonds:
Amount of issue - $1,235,202
Maturing through 2030

Subtotal

Accumulated compensated
absences

Total business-type
activities long-term
debt

June 30, 2025

Interest Principal
Rate Maturity Beginning Ending Due within
Ranges Ranges Balance Additions Reductions  Balance One Year
3.00%-
5.75%  $618-$775 $ 3,720 $ - 3 (620) $ 3,100 $ 620
3.60%-  $210,000-
4.20% $300,000 595,000 - (300,000) 295,000 -
$125,000-
2.50% $205,000 1,330,000 - (175,000) 1,155,000 180,000
1.00%- $2,830-
1.30% $3,550 21,239 - (3,506) 17,733 3,505
1,949,959 - (479,126) 1,470,833 184,125
$49,202-
2.50% $80,000 419,202 - (70,000) 349,202 70,000
2,369,161 - (549,126) 1,820,035 254,125
45,423 35,830 (16,404) 64,849 32,425
$2,414584 $ 35830 $ (565,530) $ 1,884,884 $ 286,550
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322




Township of Hamburg

Item 6.

Notes to Financial Statements

Note 5 - Long-term Debt (Continued)

Debt Service Requirements to Maturity

June 30, 2025

Annual debt service requirements to maturity for the above bonds and note obligations are as follows:

Governmental Activities

Other Debt
Years Ending
June 30 Principal Interest Total
2026 $ 700,875 $ 184,822 $ 885,697
2027 740,823 119,357 860,180
2028 765,823 101,093 866,916
2029 685,823 80,366 766,189
2030 687,662 64,564 752,226
2031-2035 1,185,000 106,188 1,291,188
Total § 4,766,006 $ 656,390 $ 5,422,396

Business-type Activities

Direct Borrowings and Direct

Placements Other Debt
Years Ending
June 30 Principal Interest Principal Interest Total
2026 $ 70,000 $ 7,855 § 184,125 $ 45973 § 307,953
2027 75,000 6,043 484,177 28,774 593,994
2028 75,000 4,168 194,177 17,749 291,094
2029 80,000 2,230 199,177 12,794 294,201
2030 49,202 615 204,177 7,661 261,655
2031-2035 - - 205,000 2,563 207,563
Total § 349,202 § 20,911 $ 1,470,833 $ 115,514 § 1,956,460

Revenue Bond

The Township has pledged substantially all revenue of the Sewer Fund, net of operating expenses, to
repay the above sewer revenue bonds. Proceeds from the bonds provided financing for the construction
of the wastewater treatment plant. The bonds are payable solely from the net revenue of the sewer
system. The remaining principal and interest to be paid on the bonds total $301,195. During the current
year, net revenue of the sewer system was $342,537, compared to the annual debt requirements on the
revenue bond of $310,800. These debt requirements do not include amounts obligated for other

business-type debt.

Defeased Debt

In prior years, the Township defeased certain bonds by placing the proceeds of new bonds in an
irrevocable trust to provide for all future debt service payments on the old bonds. Accordingly, the trust
accounts' assets and liabilities for the defeased bonds are not included in the basic financial statements.
At June 30, 2025, outstanding bonds totaling $325,000 are considered defeased.
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Note 6 - Defined Contribution Pension Plan

The Township provides pension benefits to all of its full-time employees, except police officers, through a
defined contribution plan administered through the Michigan Municipal Employees' Retirement System. In
a defined contribution plan, benefits depend solely on amounts contributed to the plan plus investment
earnings. As established by the Township's board, the Township contributes 10 percent of employees'
gross earnings. Employees fully vest after one year of service. In accordance with these requirements,
the Township contributed approximately $413,000 during the year.

Note 7 - Investment in Joint Ventures

The Township is a member of the Portage - Base Lakes Area Water and Sewer Authority (the
“Authority”), which provides sewer services to the residents of Hamburg, Dexter, Putnam, and Webster
townships. The residents of the participating communities provide annual funding for its operations via
sewer billings. The Township is unaware of any circumstance that would cause an additional benefit or
burden to the participating governments in the near future. Complete financial statements for the
Authority can be obtained from the administrative offices at 10405 Merrill Road, Hamburg, Ml 48139.

The Township is a member of the Livingston Community Water Authority (the “Water Authority”), which
provides water services to the residents of Hamburg, Brighton, and Green Oak townships. As services
are provided, the residents of participating communities provide annual funding for its operations via
water billings. The Water Authority began providing service to township residents during the year ended
June 30, 2010. The Township is unaware of any circumstances that would cause an additional financial
benefit or burden to the participating governments in the near future.

Note 8 - Pension Plan
Plan Description

The Township of Hamburg participates in the Michigan Municipal Employees' Retirement System (MERS
or MERS of Michigan), an agent multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan that covers employees of
the Township hired prior to 1997. The system provides retirement, disability, and death benefits to plan
members and their beneficiaries. The Michigan Municipal Employees' Retirement System issues a
publicly available financial report that includes financial statements and required supplementary
information for the system. That report may be obtained by writing to the system at 1134 Municipal Way,
Lansing, MI 48917.

Funding Policy

The obligation to contribute to and maintain MERS for these employees was established by negotiation
with the Township's competitive bargaining units and requires a contribution from the employees of 8
percent of wages. The Township is responsible for the remainder of the cost of the plan.

Benefits Provided

The plan provides certain retirement, disability, and death benefits to plan members and beneficiaries. PA
427 of 1984, as amended, established and amends the benefit provisions of the participants in MERS.

Retirement benefits for police employees are calculated as 2.50 percent of the employee’s final 3-year
average salary times the employee’s years of service. Normal retirement age is 60, with early retirement
at 50 with 25 years of service. The vesting period is 10 years. Employees are eligible for nonduty
disability benefits after 10 years of service and for duty-related disability benefits upon hire. Disability
retirement benefits are determined in the same manner as retirement benefits but are payable
immediately without an actuarial reduction. Death benefits are always the larger of the benefit computed
as a contingent survivor beneficiary or 85 percent of accrued retirement allowance benefit. An employee
who leaves service may withdraw his or her contributions, plus any accumulated interest.

Benefit terms provide for annual cost of living adjustments to each employee's retirement allowance
subsequent to the employee’s retirement date limited to increases in the Consumer Price Index.
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Note 8 - Pension Plan (Continued)

Benefit terms, within the parameters established by MERS, are generally established and amended by
authority of the board of trustees, generally after negotiations of these terms with the affected unions.
Police employees' benefit terms may be subject to binding arbitration in certain circumstances.

Employees Covered by Benefit Terms

The following members were covered by the benefit terms:

Date of member count December 31, 2024
Inactive plan members or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits 8
Inactive plan members entitled to but not yet receiving benefits 7
Active plan members 17
Pending refunds 3
Total employees covered by the plan 35
Contributions

Article 9, Section 24 of the State of Michigan constitution requires that financial benefits arising on
account of employee service rendered in each year be funded during that year. Accordingly, MERS
retains an independent actuary to determine the annual contribution. The employer is required to
contribute amounts at least equal to the actuarially determined rate, as established by the MERS
retirement board. The actuarially determined rate is the estimated amount necessary to finance the costs
of benefits earned by plan members during the year, with an additional amount to finance any unfunded
accrued liability. The employer may establish contribution rates to be paid by its covered employees.

For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Township's employer and employee contributions totaled
$388,996 and $142,761, respectively.

Net Pension Liability

The June 30, 2025 fiscal year end reported net pension liability was determined using a measure of the
total pension liability and the pension net position as of the December 31, 2024 measurement date. The
December 31, 2024 measurement date total pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation
performed as of that date.
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Changes in the net pension liability during the measurement year were as follows:

June 30, 2025

Increase (Decrease)

Total Pension Plan Net Net Pension
Changes in Net Pension Liability Liability Position Liability
Balance - December 31, 2023 3 9,826,503 $ 7,263,638 $ 2,562,865
Changes for the year:
Service cost 279,322 - 279,322
Interest 704,115 - 704,115
Differences between expected and actual
experience 287,148 - 287,148
Changes in assumptions 35,452 - 35,452
Contributions - Employer - 388,996 (388,996)
Contributions - Employee - 142,761 (142,761)
Net investment income - 548,901 (548,901)
Benefit payments, including refunds (319,105) (319,105) -
Administrative expenses - (16,416) 16,416
Net changes 986,932 745,137 241,795
Balance - December 31, 2024 $ 10,813,435 $ 8,008,775 $ 2,804,660

The plan's fiduciary net position represents 74 percent of the total pension liability.

Pension Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related

to Pensions

For the year ended June 30, 2025, the Township recognized pension expense of $681,554.

At June 30, 2025, the Township reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of

resources related to pensions from the following sources:

Deferred Deferred
Outflows of Inflows of
Resources Resources
Difference between expected and actual experience $ 479,917 $ (13,418)
Changes in assumptions 257,690 -
Net difference between projected and actual earnings on pension plan
investments 256,129 -
Employer contributions to the plan subsequent to the measurement date 205,660 -
Total $ 1,199,396 $ (13,418)
38
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Note 8 - Pension Plan (Continued)

Amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to
pensions will be recognized in pension expense as follows (note that employer contributions subsequent
to the measurement date will reduce the net pension liability and, therefore, will not be included in future
pension expense):

Years Ending

June 30 Amount
2026 3 387,800
2027 429,793
2028 102,270
2029 60,455

Total $ 980,318

Actuarial Assumptions

The total pension liability in the December 31, 2024 actuarial valuation was determined using an inflation
assumption of 2.5 percent, assumed salary increases of 3.00 percent (with merit increase totaling up to
6.7 percent), an investment rate of return (net of investment expenses and including inflation) of 7.18
percent, and the Pub-10 Mortality Tables with MP-2021 fully generational improvements. These
assumptions were applied to all periods included in the measurement and are based on an experience
study conducted for the period from January 1, 2019 through December 31, 2023.

Discount Rate

The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.18 percent. The projection of cash
flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that employee contributions will be made at the
current contribution rate and that township contributions will be made at rates equal to the difference
between actuarially determined contribution rates and the employee rate.

Based on those assumptions, the pension plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to be available to
make all projected future benefit payments of current active and inactive employees. Therefore, the long-
term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit
payments to determine the total pension liability.

Investment Rate of Return

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a maodel in
which best estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of pension plan
investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. These ranges are combined
to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by
the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation. The target allocation and best
estimates of arithmetic real rates of return as of the December 31, 2024 measurement date for each
major asset class included in the pension plan's target asset allocation, as disclosed in the investment
note, are summarized in the following table:

Long-term
Expected Real
Asset Class Target Allocation Rate of Return
Global equity 60.00 % 4.50 %
Global fixed income 20.00 2.16
Private investments 20.00 6.50
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Note 8 - Pension Plan (Continued)
Sensitivity of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate

The following presents the net pension liability of the Township, calculated using the discount rate of 7.18
percent, as well as what the Township's net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a
discount rate that is 1 percentage point lower or 1 percentage point higher than the current rate:

1 Percentage Current Discount 1 Percentage

Point Decrease Rate Point Increase
(6.18%) (7.18%) (8.18%)
Net pension liability of the Township $ 4428849 $ 2,804,660 $ 1,480,894

Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position

Detailed information about the plan’s fiduciary net position is available in the separately issued financial
report. For the purpose of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred
inflows of resources related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the plan’s fiduciary net
position and additions to/deductions from fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis
as they are reported by the plan. The plan uses the economic resources measurement focus and the full
accrual basis of accounting. Investments are stated at fair value. Contribution revenue is recorded as
contributions are due, pursuant to legal requirements. Benefit payments and refunds of employee
contributions are recognized as expense when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms.

Assumption Changes

Assumption changes in 2025 (December 31, 2024 measurement date) are the result of a change in
maortality improvement scale from MP-2019 to MP-2021.

Note 9 - Assets Restricted for Capital and Debt

Restricted assets in the Sewer Fund as of June 30, 2025 consist of the following:

Bank deposits and investments - Special assessment collections $ 3,458,098
Bank deposits and investments - Bond reserves 518,747
Special assessment receivables 28,395

Total $ 4,005,240

These assets are restricted specifically for various capital improvements, as well as the payment of the
related debt.

In addition to the assets that are restricted, the board has further earmarked unrestricted net position in
the amount $350,000 for grinder pumps.
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Required Supplementary Information
Budgetary Comparison Schedule
General Fund

Revenue
Property taxes
State-shared revenue and grants
Charges for services
Licenses and permits
Investment income
Other revenue

Total revenue

Expenditures
Current services:

General government:
Legislative - Township board
Township supervisor
Accounting
Treasurer
Assessing
Board of review
Clerk
Buildings and grounds
Elections
Cemetery
Unallocated
Mapping

Public safety:

Planning commission

Zoning administrator
Public works - Street lighting
Recreation and culture

Total expenditures

Excess of Revenue (Under) Over
Expenditures

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Transfers in
Transfers out

Total other financing (uses) sources

Net Change in Fund Balance

Fund Balance - Beginning of year

Fund Balance - End of year

See notes to required supplementary information.

Year Ended June 30, 2025

Variance with

Original Amended Amended
Budget Budget Actual Budget
1,109,708 $ 1,111,208 $ 1,110,852 § (356)
2,282,728 2,282,728 2,461,962 179,234
655,050 696,550 714,281 17,731
350,000 350,000 282,681 (67,319)
190,000 190,000 296,025 106,025
73,100 491,550 446,411 (45,139)
4,660,586 5,122,036 5,312,212 190,176
123,080 123,080 131,893 (8,813)
128,025 129,525 129,706 (181)
365,750 369,200 368,228 972
241,288 243,078 252,017 (8,939)
361,500 361,500 360,675 825
3,814 3,814 1,327 2,487
282,645 285,245 278,794 6,451
495,908 771,408 722,916 48,492
443,500 367,520 332,934 34,586
66,500 55,500 51,530 3,970
552,045 537,245 442 614 94,631
180,135 160,135 161,383 (1,248)
36,540 503,690 469,436 34,254
286,270 252,870 236,709 16,161
41,500 41,500 39,797 1,703
1,100,300 827,560 722,345 105,215
4,708,800 5,032,870 4,702,304 330,566
(48,214) 89,166 609,908 520,742
- - 607,756 607,756
(404,000) (469,000) (529,600) (60,600)
(404,000) (469,000) 78,156 547,156
(452,214) (379,834) 688,064 1,067,898
7,487,953 7,487,953 7,487,953 -
7,035,739 $ 7,108,119 $§ 8,176,017 $ 1,067,898
42
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Police Special Revenue Fund

Year Ended June 30, 2025

Variance with

Original Amended Amended
Budget Budget Actual Budget
Revenue
Property taxes $ 3,357,326 $ 3,362,126 $§ 3,357,918 $ (4,208)
State-shared revenue and grants 42,500 51,300 32,825 (18,475)
Charges for services 18,110 32,810 31,1417 (1,693)
Fines and forfeitures 9,000 12,000 12,580 580
Investment income - 6,500 6,910 410
Other revenue 10,500 62,250 63,782 1,532
Total revenue 3,437,436 3,526,986 3,505,132 (21,854)
Expenditures - Current services - Public safety 3,565,350 3,864,150 3,940,696 (76,546)
Excess of Expenditures Over Revenue (127,914) (337,164) (435,564) (98,400)
Other Financing Sources
Transfers in 250,000 315,000 359,400 44,400
Proceeds from sale of capital assets 35,000 10,000 7,140 (2,860)
Total other financing sources 285,000 325,000 366,540 41,540
Net Change in Fund Balance 157,086 (12,164) (69,024) (56,860)
Fund Balance - Beginning of year 69,101 69,101 69,101 -
Fund Balance - End of year $ 226,187 $ 56,937 § 77 % (56,860)

See notes to required supplementary information. 43 331
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Budgetary Comparison Schedule - Major Special Revenue Funds (Continued)
Fire Special Revenue Fund

Year Ended June 30, 2025

Variance with

Original Amended Amended
Budget Budget Actual Budget
Revenue
Property taxes $ 3,162,624 $ 3,167,124 $ 3,163,563 $ (3,561)
State-shared revenue and grants 7,900 34,000 26,795 (7,205)
Investment income 2,000 11,000 16,938 5,938
Other revenue 2,150 4,450 4,151 (299)
Total revenue 3,174,674 3,216,574 3,211,447 (5,127)
Expenditures - Current services - Public safety 3,204,650 3,071,370 3,012,784 58,586
Net Change in Fund Balance (29,976) 145,204 198,663 53,459
Fund Balance - Beginning of year 347,920 347,920 347,920 -
Fund Balance - End of year $ 317,944 $ 493,124 $ 546,583 $ 53,459

See notes to required supplementary information. 44
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Budgetary Comparison Schedule - Major Special Revenue Funds (Continued)

Library Fund
Year Ended June 30, 2025
Variance with
Original Amended Amended
Budget Budget Actual Budget
Revenue
Property taxes $ 1,187,818 $ 1,187,818 $ 1,256,800 $ 68,982
Charges for services 2,900 2,900 10,303 7,403
Fines and forfeitures 31,550 31,550 46,308 14,758
Investment income 32,200 32,200 105,343 73,143
Other revenue 20,765 20,765 49,778 29,013
Total revenue 1,275,233 1,275.233 1,468,532 193,299
Expenditures
Current services - Recreation and culture 1,160,389 1,160,389 1,121,817 38,572
Capital outlay 125,150 125,150 69,184 55,966
Total expenditures 1,285,539 1,285,539 1,191,001 94,538
Net Change in Fund Balance (10,306) (10,306) 277,531 287,837
Fund Balance - Beginning of year 2,774,876 2,774,876 2,774,876 =
Fund Balance - End of year $ 2,764,570 $ 2,764,570 $ 3,052,407 $ 287,837

See notes to required supplementary information. 45
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Schedule of Changes in the Net Pension Liability and Related Ratios
Last Ten Fiscal Years Ended December 31
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
Total Pension Liability
Service cost $ 279322 § 228,050 $ 243,506 $ 212,933 § 186,860 $ 179,586 $ 163,286 $ 144978 $ 144,998 $ 136,560
Interest 704,115 643,500 589,662 543,795 495,968 469,873 428,782 377,453 355,282 341,639
Changes in benefit terms - - - - - - (16,614) - - -
Differences between expected
and actual experience 287,148 239,869 177,213 53,011 (80,502) 32,648 170,095 374,735 31,024 (118,137)
Changes in assumptions 35,452 93,273 - 393,101 253,987 206,796 - - - 154,994
Benefit payments, including
refunds (319,105) (280,057) (240,054) (240,054) (240,054) (240,055) (240,054) (289,381) (218,914) (219,763)
Net Change in Total Pension
Liability 986,932 924,635 770,327 962,786 616,259 648,848 505,495 607,785 312,390 295,293
Total Pension Liability - Beginning
of year 9,826,503 8,901,868 8,131,541 7,168,755 6,552,496 5,903,648 5,398,153 4,790,368 4,477,978 4,182,685
Total Pension Liability - End of year $ 10,813,435 §$ 9,826,503 $ 8,901,868 $ 8,131,541 $ 7,168,755 $ 6,552,496 $ 5,903,648 $ 5,398,153 $ 4,790,368 $ 4,477,978
Plan Fiduciary Net Position
Contributions - Employer $ 388,996 $ 355,571 § 329,504 $ 531,989 $ 501,992 $§ 466,754 $ 429314 § 160,286 $ 152,997 § 122,766
Contributions - Employee 142,761 140,232 128,925 122,199 116,787 110,780 101,815 114,745 80,300 74,762
Net investment income (loss) 548,901 737,609 (759,627) 801,126 734,718 527,409 (155,149) 422,715 326,985 (43,814)
Administrative expenses (16,416) (15,262) (12,889) (9,440) (9.712) (9,148) (7.273) (6,692) (6.448) (6,398)
Benefit payments, including
refunds (319,105) (280,057) (240,054) (240,054) (240,054) (240,055) (240,054) (289,381) (218,914) (219,763)
Net Change in Plan Fiduciary Net
Position 745,137 938,093 (554,141) 1,205,820 1,103,731 855,740 128,653 401,673 334,920 (72,447)
Plan Fiduciary Net Position -
Beginning of year 7,263,638 6,325,545 6,879,686 5,673,866 4,570,135 3,714,395 3,585,742 3,184,069 2,849,149 2,921,596
Plan Fiduciary Net Position - End of
year $ 8,008,775 $ 7,263,638 $ 6,325,545 $ 6,879,686 $ 5,673,866 $ 4,570,135 $ 3,714,395 § 3,585,742 $ 3,184,069 $ 2,849,149
Township's Net Pension Liability -
Ending $ 2,804,660 $ 2,562,865 $ 2,576,323 $ 1,251,855 § 1,494,889 $ 1,982,361 § 2,189,253 § 1,812,411 $§ 1,606,299 $ 1,628,829
Plan Fiduciary Net Position as a
Percentage of Total Pension
Liability 74.06 % 73.92 % 71.06 % 84.60 % 79.15 % 69.75 % 62.92 % 66.43 % 66.47 % 63.63 %
Covered Payroll $ 1,838,784 § 1,570,859 $ 1,611,558 $ 1,527,493 $ 1,459,843 § 1,405,208 $ 1,296,950 $ 1,146,980 $ 1,147,139 § 1,071,897
Township's Net Pension Liability
as a Percentage of Covered
Payroll 152.53 % 163.15 % 159.87 % 81.95 % 102.40 % 141.07 % 168.80 % 158.02 % 140.03 % 151.96 %
See notes to required supplementary information. 46
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Schedule of Township Contributions
Last Ten Fiscal Years
Years Ended June 30
2025 2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016

Actuarially determined

contribution $ 410,000 $ 369,594 $ 347,476 $ 305,261 § 258,147 § 241,878 $§ 190,098 $ 168,549 $ 157,281 $ 156,435
Contributions in relation to the

actuarially determined

contribution 410,000 369,594 347,476 305,261 258,147 241,878 190,098 168,549 157,281 156,435
Contribution Deficiency $ - $ - 3 - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ -
Covered Payroll $ 1,869,156 $§ 1,764,905 $ 1,650,052 $ 1,564,640 $ 1,487,023 $§ 1,409,548 $§ 1343446 $ 1248511 $ 1,196,565 $ 1,154,503

Contributions as a Percentage
of Covered Payroll 21.94 % 20.94 % 21.06 % 19.51 % 17.36 % 17.16 % 14.15 % 13.50 % 13.14 % 13.55 %

Notes to Schedule of Township Contributions

Actuarial valuation information relative to the determination of contributions:

Valuation date Actuarially determined contribution rates are calculated as of December 31, two years prior to the end of the fiscal year in which the contributions
are reported.

Methods and assumptions used to determine contribution rates:

Actuarial cost method Entry age
Amortization method Level percentage of payroll, closed
Remaining amortization period 16 years
Asset valuation method 5-years smoothed
Inflation 2.5 percent
Salary increase 3.00 percent in the long term
Investment rate of return 7.25 percent - Net of investment expense, including inflation
Retirement age 60
Mortality Pub-2010 Mortality Tables
Other information None
See notes to required supplementary information. 47
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June 30, 2025

Budgetary Information

The annual budget is prepared by the township supervisor and adopted by the township board. Unexpended
appropriations lapse at year end; encumbrances are not included as expenditures. The amount of encumbrances
outstanding at June 30, 2025 has not been calculated. During the year, the budget was amended in a legally
permissible manner.

Annual budgets are adopted on a basis consistent with generally accepted accounting principles for the General
Fund and all special revenue funds, except that operating transfers, debt proceeds, and sale of assets have been
included in the revenue and expenditures categories, rather than as other financing sources (uses). All annual
appropriations lapse at fiscal year end.

The budget document presents information by fund, function, department, and line items. The legal level of
budgetary control adopted by the governing body is the fund level. Expenditures at this level in excess of amounts
budgeted are a violation of Michigan law. Comparison of actual results of operations to the budgets of the
General Fund, Police Special Revenue Fund, and Fire Special Revenue Fund, as adopted by the township board,
is included in the required supplementary information of the basic financial statements. The additional detail in
this statement is shown in greater detail than the budget that was adopted and is used to provide additional
analysis for management use only. A comparison of actual results of operations to the budget for nonmajor
special revenue funds, as adopted by the board, is available at the township hall for inspection.

A reconciliation of the budgetary comparison schedule to the fund-based statement of revenue, expenses, and
changes in fund balance is as follows:

Total Other Financing
Total Revenue Expenditures Sources Fund Balance
General Fund - Amounts per operating statement $ 5,331,322 $ 4,719,609 $ 78,156 $ 8,163,040
General Fund - Amounts related to the Hillside Lakes
SAD, which is consolidated in the General Fund (19,110) (17,305) - 12,977
Amounts per budget statement 3 5312212 $ 4702,304 $ 78,156 $ 8,176,017

The Township had the following expenditures over budgeted amounts due to timing of payments and expenses
incurred near June 30, 2025:

Budget Actual Variance
General Fund - Legislative - Township board $ 123,080 $ 131,893 $ (8,813)
General Fund - Township supervisor 129,525 129,706 (181)
General Fund - Treasurer 243,078 252,017 (8,939)
General Fund - Mapping 160,135 161,383 (1,248)
General Fund - Transfers out 469,000 529,600 (60,600)
Police Special Revenue Fund - Public safety 3,864,150 3,940,696 (76,546)

Pension Information

Changes in Assumpftions

Assumption changes in 2025 (December 31, 2024 measurement date) are the result of a change in the mortality
improvement scale from MP-2019 to MP-2021.

Assumption changes in 2024 (December 31, 2023 measurement date) are the result of a reduction in the
investment rate of return assumption from 7.25 percent to 7.18 percent.

Assumption changes in 2023 (December 31, 2022 measurement date) are the result of a reduction in the
investment rate of return assumption from 7.60 to 7.25 percent.
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Item 6.

Township of Hamburg

Notes to Required Supplementary Information

June 30, 2025

Assumption changes in 2022 (December 31, 2021 measurement date) are the result of changes to the
demographic assumptions resulting from the experience study from 2013 to 2018. The most significant changes
made were to the mortality rates and assumed rate of mortality improvement to a version of the Pub-10 Mortality
Tables and fully generational mortality improvement projections with Scale MP-2019.

Assumption changes in 2021 (December 31, 2020 measurement date) are the result of a reduction in the
investment rate of return assumption from 7.75 to 7.35 percent and a change in the assumed rate of wage
inflation from 3.75 to 3.00 percent.

Assumption changes in 2017 (December 31, 2016 measurement date) are the result of the investment rate of
return assumption reduced from 8.25 to 8.00 percent.
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Township of Hamburg

Item 6.

Supplementary Information
Combining Balance Sheet
Nonmajor Governmental Funds

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables:
Special assessments receivable
Accrued interest receivable
Due from other funds

Cash restricted for capital and debt

Total assets
Liabilities
Accounts payable
Due to other funds

Total liabilities
Deferred Inflows of Resources - Unavailable revenue

Fund Balances
Restricted:
Roads
Police
Debt service
Capital projects
Future cemetery expenditures

Total fund balances

Total liabilities, deferred inflows of
resources, and fund balances

June 30, 2025

Special Revenue Funds

Parks and
Recreation

Drug Law
Enforcement

Road

Cemetery
Perpetual Care

4,065 §

2,046,343 $

6,151

8,496

2,052,494 $

251,664 $

251,664

1,800,830

1,800,830

2,052,494 $
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Item 6.

Township of Hamburg

Supplementary Information
Combining Balance Sheet (Continued)
Nonmajor Governmental Funds

June 30, 2025

Debt Service Funds

Shan-gri-La Orchard Village
Mumford Park Fire Station Debt  Bob White Beach Forest Creek Court Subdivision RD IM  Subdivision RD IM
PA1 Training Debt Service Service North RD IM SAD RD IM SAD SAD SAD
$ 5129 § 3,782 $ 99,458 $ 111,514 § 75,583 $ 212,130 $ 30,029
- - - 103,723 152,930 306,000 75,704
- - 299 585 697 1,534 90
- 16,563 - - - - -
- - - 83,096 156,396 298,189 -
$ 5129 $ 20,345 $ 99,757 $ 298,918 $ 385,606 $ 817,853 $ 105,823
$ = 8 = g - 8 194,719 $ 195,566 $ - $ =
- 14,649 - . - : g
- 14,649 - 194,719 195,566 - -
- - - 103,723 165,674 306,000 75,704
5,129 - - - % - 2
- 5,696 99,757 476 24,366 511,853 30,119
5,129 5,696 99,757 476 24,366 511,853 30,119
$ 5129 $ 20,345 $ 99,757 $ 298,918 $ 385,606 $ 817,853 $ 105,823
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Township of Hamburg

Item 6.

Supplementary Information

Combining Balance Sheet (Continued)

Nonmajor Governmental Funds

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables:
Special assessments receivable
Accrued interest receivable
Due from other funds

Cash restricted for capital and debt

Total assets
Liabilities
Accounts payable
Due to other funds

Total liabilities
Deferred Inflows of Resources - Unavailable revenue

Fund Balances
Restricted:
Roads
Police
Debt service
Capital projects
Future cemetery expenditures

Total fund balances

Total liabilities, deferred inflows of
resources, and fund balances

June 30, 2025

Debt Service Funds

Margaret Drive RD Subdivision RD IM  Zukey & Redding

Teahen Meadows
Subdivision RD IM

River Run

IM SAD SAD Drive RD IM SAD SAD

$ 57,926 $ 68,944 $ 131,902 § 22,205

42,353 157,329 270,820 86,764

278 629 1,180 282

34,575 153,170 260,543 77,486

$ 135,132 § 380,072 $ 664,445 § 186,737
$ - $ 204,732 $ - $ -
- 204,732 - =

42,353 162,948 270,820 86,764

92,779 12,392 393,625 99,973

92,779 12,392 393,625 99,973

$ 135,132 § 380,072 § 664,445 $ 186,737
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Item 6.

Township of Hamburg

Supplementary Information
Combining Balance Sheet (Continued)
Nonmajor Governmental Funds

June 30, 2025

Capital Project
Debt Service Funds Fund
Maragaret DR Fox Pointe Beach

Area Canal Subdivision RD IM  Buhl Drive RD IM Maintenance
Dredging SAD SAD SAD SADs Total

$ 44,527 § 93,075 § 13,506 $ 326,859 $ 3,355,473
70,420 186,050 - 71,269 1,523,362

318 821 - 724 13,588

- - - - 16,563

61,143 180,203 - - 1,304,801

$ 176,408 460,149 $ 13,506 $ 398,852 $ 6,213,787
$ - 249,371 $ 13,473 § 15,503 $ 1,125,028
- - - - 14,649

- 249,371 13,473 15,503 1,139,677

70,420 197,441 - 71,269 1,553,116

- - - - 1,800,830

- - - - 9,194

105,988 13,337 33 - 1,390,394

- - - 312,080 312,080

- - - - 8,496

105,988 13.337 33 312,080 3,520,994

$ 176,408 460,149 $ 13,506 $ 398,852 $ 6,213,787
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Item 6.

Township of Hamburg

Supplementary Information

Combining Statement of Revenue, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund
Balances

Nonmajor Governmental Funds

Year Ended June 30, 2025

Special Revenue Funds

Parks and Drug Law Cemetery
Recreation Enforcement Road Perpetual Care
Revenue
Property taxes $ = $ - $ 702,895 $ -
Special assessments - - - -
State-shared revenue and grants - - 3,754 -
Investment income - 144 62,188 328
Other revenue 3 = - &
Total revenue - 144 768,837 328
Expenditures
Current services:
Public safety 3 29 o “
Public works - - - -
Capital outlay - - 282,626 -
Debt service i 5 - -
Total expenditures £ 29 282,626 -
Excess of Revenue Over (Under) Expenditures - 115 486,211 328

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Transfers in -
Transfers out (607,756) - - -

New debt issued - - = =

Total other financing (uses) sources (607,756) z 5 =
Net Change in Fund Balances (607,756) 115 486,211 328
Fund Balances - Beginning of year, as previously reported 607,756 3,950 1,314,619 8,168
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